Anna Krakowiak-Bal Magdalena Vaverkova *Editors*

Infrastructure and Environment



Infrastructure and Environment

Anna Krakowiak-Bal · Magdalena Vaverkova Editors

Infrastructure and Environment



Editors Anna Krakowiak-Bal Faculty of Production and Power Engineering University of Agriculture in Krakow Kraków, Poland

Magdalena Vaverkova Department of Applied and Landscape Ecology Mendel University in Brno Brno, Czech Republic

ISBN 978-3-030-16541-3 ISBN 978-3-030-16542-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

This volume presents refereed papers based on the oral and poster presentations at the 25th International Conference Infrastructure and Environment, which was held from June 18 to 20, 2018, in Dobczyce, Poland. The conference was organized by the University of Agriculture in Krakow, Polish Academy of Sciences—Committee of Technical Rural Infrastructure and Association Infrastructure and Ecology of Rural Areas.

The scope of the conference covers a variety of environmental issues in rural areas and how they could be solved through innovations in science and engineering. The development of agriculture and urbanization processes on the rural areas has raised the living standards on one hand (roads, sewage systems, water supply systems, etc.), but also the environmental degradation on the other. There is a need to intensify efforts to ensure the proper state of knowledge about these problems, particularly concerning rural areas.

The scientific community is, therefore, searching for ways toward ecologically sustainable rural development. Discussing all these issues, this book offers a useful guide for researchers, academicians, practicing engineers, local governments and managers dealing with diverse environmental and infrastructural problems related to rural areas.

This volume of proceedings from the conference provides an opportunity for readers to engage with a selection of refereed papers that were presented during the conference. It is divided into four sections: technical infrastructure, environmental protection, sustainable development, environment-friendly power generation; the 47 papers published here raise the multifaceted nature of infrastructure and ecology problems.

We would like to thank all participants for their contributions to the conference program and for their contributions to these proceedings. Special thanks go to all reviewers for their support and care of scientific level of the papers.

Many thanks go as well to the members of the organizing committee of the conference for their devoted assistance in the overall organization of the conference and help with the editorial process of this proceedings volume.

We hope you both enjoy and find valuable contributions and ideas in this book sustaining your professional development.

We are looking forward to the next conference on infrastructure and ecology.

December 2018

Anna Krakowiak-Bal Magdalena Vaverkova

Organization

Program Chairs

Anna Krakowiak-Bal	University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland
Magdalena Daria Vaverková	Mendel University in Brno, Czech Republic

Program Committee

erzy Gruszczyński Association Infrastructure and Ecology		
	of Rural Areas, Poland	
Radomir Adamovsky	Czech University of Life Sciences Prague,	
	Czech Republic	
Olaosebikan Layi Akangbe	Czech University of Life Sciences Prague,	
	Czech Republic	
Ozan Artun	Cukurova University, Turkey	
Atilgan Atilgan	Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey	
Patrik Burg	Mendel University in Brno, Czech Republic	
Vilda Grybauskiene	Aleksandras Stulginskis University in Kaunas,	
	Lithuania	
Lukáš Hlisnikovský	Crops Research Institute, Czech Republic	
Eugeniusz Koda	Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Poland	
Stanisław Krzanowski	Polish Academy of Sciences, Krakow, Poland	
Sławomir Kurpaska	University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland	
Mateusz Malinowski	University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland	
Antoni T. Miler	Poznań University of Life Sciences, Poland	
Jan Pawełek	University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland	
Roman Rolbiecki	University of Science and Technology	
	in Bydgoszcz, Poland	
Stanislaw Rolbiecki	University of Science and Technology	
	in Bydgoszcz, Poland	
Jacek Salamon	University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland	

Ulas Senyigit	Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Turkey		
Bohdan Stejskal	Mendel University in Brno, Czech Republic		
Gerlind Weber	University of Natural Resources and Life		
	Sciences, Vienna, Austria		
Stanisław Węglarczyk	Cracow University of Technology, Poland		
Milada Šťastná	Mendel University in Brno, Czech Republic		
cek Żarski University of Science and Technology			
	in Bydgoszcz, Poland		

Organizing Committee

Piotr Bugajski Stanisław Famielec Maciej Gliniak Anna Lis Mateusz Malinowski Arkadiusz Religa Jakub Sikora Maria Łukasiewicz University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland

Contents

Technical Infrastructure

Reliability of Sewage Treatment Process in SBR Reactor with the Use of Statistical Quality Control Piotr Bugajski, Paulina Śliz, and Karolina Kurek	3
Comparative Analysis of Environmental Impacts of Municipal Road Structures Daniel Wałach, Joanna Sagan, Justyna Jaskowska-Lemańska, and Piotr Dybeł	9
Role of Vertical Barrier Application in Protecting the Soil-WaterEnvironment from Municipal Waste Landfill ContaminationEugeniusz Koda, Anna Miszkowska, Anna Sieczka, and Piotr Osiński	15
The Assessment of Thermal Insulation of Bioreactors for an Aerobic Biostabilization of Waste	23
The New Construction of Heating Elements for GreenhouseHeating SystemsJarosław Knaga, Stanisław Famielec, and Kazimierz Rutkowski	30
The Influence of the Height of Foil Tunnels on the Formationof Thermal Conditions in the Plant Growing ZoneGrzegorz Nawalany and Paweł Sokołowski	37
Needs and Effects of Use Sprinkler Irrigation Systems in Crops Production in Central Poland on the Example of Spring Malting Barley (<i>Hordeum vulgare</i> L.)	46

Contento

Irrigation Effects of Red Beet as Affected by Rainfall in Different Regions of Poland	53
Stanisław Rolbiecki, Roman Rolbiecki, Barbara Jagosz, Anna Figas, Wiesław Ptach, and Piotr Stachowski	
Application of the Triple Diagram Method in Medium-Term Water Consumption Forecasting Adam Piasecki Jakub Jurasz and Wojciech T. Witkowski	59
Comparing the Retention of the Extensive Green Roofs with the Conventional Roof Anna Baryła, Agnieszka Karczmarczyk, Agnieszka Bus, Edyta Hewelke, and Michał Wróbel	66
Energy Assessment of Organic Production	75
Environmental Protection	
The Influence of Long-Term Application of Organic Manures and NPK on Barley Grain and Straw Yields and Soil Properties Lukáš Hlisnikovský, Ladislav Menšík, Ladislav Holík, and Eva Kunzová	87
Time Domain Reflectometry Usage to Moisture Content Estimationin Electrically Conductive Mineral WastesMaciej Gliniak, Karolina Trzyniec, Tomasz Jakubowski, Anna Lis,Ernest Popardowski, and Marta Wołosiewicz-Głąb	94
Passive Biomonitoring of Selected Water Ecosystems with Lemna Minor L. of Kuyavia-Pomerania Province in Poland Anna Figas, Anetta Siwik-Ziomek, Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa, Mirosław Kobierski, and Jarosław Pakuła	100
A Pilot Study on Food Waste Amount and Origin in a Small Shop Bohdan Stejskal	108
Biological Stability Assessment of Selected Types of Separately Collected Kitchen Waste	114
The Effect of a Biopreparation Intended for Improvement of Biowaste Processing Efficiency on the Quality of Obtained Stabilized Waste Mateusz Malinowski, Katarzyna Wolny-Koładka, Maciej Gliniak, Stanisław Famielec, Kamil Malczewski, Karolina Malczewska, Iwona Paśmionka, and Volodymyr Sharabrin	121
Empirical Model of Thermophilic Phase of Composting Process Tomasz Jakubowski	129

Contents

Remediation of Landfill Leachates with the Use of ModifiedAshes from Municipal Sewage SludgeJolanta Latosińska, Joanna Muszyńska, and Jarosław Gawdzik	136
Assessing Hydromorphological Characteristics of Small Watercourses Using the River Habitat Survey (RHS) Method Adam Brysiewicz and Przemysław Czerniejewski	144
Habitats and Density of the Invasive Topmouth Gudgeon(Pseudorasbora parva Schlegel) in Small Polish Watercourses,in the Light of Threats to the Habitats of Native Species of FishesPrzemysław Czerniejewski, Adam Brysiewicz, Kinga Zatoń,and Natalia Kasowska	154
Utilisation of Bio- and Geoindicators for Assessment of the State of Natural Environment in the South-Western Part of the Świętokrzyskie Mountains Rafał Kozłowski and Mirosław Szwed	161
Population Structure of Sandy Everlasting Helichrysum arenarium(L.) Moench in Relation to the Advancement of the SecondarySuccession of Swards on Sandy SoilsAnna Katarzyna Sawilska	169
The Application of the WID Method in the Ongoing Control of Urban Trees	175
Reducing the Environmental and Landscape Impacts of Quarries Using Windbreaks and Green-Isolation Zones Bartosz Jawecki, Marek W. Lorenc, Katarzyna Tokarczyk-Dorociak, and Xiangdong Wei	184
An Analysis of Intense Rainfalls in Cracow Area Elżbieta Jarosińska	193
New Approach to Determine the Sum of the Active Temperatures (<i>SAT</i>) Exemplified by Weather Conditions of Western Malopolska Wiesław Kowalski and Grzegorz Nawalany	203
Comparison of Sweet Cherry <i>Prunus avium</i> L. Tree Water Requirements in the Regions of Isparta (Turkey) and Bydgoszcz (Poland)	217
Ulas Senyigit, Stanisław Rolbiecki, Roman Rolbiecki, Anna Figas, Barbara Jagosz, Wiesław Ptach, and Waldemar Treder	

Pine Bark and Activity of Arylsulphatase and Rhodanese as Biological Quality Indicators of the Bydgoszcz Agglomeration Anetta Siwik-Ziomek, Anna Figas, Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa, and Mirosław Kobierski	225
Water Needs of Black Locust <i>Robinia pseudoacacia</i> L. in the First Three Years of Growing in the Reclamation Plantings in Poland Stanisław Rolbiecki, Wiesława Kasperska-Wołowicz, Wiesław Ptach, Barbara Jagosz, Anna Figas, Roman Rolbiecki, Piotr Stachowski, Vilda Grybauskiene, Kazimierz Chmura, and Krzysztof Dobosz	234
Content of Heavy Metals in Fodder from Sward of Grasses and Legumes from Selected Organic Farms in Poland as a Criterion of Fodder Quality	243
Assessment the Phytoaccumulation of Trace Elements in Plants of Evening Primrose Oenothera biennis L. from Kuyavia-Pomerania Provinces (Poland) Anna Figas, Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa, Anna Katarzyna Sawilska, and Mirosław Kobierski	252
Sustainable Development	
Solecki Fund as Instrument in the Hands of Rural Development Policy Makers Marcin Feltynowski and Agnieszka Rzeńca	263
Strengthening the Social Capital in Rural Areas Through the Rural Renewal Program. A Case Study of Opole Voivodeship Laura Płatkowska-Prokopczyk	272
The Rural Renewal Program as a Source of Financing SmallArchitecture Forms Increasing the Chances of RuralDevelopment (The Case Study of the Opolskie Province)Jacek Pieczonka	281
Sustainable Development thru Eco-Innovation Activities Anna Krakowiak-Bal and Patrik Burg	293
Homogeneity of Rural Communes with Respect to Green Areas Marcin Feltynowski	301

Contents

Economic Missions and Brokerage Events as an Instrument for Support of International Technological Cooperation Between Companies of the Agricultural and Food Sector Zofia Gródek-Szostak, Małgorzata Luc, Anna Szeląg-Sikora, Marcin Niemiec, and Danuta Kajrunajtys	307
Examining Sources of Farmers' Knowledge as a Premise Behind Realization of the Smart Village Conception. A Case Study of Opole Region Anna Bisaga	313
Agricultural Producer Groups as an Example of CommercialOrganizations in the Agricultural SectorAnna Szeląg-Sikora, Zofia Gródek-Szostak, and Danuta Kajrunajtys	321
The Measurement of Sustainable Development Level in the Aspect of Selection of Indicators and Measurement Methods Jacek Salamon	328
Environment Friendly Power Generation	
Theoretical and Real Efficiency of Monocrystalline PV Modules in a 2-Year Cycle Hubert Latała, Krzysztof Nęcka, Sławomir Kurpaska, and Anna Karbowniczak	339
Steam Explosion Method – Opportunities for Application in Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass for Biogas Conversion Sławomir Kurpaska, Paweł Kiełbasa, Zygmunt Sobol, and Stanisław Kokoszka	345
Electrooxidation of Sesame Oil in Acid Electrolyte Paweł P. Włodarczyk and Barbara Włodarczyk	359
Alternative Vehicle Fuel Management: Impact on Energy Security Indicators Antonina Kalinichenko, Valerii Havrysh, and Vitalii Nitsenko	367
Renewable Energy Sources Are also the Condition of the Evaluationof Land Applicability for Construction PurposesMariusz Górak	375
Vegetation of Permanent Pastures as a Biomass Source for Energy Purposes. Andrzej Żabiński, Urszula Sadowska, Marcin Jewiarz, Krzysztof Gondek, and Monika Mierzwa-Hersztek	381
Author Index	391

Technical Infrastructure



Reliability of Sewage Treatment Process in SBR Reactor with the Use of Statistical Quality Control

Piotr Bugajski^{1(\Box)}, Paulina Śliz², and Karolina Kurek¹

¹ Department of Engineering Sanitary and Water Management, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Kraków, Poland piotr.bugajski@urk.edu.pl
² Department of Regional Economy, Cracow University of Economics, Kraków, Poland

Abstract. The purpose of the work was to determine the reliability of the selected pollution indicators removal i.e. COD_{Cr}, ammonium nitrogen, total phosphorus and total suspension from the SBR- type collective sewage treatment plant. The level of operational reliability of sewage treatment plants was determined by means of quality control using control charts. Physical and chemical analyzes of raw and treated wastewater, were carried out in the period from 2008 to 2016. As a result of the control charts analysis, it was found that in the sewage treatment plant there was full stability of the process of total suspended solids reducing. In the case of COD_{Cr}, total phosphorus and ammonium nitrogen, there were noticed occasional samples groupings below the lower characteristic line, which could indicate a disturbance of process stability. However, they did not affect the efficiency of wastewater treatment in the tested treatment plant. Therefore, it is possible to confirm the thesis that the method of determining the reliability of the treatment plant operation by using control charts is an easy and effective tool for the operator to detect any disturbances and irregularities in the process occurring in the tested object and enables to take appropriate action to remove them.

Keywords: Reliability of the purifying process \cdot Control charts \cdot Sewage treatment plant

1 Introduction

In the case of the assessment of a sewage treatment plant operation, a commonly used method is to compare the values of pollutant indicators in treated wastewater, often expressed as an arithmetic mean, with the limit values given in the water-law permit. Another popular method is to calculate the percentage reduction of pollutants between raw sewage and effluent after treatment in sewage treatment plants [2, 4, 5, 8]. These are very simplified methods, which usually do not provide information on, among others, occurrences and duration of failures, stability of the wastewater treatment process or factors interfering with this course, or forecasts of the wastewater treatment system efficiency [13]. These types of simplified methods for assessing a treatment

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 3–8, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_1

plant operation do not allow a detailed comparison of the operational efficiency of other similar facilities due to too limited information. Therefore, it is important to develop a method of assessing the efficiency of a sewage treatment plant in order to be able to directly compare objects with different capacity, different concentration or pollutant load. The present research results and their analysis indicate that one of the methods that can be used to assess the level of sewage treatment plant reliability is the statistical quality control method using control charts [3, 14]. This method is an innovative method in assessing the stability and effectiveness of wastewater treatment plants [13].

2 Research Methodology

The analyzed sewage treatment plant in Sterkowiec-Zajazie town was designed for characteristic daily inflows: $Q_{av,d} = 600 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ and $Q_{max,d} = 720 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ and PE = 4000. The sewage treatment plant in the biological part has 3 SBR biological reactors. The facility is supplied with sewerage system from the Brzesko-Sterkowiec agglomeration, which includes the following villages: Jadowniki, Sterkowiec, and Wokowice. In addition, wastewater from some households that are not connected to a collective sewerage system is also delivered by a cesspool emptier to the sewage treatment plant. The research was carried out in the period from 2008 to 2016. In the analyzed period, totally 35 samples of raw and treated sewage were collected and analyzed physically and chemically. The sampling frequency was 4–5 a year. Impurities in wastewater were determined by such indicators as: COD_{Cr} , ammonium nitrogen, total phosphorus and total suspended solids.

Wastewater analysis was performed in accordance with the reference methods included in the Regulation of the Minister of the Environment, which were in force during the research period. The analysis of the reliability of wastewater treatment in the researched SBR reactor was made on the basis of control charts x, which were determined for the discussed pollution indicators in treated wastewater. The verification of the normal distribution of the studied variates was made using the Shapiro-Wilk test for the significance level $\alpha = 0.05$ [10, 12]. Due to the fact that the analyzed variates were not characterized by a normal distribution, they were normalized by means of logarithmication. The boundaries of helping lines, control lines and the central line were determined taking into account the rule of three sigmas for the normal distribution N (μ , σ) [6, 7, 11]:

Upper control line (UCL):

$$UCL = \mu + 3\sigma \tag{1}$$

Upper warning line (UWL):

$$UWL = \mu + 2\sigma \tag{2}$$

Upper helping line (UHL):

$$UHL = \mu + 1\sigma \tag{3}$$

Central line (CL):

$$CL = \mu$$
 (4)

Lower helping line (LHL):

$$LHL = \mu - 1\sigma \tag{5}$$

Lower warning line (LWL):

$$LWL = \mu - 2\sigma \tag{6}$$

Lower control line (LCL):

$$LCL = \mu - 3\sigma \tag{7}$$

where:

 μ – mean value of the analysed variable [mg·dm⁻³],

 σ – standard deviation of the analysed variable [mg·dm⁻³].

According to the results obtained by Andraka [1], there are following observations confirming the disturbance or instability of the wastewater treatment process: eight consecutive points on one side of the central line, one point outside the control lines, two out of three points outside the warning lines $\pm 2\sigma$ and four out of five consecutive points beyond the helping lines $\pm 1\sigma$.

3 Results and Discussion

Figure 1 shows the course of the control chart x for COD_{Cr} in treated wastewater, where it can be seen that during the research period there was one case of exceeding the lower control line and this occurred for the sample 25.



Fig. 1. Control chart x for COD_{Cr} in treated wastewater (source: own study).

Nevertheless, this situation is not worrying because it is related to the low value of the COD_{Cr} index in sewage flowing into the treatment plant (148.0 mgO₂·dm⁻³), which also resulted in its low value in treated sewage (20.0 mgO₂·dm⁻³). According to Bugajski and Wałęga [3], in such case, the task of each operator of the treatment plant should be to determine the process conditions that ensured such low values of the index and to keep this process level as long as possible. In addition, there was observed the occurrence of a temporary grouping of samples below the central line, which may indicate a certain periodic disturbance of the process stability, which, however, does not translate into the efficiency of COD_{Cr} reduction in the tested treatment plant. The research conducted by Młyński and Chmielowski [9] confirms the lack of influence of this type of stability disturbance on the effectiveness of the analyzed index reduction.

While analyzing the results presented in the Fig. 2 it was found that the values of ammonium nitrogen fluctuated around the mean value (central line), and none of the tested samples exceeded the upper or lower control line. Despite the grouping of four samples below the lower helping line, the stability of the process of ammonium nitrogen reduction in the tested treatment plant can be clearly seen. In the work of Młyński and Chmielowski [9], similar results were presented, where the exceedance of the lower helping lines also did not negatively affect the treated wastewater quality.



Fig. 2. Control chart x for ammonium nitrogen in treated wastewater (source: own study).

On the basis of the analysis of the Fig. 3, there was no case of exceeding the control lines by the values of total phosphorus, which would indicate the instability of the analyzed process. On the other hand, there was noted a one-off samples grouping (9 observations) below the central line, which could have had an impact on the temporary disruption of the observed stability, without affecting negatively the efficiency of the discussed indicator reduction.



Fig. 3. Control chart x for total phosphorus in treated wastewater (source: own study).

After analyzing the results presented in the Fig. 4, there was found a stability of the process of total suspended solids removal in the tested sewage treatment plant. The concentrations of the discussed indicator oscillated around the central line, there were recorded no exceedance of the control lines and no samples grouping below or above the characteristic lines.



Fig. 4. Control chart x for total suspension solids in treated wastewater (source: own study).

4 Conclusions

- 1. Analysis of the control charts showed full stability of the process of total suspended solids removal in the tested wastewater treatment plant. In the case of COD_{Cr} , total phosphorus and ammonium nitrogen, there were noticed occasional samples groupings below the lower characteristic lines, which could indicate a disturbance of process stability.
- 2. In the analyzed period there were no factors that significantly influenced the quality of treated sewage, confirming the reliability of the SBR reactor operation.

- 8 P. Bugajski et al.
- 3. Control charts are an easy and effective tool for the operator and they enable to detect any disturbances or irregularities in the process occurring in the tested object and to take appropriate actions to remove them.

Acknowledgement. Financed from the DS of the Department of Sanitary Engineering and Water Management of the University of Agriculture in Krakow and Department of Regional Economy Cracow University of Economics.

References

- 1. Andraka, D.: The use of statistical quality control to assess the operation of sewage treatment plants. In: Problems of Water and Sewage Management in the Regions of Agriculture and Industry, Monographs of the Environmental Engineering Committee PAN, 30 (2005)
- Bugajski, P., Kaczor, G.: Evaluation of the operation of selected home treatment plants in winter and summer conditions. Przemysł Chemiczny 5, 424–426 (2008)
- 3. Bugajski, P., Wałęga, A.: Reliability and stability of the wastewater treatment process using statistical quality control. Gaz, Woda i Technika Sanitarna **10**, 421–424 (2012)
- Chmielowski, K., Satora, S., Wałęga, A.: Evaluation of the reliability of the operation of sewage treatment plants for the commune of Tuchów. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 9, 63–72 (2009)
- Jóźwiakowski, K., Mucha, Z., Generowicz, A., Baran, S., Bielińska, J., Wójcik, W.: The use of multi-criteria analysis for selection of technology for a household WWTP compatible with sustainable development. Arch. Environ. Prot. 41(3), 76–82 (2015)
- Krzanowski, S., Wałęga, A.: The use of statistical reliability theories of sewage quality control for operational assessment of rural wastewater treatment plants. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3, 17–31 (2006)
- 7. Krzanowski, S., Wałęga, A., Paśmionka, I.: Treatment of sewage from selected food manufacturing plants. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas (2008)
- Młyński, D., Chmielowski, K., Miernik, W., Młyńska, A.: Evaulation of efficiency of sewage treatment plant in Jasło. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 1(1), 147–162 (2016)
- Młyński, D., Chmielowski, K.: Assessment of the effectiveness of the sewage treatment plant in Zabajka. Inżynieria Ekologiczna 1, 147–162 (2016)
- 10. Oakland, J.S.: Statistical Process Control, 5th edn. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford (2003)
- 11. Saniga, E.: Economical statistical control-chart designs with an application to X and R charts. Technometrics **31**, 313–320 (2012)
- 12. Shapiro, S.S., Wilk, M.B.: An analysis of variance test for normally (complete samples). Biometrika 52, 591–611 (1965)
- Wałęga, A.: Evaluation of sewage treatment plant operation with statistical methods. Forum Eksploatatora 5(44), 30–34 (2009)
- 14. Wąsik, E., Chmielowski, K., Cupak, A., Kaczor, G.: Stability monitoring of the nitrification process: multivariate statistical analysis. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. **5**(27), 2303–2313 (2018)



Comparative Analysis of Environmental Impacts of Municipal Road Structures

Daniel Wałach^(⊠), Joanna Sagan, Justyna Jaskowska-Lemańska, and Piotr Dybeł

AGH University of Science and Technology, al. Mickiewicza 30, 30-059 Kraków, Poland walach@agh.edu.pl

Abstract. The objective of the study is the environmental assessment of construction solutions for concrete paving. In the study, unit environmental indicators for selected road construction solutions for the KR1 traffic have been determined. The considerations include road constructions with substructures made of: lean concrete, cement bound soil and crush-stone aggregate. Seven key environmental indicators were adopted for the evaluation as recommended by the PN-EN 15643-2:2011 standard "Sustainability of construction works. Part 2: Framework for the assessment of environmental performance": global warming potential (GWP), ozone depletion potential (ODP), acid-generating potential (AP), eutrophication potential (EP), photochemical ozone creation potential (POCP), abiotic depletion potential for nonfossil resources (ADPE), abiotic depletion potential for fossil resources (ADPF). The weights were adopted on the basis of the DTT method, assessing the distance of EU domestic impacts from the desired state set by EU binding policy targets.

Such evaluation enabled the prioritisation of concrete roads construction solutions from the point of view of environmental impact. The obtained measurements may be a part of the evaluation for the road investment projects. The presented approach disseminates sustainable design patterns in the area of engineering practice with the implementation of requests of the United Nations Framework Convention on climate change.

Keywords: Concrete pavements · LCA · ILCD · Impacts on the environment

1 Introduction

Concrete pavements have no established tradition in Poland despite that the first such surfaces appeared already in 1912. In Poland the vast majority of roads are still made of bitumen, despite the many benefits of concrete pavements, which include: high load rating and the load-carrying capacity ability, resistance to permanent deformations, bright colour (improving safety), good operating characteristics, low maintenance costs. A properly designed and constructed pavement usually reaches a 20-year, even a 30-year period has become a standard. The advantages of concrete pavements demonstrate that they should gain popularity and become a complement to the selection of available technologies next to bitumen surfaces, cobblestone surfaces and other,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 9–14, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_2

especially for municipal roads, which account for around half of all roads in Poland. In addition, due to its technological simplicity, they can be constructed by small local companies [20].

Contemporary trends for the socio-economic development, however, require the consideration of social and environmental aspects next to the technological and design aspects during design process, hence the construction of concrete pavements should be covered by a new design approach that takes into account all the requirements of sustainable construction, i.e. integrated life cycle design (ILCD - integrated life - cycle design) [16, 22, 24].

The new approach combines the design at the material, construction element and the whole construction level and then considers the selected criteria from the areas relevant to sustainable development at each of these levels - including those that reflect the impact of the object on the environment. In practice, there is no finished template for the evaluation and raising the efficiency of the environmental design solutions. The study presents the variant analysis of the solutions with the use of basic environmental indicators which form the evaluation criteria.

2 Materials and Methods

The environmental impact assessment (EIA) is a structured way of conduct based on interdisciplinary identifying and assessing the impact of the planned measures and their alternatives on a specific area and its processes [1]. For an environmental assessment of construction works in accordance with PN-EN 15643-2:2011 [8], the recommended approach is the LCA method.

The subject of the analysis are the structures of concrete pavement with substructure made of:

- cement bound soil (cement-stabilised soil) (W1),
- mechanically stabilised crush-stone aggregate (W2),
- lean concrete (W3) (Fig. 1).

	W1	W2	W3
1	Concrete C30/37 0,17 m	Concrete C30/37 0,18 m	Concrete C30/37 0,17 m
1	Cement bound soil 0,14 m	Mechanically stabilised crush-stone aggregate 0,15 m	Lean concrete 0,12 m
	Subgrade natural or improved	Subgrade natural or improved	Subgrade natural or improved

Fig. 1. Variants of the design solutions to be evaluated

In the study the unit indicators - listed on 1 km of road with a width of 5 m - were adopted. The presented evaluation has the *cradle to gate* character includes the production phase (modules A1–A3) [7]. 7 key environmental indicators (categories) were adopted for the evaluation of variants as recommended by the PN-EN 15643-2:2011

standard "Sustainability of construction works. Part 2: Framework for the assessment of environmental performance" shown in Table 1. The weights for the category (w_k) were adopted on the basis of the DTT method, assessing the distance of EU domestic impacts from the desired state set by EU binding policy targets. (Table 1) [3]. DTT method gives you the ability implement the requirements of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the objective of which is to achieve stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system.

Category	Unit	Normalization factor	Weight
Global warming potential (GWP)	kg CO ₂ eq.	1.23E+04	1.16
Ozone depletion potential (ODP)	kg CFC11 eq.	2.20E-01	1.05
Acid-generating potential (AP)	kg SO ₂ eq.	7.12E+01	1.18
Eutrophication potential (EP)	kg $(PO_4)^3$ eq.	3.25E+01	1.14
Photochemical ozone creation potential (POCP)	kg ethene eq.	2.15E+01	1.28
Abiotic depletion potential for nonfossil resources (ADPE)	kg Sb eq.	3.91E+01	1
Abiotic depletion potential for fossil resources (ADPF)	MJ, (net)	2.73E+05	1

Table 1. Evaluation categories, normalization factors, weights

The measure of the assessment is ultimately the E_P value, which is the weighted sum of the standardised values of the environmental categories (N_K) :

$$E_p = \sum_{k}^{m} N_k \cdot w_k \tag{1}$$

The data for the evaluation was adopted on the basis of the environmental product declarations (EPD) [1–5, 7–13, 16–24]. In view of the diversity of the raw materials extraction technologies (A1) and their processing (A3) and also of the differentiated transport distances in the A2 module, for the solutions ranking the average Ep values were adopted for several material suppliers to build the substructure. The evaluation variance were also analysed.

In the first variant the quantity of cement (c) in kg per 1 m^3 of the stabilised ground was calculated according to the formula [8]:

$$c = \rho_{ds} \cdot x \tag{1}$$

where ρ_{ds} is the soil bulk density (adopted: 1850 kg/m³), x - percentage addition of cement (adopted: 0.03).

3 Results

3.1 Evaluation Results

The results of the design evaluations were presented in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Box plot for variants (a) w1; (b) w2; (c) w3

The most favourable variant of the solutions included in the analysis in the view of the selected environmental indicators and weighting is the concrete surface with cement-stabilised soil substructure (W1). The average Ep value in this option was 59. A comparable solution is the W2 variant (substructure made of crush-stone aggregate) for which the average Ep value is only 0.8 less. Typical variation ranges of W1 and W2 variant overlap, despite the small variation of coefficient W2 of 1.96%. So there is a collection of solutions in the W2 variant, which are characterised by lower impact on the environment - depending on the material supplier. The variant of substructure made of lean concrete (W3), is clearly a solution worse than the others. None of the analysed suppliers offered a competitive material in terms of environmental conditions, despite the largest coefficient of evaluation variation (3.17%).

The share of environmental categories in the evaluation structure also varies within the variants (Fig. 3). Therefore, the evaluation result will be sensitive to the weights of the evaluation indicators and therefore depends on the adopted methodology of weighing and the range of impact (other weights are adopted in local considerations that take into account the local environmental problems, and other for the global considerations).



Lean concrete (W3)

Fig. 3. Share of the environmental impacts in the evaluation structure

4 Conclusions

The evaluation enabled the prioritisation of concrete roads construction solutions from the point of view of environmental impact. Adopting the average value as the variant evaluation measure, the best solution is a substructure respectively made of cementstabilised soil, crush-stone aggregate and the lean concrete. The obtained measurements may be a part of the sustainable evaluation for the road investment projects. The analyses show that the adopted methodology of weighing the environmental indicators can significantly affect the evaluation results Furthermore obtained results for the adopted methodology are not timeless - the change the current state of the environment and its impact on the ecosystem can result in a change in the environmental criteria weights in time and thus stimulate the evaluation result. A similar approach to environmental impact assessment is observed in other branches of industry. In the works [14, 15] LCA and multi-criteria analysis were also used using various methods. The process of integrated design now enters the engineering practice, which requires additional efforts to conduct associated analyses and studies. The evaluation of the impact on the environment is a complex and interdisciplinary process. It requires close cooperation of the design engineer and the environmental engineer or learning the additional methods and tools for the determination of the environmental impact indicators by the designer. The necessity to obtain information about the implications of the individual technological processes on the environment is also a problem - they are not widely available. Nevertheless, the workload allows for a complete evaluation of the selected material-construction solutions.

A favourable approach to design is the differentiation of material solutions and calculation of the overall impact of e.g. a planned road based on the knowledge of the material environmental profile and the characteristics of its use. In the course of further study it is planned to extend the number of variants for the concrete pavements involved in the assessment and the extension of the evaluation by successive stages of the life cycle of the structure.

References

- 1. Adamczyk, W.: Ekologia wyrobów: jakość, cykl życia, projektowanie. PWE (2004)
- 2. BRE, Environmental Product Declaration nr 000104 Readymix concrete (2016)
- Castellani, V., Benini, L., Sala, S., Pant, R.: A distance-to-target weighting method for Europe 2020. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 21(8), 1159–1169 (2016)
- 4. Cemsuisse, Cemento svizzero CEM I (2016)
- 5. ECRA, Environmental Product Declaration (EPD) CEM I produced in Europe (2015)
- 6. EnvTech Poland, Roadbond. http://roadbond.envtechpoland.com/informacje,stabilizacja,2
- EN 15643-1:2010 Sustainability of construction works -Sustainability assessment of buildings - Part 1: General framework, pp. 1–25 (2010)
- 8. EN 15643-2:2011 Sustainability of construction works Assessment of buildings Part 2: Framework for the assessment of environmental performance, pp. 1–36 (2011)
- 9. Epd-norge.no, EPD. Bergkrossprodukter (2017)
- 10. Epd-norge.no, EPD. Crushed stone construction aggregate products (2018)
- 11. Epd-norge.no, EPD. Environmental Product Declaration for CEM I (2018)
- 12. Epd-norge.no, EPD. Pukk, produsert ved Bjønndalen Bruk AS, Nittedal (2018)
- 13. Epd-norge.no, EPD. Pukk, produsert ved Feiring Bruk AS, avd. Lørenskog (2018)
- Felipe, C., Marques, A., Van Bodegom, P.M.: An integrated framework to assess impacts on ecosystem services in LCA demonstrated by a case study of mining in Chile. Ecosyst. Serv. 30, 211–219 (2018)
- Gliniak, M., Oziembłowski, M., Dróżdż, M., et al.: The possibilities of automation of the manual line for dismantling waste electrical and electronic equipment. Przegląd Elektrotechniczny 94(6), 136–139 (2018)
- Hajek, P., Ctislav, F., Birit Buhr, J., Ivana, L.: Integrated Life Cycle Assessment of Concrete Structures, Bulletin 71 FIB (2013)
- 17. IBU Institut Bauen und Umwelt, EPD. Portland Cement CEM I 52.5R (2014)
- 18. McEwen, L.: Vulcan Materials Company Environmental Product Declaration (2016)
- 19. NSF International, Wide EPD for ready mixed concrete (2013)
- 20. Szydło, A., Mackiewicz, P.: Nawierzchnie betonowe na drogach gminnych. Poradnik. Stowarzyszenie Producentów Cementu (2012)
- 21. The International EPD System, EPD of Aggregates (2014)
- 22. The International Federation for Structural Concrete, Environmental design. fib Bulletin No. 28 State-of-art report (2004)
- 23. Vold, M.: EPD CEM I, Anleggsement (CEM I 52,5 N), Industrisement (CEM I 52,5R) and Standardsement (CEM I 42,5R) (2013)
- Wałach, D., Sagan, J., Jaskowska-Lemańska, J.: Environmental assessment in the integrated life cycle design of buildings. Tech. Trans. 8, 143–151 (2017)



Role of Vertical Barrier Application in Protecting the Soil-Water Environment from Municipal Waste Landfill Contamination

Eugeniusz Koda, Anna Miszkowska, Anna Sieczka, and Piotr Osiński^(⊠) ₪

Faculty of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Nowoursynowska St. 159, 02-776 Warsaw, Poland piotr_osinski@interia.pl

Abstract. Bentonite vertical barriers could be effectively applied as a one of the remedial solution limiting environmental hazards caused by landfills and waste management sites. The paper presents engineering methods aiming at remediation of an old municipal landfill located to the northeast side of Warsaw. The particular attention has been paid to the impact of application of groundwater protection system on the improvement of groundwater quality in the study area and its surroundings. Water quality assessment was performed on the basis of the 20 years data from monitoring network. The reduction of pollutant indicators, including chlorides concentration and electrical conductivity are presented on isoline maps. The results show that the implementation of the containment system has a significant impact on the improvement of the soil-water environment. The results of monitoring data presented in this paper clearly indicate efficiency of the vertical barrier application and its important role in protecting the soil-water environment from contamination.

Keywords: Landfill · Vertical barrier · Remediation

1 Introduction

Landfills are the main means of municipal solid waste (MSW) disposal in many countries worldwide. Primarily, they offer dumping high quantities of MSW at economical costs in comparison to other disposal methods such as incineration. Only in 2016, a total of 11.6 million tons of municipal solid wastes were collected in Poland, of which 36.5% were landfilled in 320 operating landfills [1, 2]. Unfortunately, landfills can cause environmental nuisances because of generating the leachate, what mainly depend on precipitation, hydrogeological conditions of the area, solid waste composition, concentration and chemical activities, age of waste, and the direction of the groundwater flow [3–6]. Landfill leachate can be defined as a liquid that seeps through the solid waste in a landfill, producing extracted, suspended or dissolved materials.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 15–22, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_3

Leachates contain high amounts of heavy metals, ammonium, organic matters and chlorinated organic and inorganic salts [7-10]. What is more, the landfill leachate is one of the major sources of the surface and groundwater pollution if it is not properly collected and safely disposed, and it can percolate through the soil profile reaching water aquifers [11, 12]. One of the ways of reducing the effects of such pollutants on the environment is the application of vertical barriers [13]. The aim of the study was to evaluate the efficiency of reclamation woks by analyzing long term monitoring results of groundwater samples collected from piezometer network. The result are presented as graphs of contaminants concentrations and pollution distribution maps.

1.1 Study Area

Radiowo landfill is located in the commune Stare Babice and partially in Warsaw. From the eastern and southern side, landfill is surrounded by Nature Reserves (peat lands Łosiowe Błota and Kalinowa Łąka) and "Bemowo" Forest Park (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Location of the Radiowo landfill and groundwater monitoring system [9].

In the north, at the distance of about 350 m from the composting plant, there is a watercourse Zaborowski Canal, and on the west side in the vicinity of the landfill western slope, there are industrial facilities and a railway siding The Radiowo landfill was a disposal site for the municipal waste from Warsaw from 1962 to 1991. Since 1992, only non-composed wastes from the composting plant have been stored in the landfill and since 2012 only the waste from the installation of mechanical and

biological treatment plant. At present, Radiowo landfill covers ca. 16 ha area, and its height is approximately 60 m. Remedial works have been carried out on the landfill site since 1994, including peripheral drainage, installation of a leachate re-circulation system, forming and planting slopes and clay mineral capping [13]. What is more, the 0.6 m wide vertical barrier (Table 1) was installed at the site in November 2000, to minimize the spread of contamination to the groundwater system.

Parameter	Unit	Value
Length	m	1687.2
Thickness	m	0.6
Minimum depth	m	3.0
Maximum depth	m	22.0
Lateral surface area	m ²	14529.8
Permeability coefficient after 60 days	m/s	max. 1.0×10^{-9}
Compressive strength after 60 days	MPa	min. 0.90

Table 1. Parameters of the bentonite vertical barrier.

2 Methods

For the chemical analyses the groundwater samples were collected 4 times each year since 1998 until present, using the immerse pump according to ISO 5667-11 [14] and stored at a temperature 1-5 °C in smoked glass bottles. Each pumping was also accompanied with simultaneous measurements of the temperature, pH and electrical conductivity. The chemical analysis of chlorides were conducted according the recommendations presented in PN-ISO 9297:1994 [15]. Additionally, the values of electrical conductivity (EC) were measured according PN-EN 27888:1999 [16]. Based on the data obtained for nearly 20 years of monitoring, before and after the closure of the vertical barrier, it was possible to compare the water quality in respect of chlorides content in groundwater. Chlorides are usually not attenuated by the soil and are very mobile, so they have a special significance as the tracer element of the leachate plume linking the groundwater [17-19]. Also EC was taken into account to rule out the influence of the precipitation and external pollution sources. The impact of the landfill on the groundwater pollution by chlorides was analysed for eleven piezometers located at the landfill site. Piezometers P-4 and P-6A were located in the inflow direction of the landfill and piezometers P-2A, P-7A, P-9, P-10A, P-11A, P-12A, P-14A, P-15 and P-17 were located in the groundwater outflow from the landfill. The levels of the groundwater table were recorded to estimate the pattern of possible migration paths. The location of the groundwater table is presented in Fig. 2.

3 Results and Discussion

Based on piezometric recordings the groundwater table changes have been monitored over the period of the landfill exploitation. Due to the various weather conditions and different levels of nearby waterways, the position of the groundwater table is continuously changing. However, the most significant impact on the groundwater flow direction and depth, had obviously the construction of the cut-off wall. It has modified entirely the hydrogeological conditions of the subsoil's permeability [13]. The most recent piezometers recordings showed that the groundwater flows towards the north, and does not reveal any significant disruption of spatial flow directions (Fig. 2). The significance of the precise and reliable determination of the groundwater flow is crucial when analyzing the spread and the transport paths of the potential plumes.



Fig. 2. Groundwater table levels and distribution of piezometers monitoring network.

The chemical laboratory tests of the groundwater samples comprise the analyses of 19 pollution indicators. However, for the present study only chloride concentrations and electrical conductivity (EC) tests were presented. They appear to be very much representative in terms of the soil-water environment quality assessment. The results of the exact chloride concentrations values changing over time (1998–2017), in every monitored piezometer are presented in Table 2. Additionally, for piezometer no 7A the graphical presentation of the dropping concentrations is presented in Fig. 3. From both, Table 2 and Fig. 3 it is clear that the drop of the chloride concentration in piezometers

2A-11A and 17 is significant, nevertheless for 4 remaining piezometers 12A-15, the recorded values are higher than in 1998. There are two explanations of such behavior.

Piez.	Chlorides [mgCl/l]						
	27.09.98	30.11.00	14.05.02	08.11.06	09.11.10	25.11.14	22.11.17
2A	1751	Closure of the vertical barrier	290	1595	243	246	116
4	64		39	40.7	40.3	57.1	59
6A	161		56	55.7	56.6	76.1	94
7A	2180		470	202	63.1	32.8	27
9	3739		n/a	1595	1137	518	217
10A	988		1034	584	617	213	100
11A	1384		754	1140	1360	1310	530
12A	31		31	320	250	756	990
14A	54		36	354	313	184	94
15	52		47	97.6	214	321	861
17	542		n/a	61	348	206	192

Table 2. Changes of the chlorides level in piezometers.



Fig. 3. Temporal changes of the chlorides concentrations in piezometer 7A.

First of all the plume movement is observed along the groundwater flow path, so the pollution is clearly moving away from the landfill, and during that process the environment self-purification phenomena takes place [20]. The second reason of increased values of the concentration is the close vicinity of the landfill facilities like waste treatment and composting plants that could be the external source of chloride pollution. To visualize the transport path of the chloride pollution and associated electrical conductivity the contamination spatial distribution maps are presented in Figs. 4 and 5.



Fig. 4. Chloride concentration changes in 1998 and 2017 (before and after barrier construction).



Fig. 5. EC level changes in 1998 and 2017 (before and after barrier construction).

The maps clearly indicate the pollution plume moves towards the north, where the discharge of the groundwater from the landfill is also observed. The chloride concentration and electrical conductivity (EC) are very much related to each other in the

soil water environment, what was confirmed in this case as well. The observation of piezometers, for which the values of chloride content are high, is also reflected in raised values of EC. The concentrations are now moved, when compared to the values recorded before the vertical barrier was constructed (1998). Moreover, the concentration values have been progressively dropping, and they depend on changing ground-water levels, due to different weather events (precipitations, draughts). Nevertheless, all those observations prove the groundwater quality improving character.

4 Conclusions

There are numbers of conclusions deriving from the study. First of all the chlorides are the chemical elements that indicates sever pollution of the environment within the landfill site in 1998. The associated electrical conductivity is the result of such high concentration values caused by chlorides. Before the vertical barrier installation on the site, the concentrations of pollutants were very much exceeded (even 8 times in piezometer 7A acc. the Polish Standard [21]), in most of the sampling points. However, the records from 2017, show major improvement of the groundwater quality. There are still the locations where the chloride and EC concentration values are unacceptable, but the environment purification is progressing continuously. The plum is moving away from the landfill, however the records of piezometers 12A and 15 should raise the awareness whether the exceeded values are not the result of further contamination deriving from the facilities associated with the landfill. This zone needs particular attention in further observations. The novel approach of observational method has been introduced to optimize the reclamation works, and give a clear understanding of contamination concentration and flow, by presenting pollutants distribution maps.

References

- Central Statistical Office, Warsaw. http://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/infrastrukturakomunalna-nieruchomosci/nieruchomosci-budynki-infrastruktura-komunalna/infrastrukturakomunalna-w-2016-r-,3,14.html. Accessed 19 July 2018
- Muhammad, U., Hamidi, A.A., Mohd, S.Y.: Variability of parameters involved in leachate pollution index and determination of LPI from four landfills in Malaysia. Int. J. Chem. Eng. 2010, 1–6 (2010)
- Adamcová, D., Radziemska, M., Ridošková, A., Bartoň, S., Pelcová, P., Elbl, J., Kynický, J., Brtnický, M., Vaverková, M.D.: Environmental assessment of the effects of a municipal landfill on the content and distribution of heavy metals in Tanacetum vulgare L. Chemosphere 185, 1011–1018 (2017)
- Wowkonowicz, P., Kijeńska, M.: Phthalate release in leachate from municipal landfills of central Poland. PLoS ONE 12(3), e0174986 (2017)
- Tsarpali, V., Kamilari, M., Dailianis, S.: Seasonal alterations of landfill leachate composition and toxic potency in semi-arid regions. J. Hazard. Mater. 233–234, 163–171 (2012)
- Wagh, M.P., Bhandari, P.K., Kurhade, S.: Ground water contamination by leachate. Int. J. Innovative Res. Sci. Technol. 3, 148–152 (2014)

- 7. Vaverková, M., Adamcová, D.: Heavy metals uptake by select plant species in the landfill area of Štěpánovice, Czech Republic. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 23, 2265–2269 (2014)
- 8. Koda, E., Miszkowska, A., Sieczka, A.: Levels of organic pollution indicators in groundwater at the old landfill and waste management site. Appl. Sci. 7, 638 (2017)
- 9. Renou, S., Givaudan, J.G., Poulain, S., Dirassouyan, F., Moulin, P.: Landfill leachate treatment: review and opportunity. J. Hazard. Mater. **150**(3), 468–493 (2008)
- Zhao, Q.S., Feng, J., Guo, X., Xu, Y., Zhang, J.W.: Cutoff wall construction effect of groundwater dynamic in the lower area of Dagu River. Adv. Mater. Res. 663, 789–794 (2013)
- Abu Amr, S.S., Abdul Aziz, J., Adlan, M.N.: Optimization of stabilized leachate treatment using ozone/persulfate in the advanced oxidation process. Waste Manag 33(6), 1434–1444 (2013)
- Vaverková, M.D., Adamcová, D., Radziemska, M., Voběrková, S., Mazur, Z., Zloch, J.: Assessment and evaluation of heavy metals removal from landfill leachate by Pleurotus ostreatus. Waste Biomass Valorization 9(3), 503–511 (2018)
- Koda, E., Osiński, P.: Bentonite cut-off walls: solution for landfill remedial works. Environ. Geotech. 4(4), 223–232 (2017)
- 14. Water Quality. Sampling. Part 11: Guidance on Sampling of Groundwaters. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland (2009). ISO 5667-11
- Water Quality: Determination of chloride silver nitrate titration with chromate indicator (Mohr's method). International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland (1989). PN-ISO 9297:1994
- Water Quality: Determination of Electrical Conductivity. Polish Committee for Standardization, Warsaw, Poland (1999). PN-EN 27888:1999
- Chen, G., Grasel, P., Millington, G., Hallas, J., Ahmad, H., Tawfiq, K.: Chloride removal from landfill leachate by the ultra-high lime with aluminum process. J. Urban Environ. Eng. 11(1), 3–8 (2017)
- Haarstad, K., Maehlum, T.: Electrical conductivity and chloride reduction in leachate treatment systems. J. Environ. Eng. 133(6), 659 (2007)
- 19. Kumar, D., Alappat, B.J.: Analysis of leachate pollution index and formulation of subleachate pollution indices. Waste Manag. Res. 23(3), 230–239 (2005)
- Koda, E., Pachuta, K., Osiński, P.: Potential of plant applications in the initial stage of the landfill reclamation process. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 22(6), 1731–1739 (2013)
- Regulation of the Minister of Environment Dated 21 December 2015 on the Criteria and Method of Evaluating the Underground Water Condition. (Journal of Laws 2016, Item 85). http://isap.sejm.gov.pl/DetailsServlet?id=WDU20160000085. Accessed 25 July 2018



The Assessment of Thermal Insulation of Bioreactors for an Aerobic Biostabilization of Waste

Mateusz Malinowski^{1(\Box)}, Arkadiusz Religa¹, Tomasz Szul², Paweł Wołtosz¹, and Maria Łukasiewicz¹

 ¹ Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, Institute of Agriculture Engineering and Informatics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Kraków, Poland mateusz.malinowski@urk.edu.pl
 ² Department of Power Engineering and Automation of Agricultural Processes, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland Power Engineering,

University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Kraków, Poland

Abstract. The aim of the study was to analyze and assess the thermal insulation of three walls (the side wall, the front wall with a hook and the back wall - the door) of a bioreactor for an aerobic biostabilization of waste (built in accordance with the DIN 30722 standard) for 3 different variants of thermal insulation applied. It should be noted that currently there are no requirements in the literature regarding the design of a thermal insulating layer of bioreactors in municipal solid waste treatment installations in Poland. The side wall of the bioreactor and the front wall (with a hook) appeared to have the best thermal insulation while the back wall (the door of the bioreactor) showed the worst insulation. This was confirmed by photographs (thermograms) taken using a thermal imaging camera. The highest observed temperatures were recorded on the door of the bioreactor, on which many thermal bridges were also visible. The lowest mean temperatures on the surface of the bioreactor walls were obtained using foam insulation (variant 1), however, it was found that the differences between the temperatures of the analyzed elements in particular variants were not statistically significant.

Keywords: Aerobic biostabilization · Heat transfer · Thermography

1 Introduction

Installations for mechanical and biological treatment (MBT) of mixed municipal solid waste have been the basic form of municipal waste management in Poland since 1 July 2013. In the MBT plant, the oversize fraction with a grain size >80 mm (which can be used e.g. in cement plants as an alternative fuel) and undersize fraction with a grain size below 80 mm (directed to the biological part of the MBT plant for biological drying, aerobic stabilization or methane fermentation) are generated [5, 6, 9]. One of the most popular biological waste treatment methods in the MBT plant is aerobic biostabilization. This is a process of biological treatment of organic waste, carried out under

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 23–29, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_4

aerobic conditions [1, 7, 10]. The processes of aerobic biostabilization and bio-drying are the best way for decomposition of organic matter contained in the waste (as a result of the activity of various groups of microorganisms), which is accompanied by an increase in temperature [1, 4, 7, 8, 19]. High temperature kept in the range of 50–60 °C is advantageous for aerobic bacteria, the activity of which is then the highest. This causes the process to proceed dynamically and the product of the stabilization process, which is the stabilizer, can be obtained in a shorter time. Jędrczak [9] states that all biological waste treatment processes should be carried out in specially designed bioreactors, which allows controlling the process.

The aim of the study was to assess the thermal insulation of 3 different elements (walls) of bioreactors with container construction designed for aerobic biostabilization of waste. The research was carried out for three different construction variants of isolated bioreactors for aerobic stabilization of waste in real conditions in the MBT plant in Kraków (Poland). Proper selection of solutions for thermal insulation of bioreactors is indispensable to ensure the lowest possible heat loss through the bioreactor walls. The waste deposit cooling (inter alia due to the heat loss through the wall of the bioreactor) results in the process being slowed down.

So far no similar studies have been carried out for bioreactors for biostabilization of waste. This is a novelty of the tests carried out. Teleszewski and Żukowski [18] give the results of research on the thermal insulation of bioreactors for the production of biogas in Polish conditions.

2 Materials and Methods

The bioreactor for aerobic biostabilization of waste is a closing construction of working volume of 33 m³ with a hook and special skids which enable its loading on a hook lift. The bioreactor was built in accordance with the DIN 30722 standard with a wall thickness of 4 mm. The walls, roof and bottom of the bioreactors were additionally insulated with a layer of polystyrene foam, insulating foam and external metal sheet depending on the type of construction (variant). The bioreactors have openings for delivery and removal of process air, as well as an opening for getting rid of leachate. The bioreactors are airtight, so that there is no possibility of uncontrolled contact of the process air with the atmosphere. The analysis covered three walls of bioreactors, i.e. the side wall, the front wall with a hook and the back wall (the door of the bioreactor). The research was carried out for three variants of insulation of bioreactor walls:

- 1. insulation with insulating foam (60 mm) and 1 mm external metal sheet;
- 2. insulation with polystyrene foam (40 mm) and 1 mm external metal sheet;
- 3. insulation with polystyrene foam (20 mm) and external metal sheet 2 mm.

In order to determine the substitute heat transfer coefficient, the thermal resistance of individual elements was calculated for the side wall, front wall with a hook and the back wall (door) of the bioreactor. The thermal insulation of the partitions depends on the size of the heat transfer coefficient through the partition. It is the reverse of the total thermal resistance, which consists of the thermal conductivity coefficient of the material from which the partition is made and the thickness of this partition, as well as resistance to heat penetration on both sides of the partition (internal and external).
Each construction material is characterized by a different heat conduction coefficient, therefore it is possible to determine whether a given material is a good thermal insulator or not. The lower the coefficient value, the better the insulation level. Heat transfer coefficient indicates the amount of heat that permeates within 1 h through 1 m² of a flat partition with the difference of air temperature on both sides of it equal to 1 °C (1 K). In order to determine the heat transfer coefficient of the bioreactor walls, the PN-EN ISO 6946 standard was used.

The assessment of thermal insulation of bioreactors for aerobic stabilization of waste was undertaken employing the FLIR ThermaCAM E300 thermal imaging camera. The images were digitally processed using the ThermaCAM TM FLIR QuickReport 1.2 software. Thermography deals with the detection, recording, processing and visualization of infrared radiation, which is invisible to the human eye, emitted by each object, as a result of which it receives a digital image (thermogram) representing the temperature distribution on the surface of the object in question [11, 15, 17, 20]. All bodies that is solid, liquid and gas, whose temperature is higher than 0 K (-273.15 °C), emit thermal radiation called infrared radiation. The measured thermal energy of the object depends on the spectral, thermal and physical properties of the material [13, 14, 16, 18, 20].

Thermography is a method that enables to visualize the temperature distribution on the surface of a given element. The measurement takes into account the influence of the environment, which can distort the thermal image of the thermogram [2, 3, 12–14]. The execution of thermograms of the external walls of buildings and their analysis allows non-invasive identification of defects in the insulation layer, as well as the occurrence of manufacturing errors, mold or moisture [11].

The photos of bioreactors were taken between the 3rd and 4th day of the aerobic biostabilization process of waste. The tests were carried out from December 2017 to February 2018. The air temperature on the measurement days was 0 ± 3 °C and the temperature inside the bioreactors 60 ± 5 °C. Most often the sky was overcast, but with no rain, snow or wind. Solar radiation did not significantly affect measurement errors. The surfaces of bioreactors were carefully cleaned of all kinds of contaminants. 81 photos were taken during the measurements. For each variant, 27 thermograms illustrating bioreactors for aerobic biostabilization of waste were executed. In each variant, three different bioreactors were analyzed. The bioreactors were structurally new (production date: March 2016).

3 Results and Discussion

Table 1 presents the data that enabled calculation of a substitute heat transfer coefficient for individual construction elements of the bioreactor presented in Table 2. The calculations assumed heat transfer coefficients from the internal side of the bioreactor at the level of 0.066 (m² K) W⁻¹ and from the external side of 0.04 (m² K) W⁻¹ [17]. The lowest thermal resistance was demonstrated for variant 1 (foam insulation (60 mm) and external metal sheet (1 mm)). The highest thermal resistance was noted for the side wall for variant 1, the resistance amounted to 2.87 (m² K) W⁻¹, while the lowest resistance was observed for the back wall (variant 3): 0.8 (m² K) W⁻¹. The lowest heat

transfer coefficient and hence the highest thermal insulation was discerned for the side wall of the bioreactor in variant 1 (Table 2), for which the heat transfer coefficient equaled to 0.35 W (m² K)⁻¹, while the lowest thermal insulation was noted for the back wall (the door of the bioreactor) in variant 3: 1.25 W (m² K)⁻¹.

Type of material	Heat transfer coefficient W $(m^2 K)^{-1}$	Layer thickness (m)
Metal sheet (construction steel)	58	0.001
Metal sheet (construction steel)	58	0.002
Polystyrene foam	0.043	0.02
Polystyrene foam	0.043	0.04
Insulating foam	0.025	0.06

Table 1. Heat transfer coefficients for individual types of layers forming the bioreactor structure

Table 2. Heat transfer coefficients of individual structural elements of the bioreactor

Type of structure	Unit	Variant 1	Variant 2	Variant 3
Side wall	$W (m^2 K)^{-1}$	0.35	0.48	0.79
Front wall with a hook	$W (m^2 K)^{-1}$	0.38	0.55	0.97
Back wall (door)	$W (m^2 K)^{-1}$	0.42	0.62	1.25

Figure 1 shows the temperature distribution on the side wall surface of one of the analyzed bioreactors (variant 1). The marked pixels Sp1 and Sp2 indicate the temperatures of the process air discharge conduit from the bioreactor. The Ar1 area indicates the range of temperature values on the side wall of the bioreactor. With the use of the Li1 and Li2 lines, the temperatures on the ribs (structure) of the bioreactor, whose temperature in the lower part was higher than the rest of the wall of the bioreactor whose thermal insulation was made of polystyrene foam with a bioreactor whose thermal insulation was made of polystyrene foam with a thickness of 20 mm and metal sheet thickness of 2 mm (variant 3). Figure 2 shows that the door of the bioreactor had a much higher temperature than the side wall, which was due to the very high value of the heat transfer coefficient (1.25 W (m² K)⁻¹).

Table 3. Mean values of temperatures of analyzed structural elements of the bioreactor

Type of structure	Unit	Variant 1	Variant 2	Variant 3
Side wall	°C	16.3 ± 6.1	17.1 ± 5.4	17.2 ± 5.9
Front wall with a hook	°C	17.3 ± 5.6	17.9 ± 4.4	17.8 ± 7.1
Back wall (door)	°C	20.2 ± 4.2	21.1 ± 5.2	22.0 ± 5.4

Table 3 presents mean temperatures of individual structural elements of bioreactors calculated on the basis of the analysis of thermograms. The highest temperatures

concern the door of the bioreactor, on which numerous thermal bridges were evident. The lowest mean temperatures were recorded on the surface of the bioreactor walls, the insulation of which was made of foam (variant 1), however, it was found that the differences between the temperatures of the analyzed elements in individual variants were not statistically significant. This means that when selecting insulation materials for the construction of a bioreactor, economic factor should be considered and the cheapest option chosen. In this work, thermal bridges were not assumed in the calculations.



Fig. 1. Temperature distribution on the surface of the side wall and the front wall of the bioreactor (variant 1)



Fig. 2. Temperature distribution on the surface of the side and back walls of the bioreactor (variant 3)

Thermal bridges noticeable on thermograms were of structural and geometrical character. The main reason for the occurrence of thermal bridges involves the design or assembly errors. Structural thermal bridges are those that appear as a result of difficulties in executing the insulation due to structural solutions (in this case, the ribbing of the side walls of the bioreactors and the door of the bioreactors). In turn, geometric thermal bridges are connected with the shape of the external partitions of the bioreactor and occur in the corners of the bioreactors. In the place where the ladder was attached to the front wall, the occurrence of a point thermal bridge was noted, which had been the result of a puncture of the insulation layer by fixing bolts. The most common thermal bridges are caused by: breaking the continuity of the insulation layer, insufficient thickness of the thermal insulation layer and inhomogeneity of the partition structure, i.e. occurrence of elements that conduct heat better in the construction of the partition [18].

4 Conclusion

The paper presents an analysis of thermal insulation of walls of bioraector for a typical municipal solid waste treatment plant under the Polish climatic conditions. The simulations were made for an existing object. On the basis of the conducted research, the following conclusions were drawn:

- 1. Thermal insulation of bioreactors for aerobic biostabilization of waste is adequate for the process carried out in them.
- 2. All of the tested bioreactors had similar thermal insulation of side walls. The side wall of the bioreactor and the front wall with a hook appeared to have the best thermal insulation while the back wall (the door of the bioreactor) showed the worst insulation.
- 3. The analysis of the thermograms of individual structural elements of the bioreactor showed that there were thermal bridges on the surface of the walls (mainly the door of the bioreactor).

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (means of Statutory Research No. DS 3600/WIPIE, University of Agriculture in Krakow).

References

- Adani, F., Tambone, F., Gotti, A.: Biostabilization of municipal solid waste. Waste Manag 24(8), 775–783 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2004.03.007
- Andonova, A., Aleksandrov, A., Peichev, K., Georgiev, R.: Thermography evaluation of a bioreactor's heat loss to surrounding environment. In: Electronics and Nanotechnology, 12– 14 April, Kyiv, Ukraine (2011)
- 3. Andonova, A., Takov, T.: Identification of damage in materials using infrared thermography. Adv. Mater. Oper. J. 1(1), 114–117 (2011)

- Baran, D., Famielec, S., Koncewicz-Baran, M., Malinowski, M., Sobol, Z.: The changes in exhaust gas and selected waste properties during biostabilization process. Proc. ECOpole 10 (1), 11–18 (2016). https://doi.org/10.2429/proc.2016.10(1)001
- Dębicka, M., Żygadło, M., Latosińska, J.: Investigations of bio-drying process of municipal solid waste. Ecol. Chem. Eng. A 20(12), 1461–1470 (2013)
- Dębicka, M., Żygadło, M., Latosińska, J.: The effectiveness of biodrying waste treatment in full scale reactor. Open Chem. 15, 67–74 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1515/chem-2017-0009
- Dziedzic, K., Łapczyńska-Kordon, B., Malinowski, M., Niemiec, M., Sikora, J.: Impact of aerobic biostabilisation and biodrying process of municipal solid waste on minimisation of waste deposited in landfills. Chem. Process Eng. 36(4), 381–394 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 1515/cpe-2015-0027
- Gliniak, M., Grabowski, Ł., Wołosiewicz-Głąb, M., Polek, D.: Influence of ozone aeration on toxic metal content and oxygen activity in green waste compost. J. Ecol. Eng. (Inżynieria Ekologiczna) 18(4), 90–94 (2017)
- Jędrczak, A.: Biologiczne przetwarzanie odpadów. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warszawa (2007). ISBN 978-83-01-15166-9
- Malinowski, M.: Analysis of the undersize fraction temperature changes during the biostabilization process. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV(3), 1773–1784 (2017). https://doi. org/10.14597/infraeco.2017.4.3.133
- Malinowski, M., Sikora, J.: Termograficzna analiza wybranych przegród budowlanych w aspekcie ich termoizolacyjności. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, no. 3/IV, pp. 91–104 (2013)
- Nuzzo, I., Calia, A., Liberatore, D., Masini, N., Rizzo, E.: Integration of ground-penetrating radar, ultrasonic testes and infrared thermography for the analysis of precious medieval rose window. Adv. Geosci. 24, 69–82 (2010)
- Ostrowski, C., Antczak, E., Defer, D., Duthoit, BŁ.: Association of infra-red thermography and thermal impedance applied to the detection of empty spaces under concrete slabs. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on "Non-Destructive Testing in Civil Engineering", pp. 1–6 (2003)
- 14. Pleşu, R., Teodoriu, G., Țăranu, G.: Infrared thermography applications for building investigation. Buletinul Institutului Politehnic Din Iași. Tomul **LVIII**(LXII), 1 (2012)
- Rutkowska, G., Klepak, O., Podawca, K.: Problemy strat ciepła w istniejących budynkach jednorodzinnych w kontekście błędów wykonawczych. Ann. Set Environ. Prot. 15, 262– 2639 (2013)
- 16. Stimolo, M.: Passive infrared thermography as inspection and observation tool in bridge and road construction. In: Proceedings in the International Symposium (NDT-CE 2003) (2003)
- Szul, T.: Ocena efektywności energetycznej budynków. Wydawnictwo Naukowe INTEL-LECT, Waleńczów (2018)
- Teleszewski, T.J., Żukowski, M.: Analysis of heat loss of a biogas anaerobic digester in weather conditions in Poland. J. Ecol. Eng. 19(4), 250–252 (2018)
- Titta, G., Viviani, G., Sabella, D.: Biostabilization and biodrying of municipal solid waste. In: Eleventh International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, Cagliari, Sardinia, Italy, pp. 1085–1086 (2007)
- 20. Wróbel A.: Termografia w pomiarach inwentaryzacyjnych obiektów budowlanych. Rozprawy Monografie 209, Wyd. AGH. (2010)



The New Construction of Heating Elements for Greenhouse Heating Systems

Jarosław Knaga, Stanisław Famielec^(⊠), and Kazimierz Rutkowski

Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka Street 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland {jaroslaw.knaga,stanislaw.famielec}@ur.krakow.pl

Abstract. Power demand in a greenhouse's heating system is characterized by high diversity over time. The differences range from several to more than a dozen times and are a result of conditions changes between day and night as well as in longer periods of time. Improving greenhouse microclimate and reducing heat losses are nowadays the main research areas in greenhouse technology. New construction of heating pipes – hexagram-shaped pipes called "Walczak's pipes" – enable higher heat efficiency and quicker response to changes of external conditions. In this research Walczak's pipes made of polypropylene were tested. Specific heat efficiency was determined for three different heating medium flow rates. Moreover, thermal parameters of the tested pipes were compared to those of similar pipes made of steel. The conducted research allowed for stating that Walczak's pipes made of PP are suitable for low-temperature heating systems, e.g. in greenhouses, heat pumps, etc.

Keywords: Greenhouse · Walczak's pipes · Heating pipes · Heating system

1 Introduction

The development of modern horticulture technologies as well as pursuance towards more efficient and energy-saving greenhouse production force the producers to seek for new solutions in construction and equipment of a greenhouse. Achieving high quality crops is possible only if optimal conditions of growth are provided [1, 2]. In a modern greenhouse all the plant requirements need to be fulfilled, hence its construction and equipment has been changing rapidly in recent years [2–4]. For instance, in order to ensure optimal light access, the height of greenhouses increases. On the other hand, heat losses have to be minimized, which force the constructors of greenhouses to search for more advanced technologies. The recent research shows, however, that there are still some significant possibilities to improve greenhouse microclimate and reduce heat losses [5–7].

Power demand in a greenhouse's heating system is characterized by high diversity over time. The differences range from several to more than a dozen times and are a result of conditions changes between day and night as well as in longer periods of time. Research shows that greenhouses use on average 15–25% of peak power. Any change in the intensity of solar radiation (common in autumn or spring) results in an immediate

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 30–36, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_5

31

change in momentary heating power demand [8–13]. Considering a high amount of heating water used in installations (approx. 20 dm³ · ha⁻¹), the heating system requires a heat source characterized by optimal heating power and hot water accumulation capacity [11]. The factors mentioned above force the use of such solutions which, on the one hand, secure the power demand, and on the other, reduce the energy consumption.

A modern heating system in a greenhouse means not only maintaining proper temperatures but it also should ensure balanced air movement in the vegetation zone and quick response to sudden changes in external conditions [4, 11]. To meet these requirements the independent control of heating circuits with varied thermal inertia should be applied. Diversified thermal inertia of heating circuits is particularly important in periods of high variability of external conditions, when either overheating of a greenhouse or high heat losses are often noted. That is why a new generation of heating pipes - hexagram-shaped pipes referred to as "Walczak's pipes" - have found application in modern construction of greenhouses. Such pipes have several times smaller volume compared to traditional heating pipes of the same outer diameter, they are more rigid as well. Much lower volume of heating medium needed in the system based on Walczak's pipes enables quicker response to sudden changes in external conditions. The preliminary assessment of applying Walczak's pipes in greenhouse production is highly positive [7]. Compared to traditional systems, such pipes allow for better heat management. The detailed research on thermal and physical parameters of greenhouse heating systems equipped with Walczak's pipes has been conducted at the Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Poland.

2 Materials and Methods

The research was aimed at the assessment of heat efficiency of hexagram-shaped heating pipes, known as Walczak's pipes. The pipes under examination were made of polypropylene and were manufactured by extrusion of circular PP pipes with a circumference of 40 mm. They have more than 2.5 times smaller capacity in comparison with typical greenhouse pipes, which allows for quick response of the heating system to sudden changes in external conditions (lower thermal inertia). Moreover, PP pipes are rust-proof and do not require maintenance, as well as they are lighter than steel pipes, which may lessen the load supported by the greenhouse structure.

The research was conducted in accordance with the standard guidelines for the measurements of thermal devices. In the first step the specific heat efficiency was determined at the ambient temperatures in the range of 15-22 °C. Such temperature range in the chamber, in which the tests were carried out, was chosen due to the potential application of the tested pipes in greenhouse tomato production. Water was used as a heating medium, its temperature reached up to 56 °C. The tests were carried out at steady state (after all the parameters of the system – including ambient temperature, heating medium temperature and flow rate – became stable). The values of power supplied to the system were assessed for discrete points on the basis of conducted tests in periods of 30 min.

The examined section of the pipe was 12 m long, with two loops enabling compensation of thermal expansions, which occurred due to changes in temperatures. The tested section was hung at the height of 0.5 m and was linked to the inlet and outlet connections located at the distance of 6 m from each other. The specific volume of the tested heating pipe was 0.5 dm³, which, after calculations, gives hydraulic diameter of the pipe equal to 25.2 mm. It corresponds to the pipe 1" in series of types of hydraulic elements.

In Fig. 1 the key system elements are presented, i.e. the examined section of the pipe and the measuring system, in which DT9818 USB card with sixteen analog voltage inputs was an essential component. The measured values were recorded directly to a PC using DaisyLab 11.0 program, which controls the card operations. Sampling rate of 1 Hz was applied. Temperature measurements of the tested heating pipe at the inlet and outlet as well as of its surroundings were performed by Pt100 paired sensors (T_1 , T_2 , T_3 , T_4 – Fig. 1). Such arrangements of sensors allowed for complete balancing of the heat fluxes in the heating system. The flow rate of the heating medium was measured using MTWH flowmeter. Relative humidity of the air inside and outside the measuring chamber was also recorded. For water circulation a DC pump with regulation of flow rate was used.



Fig. 1. Scheme of the stand for measuring heat efficiency of heating pipes.

3 Results and Discussion

The results of the conducted tests are presented on the diagram (Fig. 2). The tests were carried out for three different flow rates: 4.0, 2.1 and $1.1 \text{ dm}^3 \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$, which corresponds to the average theoretical speeds of heating medium equal 13.2, 7.0 and 3.6 cm \cdot s⁻¹, respectively. For those parameters the characteristics of specific heat efficiency (power per unit length of the heating pipe) in relation to the difference between heating medium and ambient temperatures. On the diagram it can be noticed that with an increase in flow rate the heat efficiency of the tested heating pipes also

increases slightly. However, most noticeable is an increase in the heat efficiency resulting from a rise in temperature difference DT. An increase in DT equal 1 °C forces the specific heat efficiency increases of 0.865, 0.831 and 0.700 W \cdot m⁻¹ for flow rates 4.0, 2.1 and 1.1 dm³ \cdot min⁻¹, respectively. According to [14, 15], in the DT range between 10 and 40 °C traditional round steel heating pipes with a diameter of 26.4 mm and plastic pipes (made of PE) with a diameter of 25.0 mm are characterized by the average coefficients of 1.21 W \cdot m⁻¹ \cdot °C ⁻¹ and 0.97 W \cdot m⁻¹ \cdot °C ⁻¹, respectively. Comparison of the research and literature values allows for stating that in the case of the tested hexagram-shaped PP pipes for the flow rate 4.0 dm³ \cdot min⁻¹, the rate of heat efficiency increase with temperature is lower by 28.5% and 10.8% than for steel and plastic pipes of similar diameters, respectively.

On the basis of the presented relations (Fig. 2) it can be stated that at the flow rate $4.0 \text{ dm}^3 \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ and the difference in temperatures of a pipe and its surrounding equaling to 30 °C, a 50 m long heating pipe is able to provide the heating power of approx. 1.25 kW. It is important to mention that this range of power is generated through heating the air by three mechanisms of heat-transfer: convection, conduction and radiation.



Fig. 2. Specific heat efficiency in relation to temperature difference DT for three examined flow rates.

Figure 3 presents a comparison between specific heat efficiency of Walczak's pipe made of PP and steel. Both heating elements were star-shaped in cross section, but the hydraulic diameter of the steel pipe was larger than that of the tested PP pipe (28.0 and 25.2 mm, respectively). It has also to be mentioned that the flow rate in the steel pipe was slightly higher (5.0 dm³ · min⁻¹) than in the PP pipe. The presented characteristics (Fig. 3) reveal that for DT values lower than 15 °C the specific heat efficiency for both types of pipes are similar. However, for higher DT values (exceeding 15 °C) the characteristics begin to differ noticeably – more efficient are the steel pipes.



Fig. 3. Characteristics of specific heat efficiency for Walczak's pipes made of PP and steel.

For more detailed comparison of specific heat efficiency of both pipe types, percentage differences were calculated and shown on a diagram (Fig. 4). The diagram shows that in the DT range from 12 to 20 °C the difference of specific heat efficiency between steel and PP pipes is linear and increases from 1% to 20%. For DT higher than 20 °C it can be stated that the heating element made of PP reveals the specific heat efficiency lower by 24%. However, it has to be remarked that measurement conditions of both pipe types were not the same – the hydraulic diameter and the flow rate in the case of steel pipe tests were higher than in PP pipes tests by 11% and 20%, respectively.



Fig. 4. Difference in specific heat efficiency between heating pipes made of PP and steel.

4 Conclusions

On the basis of the conducted research and analyses, the following conclusions concerning heating elements (Walczak's pipes) made of PP can be drawn:

- 1. A 1 °C increase in difference between the heating medium and ambient temperatures forces the specific heat efficiency increases of 0.865, 0.831 and 0.700 W \cdot m⁻¹ for flow rates 4.0, 2.1 and 1.1 dm³ \cdot min⁻¹, respectively.
- 2. A 50 m long heating pipe made of PP is able to provide the heating power of approx. 1.25 kW if the value of DT reaches 30 °C.
- 3. Hexagram-shaped heating elements made of steel can be replaced by PP elements of similar dimensions provided that the circumference of their cross-section will be larger by at least 20%.
- 4. The researched heat elements made of PP are suitable for applications in low-temperature heating systems, e.g. in greenhouses, heat pumps, etc.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (statutory activities DS-3600/WIPiE/2018, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow).

References

- Gaziński, B.: Technika klimatyzacyjna dla praktyków. Komfort cieplny, zasady obliczeń i urządzenia. Systherm, Poznań (2005)
- Ertop, H., Atilgan, A.: The determination of properties of heating and cooling systems in greenhouse. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas III/2, 1115–1129 (2017)
- 3. Kurpaska, S., Latała, H., Michałek, R., Rutkowski, K.: Funkcjonalność zintegrowanego systemu grzewczego w ogrzewanych tunelach foliowych. PTIR, Kraków (2004)
- 4. Kurpaska, S.: Szklarnie i tunele foliowe. PWRiL, Poznań (2007)
- Grabarczyk, S.: Zyski ciepła od promieniowania słonecznego w szklarni z ekranem termoizolacyjnym. Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki Rzeszowskiej: Budownictwo i Inżynieria Środowiska 47, 145–150 (2008)
- Kurpaska, S.: Wymiary geometryczne oraz rodzaj pokrycia a zapotrzebowanie ciepła w szklarni. Katedra Inżynierii Rolniczej i Informatyki, Uniwersytet Rolniczy w Krakowie (2008)
- Rutkowski, K., Knaga, J., Krakowiak-Bal, A., Vogelgesang, J., Sikora, J., Smółka, Ł.: "Walczak's pipes" in the greenhouse heating system. Acta Universitatis Agriculutrae Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunesis 64, 135–140 (2016)
- Rutkowski, K., Wojciech, J.: Nakłady energetyczne na produkcję pomidora w szklarniach zblokowanych. Inżynieria Rolnicza 9(107), 257–262 (2008)
- Rutkowski, K.: Analiza energetyczna wybranych typów szklarni. Inżynieria Rolnicza 9 (107), 249–257 (2008)
- Rutkowski, K., Wojciech, J.: Wpływ wysokości szklarni na zużycie ciepła. Inżynieria Rolnicza 5(114), 303–310 (2009)
- Rutkowski, K.: Analiza energetyczno-technologiczna szklarni. Inżynieria Rolnicza 8(117), 157–162 (2009)
- Rutkowski, K., Wojciech, J.: Reakcja istniejących systemów grzewczych w szklarni na zmieniające się warunki zewnętrzne. Inżynieria Rolnicza 8(117), 167–173 (2009)
- Atilgan, A., Yucel, A., Tanriverdi, C., Oz, H., Tezcan, A.: Determination of optimum heating and cooling degree-hour values for pepper plant. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas II/1, 457–467 (2017)

- 14. Castilla, N.: Greenhouse Technology and Management, 2nd edn. CABI Publishing, Wallingford (2013)
- Van de Braak, N.J.: Heating equipment. In: Bakker, J.C., Bot, G.P.A., Challa, H., Van de Braak N.J. (eds.) Greenhouse Climate Control – An Integrated Approach, pp. 171–179. Wageningen Pers, Wageningen (1995)



The Influence of the Height of Foil Tunnels on the Formation of Thermal Conditions in the Plant Growing Zone

Grzegorz Nawalany^(⊠) ⓑ and Paweł Sokołowski ⓑ

Faculty of Environmental Engineering, Department of Rural Building, University of Agriculture in Krakow, al. Mickiewicza 24/28, 30-059 Kraków, Poland g. nawalany@urk.edu.pl

Abstract. The paper attempts to determine the influence of the height of foil tunnels on the formation of thermal conditions in the plant growing zone. A diagnosis of the temperature distribution and the direction of heat flow in the ground under tunnels was made. Continuous recording of the temperature and relative humidity of the internal and external air, the intensity of solar radiation and the direction and speed of the wind was also carried out. There are periods and places where there are losses and heat gains from the ground. Studies on the formation of thermal conditions in the ground and selected parameters of the internal and external microclimate were carried out in two free-standing tunnels of different construction, in an agricultural holding located in the Świętokrzyskie Province. In the tunnels, seasonal cultivation of cucumbers was carried out from April to October. In the hot bottom, the internal temperature in the higher tunnel was 6.8 °C lower than in the lower tunnel. On the other hand, on cloudy days, the temperature in both tunnels was similar, and its differences were within the scope of measurement error of the sensors. The studies did not show the influence of height on the temperature distribution in the root zone of plants. Differences in the top soil layer (-0.1 m) reached 0.8 °C. At lower levels (-0.5 m and -1.0 m), ground temperature differences under the tunnels were around 0.2 °C. The results of the detailed analysis indicate that, when taking the varied surface of the tunnels into account, the energy gains from the soil in the low tunnel reached 44.3 kWh/m², whereas in the high one their value was higher and reached 46.4 kWh/m².

Keywords: Plastic tunnel · Temperature · Soil

1 Introduction

Intensive covered horticulture in countries with less favourable climatic conditions involves high costs in order to provide proper efficiency of crop growing. Poland is one of the states where average monthly temperatures and solar irradiance are significantly lower in the heating period when compared to the Mediterranean, but also to the southwestern regions of Sweden or the Netherlands [6, 11, 14]. Regardless, Poland is a relevant European producer of vegetables and ornamental plants grown under

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 37–45, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_6

protective covering. Based on the data collected by the Central Statistical Office (Główny Urząd Statystyczny – GUS) for 2015, 55% of vegetables from under such covering come from polytunnels, 44.6% from greenhouses. The remaining 0.4% of crops are grown in cold frames [5].

The cultivation of vegetables under protective covering is strictly related to the provision of proper internal microclimate conditions, especially the indoor air temperature and relative humidity [6, 10]. This mainly entails providing the required internal temperature throughout the vegetation period. However, rapid temperature fluctuations in the tunnel may significantly affect the crop yield. The minimum temperature in this type of structures depends on what plants are cultivated and ranges from 5 to 10 °C, issues related to the high temperature start to affect the majority of crops when the temperature exceeds 30 °C [2, 7].

The optimisation of the microclimate in tunnel structures requires the adoption of proper material and structural solutions, as well as the provision of effective ventilation. Due to the fact that the most intensive period for vegetable production under protective covering is from spring to autumn, it is necessary to ensure suitable conditions for development within this period [4]. One option for improving thermal and humidity conditions in polytunnels is to ensure sufficient cubic volume of the structure, which decreases the impact of the high temperature of the outdoor air and high solar irradiance on the microclimate of the indoor environment [8, 12, 13]. Equally important is the role of the soil inside and around the tunnel structure. In the summer season, the soil serves as the main receiver of excess heat from inside the tunnel, whereas during transition periods, the flux of heat is directed inside the structure, therefore decreasing the maintenance costs [3, 9, 11]. The substrate may also impact temperature fluctuations in the cultivation area, which may directly affect the crop yield. Proper energy management in polytunnels may reduce the demand for energy in this type of structures.

The aim of the study was to examine fluctuations of the air temperature and relative humidity as well as soil temperature inside and around two tunnel structures of different heights.

2 Materials and Methods

The study was performed in two free-standing single-bay polytunnels of different designs and cubic volumes intended for the intense production of greenhouse cucumbers. Both structures are located at a horticultural farm southern Poland. They are part of a complex which consists of 28 polytunnels with the total area of 0.64 ha. In order to carry out the study, two tunnels were selected of various heights. One of the polytunnels, the lower one, with the dimensions of $30.0 \times 3.5 \times 7.0$ m, had a wooden structure covered with year-round horticultural film of type UV-4. The second polytunnel, the higher one, with the dimensions of $30.0 \times 5.0 \times 9.0$ m, had a steel structure and was also covered with the same type of film. The arrangement of the measuring points in the examined tunnels is presented in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Layout of the locations where the temperature and relative humidity of the indoor air (Θ_i, RH_i) and temperature in the soil were measured (A1–A3, B1–B3, C1–C3, D1–D3): (a) polytunnel with the dimensions of $30.0 \times 5.0 \times 9.0$ m, (b) polytunnel with the dimensions of $30.0 \times 3.5 \times 7.0$ m.

The research was carried out between 16.03.2016 and 16.10.2016. Within this period, the following microclimate parameters were measured continuously: indoor air temperature and relative humidity, outdoor air temperature and relative humidity, soil temperature in the tunnels, soil temperature around the tunnels, solar irradiance.

To measure the indoor air temperature and relative humidity, LB-710 hytherographs were used. The soil temperature measurements were conducted with PT-100 sensors. The solar irradiance measurements were performed with the LB-901 Kipp&Zonen CMP3 pyranometer. The collected data was saved in the computer memory by use of a measurement data logger as frequently as every 60 min.

The following equation was used to calculate the heat transfer to the ground:

$$q = \frac{\theta_i - \theta_g}{\left(\frac{0.1}{\lambda_s}\right) + R_{si}}$$
(1)

As θ_i , inner air temperature measured above the ground (θ_{i2} , θ_{i5} , θ_{i7}), θ_g , soil temperature interpolated between points B1 and C1, λ_s , thermal conductivity of soil (1,8 W \cdot m⁻¹ \cdot K⁻¹ was assumed), R_{si}, resistance of heat transfer (0,17 m² \cdot K \cdot W⁻¹ was assumed). The vertical direction of the heat flow was assumed and the storage of heat by the ground was omitted, due to the small thickness of the soil layer, which was assumed at the level of 10 cm.

To determine the course of isolin, a simplified IDW (Inverse Distance Weighting) method was used. The smallest rectangle containing all the base points, including the value of the tested temperature, was determined. Then the rectangle was divided into cells with the same temperature value. Cells with the same temperature were then subjected to isolin.

3 Results and Analysis

To precisely analyse temperatures in the tunnels and temperature distribution in the soil around them, the period from 25 March to 16 October 2016 was selected, during which the cucumber (*Cucumis sativus L.*) was cultivated. The results yielded by the measurements of indoor and outdoor air temperatures and solar irradiance are presented in Fig. 2. The more favourable conditions for the cultivation of the cucumber were recorded in the higher tunnel (Θ_{iL}), where the indoor temperature exceeded the permissible temperature, 35 °C on very hot days only. On the other hand, on the first days of the October, the indoor air temperature dropped by approx. 8 °C below the required temperature of 18 °C. The temperatures in the tunnels were extreme due to solar irradiance (Fig. 2a) reaching as high as 1,145 W/m² in the summer season. In the spring and autumn, the mean solar irradiance varied between 260 and 360 W/m².

The largest soil temperature fluctuations under the tunnels occurred in the top layer, both at the walls and in the middle. In the summer season, the soil temperature under the tunnels decreased with depth (soil temperature difference at -0.1 m and -1.0 m was even 17 K). On 23 June 2016, when Θ_e rapidly increased, the soil temperature also increased on each measuring level, but with some delay. The increase was delayed from one day at -1.6 ft (-0.5 m) and by up to three days at (-1.0 m).

The periodic drop of Θ_e , from 11 to 19 July 2016, caused the average daily temperatures to equalise in the soil on each measuring level, which occurred on 18 July and lasted until 22 July 2016; then, the soil temperatures varied between 18 and 21 °C.

In the spring time, that is from 28 March, the temperature in the topsoil under the tunnels was observed to have increased faster than in the ground beyond them. It positively affected the conditions in the rhizosphere of the plants. Knowing the temperature curves for the soil under and around the examined tunnels, characteristic periods were selected for which temperature fields and heat flux directions corresponding to them were determined (Fig. 4), which illustrate the heat transfer between the tunnels and soil within the analysed study period.

What seems especially interesting are the temperature fields recorded on 26 March (Fig. 4a and b), when the soil under the tunnels, which had been cold after winter, received the heat from the top layer, in contact with the indoor air. In the summer season, the temperatures of the soil under and around the tunnels is equilibrated; at that time, the thermal soil conditions are beneficial to the crops being cultivated. Meanwhile in autumn, the soil in the tunnels, which is warm after the summer, transfers the heat to the layers located deeper and outside the tunnels.

The analysis of the study results shows thermal differences in the soil at -0.1 m under the surface of the ground between the area in the middle (warmer) and the one at the walls (cooler). A similar phenomenon as regards both areas was confirmed by Al-Kayssi [1].

The impact of the outdoor climate on the substrate in the examined polytunnels at the walls is greater and includes a strip as wide as 2 m. The research carried out by Al-Kayssi [1] and later by Nawalany et al. [10] shows that in greenhouse structures the temperature may be higher in the middle even by 3.6 °C in comparison to the area at the walls.



Fig. 2. Solar irradiance (a), ground temperature and outdoor/indoor temperature curve: b, c – in the lower tunnel (Θ_{iS5}), (3.5 m high), d, e – in the higher tunnel (Θ_{iL5}), (5.0 m high).



Fig. 3. Curve illustrating the relative humidity of the indoor air (RH): a - in the lower tunnel (3.5 m high), b - higher tunnel (5.0 m high).

The relative indoor air humidity in the small tunnel fell between 15% and 99% (Fig. 3a), whereas in the large one – from 19% to 99% (Fig. 3b). The exceedance of the permissible maximum relative air humidity (90%) was recorded within 21 days in the small tunnel and 17 days in the large one. These exceedances are attributable to the periodic closure of the tunnels in the evening, which significantly limited their ventilation.

The variability of thermal conditions of the soil under the tunnel is reflected in how the heat is transferred between the tunnels and soil. In the initial period of the production cycle (25.03-25.04), the heat exchange with the soil in the low tunnel varied between -34 kW to 7.6 kW. As for the high tunnel, the range of this parameter fell between -43.6 kW and 9.8 kW. The results of the detailed analysis indicate that, when taking the varied surface of the tunnels into account, the energy gains from the soil in the low tunnel reached 44.3 kWh/m², whereas in the high one their value was higher and reached 46.4 kWh/m².



Fig. 4. Temperature distribution in the soil under and around the examined tunnels and heat flux directions: a (26.03), c (11.07), e (10.10) – under the lower tunnel, b (26.03), d (11.07), f (10.10) – under the higher tunnel.

The identified heat flux directions in the soil during the spring indicate that the heat flux outflow may be limited from under the tunnels outwards. This may be achieved by using vertical thermal insulation, which should reduce heat loss and, therefore, improve the efficiency of crop production. Only this solution will not hinder the transfer of excess heat to the soil in the summer season, which benefits the energy management of polytunnels.

4 Conclusion

The study has shown the impact of the tunnel height on fluctuations of temperatures inside polytunnels. On hot days, the temperature in the higher tunnel was 6.8 °C lower than in the lower one. However, on cloudy days, the temperatures in both tunnels were almost the same, whereas the difference between them was within the measurement error range.

The different heights of the tunnels did not materially affect the temperature distribution in the ground. The differences in the topsoil (-0.1 m) reached 0.8 °C. At the lower levels (-0.5 m and -1.0 m), the differences in the soil temperature under the small and large tunnels were on the order of 0.2 °C.

The impact of the outdoor climate on the substrate in the examined polytunnels at the walls is greater and includes a strip as wide as 2 m. In the summer season, the difference between the soil temperature fields disappears; therefore, the division of the substrate in the tunnels into the areas in the middle and at the walls is irrelevant.

Acknowledgments. The research was financed by statutory activity subsidy from the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- Al-Kayssi, A.W.: Spatial variability of soil temperature under greenhouse conditions. Renew. Energy 27, 453–462 (2002)
- Du, J., Bansal, P., Huang, B.: Simulation model of a greenhouse with a heat-pipe heating system. Appl. Energy 93, 268–276 (2012)
- Durau-Banaszewska, B.: Analysis of the atmospheric precipitation deficiencies in the selected ground vegetables cultivation in the region of Bydgoszcz. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, Nr 2017/II(1) (2017)
- Górak, M.: Infrastructural investments as a factor which determines the location of storage facilities. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, Nr 2017/IV(1) (2017)
- 5. GUS 2015: Plant production yields in 2015. Information and statistical studies, Warszawa (2016)
- Hinkelman, L.M., Stackhouse, P.W., Wielicki, B.A., Zhang, T., Wilson, S.R.: Surface insolation trends from satellite and ground measurements: comparisons and challenges. J. Geophys. Res. 114(D10), 1–18 (2009)
- Kurkulu, A., Bilgin, S., Ozkan, B.: A study on the solar energy storing rock-bed to heat a polyethylene tunnel type greenhouse. Renew. Energy 28, 683–697 (2003)
- Kurpaska, S., Latała, H.: Energy analysis of heat surplus storage systems in plastic tunnels. Renew. Energy 35, 2656–2665 (2010)
- 9. Nawalany, G., Bieda, W., Radoń, J., Herbut, P.: Experimental study on development of thermal conditions in ground beneath a greenhouse. Energy Build. 69, 103–111 (2014)

45

- 10. Nawalany, G., Radoń, J., Bieda, W., Sokołowski, P.: Influence of selected factors on heat exchange with ground in a greenhouse. Trans. ASABE **60**(2), 479–487 (2017)
- Sanchez-Lorenzo, A., Enriquez-Alonso, A., Wild, M., Trentmann, J., Vicente-Serrano, S., Sanchez-Romero, A., Posselt, R., Hakuba, M.: Trends in downward surface solar radiation from satellites and ground observations over Europe during 1983–2010. Remote Sens. Environ. 189, 108–117 (2017)
- Taki, M., Rohani, A., Rahmati-Joneidabad, M.: Solar thermal simulation and applications in greenhouse. Inf. Process. Agric. 5, 83–113 (2018)
- Treder, W., Klamkowski, K.: An hourly reference evapotranspiration model as a tool for estimating plant water requirements. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, Nr 2017/II(1) (2017)
- Włodek, S., Sikora, J., Pawęska, K., Biskupski, A., Owsiak, Z., Maga, J.: Air temperature variability on the silesian lowlands in the years 1957–2014. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, Nr 2017/IV (3) (2017)



Needs and Effects of Use Sprinkler Irrigation Systems in Crops Production in Central Poland on the Example of Spring Malting Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.)

Jacek Żarski, Renata Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska^(⊠), and Stanisław Dudek

University of Science and Technology in Bydgoszcz, Al. Prof. S Kaliskiego 7, 85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland {zarski,rkusmier}@utp.edu.pl

Abstract. The purpose of the paper was to determine the yielding and production needs and effects of sprinkler irrigated spring malting barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) depending on the intensity of droughts occurring during its period of high water needs spanning May and June. The paper was based on the results of field experiments with irrigated barley cultivars, carried out in 2006-2017 on Luvisol (LV) with fine sandy loam texture, in central Poland - the zone of the greatest need for supplementary irrigation in terms of climatic criterion. The results proved that the yield of non-irrigated crops depended significantly on meteorological parameters and was characterized by very high variability, while sprinkler irrigation contributed to a significant yield increase of 42% and yield stabilization in years. The coefficient of variation calculated for the yield of irrigated plants decreased from 29 to 17%. Irrigation water doses as well as grain yield increases caused by sprinkler irrigation depended significantly on weather conditions in the period of high water needs of barley. Formulas developed on the basis of this analysis enable the forecasts of needs and effects of irrigation based on rainfall totals or rainfall/evapotranspiration ratio.

Keywords: Drought · Rainfall · Evapotranspiration

1 Introduction

In the contrast to arid and semi-arid climatic zones, where irrigation is the essential treatment in crop production, in Poland irrigation has a supplementary character. The demands for the use of this treatment primarily occur during droughts, which in the central part of the country appear irregularly but at the approx. frequency of 30% [5, 15, 16]. It is noteworthy that surpluses of soil moisture, in short sections or even in the whole growing seasons, occur with the same frequency. But for this reason, inter alia, irrigation systems in Poland (according to data from National Statistical Office) [6] cover only about 73 thousand hectares, whereof sprinkler irrigation mainly used in horticultural crops accounts for 8.7 thousand ha. Research aimed at the development of irrigations in central Poland include mainly the issues concerning the advisability of its

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 46–52, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_7

use in the cultivation of different plant species by determination of production efficiency and economy and changes in quality of yield or optimization irrigation doses in relation to water needs of plant [3, 4, 8, 11, 13].

The purpose of the paper was to determine the yielding and production needs and effects of sprinkler irrigated spring malting barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) depending on the intensity of droughts occurrence during the period of the high demand for water of barley (May-June), determined on the basis of selected meteorological parameters.

2 Materials and Methods

The needs and effects of barley irrigated by sprinkler system were developed on the basis of the results of multi-annual field experiments with spring malting barley cultivars carried out in 2006–2017 (with the exception of 2014). The experiments were conducted in the research centre of the University of Science and Technology in Bydgoszcz (53°13'N, 17°51'E, 98.5 m.a.s.l.) within the zone of the greatest need for supplementary irrigation in Poland in terms of climatic criterion on a Luvisol (LV) with a fine sandy loam texture [17].

Spring malting barley was optimally irrigated, providing plants with readily available water in the root zone throughout the period of plant high water needs, spanning May and June. The irrigation schedule was established on a constant monitoring of moisture in the root zone by a counterbalance of the amount of readily available water. The procedure was based on meteorological parameters measurements and soil moisture measurements by the soil moisture meter Fieldscout TDR 300. Barley was irrigated by a portable sprinkler system with low-pressure Nelson-type sprinklers with the discharge of 200 dm³ h⁻¹. The amount of individual irrigation rates and the total seasonal rate of discharged water depended on the weather conditions, mainly on the rainfall volume and distribution. Detailed information on the factors and design of experiments as well as farming practice are presented in the papers of Zarski et al. [14] and Błażewicz et al. [1]. The average level of nitrogen fertilization was 45 kg ha⁻¹ due to intended use of grains for malting purpose. In the research, results of meteorological measurements carried out in a traditional way in accordance to the World Meteorological Organisation procedures, at the measuring point in the vicinity of experimental field, were used. To examine the strength of the relationship between results of the 11year field experiments with barley and meteorological data, an analysis of regression was applied. In the study were searched the most significant dependencies between yielding of barley cultivated without irrigation and the needs and production effects of irrigation treatment, and selected meteorological indicators in the period of plant high water needs, i.e. from May 1 to June 31. The following meteorological indicators were taken into account: absolute rainfall (P), relative precipitation index (RPI), standardized precipitation index (SPI) [5] and the rainfall/potential evapotranspiration ratio (ET) (evapotranspiration calculated by Grabarczyk formula:

$$ET = 0.32(d+1/3t)$$
(1)

where: d - average air saturation deficit (hPa), t - average air temperature (°C). According to the results of research by Grabarczyk and Żarski [2] this formula better represents plant water needs in the climatic conditions in Poland, compared to the reference model of Penman recommended by FAO. In addition, it does not require the use of plant's coefficients kr, which in the period of the plant high water needs and optimal soil moisture conditions amount to about 1.0.

3 Results and Discussion

Meteorological conditions in the period of plant high water needs, in subsequent seasons of the experiments with irrigated barley, differed greatly. The total rainfall was on average of 117.7 mm, varying from 27.0 mm in 2008 to 178.6 mm in 2007. The values of RPI ranged from 26 to 175%, SPI from -2.45 to 1.58, and the ET/P ratio from 0.11 to 0.92. Based on the results of the analysis, the following seasons were identified: 2 dry, 3 averages, 3 wet, 1 moderately wet and 3 very wet (Table 1). Irrigation was carried out in almost all years of experiments except 2009 – the wet one, when no demand for water supplementation occurred. In the remaining seasons referred to as wet and moisture, the need for sprinkler irrigation use resulted from the uneven rainfall distribution during the period of barley high water needs. Summarizing, the 11– year research period was wetter than the average multi-annual rainfall conditions in the region: RPI was 115%, and SPI 0.46.

Table 1. Meteorological indicators and the total irrigation rates over the period of high water needs in malting barley from May to June. (P – rainfall total, RPI – relative precipitation index, SPI – standardized precipitation index, P/ET – rainfall total to potential evapotranspiration ratio, D – total irrigation rate).

Year	Drought level acc. to SPI	P mm	RPI%	SPI	ET mm	P/ET	D mm
2006	Normal	81.7	80	-0.40	245	0.33	90
2007	Very wet	178.6	175	1.58	195	0.92	30
2008	Extremely dry	27.0	26	-2.45	235	0.11	180
2009	Wet	142.7	140	0.96	165	0.86	0
2010	Normal	110.7	108	0.31	161	0.69	105
2011	Wet	139.2	136	0.89	231	0.60	75
2012	Moderately wet	159.2	156	1.25	209	0.76	70
2013	Wet	141.0	138	0.92	193	0.73	60
2015	Moderately dry	54.6	53	-1.23	241	0.23	135
2016	Moderately wet	149.5	146	1.08	268	0.56	67
2017	Normal	110.6	108	0.31	223	0.50	55
Average	Normal	117.7	115	0.46	215	0.55	79

The analysis showed that grain yield of non-irrigated barley in the years of research was on average 4.09 t ha⁻¹ (Table 2). In the individual seasons, barley yields were characterized by a high variability – from 1.98 to 5.90 t ha⁻¹; the coefficient of

variation (CV) amounted to 29%. Regression analysis showed that the yield depended significantly on rainfall totals during the period of high water needs of spring malting barley, in the period spanning May and June. Among the analyzed indicators, stronger correlation with the non-irrigated barley grain yield revealed the P/ET ratio (Fig. 1), but also the absolute rainfall totals determined the yield in the similarly significant extent. In three May–June periods, in which the total rainfall in the period critical for plant, was less than 82 mm and the P/ET ratio did not exceed 0.33, the grain yield was lower than the multi-annual mean, by an average of 37%. The yield decrease resulting from the occurrence of meteorological and agricultural droughts during plant vegetation is a distinctive feature of crop production in central Poland. It affects all crops, but to a greater extent the spring cultivars compared to the winter ones; it is recorded at the frequency of about 30%. Therefore it means that it occurs on average once every 3 years [5, 15, 16].

 Table 2. Seed yields and sprinkler irrigation effectiveness in malting barley depending on drought level (O – non-irrigated, W – irrigated).

 Vacar
 SPI
 Drought level acc
 Vield
 Vield increase under irrigation

Year	SPI	Drought level acc.	Yield		Yield increase under irrigation			
		to SPI	15% moisture					
			content					
			$(t ha^{-1})$					
			0	W	t ha ⁻¹	%	kg mm ⁻¹	
2006	-0.40	Normal	2.64	5.32	2.68	102	29.8	
2007	1.58	Very wet	4.79	5.03	0.24	5	8.0	
2008	-2.45	Extremely dry	1.98	5.37	3.39	171	18.8	
2009	0.96	Wet	5.90	5.90	0.00	0	0.0	
2010	0.31	Normal	3.76	5.17	1.41	38	13.4	
2011	0.89	Wet	3.67	4.83	1.16	32	15.5	
2012	1.25	Moderately wet	4.45	5.64	1.19	27	17.0	
2013	0.92	Wet	4.95	5.64	0.69	14	11.5	
2015	-1.23	Moderately dry	3.11	7.51	4.40	141	32.6	
2016	1.08	Moderately wet	5.07	7.83	2.76	54	41.2	
2017	0.31	Normal	4.69	5.70	1.01	22	18.4	
Average	0.46	Normal	4.09	5.81	1.72	42	21.8	



Fig. 1. Dependence of grain yield of non-irrigated spring malting barley (t ha^{-1}) and meteorological parameters in May-June; A – rainfall (mm), B – P/ET ratio.

The needs of sprinkler irrigation of spring malting barley determined by means of seasonal irrigation doses were on average 79 mm, ranging from 0 to 75 mm in moist and wet periods, to 135–180 mm in dry periods (Table 1). The needs significantly depended on both: the rainfall totals as well as the P/ET ratio (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Dependence of spring malting barley irrigation needs (mm) on meteorological parameters in May-June period; A – rainfall (mm), B – P/ET ratio.

The grain yield of irrigated barley averaged 5.81 t ha⁻¹ in the years of study, varying in different growing seasons from 4.83 to 7.83 t ha⁻¹ (Table 2). Irrigation contributed to the stabilization of the crop, since the coefficient of variation (CV) of the yield obtained from irrigated plots amounted 17%. Irrigation assured the correct rhythm of growth and development of plants and intensified their physiological processes.

As the result, the average long-term production effect of irrigation applied in spring barley, destined for malting, amounted to 1.72 t ha^{-1} , which determined an increase in the grain yield of 42%. One mm of water from the irrigation system made an average increase in grain yield of 21.8 kg mm⁻¹ ha⁻¹. In the individual seasons, the production effects of irrigation depended significantly and linearly on meteorological parameters in the period spanning May and June (Fig. 3). The P/ET ratio (R² = 0.7921) was a better indicator of these effects compared to the absolute rainfall totals.



Fig. 3. Dependence of production effects of irrigated spring malting barley (t ha^{-1}) on meteorological parameters in in May-June period; A – rainfall (mm), B – P/ET ratio.

The production effects of sprinkler irrigation obtained in the studies indicate that there is a great potential for increasing crop production in central Poland, provided that the water factor is at the optimal level. Based on the obtained results, the introduction

51

of available sprinkler irrigation systems to the cultivation technology of spring malting barley is a procedure that assures the growth and stabilization of grain production, whereas in dry vegetation periods – it prevents radical yields decreases. In practice, however, the popularisation of this system in the climatic conditions of central Poland will depend primarily on its economic efficiency, which depends on grain purchase price [3] as well as the infrastructural conditions, mainly including the access to water sources available for irrigation [13]. Regional character of the study showing the needs and effects of use sprinkler irrigation in the production of spring malting barley in Poland is justified by other results obtained in research carried out in different climate zones [7, 9, 10, 12].

4 Conclusions

The results of long-term (2006–2017) field experiments dealing with sprinkler irrigation in spring malting barley production in central Poland proved that the yield of nonirrigated crops depended significantly on meteorological parameters and was characterized by a high variability. Sprinkler irrigation contributed to a significant 42% increase in grain yield and its stabilization in years. The coefficient of variation calculated for the yields of irrigated plants decreased from 29 to 17%. Irrigation water rates as well as increases in grain yields caused by sprinkler irrigation depended significantly on meteorological parameters in the period of barley high water needs, spanning May and June. Formulas developed on the basis of this analysis enable the forecasts of needs and effects of irrigation based on rainfall totals or rainfall/evapotranspiration ratio.

References

- Błażewicz, J., Żarski, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R.: Influence of sprinkler irrigation and nitrogen fertilization on the quality of malt and wort from barley grains. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas IV(1), 1469–1481 (2017)
- Grabarczyk, S., Żarski, J.: Próba statystycznej weryfikacji niektórych wzorów określających ewapotranspirację potencjalną. Zeszyty Naukowe ATR w Bydgoszczy 180, Rolnictwo 32, 169–175 (1992)
- Kledzik, R., Kropkowski, M., Rzekanowski, Cz., Żarski, J.: Economic evaluation of the efficiency of irrigation in selected crops. Infrastructure and Ecology of Rural Areas II(1), 291–303 (2015). (in Polish)
- Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Żarski, J., Dudek, S.: Meteorological automated weather station data application for plant water requirements estimation. Comput. Electron. Agric. 88, 44–51 (2012)
- Łabędzki, L.: Estimation of local drought frequency in central Poland using the standardized precipitation index SPI. Irrig. Drain. 56, 67–77 (2007)
- 6. National Statistical Office, Environment. http://www.stat.gov.pl. Accessed 02 July 2018
- Paredes, M., Rodrigues, G., Cameira, M., Torres, M., Pereira, L.: Assessing yield, water productivity and farm economic returns of malt barley as influenced by the sowing dates and supplemental irrigation. Agric. Water Manag. 179, 132–143 (2017)

- Rolbiecki, S., Rolbiecki, R., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Dudek, S., Żarski, J., Rzekanowski, Cz.: Requirements and effects of drip irrigation of mid-early potato on a very light soil in moderate climate. Fresenius Environ. Bull. 24, 3895–3902 (2015)
- Stevens, W., Sainju, U., Caesar-TonThat, T., Iversen, W.: Malt barley yield and quality affected by irrigation, tillage, crop rotation and nitrogen fertilization. Agron. J. 107(6), 2107– 2119 (2015)
- Singh, J., Mahal, S., Manhas, S.: Effect of agronomic practices on growth, grain yield, malt yield losses of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). J. Agric. Phys. 12(1), 74–83 (2012)
- Wszelaczyńska, E., Pobereżny, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Żarski, J., Pawelzik, E.: The effects of fertilizers, irrigation and storage on the properties of potato tubers and their constituent starches. Starch/Stärke 67, 478–492 (2015)
- 12. Verma, R., Sharma, R., Nagarajan, S.: Influence of nitrogen and irrigation on malt and wort quality in barley. Cereal Res. Commun. **31**(3–4), 437–444 (2003)
- Żarski, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Rolbiecki, R., Rolbiecki, S.: Forecasting effects of plants irrigation based on selected meteorological and agricultural drought indices. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 15, 2185–2203 (2013). (in Polish)
- 14. Żarski, J., Błażewicz, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Geldarska, A.: Evaluating the efficiency of sprinkler irrigation in spring barley in terms of improving the usability of grain for malting. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas **III**(1), 593–602 (2015). (in Polish)
- Żarski, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Żarski, W.: Effects of agricultural droughts in the province of Kujawsko-Pomorskie and possibilities of minimizing their impact. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas II(2), 813–824 (2017)
- Żarski, J., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Żarski, J.: Spatial and temporal variability of droughts in the region of Pomorze and Kujawy during the period of high water needs of corn. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas II(1), 407–419 (2018). (in Polish)
- World reference base for soil resources 2014, update 2015. World Soil Resources Reports 106. http://www.fao.org/. Accessed 27 June 2018



Irrigation Effects of Red Beet as Affected by Rainfall in Different Regions of Poland

Stanisław Rolbiecki¹, Roman Rolbiecki^{1(⊠)}, Barbara Jagosz², Anna Figas³, Wiesław Ptach⁴, and Piotr Stachowski⁵

¹ Department of Agrometeorology, Plant Irrigation and Horticulture, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland

rolbr@utp.edu.pl

² Institute of Plant Biology and Biotechnology,

University of Agriculture in Krakow, 29 Listopada 54, 31-425 Krakow, Poland

³ Department of Agricultural Biotechnology,

University of Science and Technology,

Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland

⁴ Department of Engineering and Geodesy, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Nowoursynowska 159, 02-776 Warsaw, Poland

⁵ Institute of Land Improvement, Environmental Development and Geodesy,

Poznan University of Life Sciences, Piątkowska 94, 60-649 Poznań, Poland

Abstract. The purpose of research was to determine the irrigation effects on the root yield of red beet grown on light soil in different regions of Poland, depending on rainfall amounts during the period July-August. Relationship between the increases of root yield and applying of irrigation was estimated using the Grabarczyk's formula. The amounts of rainfall in the average dry year, medium dry and very dry were determined by the Ostromęcki's method. Rainfall deficits in the cultivation of red beet were determined according to the difference between optimum and real precipitation in five meteorological stations. The highest precipitation deficiencies in the red beet crops in July-August were observed in the central Poland, where amounts 51-52, 98 and 118-124 mm, in average dry, medium dry and very dry years, respectively. The highest increases of the root yield obtained using irrigation were estimated also in the central Poland, where amounts 9.26 and 8.96 t ha⁻¹, 17.30 and 17.28 t ha⁻¹, and 20.92 and 22.00 t ha⁻¹ in average dry, medium dry and very dry years, respectively. The increases of red beet yield obtained using irrigation showed the large possibilities of raising its productivity in the field cultivation under optimal water conditions.

Keywords: Beta vulgaris L. · Irrigation · Water needs · Regions of poland

1 Introduction

The water needs of red beet *Beta vulgaris* L. during the growing period were estimated at around 300 mm [5] or 300–400 mm [1–3]. According to [3] the optimum precipitation for red beet cultivated in the central region of Poland range from 400 to 450 mm

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 53–58, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_8 on heavy and medium soils and from 450 to 500 mm on light soils. The highest water needs during the vegetation period occurs in July and August, when the storage roots are growing rapidly [5].

The aim of presented study was to determine the expected effects of irrigation on the yield of the red beet grown on the light soil in different regions of Poland and depending on precipitation amounts during the period July-August (critical period).

2 Materials and Methods

In the present research, a straight line dependency between the red beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) yield of roots increases obtained after using the irrigation and precipitation amounts during the period July-August was evaluated. The relationship between the increases of root yield and applying of the irrigation was estimated using the Grabarczyk's formula (1) [4]:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \left(\mathbf{P}_{\rm opt} - \mathbf{P}_{\rm rz}\right) \times \mathbf{q} \tag{1}$$

where:

Q – yield increases obtained after using the irrigation (kg ha^{-1}),

 P_{opt} – optimal precipitation amounts in the period of increased water needs of the plants (mm),

 P_{rz} – real precipitation amounts in the period of increased water needs of the plants (mm),

q – yield increases obtained after using the irrigation (kg ha⁻¹ per 1 mm of precipitation deficiencies).

The determination of the red beet yield increases obtained after using the irrigation depending on precipitation amounts in the critical period (July-August) was performed according to [12] formula (2):

$$Q = (190 - P_{rz}) \times 177$$
 (2)

According to [5], it was assumed that the period of increased water needs of red beet plants lasts from July 1 to August 31.

The increases of the red beet root yield obtained after using irrigation were determined for five agro-climatic regions of Poland [10] with the representative meteorological stations located in Olsztyn, Bydgoszcz, Warszawa, Wrocław and Kraków (Fig. 1).

The amounts of precipitations in the average dry years (P50%), medium dry years (P25%) and very dry years (P10%) were determined by the Ostromęcki's method [14, 15], using Bp% coefficients that determine the variability of precipitation in the particular meteorological stations. The calculations were carried out for precipitations measured in the years 1981–2010. Precipitation deficiencies in the cultivation of red beet were determined based on the difference between optimum precipitation (Popt) and real precipitation (Prz) in the particular meteorological stations.



Fig. 1. Agro-climatic regions of Poland with the representative meteorological stations (according to [10]).

3 Results

In the average dry years, the highest precipitation deficiencies (51–52 mm) in the red beet cultivation were calculated in the C-N-W and N-E and C-E regions, and the lowest (25 mm) in the S-E region (Table 1). Subsequently, in the medium dry years, the highest precipitation deficiencies (98 mm) were measured in the C-N-W and C-E regions and the lowest (74 mm) in the S-W region. Finally, in the very dry years, the highest precipitation deficiencies (124 mm) were observed in the C-E region.

The expected increases of the red beet root yield obtained after irrigation applying, in the average dry years, amounted 8.96, 9.04 and 9.26 t ha⁻¹ in the C-E, N E and C-N-W regions, respectively, (Table 2). Whereas, the lowest expected increases of the red beet root yield was noted in the S-E region. In the medium dry years, the root yield of red beet obtained after using irrigation was higher, ranging from about 17.3 t ha⁻¹ in the C-N-W and C-E regions to 13.15 t ha⁻¹ in the S-W region. Eventually, in the very dry years the applying of irrigation could increase the red beet root yield from 18.12 t ha⁻¹ in the S-E region to 22.00 t ha⁻¹ in the C-E region.

Year in terms of the	Probability (P) of	Region of Poland				
amount of rainfall	occurrence % of years	N-E	C-N-W	C-E	S-W	S-E
Average dry	50	51	52	51	41	25
Medium dry	25	85	98	98	74	80
Very dry	10	112	118	124	112	102

Table 1. Rainfall deficiencies (mm) in the red beet cultivation at the period July-August in the different regions of Poland.

Table 2. Expected increase of red beet yield (t ha^{-1}) obtained after using irrigation in different regions of Poland.

Year in terms of the	Probability (P) of	Region of Poland				
amount of rainfall	occurrence % of years	N-E	C-N-W	C-E	S-W	S-E
Average dry	50	9.04	9.26	8.96	7.34	4.38
Medium dry	25	15.09	17.30	17.28	13.15	14.12
Very dry	10	19.87	20.92	22.00	20.04	18.12

4 Discussion

The present studies basing on the relationship between the increases of the red beet root yield obtained after using irrigation treatment and the amounts of precipitation during the critical period (July-August) when, usually, increased the water needs of the plants [12]. The mathematical formula characterizing this dependence, showed the increases of red beet root yield observed as the effect of using irrigation technique, occurred in the period from July 1 to August 31, when the rainfalls were lower than 190 mm. The assessment of precipitation deficiencies in the critical period (July-August) in the cultivation of red beet that based on the comparison of the expected water needs and real precipitation deficiencies in the central Poland ($P_{50\%}$, $P_{25\%}$ and $P_{10\%}$), showed the highest precipitation deficiencies in the central Poland (C-N-W and C-E regions). Similarly, [4, 13, 16, 17] also confirm the occurrence of the highest water requirements in the central regions of Poland.

The increase of red beet root yield obtained after irrigation treatment that was estimated in the presented study, indicate the large possibilities of raising the yield of red beet cultivated in the field under optimal water conditions. The prognostic formula, derived from the field experiments allow determining the effects of red beet plants irrigation on the root yield depending on the amounts of precipitations in the different regions of Poland. Similar estimates, including such species as root celery or cucumber, were performed by [17].

According to the reports presented by [6–9, 11], the expected in the near future climate changes, such as the raise of temperature, lead to the increase of water requirements of the plants, including vegetable field cultivation. The direction of climate changes compels the conception of a number of adaptation activities, such as

irrigation treatments, whose role will be appropriately increased along with progressing weather modifying.

Additional factors that stimulate the development of irrigation techniques in the field cultivation of vegetables, regardless of the expected climate changes, are the necessitate to guarantee higher and stable, and good quality crops, as well as ensuring the modernity and competitiveness of agricultural and horticultural farms [16].

5 Conclusions

- 1. The highest precipitation deficiencies in the red beet crops during the period July-August were observed in the central Poland (C-N-W and C-E regions) where amounts 52 and 51 mm, respectively, in average dry years, 98 mm in medium dry years and 118 and 124 mm, respectively, in very dry years.
- 2. The highest increases of the red beet root yield obtained after using irrigation was estimated in the central Poland (C-N-W and C-E regions) where amounts 9.26 and 8.96 t ha⁻¹, respectively, in average dry years, 17.30 and 17.28 t ha⁻¹, respectively, in medium dry years, as well 20.92 and 22.00 t ha⁻¹, respectively, in very dry years.

References

- 1. Buczak, E.: Potrzeby wodne roślin warzywnych. PWN, Warszawa (1989). (in Polish)
- 2. Dzieżyc, J.: Nawadnianie roślin. PWN, Warszawa (1974). (in Polish)
- 3. Dzieżyc, J.: Rolnictwo w warunkach nawadniania. PWN, Warszawa (1988). (in Polish)
- Grabarczyk, S.: Efekty, potrzeby i możliwości nawodnień deszczownianych w różnych regionach kraju. Zeszyty Problemowe Postępów Nauk Rolniczych 314, 49–64 (1986). (in Polish)
- 5. Kaniszewski, S.: Nawadnianie warzyw polowych. Plantpress, Kraków (2005). (in Polish)
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S., Diakowska, E., Gąsiorek, E.: Assessment of meteorological drought in 2015 for North Central part of Poland using hydrothermal coefficient (HTC) in the context of climate change. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 1(2), 257–273 (2017). https://doi.org/10. 14597/infraeco.2017.1.2.019
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S., Diakowska, E., Gąsiorek, E.: Simulation of hydrothermal conditions for crop production purpose until 2050-2060 and selected climate change scenarios for North Central Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 319–334 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 14597/infraeco.2015.2.1.026
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S.: Rainfall evaluation for crop production until 2050-2060 and selected climate change scenarios for North Central Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 187– 200 (2013)
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S.: Rainfall simulation for the prediction of crop irrigation in future climate. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 5, 7–18 (2011)
- Łabędzki, L., Bąk, B., Liszewska, M.: Wpływ przewidywanej zmiany klimatu na zapotrzebowanie ziemniaka późnego na wodę. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 155– 165 (2013). (in Polish)
- Łabędzki, L.: Foreseen climate changes and irrigation development in Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3, 7–18 (2009)

- Rolbiecki, S., Rolbiecki, R., Rzekanowski, Cz., Żarski, J.: The influence of sprinkler irrigation on yields of some vegetable crops in the region of Bydgoszcz, Poland. Acta Hortic. 537(2), 871–877 (2000)
- 13. Stachowski, P., Markiewicz, J.: The need of irrigation in central Poland on the example of Kutno county. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. **13**, 1453–1472 (2011)
- 14. Żakowicz, S., Hewelke, P., Gnatowski, T.: Podstawy infrastruktury technicznej w przestrzeni produkcyjnej. SGGW, Warszawa (2009). (in Polish)
- 15. Żakowicz, S., Hewelke, P.: Wybrane materiały meteorologiczne. SGGW, Warszawa (1995). (in Polish)
- Żarski, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Rolbiecki, R., Rolbiecki, S.: Forecasting effects of plants irrigation based on selected meteorological and agricultural drought indices. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 15, 2185–2203 (2013)
- Żarski, J.: Zwyżki plonów ogórków gruntowych i selerów pod wpływem deszczowania a opady atmosferyczne w okresie krytycznym. Zeszyty Problemowe Postępów Nauk Rolniczych 343, 67–73 (1989). (in Polish)



Application of the Triple Diagram Method in Medium-Term Water Consumption Forecasting

Adam Piasecki^(\Box), Jakub Jurasz, and Wojciech T. Witkowski

AGH University, 30-059 Cracow, Poland adm. piasecki@gmail.com

Abstract. The paper discusses medium-term water consumption forecasting based on popular methods of time series analysis, indicating their limitation and strict requirements for the statistical properties of the time series, such as being stationary or linear. Therefore, a new approach in this area is proposed, based on the kriging method. This method is a geostatistical estimation method that provides unbiased linear estimates for the analyzed value. The study used the ordinary kriging method to provide input data for the preparation of a contour map. Coordinates have been replaced by water consumption values from earlier periods. The received "model" was tested against 24 months of historical data. For the triple diagram built using water consumption values from the two preceding months, the value of the assessment criterion for MAPE forecasting models was satisfactory (less than 13%).

Keywords: Triple diagram · Kriging model · Water consumption

1 Introduction

Urban water demand forecasting is an extensively researched subject. This results from the importance of providing high quality water in desired quantities to end-consumers, but also from the economic side of water municipality operation. Knowing water demand ahead not only facilitates its production but also ensures that the right quantity is provided. Water demand can be forecasted with different time horizons, although there is no consensus with regard to timeframes. Billings and Jones [1] define "long-term" as spanning for more than 2 years, "medium-term" as lasting from 3 months to 2 years and short-term as from 1 to 3 months. However, other authors [2] state that a "long-term" forecast should consider more than 10 years, "medium-term" ones from 1 to fewer than 10 years.

Over the years, a plethora of diverse forecasting methods and approaches has been applied to accurately forecast water demand. These include: moving average and exponential smoothing, stochastic process models, regression models, scenario-based approaches and decision support systems, artificial neural networks, composite/hybrid models. An extensive review of historically and currently used methods is presented by [3-6].

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 59–65, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_9 In this study our objective was to apply a method proposed by Altunkaynak et al. [7]. Their approach is based on a triple diagram model (using various kriging techniques) and has so far only been applied to forecasting water-level fluctuations in Lake Van (Turkey). Accordingly to Altunkaynak et al. [1] this forecasting method is independent of autocorrelation, linearity, Gaussian distribution, homoscedasticity and stationarity, therefore it overcomes the majority of limitations usually encountered in conventional forecasting methods. In this study we used this method to predict monthly water demand in the Czerniewice district (located in Toruń). The application of this method to a new environment (case) provide evidence that this approach is accurate not only in case of forecasting water level in lakes but also in case of water demand. The major benefit of this method is the fact that once applied it does not require usage of sophisticated software and the forecasts can be made based on printed charts. The following sections briefly describe this method and the data used.

2 Study Area

Toruń is located in north central Poland on the Vistula River. The city currently covers 116 km² and has a population of 202,500. In the past dozen-or-so years, numerous investments have been made in water and sewage management in the city. They have resulted in, among others, a doubling of the length of the water supply network (to over 584 km), increased access to the water supply (almost 100% of residents are connected to the network) and an improvement in water quality. Currently, the city is being supplied by three water intakes, at Drweca-Jedwabno (surface-infiltration), Mała Nieszawka (a well) and Czerniewice (a well). From the first two points, water is pumped into a common water supply system that supplies almost the entire city. In the south-east of the city (about 7 km from the centre), the Czerniewice district has a separate water supply system supplied by the aforementioned well intake (which is named after the district – Czerniewice). The quality of raw water extracted from it is so good that it does not require treatment [8]. The selection of Czerniewice district as the study area for a water consumption analysis was conditioned by several factors. It is a mainly residential area, with the dominant building type being single-family housing and service points. There are no industrial plants in the area, which eliminates this factor's ability to cause abrupt changes in water intake. The district is small and served by a closed water supply system, and this ensures that the influence of other external factors will be minimal (or will at least be experienced roughly equally across the whole district, e.g. weather conditions - precipitation and evaporation), and that any failures can be quickly identified.

3 Methods

The research employed a geostatistic kriging procedure to estimate average monthly water consumption. The increasing interest in this interpolator is a result of its advantages, such as its minimisation of interpolation errors and the possibility to assess
the accuracy of the estimated quantities [9, 10]. A fundamental tool in geostatistical methods is the semivariance function, in the following form (1):

$$\gamma(h) = \frac{1}{2N(h)} \sum_{i=1}^{N(h)} (z_i - z_{i+h})^2$$
(1)

where:

h – distance between observations Nh – number of pairs at distance 'h' z_i , z_{i+h} – values of observations at distance 'h'

The theoretical model is fitted into the empirical semivariogram chart as one of the analytical continuous functions. The theoretical function of semivariance expresses the geostatistical variability of the modelled phenomenon and allows kriging equations to be solved. For ordinary kriging, weights for observations and the Lagrange constant are determined. The idea of kriging is to minimise the difference between the estimated and true value of a parameter while accurately reflecting the expected value (which is known as the "best linear unbiased estimator"). The advantage of geostatistical kriging methods is their ability to estimate the modelling error, known as the "kriging error". Meanwhile, their disadvantage is the phenomenon of "smoothing", which leads to overestimation of low values of the parameter and underestimation of high values [9, 10].

The Kriging technique was used to create Triple Diagram (TD) [1]. This method requires three variables. Two of them (predictors) build a scatter diagram and refer to the third variable (prediction value). The equal value lines on TD are determined based on Kriging technique. Preparation of the Triple Diagram helps to predict the value, which is mapped in known variables.

4 Results

In the study, the empirical data set was divided into two subsets. The first included monthly observations from 2000–2010, and the second from 2011–2012. The first set was used to model the studied phenomenon. The second was used to check the effectiveness of the tool that had been made. Monthly water consumption (Lag-0) was described by two variables, an observation with a one-month delay (Lag-1) and one with a two-month delay (Lag-2). Those three variables (Lag-2, Lag-1, Lag-0) was used to build the Triple Diagram. The best match for the theoretical semivariogram was obtained for the Power model (Scale – 10, Length – 1, Power – 1.57) with the Nugget Effect (Variance – 2,600,000) – Fig. 1.

The resulting semivariogram allowed the distribution of average monthly water consumption to be determined using the Lag-1 and Lag-2 system in the form of a Triple Diagram model (Fig. 2) with information about the model's estimation error in the form of the kriging standard deviation (Fig. 3).

For the triple diagram model (using water consumption from two previous months as the input) the observed MAPE value was 12.9%, which is a relatively good result



Fig. 1. Power semivariogram model based on empirical monthly water consumption.



Fig. 2. Triple Diagram model of water consumption [m3/month]. The black dots represent observations from 2000–2010, which was used to construct TD. The red dots was used to evaluate the prediction model and represents the observation from 2011–2012.

considering the fact the more sophisticated Artificial Neural Network (ANN) method [8] gave forecasts with MAPE values slightly below 10%. It is important to note that the triple diagram model used only past water consumption values, whereas the ANN model was fed with additional exogenous variables such as: humidity, temperature, etc. The low value of R^2 indicates that the triple diagram model does not explain the whole variability of observed phenomena and there is still significant potential to improve it by considering additional variables.

The data from the period 2011–2012 was compared against the results of modelling in Fig. 4.



Fig. 3. Standard deviation of kriging technique.



Fig. 4. Forecasted (based on kriging model) and observed water consumption.

5 Discussion and Summary

In the analyzed period (2000–2012) there was a significant increase in the amount of water used in the discussed district of Toruń. This is a tendency opposite to that observed in the rest of the city, as well as in other Polish cities. The reason for this is the relatively young age of the district and its attractiveness as a place of residence. This has resulted in a steady increase in the town's population in recent years. The inhabitants of this part of Toruń are largely affluent, so they do not necessarily limit water consumption in response to its rising cost.

The Triple Diagram water consumption forecasting method used in the work provided results that were satisfactory in the short-term (one-month) perspective. As has been shown, it may be a very good alternative to other advanced statistical methods, such as ANN. However, this method has some limitations that cause the overestimation low parameter values and the underestimation of high values. For forecasting water consumption this is of great importance because quite often there are sudden changes in values, which may be caused by weather conditions (wet or dry periods), infrastructure failures, industry, etc. As mentioned, in this example the possibility of these disturbances was minimised by the specific local conditions of the Czerniewice district. In spite of this, even in this case significant differences in values were found for several months (Fig. 4). The biggest differences were found in the spring months, and above all for May. This situation seems understandable when we take into account the specificity of Poland's prevailing climatic conditions (a moderate transitional climate). Here, spring is the most variable and unpredictable season of the year. In addition, due to globally observed climate changes, more and more years with periods of extremely different weather conditions (hot and dry or humid and cold) are also being recorded in Poland. Another symptom of climate change in Poland is the increase in average air temperature values from March to May, resulting in the accelerated vegetation of plants. This was the case in 2011–2012, when the largest deviations from the forecasted values occurred. The warmer spring months (March-May) resulted in accelerated vegetation in those years. In the analyzed district of Toruń, there are a lot of back gardens and lawns that required more water at that time.

Summing up, it should be recognised that the presented Triple Diagram method confirmed its usefulness in the study area and can be proposed as an alternative to the model currently used (in Torun Waterworks Company Ltd), which has an incremental time series and in which the MAPE error is over 16%. The method also has some limitations, which is why further works are planned on its use in other water supply systems.

Acknowledgement. This work was financed by a Dean's grant No. 15/11.200.363.

References

- 1. Altunkaynak, A., Özger, M., Sen, Z.: Triple diagram model of level fluctuations in Lake Van, Turkey. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Dis. **7**(2), 235–244 (2003)
- Rinaudo, J.D.: Long-term water demand forecasting. In: Grafton, Q., et al. (eds.) Understanding and Managing Urban Water in Transition, pp. 239–268. Springer, Dordrecht (2015)
- 3. Billings, R.B., Jones, C.V.: Forecasting Urban Water Demand. American Water Works Association, Denver (2011)
- Donkor, E.A., Mazzuchi, T.A., Soyer, R., Alan Roberson, J.: Urban water demand forecasting: review of methods and models. J. Water Resour. Plan. Manag. 140(2), 146–159 (2012)
- 5. Gardiner, V., Herrington, P.: Water Demand Forecasting. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2014)
- Ghalehkhondabi, I., Ardjmand, E., Young, W.A., Weckman, G.R.: Water demand forecasting: review of soft computing methods. Environ. Monit. Assess. 189(7), 313 (2017)

- 7. House-Peters, L.A., Chang, H.: Urban water demand modeling: review of concepts, methods, and organizing principles. Water Resour. Res. **47**(5), 1–15 (2011)
- Piasecki, A., Jurasz, J., Marszelewski, W.: Wykorzystanie wielowarstwowych sztucznych sieci neuronowych do średnioterminowego prognozowania poboru wody. Ochrona Środowiska 38(2), 17–22 (2016)
- Naworyta, W., Benndorf, J.: Ocena dokładności geostatystycznych metod modelowania złóż pod kątem projektowania eksploatacji na podstawie jednego ze złóż węgla brunatnego. Gospodarka Surowcami Mineralnymi 28(1), 77–101 (2012)
- Mucha, J., Kotliński, R., Walisiewska-Błaszczyk, M.: Metodyka szacowania parametrów zasobowych złóż konkrecji polimetalicznych w obszarze Interoceanetal na Pacyfiku. Zeszyty Naukowe, Instytut Gospodarki Surowcami Mineralnymi i Energią PAN 81, 137–145 (2011)



Comparing the Retention of the Extensive Green Roofs with the Conventional Roof

Anna Baryła^{1(⊠)}, Agnieszka Karczmarczyk¹, Agnieszka Bus¹, Edyta Hewelke¹, and Michał Wróbel²

 ¹ Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW, Nowoursynowska 166, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland anna_baryla@sggw.pl
 ² Forest Research Institute, Braci Leśnej 3, 05-090 Sękocin Stary, Poland

Abstract. The inevitable development of cities has necessitated of a searching for new alternative solutions that enable the retention of as much rainwater as possible and increase the biologically active surface in urbanized areas. Green roofs may be the solution to the mentioned problems. The work assessed how meteorological factors influence the retention on two types of green roof substrates. Another practical aspect of the study is determining the difference in retention of mineral-organic and mineral substrate based extensive green roofs. The monitoring of environmental factors and amount of runoff was carried out on two models of green roofs covered by extensive vegetation (moss-sedumherbs) with substrates of an organic-mineral and mineral composition for 18 months in an urbanized area under moderate climate conditions. Higher values of runoff by approx. 5% were registered in the model with the mineral substrate, which indicates lower retention abilities. The analysis of two green roofs and references roof showed that the runoff coefficients ranged from 0.33 to 0.38 for GR 1 and GR 2, for RR runoff coefficients was 0.83. Rainwater entering the system of green roofs is the most important input factor in the conceptual model of the retention of a green roof system. The obtained results can provide us with information important to make decisions connected with designing green roofs as far as hydrological advantages are concerned.

Keywords: Extensive green roof · Stormwater retention · Sustainable urban stormwater management

1 Introduction

The progressing development of cities has made it necessary to seek out new alternative solutions which will facilitate the retention of rainwater as well as increase biologically active surfaces in urbanized areas [1, 2]. In many countries, the application of sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) is recommended for the management of rainwater runoff as opposed to traditional pipe drainage systems [3, 4]. Green roofs have the potential to meet these aims and, thanks to this, can work in collaboration with natural environmental processes, contributing to a sustainable urban environment [5– 7]. Including green roofs in sustainable drainage systems in urbanized areas, it is

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 66–74, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_10

important to understand, at the design stage, how such roofs function, both in the case of extreme rainfall events (required in the case of flood protection), as well as under during normal rainfalls. Data provided in literature shows that the water retention abilities of extensive green roofs fall within the range of 40-80%, and intensive 80-90% of rainfall depth [8-12]. Retention of 100% for rainfalls of under 2 mm was noted by [13] in Sheffelds (Great Britain) for 9 models of green roofs characterized by different compositions of substrates. On the other hand, for rainfalls of over 10 mm the average retention ranged from 26.8% and 61.8% (depending on the configuration of the roofs). While interregional comparisons can be helpful, one ought to account for factors specific to a given location due to the information necessary for taking decisions regarding the designing of green roofs in terms of rainwater management in urbanized areas [14, 15]. In connection with this, in order to assess the efficiency of green roof systems in Poland, where every year the problem of flooding occurs, more studies in various regions of the country ought to be conducted. The present studies were conducted under conditions of a continental humid climate, where the influence of a large urban agglomeration on the climate is clearly marked. The main novelty of the research was to assess the retention of rainwater by extensive green roofs on the background of conventional roof. Studies on the influence of climate factors on retention on green roofs were also carried out. An extensive type of vegetation was selected because extensive green roofs are the kind of most often applied and require minimum maintenance. This type of green roof, which has the widest scope of application, is affordable and can be constructed on the majority of roofs (even with a slope of up to 45° [16, 17], has significant potential for application in Poland as, among others, a tool aiding the stormwater retention in urbanized areas. Another practical aspect of the studies is determining the difference in retention applying a mineral-organic and mineral substrate. A substrate with a mineral composition was originally prepared to limit P runoff from green roof [17, 18]. The substrate developed from widely available and cheap materials not only decreases P runoff, but allows for proper Sedum development and can be successfully applied in extensive green roofs.

2 Materials and Methods

In the article, results obtained from the vegetation period (IV–IX) in the years 2015–2017 at the area of the Water Centre of SGGW in the southern part of Warsaw were subject to analysis. Models of extensive green roofs were constructed in two cuvettes, one was developed as a reference unit. Each cuvette was drained using an 8 cm diameter drain pipe. All cuvettes have an internal dimension of 2 m/1 m/0.2 m (length/width/depth) and are inclined at an angle of 2%, their internal volume is 0.4 m³ (Fig. 1). Two types of substrates were used in the green roofs constructions that were implemented in accordance with the [19] guidelines. The characteristics of the green roofs (GR 1–2) and reference (RR) model are shown in Table 1.

Designation	GR 1	GR 2	RR		
Extensive	Pre-cultivated vegetation mat XF317 moss-sedum-herbs;				
vegetation	thickness of 2.5 cm (Sedum album, Sedum acre, Sedum				
	kamtschaticum, Sedum spurium,	Sedum reflexum, Sedum			
	sexangulare, Dianthus deltoides,	Dianthus carthusianorum,			
	and Thymus vulgaris) (Xero Flo	r 2016)			
Vegetation layer-an	"SPG E-E" - mixture of	"SPG E-M - type 1"			
extensive substrate	washed sand, gravel,	mixture of washed sand,			
with a thickness of	limestone, crushed red brick,	gravel, limestone, crushed			
15 cm	broken fine lime, peat and	red brick			
	compost				
Filter layer	Polyfelt TS 20 polypropylene ge	eotextile with a GRK 2			
	strength class, weight 125 g/m ²				
Drainage layer	Terrafond Garden drainage mat	20L, height 2 cm			
Protective layer	Polyfelt TS 20 polypropylene ge	eotextile with a GRK 2			
	strength class, weight 110 g/m ²				
Water insulation	Heat-sealable bitumen sheeting root resistant in accordance with PN-				
	EN ISO 13948				
Underlay	OSB boards with thickness 16 n	nm with slots not exceeding 5	mm		

Table 1. Characteristics of test models.

Rainfall measurements were carried out using a Hellmann rain gauge, placed next to the measuring stations. Outflows in the months April-September 2015 and April-October 2016 were measured by volumetric method after each rainfall. Since the beginning of November 2016, Odyssey appliances were installed and the outflows were recorded at 10 min intervals. Measurement vessels were calibrated at the Water Centre of Warsaw University of Life Sciences.



Fig. 1. Experimental object

On the basis of the obtained results of the runoff from the green roofs and the reference roof models, the flow coefficients and the amount of retained water were calculated. Measurements of the amounts of precipitation, air temperature carried out in

69

a continuous manner at a weather station situated near the measurement stations. 24-h mean values of the weather parameters prior to the inception of each event were calculated. Based on a conventional approach relying on determining atmospheric precipitation suggested and assumed in other studies of the "green roof" type, rainfall events separated by six or more hours are classified as independent events [20, 21]. There were, however, situations when runoff from a previous event was still ongoing and another event occurred. In such situations, the two adjacent "events" were combined into one. Based on the measurements, a relative daily retention for each container was calculated using Eq. 1 [20]:

$$R = \frac{P - H}{P} \cdot 100\% \tag{1}$$

where:

R - retention [%],

P - precipitation [mm],

H - runoff [mm].

STATGRAPHICS Centurion XIV computer software was used for comparisons and statistical analyses.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Weather Profile of the Study Period

During the study period, 232 days of rainfall were noted, with total rainfall of 1106.30 mm (average 4.79 mm; min. 0.1 mm; max. 67.10 mm; median 2.10 mm). Rainfalls with P < 5 mm comprised 73.3% of all noted rainfalls, rainfalls with a 5–10 mm comprised 15.8%, those of 10–20 mm – 7.9%, rainfalls with 20–30 mm – 0.9%, while those of 30 mm – 2.1% (Fig. 2a).



Fig. 2. Distribution of rainfall depths during the observation period (a), rainfall depth in 2015–2017 on the background of multi-year period (b).

In 2015, in the months of June – September, rainfalls differed significantly from the average observed in the multi-year period 1960–2009 (Fig. 2b). The month with the highest total rainfall was September (wet month) – the rainfall total equalled 73.1 mm. The month with the lowest total rainfall was August (extremely dry), when the total rainfall equalled 11.3 mm. In 2016, rainfalls differed significantly from the average from the 1960–2009 period in July and September [22]. The month with the highest rainfall was July 2016, with the monthly total equal to 115.1 mm (average rainfall from the multi-year period of 75.3 mm), while the highest daily rainfall occurred on July 12, 2016 and amounted to 67.10 mm. Similarly to 2015, the month with the lowest rainfall was September, when the total rainfall was 9.3 mm. In 2017, rainfalls were higher in all the analyzed months than the average from the multi-year period. The month which differed significantly from the average from the multi-year period of 46.4 mm). The maximum recorded rainfall was observed on 17 September 2017 and amounted to 54.10 mm.

3.2 Relationship Between Meteorological Parameters and Retention

In the year 2015, during the period IV-IX, the total rainfall amounted to 277.2 mm (19% less than average from the multi-year period), retention was 90% 84% for GR1 and for GR2 respectively. For the same period in 2016, total rainfall amounted to 317.9 mm (7% less of the average form the multi-year period), retention was 68% for GR1, and 64% for GR2. In 2017, in the period IV-IX, the total rainfall significantly exceeded rainfalls from the multi-year period and amounted to 663.3 mm (64% more than average from the multi-year period), retention amounted to 56% and 50% for GR1 and GR2 respectively. Over the course 3 years of in the vegetation period (IV-IX) on the model with the mineral-organic substrate (GR1), 5% higher retention than in the model with the mineral substrate (GR2) was observed. The Mann-Whitney W-test which was carried out additionally did not reveal any statistically significant differences between the GR 1 and GR2, p > 0.05. The linear relationship between rainfall depth and the retention, for both the GR1 as well as GR2 model, showed a negative correlation for r(232) = -0.45, p < 0.05, and r(232) = -0.46 (Table 2). The obtained negative values of correlation showed that, along with an increase in depth, the retention ability of green roofs decreases. The analysis of two green roofs and references roof showed that the runoff coefficients ranged from 0.33 to 0.38 for GR 1 and GR 2, for RR runoff coefficients was 0.83.

The research covering the three vegetation periods conducted on green roofs models and reference model proved, that green roofs are efficient SUDS measure in the scope of runoff volume reduction. Rainfall-runoff relation for both green roof models showed, that observed retention amounted 67% and 62% and was higher compared to reference model (17%). Obtained values were similar to reported by other Authors base on research run in different regions all over the world, where average retention was in the range of 40–90% [12, 21, 23–28]. [23] obtained 64% of runoff reduction for the sedum-moss roofs with a thickness of 3 cm influenced by natural and simulated precipitation. [21] base on 19 rainfall-runoff events for green roof located in Chongqing in China, concluded that average retention amounted 77.2%. Similar results were reported



by [27] for the intensive green roof in Manchester, GB. The noted retention was 65,7% for 69 rainfall-runoff events.

Fig. 3. The relationships between runoff retention in green roofs and outflow with conventional roof.

As shown on Fig. 3, green roofs retained nearly 88–84% of rainwater from small rainfall events (<10.0 mm), 58–68% in from of medium rainfall events (10–24.9 mm), 31–36% from large rainfall events (25.0–49.9 mm), and nearly 9–13% from storm events (>50 mm). [29] carrying out studies on an extensive roof, observed that water retention decreased from 90% for a rainfall depth of 13 mm to 39% with rainfall of 54 mm. Studies on the retention abilities of green roofs carried out by [30] in three Canadian cities showed that, for rainfall events of under 3 mm, retention ranged from 94.5% to 89.6%, and for rainfalls of over 15 mm from 58.5% to 36.4%, depending on the city. Table 2 shows the matrix of correlation for average values calculated for four metrological parameters preceding a rainfall (occurred 24 h prior to the rainfall). Connections between radiation (SR) and air temperature (T) and wind speed (W). Additionally, a significant correlation between individual average input meteorological factors – air temperature, radiation and air humidity, and retention was obtained.

Some Authors suggest, that regional climatic conditions are significant factors influencing green roof retention [20, 31, 32]. At the local scale microclimatic conditions may differ between the roofs due to specific site condition. The results shoved, that volume of precipitation, humidity, radiation and air temperature have a significant effect on green roof retention. The obtained data show that the value of retention decreases with increasing rainfall and air humidity, while the increase in radiation and air temperature increases the green roofs retention ability. Performed statistical analysis

confirmed that rainfall depth is strongly correlated with retention. Similar results are also reported by [5, 33–35]. [35] additionally stated, that radiation and wind speed are important factors influencing retention. In our study it was not confirmed in case of wind speed. Summing up, the results suggest that the interaction between meteorological factors and the percentage retention are probably complex and indirect. It is expected that some or all of these weather factors will work together with others resulting the influence of the retention of green roofs [35].

Table 2. Pearson correlation coefficient r and probability p (in brackets) of mean antecedent (24 h) meteorological parameters used in the multiple regression analyses. T - air temperature [°C], SR solar radiation [W m⁻²], W - mean wind speed [m s⁻¹], H - mean relative humidity [%], P - rainfall depth [mm].

	SR	Т	W	Н	Р
GR1	0.33 (0.0000)	0.22 (0.0047)	0.04 (0.5853)	-0.37 (0.0000)	-0.45 (0.0000)
GR2	0.24 (0.0025)	0.24 (0.0024)	0.08 (0.3110)	-0.29 (0.0002)	-0.46 (0.0000)

p-values below 0.05 indicate statistically significant non-zero correlations at the 95.0% confidence level.

4 Conclusions

In the article, the role of key environmental factors on rainwater retention on green roofs under the conditions of a continental wet climate was assessed. Subject to assessment was the difference in the amount of green roofs retention with a substrate characterized by a mineral-organic as well as mineral composition. Results from the statistical test suggest that rainfall depth, temperature and solar radiation are important factors which have the greatest influence on explaining percentage retention. These results support earlier studies that the total rainfall depth may have a strong influence on retention. Rainwater entering the system of green roofs is an input factor in the conceptual model of the retention of a green roof system. The retention ability of green roofs is, by nature, finite, thus the amount of retention depends largely on the number of rainfalls. Both models of extensive green roofs type were found to have a similar construction, though the model with the addition of low moor peat and compost revealed higher moisture content, both in the substrate as well as vegetation mat as compared to the model with the substrate of mineral composition (as confirmed by retention curves), signifying increased retention abilities. The analysis of two green roofs and references roof showed that the runoff coefficients ranged from 0.33 to 0.38 for GR 1 and GR 2, for RR runoff coefficients was 0.83. Over three years of observations during the vegetation period, the model with the mineral-organic substrate retained 5% more rainwater as compared to the model with mineral substrate. In addition to retention abilities, the mineral substrate reduces runoff of P and allows proper growth of Sedum and is a more practical solution than using the mineral-organic substrate.

Acknowledgment. The publication and research was conducted in the frame of cooperation project: "Testing of extensive green roof runoff for volume quantity and phosphate concentration" (1/KKŚ/2016).

References

- Burns, M.J., Fletcher, T.D., Walsh, C.J., Ladson, A.R., Hatt, B.E.: Hydrologic shortcomings of conventional urban stormwater management and opportunities for reform. Landscape Urban Plan. 105, 230–240 (2012)
- Barszcz, M.: Analysis of probable flows based on the rainfall-runoff model for flood scenarios: a case study of the Losse river catchment (Germany). Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 25(4), 1403–1413 (2016)
- 3. Köhler, M.: Long-term vegetation research on two extensive green roofs in Berlin. Urban Habitats 4, 3–26 (2006)
- Jarosińska, E.: An analysis of short duration high-intensity rainfall events in Cracow area. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3(1), 575–588 (2018)
- 5. Stovin, V., Vesuviano, G., Kasmin, H.: The hydrological performance of a green roof test bed under UK climatic conditions. J. Hydrol. **414**, 148–161 (2012)
- Shafique, M., Kim, R., Kyung-Ho, K.: Green roof for stormwater management in a highly urbanized area: the case of Seoul, Korea. Sustainability 2018(10), 584 (2018). https://doi. org/10.3390/su10030584
- 7. Wysmułek, J.: Rewitalizacja przyrodnicza wnętrz urbanistycznych na przykładzie wybranego kwartału we Wrocławiu. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas **3**(1), 709–721 (2018)
- Liu, K., Minor, J.: Performance evaluation of an extensive green roof. Paper presented at the Third Annual Greening Rooftops for Sustainable Communities Conference, Awards and Trade Show, 4–6 May 2005, Washington, DC (2005)
- Pęczkowski, G., Kowalczyk, T., Szawernoga, K., Orzepowski, W., Żmuda, R., Pokładek, R.: Hydrological performance and runoff water quality of experimental green roofs. Water 10, 1185 (2018)
- 10. Baryła, A., Karczmarczyk, A., Wróbel, M., Kożuchowski, P.: Water retention on the extensive green roof models. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(2), 1649–1658 (2017)
- 11. Soulis, K., Ntoulas, N., Nektarios, P., Kargas, G.: Runoff reduction from extensive green roofs having different substrate depth and plant cover. Ecol. Eng. **102**, 80–89 (2017)
- Baryła, A., Karczmarczyk, A., Brandyk, A., Bus, A.: The influence of a green roof drainage layer on retention capacity and leakage quality. Water Sci. Technol. 77(12), 2886–2895 (2018)
- 13. Stovin, V., Poe, S., De-Ville, S., Berretta, C.: The influence of substrate and vegetation configuration on green roof hydrological performance. Ecol. Eng. **85**, 159–172 (2015)
- 14. Teemusk, A., Mander, Ü.: Rainwater runoff quantity and quality performance from a green roof: the effects of short-term events. Ecol. Eng. **30**, 271–277 (2007)
- Bonoli, A., Conte, A., Maglionico, M., Stojkov, I.: Green roofs for sustainable water management in urban areas. Environ. Eng. Manag. J. 12(S11), 153–156 (2013)
- 16. Mentens, J., Raes, D., Hermy, M.: Green roofs as a tool for solving the rainwater runoff problem in the urbanized 21st century? Landscape Urban Plan. **77**, 217–226 (2006)
- Karczmarczyk, A., Baryła, A., Kożuchowski, P.: Design and development of low P-emission substrate for the protection of urban water bodies collecting green roof runoff. Sustainability 9(10), 1795 (2017)

- 18. Bus, A., Karczmarczyk, A., Baryła, A.: The use of reactive material for limiting P-leaching from green roof substrate. Water Sci. Technol. **73**(12), 3027–3032 (2016)
- DAFA. Dachy zielone. Wytyczne do Projektowania, Wykonywania i Pielęgnacji Dachów Zielonych—Wytyczne dla Dachów Zielonych (Guidelines for Designing, Constructing and Caring for Green Roofs – Guidelines for Green Roofs); Stowarzyszenie Wykonawców Dachów Płaskich i Fasad (DAFA): Opole, Poland (2015). (in Polish)
- 20. Stovin, V., Poë, S., Berretta, C.: A modelling study of long term green roof retention performance. J. Environ. Manag. **131**, 206–215 (2013)
- Zhang, Q., Miao, L., Wang, X., Liu, D., Zhu, L., Zhou, B., Sun, J., Liu, J.: The capacity of greening roof to reduce storm water runoff and pollution. Landscape Urban Plan. 144, 142– 150 (2015)
- Majewski, G., Przewoźniczuk, W., Kleniewska, M.: Precipitation at the meteorological station in Ursynów WULS – SGGW in 1960–2009. Sci. Rev. Eng. Environ. Sci. 19(2), 3–22 (2010). (in Polish)
- Bengtsson, L., Grahn, L., Olsson, J.: Hydrological function of a thin extensive green roof in Southern Sweden. Nordic Hydrol. 36(3), 259–268 (2005)
- 24. Berndtsson, J.C.: Green roof performance towards management of runoff water quantity and quality: a review. Ecol. Eng. **36**, 351–360 (2010)
- Carter, T.L., Jackson, C.R.: Vegetated roofs for storm water management at multiple spatial scales. Landscape Urban Plan. 80, 84–94 (2007)
- Palla, A., Gnecco, I., Lanza, L.G.: Hydrologic restoration in the urban environment using green roofs. Water 2, 140–154 (2010)
- Speak, A.F., Rothwell, J.J., Lindley, S.J., Smith, C.L.: Rainwater runoff retention on an aged intensive green roof. Sci. Total Environ. 461–462, 28–38 (2013)
- Shafiquea, M., Kima, R., Rafiqc, M.: Green roof benefits, opportunities and challenges a review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 90(2018), 757–773 (2018)
- Carter, T.L., Rasmussen, T.C.: Hydrologic behavior of vegetated roofs. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 42(5), 1261–1274 (2006)
- Sims, A., Robinson, C., Smart, C., Voogt, J., Hay, G., Lundholm, J., Powers, B., O'Carroll, D.: Retention performance of green roofs in three different climate regions. J. Hydrol. 542, 115–124 (2016)
- Berretta, C., Poë, S., Stovin, V.: Moisture content behavior in extensive green roofs during dry periods: the influence of vegetation and substrate characteristics. J. Hydrol. 511, 374– 386 (2014)
- 32. Voyde, E., Fassman, E., Simcock, R.: Hydrology of an extensive living roof under subtropical climate conditions in Auckland, New Zealand. J. Hydrol. **394**, 384–395 (2010)
- Carter, T., Rasmussen, T.: Hydrologic behavior of vegetated roofs. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 42, 1261–1274 (2006)
- 34. Uhl, M., Schiedt L.: Green roof storm water retention: monitoring results. In: 11th International Conference on Urban Drainage, Edinburgh, Scotland (2008)
- 35. Wong, G., Jim, W.: Identifying keystone meteorological factors of green-roof storm water retention to inform design and planning. Ecol. Eng. **85**, 159–172 (2015)



Energy Assessment of Organic Production

Urszula Malaga-Toboła^{1(⊠)}, Dariusz Kwaśniewski¹, Maciej Kuboń¹, and Pavol Findura²

¹ University of Agriculture in Krakow, 30-149 Krakow, Poland umalagatobola@gmail.com

² Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, 949 76 Nitra, Slovakia

Abstract. The paper presents efficiency of material and energy inputs and energy consumption of global and commodity production in organic farms with a varied production trend. These indices were expressed in traditional energy units. The results were obtained during a 3-year research conducted in 50 organic farms located in the southern Poland. The investigated facilities were divided into groups specialising in plant, animal and mixed production. Energy consumption was determined by division of the sum of energy streams i.e. direct energy carriers, raw materials and materials, investment means and repairs as well as live work by the sum of plant, animal production and other services. Efficiency of inputs was calculated as an inverse of energy consumption. The best result both with regard to energy consumption and energy efficiency were obtained by animal production farms.

Keywords: Organic farms \cdot Production trend \cdot Energy effectiveness \cdot Energy consumption

1 Introduction

Organic farming due to its versatile aims is favoured by farmers both in Poland and around the world. It is proved by constantly raising number of organic producers [3, 4, 8, 19] However, we should remember that principles of organic farming differ from the ones used in the traditional farming. These differences affect the size, structure of incurred material and energy inputs and these, on the other hand, affect production efficiency [5, 6, 9]. Analysis of energy consumption of production is one of the methods of assessment of production effectiveness. It is described as co-dependence expressed in traditional energy units between the inputs incurred on production and their size [1, 11, 18]. The production size results, on the other hand, from the production potential, the use of which is varied. Since, it depends on the soil and climatic conditions which decisively influence the production trend [7]. This, on the other hand, will influence the improvement of indices of material and energy efficiency of its production. Agricultural producers wish to pass on the future generation an agricultural and rural environment, which is in a better condition than it has been so far, taking into consideration the decreasing area of agricultural land and changing structure of material and energy inputs and production services, they must intensify with a good quality of plant and animal production [2, 13, 20].

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 75–83, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_11

2 Aim, Research Area and Methods

The aim of the paper was to define the efficiency of material and energy inputs and organic energy consumption of global and commodity production in farms which differ with a production trend. The calculations were made based on the information collected during a guided survey with owners of 50 farms located on the territory of the southern Poland. All facilities had a certificate confirming an organic nature of the activity which was carried out.

In order to carry out a comparative analysis, a division of farms into groups specialising in plant, animal and mixed production was made. The production trend was determined based on the participation of particular activities in forming a general value of standard gross margin in a farm. Farms, in which participation of this type of activity exceeded 2/3 of the total value of the standard gross margin was called one-trend (specialists). While, farms, where any type of activity did not exceed 1/3 of the value of this gross margin were included into mixed farms [IGŻiE]. From among the investigated farms, 21 plant production farms were distinguished including a vegetable, horticultural and generally plant farm, 24 animal farms, mainly milk production and 5 with mixed production.

Calculations were made based on Wójciski's method [21]. Energy consumption was determined by division of the sum of energy streams i.e. direct energy carriers, raw materials and materials, investment means and repairs as well as live work by the sum of plant, animal production and other services. Particular elements were expressed in energy units using conversion factors of those traditional units [20]. Efficiency of inputs was calculated as an inverse of energy consumption.

3 Research Results and Discussion

The average area of agricultural land in the investigated farm was 12.61 ha. In the use the structure of land 51.3% consisted of permanent grassland, arable land constituted 41.7% of agricultural land and orchards and perennial plantations - 4.0% (Table 1). With regard to the size of acreage, animal production farms, with almost twofold higher production differed from the objects with the plant and mixed production. It resulted from a bigger area of grasslands, which at the average was 9.93 ha, while in case of the plant and mixed production farms it was respectively 3.90 and 2.43 ha. Research conducted by other specialists also indicates that organic farms that keep ruminants are characterized by a much larger share of permanent grassland than traditional farms [16]. The area of arable land was on the other hand comparable (Table 1).

Specification	Number	Area [ha]		Livestock	Livestock			
	of farms	Agricultural land	Arable land	Permanent grassland	Orchards and perennial plantations	Large conversion unit [LSU]	[LSU ha ^{-1]}	
	Productio	Production trend						
Plant production	21	9.92	5.37	3.90	0.65	11.56	0.87	
Animal production	24	15.70	5.43	9.93	0.33	13.58	0.88	
Mixed production	5	7.79	4.63	2.43	0.74	3.99	0.77	
Average	50	12.61	5.27	6.47	0.51	11.55	0.92	

Table 1. Organization of agricultural production

With regard to the size of the herd, farms with the mixed production differed, where it was 3.99 LSU while in the objects with plant and animal production trend it was respectively - 11.56 and 13.58 LSU. Livestock, on the other hand, in all three trends was comparable and was within 0.77 LSU ha⁻¹ in the mixed farms to 0.88 LSU ha⁻¹ in objects which deal with animal production (Table 1).

Specification	Electric energy	Diesel oil	Leaded patrol	Fuel oil	Hard coal	
	Production trend					
Plant production	31.789	36.880	0.649	0.728	0.002	
Animal production	27.407	41.201	1.718	-	0.001	
Mixed production	23.465	21.195	2.390	-	-	
Average	28.853	37.386	1.336	0.306	0.001	

 Table 2.
 Consumption of energy carrier [GJ]

Energy inputs in trend groups were similar and were within 23.456 GJ in the farms with the mixed production to 31.789 GJ in the plant production farms. Rationalization of farms with energy is favourably influenced by raising the level of production through improvement of soil fertility, the use of highly efficient plant species, correct crop rotation or reduction of losses. Moreover, it is important to improve the production processes of particular produces, improvement of technical condition of the agricultural equipment and other energy receivers and good organization of production processes [10, 12, 14]. Diesel oil was used in the biggest amount in animal production farms - 41.201 GJ. It was twofold more than in the mixed production plants with the lowest consumption (Table 2).

Specification	Sowing material	Seed potato	Concentrate	Volumetric fodders	Others
	Production trend				
Plant production	4.92	1.26	40.76	79.63	9.25
Animal production	12.40	2.47	57.25	86.07	16.11
Mixed production	4.283	0.550	36.608	52.600	5.200
Average	8.444	1.771	48.259	80.020	12.138

Table 3. Consumption of agricultural raw materials [GJ]

Analysis of the agricultural expenditures led us to a conclusion that farms specialising in animal breeding incurred explicitly higher inputs than the two remaining trend groups (Table 3). It should be mentioned that agricultural raw materials decisively came from own farm.

Specification	Fertilizers	Crop protection substances	Concentrate, vitamins, fodder additives	Supplementary materials	Cleaning agents
	Production to	rend			
Plant production	19.458	0.583	0.572	0.004	0.001
Animal production	2.150	-	1.362	0.008	0.003
Mixed production	-	2.760	0.221	0.005	0.001
Average	9.469	0.535	0.921	0.006	0.002

Table 4. Consumption of non-agricultural raw materials [GJ]

On the other hand, farms with the plant production trend incurred considerably higher non-agricultural inputs, Consumption of fertilizers in plant farms was 9-times higher than in animal production farms. On the other hand, mixed production farms did not apply fertilizers, and used the highest number of crop protection substances. Auxiliary materials, namely, foil, rope, packaging and cleaning substances constituted a small percent of consumption (Table 4).

Among the trend groups, the highest diversity was reported in case of repair of buildings, which burdened the animal farms the most. While, services and work inputs were decisively higher in farms with mixed production. Consumption of the remaining inputs in the trend groups was similar (Table 5).

Specification	Water	Repair of machines	Renovation of buildings	Technical services	Replacement investments	Work expenditures
	Produc	tion trend				
Plant production	3.716	23.244	7.299	20.705	40.001	68.385
Animal production	7.986	37.059	67.354	9.406	44.099	89.323
Mixed production	7.680	57.540	3.800	70.440	26.956	124.480
Average	6.171	33.247	35.677	20.460	40.844	84.350

Table 5. Remaining non - agricultural expenditures [GJ]



Fig. 1. Structure of inputs in production trends

Participation of particular categories of inputs in the trend groups was similar. Energy inputs constituted from 18% in the plant production objects to 11% in the mixed ones. Participation of agricultural raw materials was 35% both in objects set on the plant production as well as on the animal production and 23% - on the mixed one. The highest participation of non-agricultural inputs was reported in the plant production objects [5%] and in the remaining groups it was only 1% (Fig. 1).

The highest global production calculated into gigajoules was obtained by farms which specialize in livestock breeding - 1307.819 GJ (Table 6). In all trend groups, the global animal production prevailed which constituted from 63.8%, in the plant production farms to 90.2% in the animal production farms. Commodity production constituted, on the other hand, at the average 20.5% of the global production. In the

commodity production also a bigger participation in all trend groups was in case of animal production except for farms which specialize in plant production.

Specification	Global production			Commodity production		
	Plant	Animal	Total	Plant	Animal	Total
	Production trend					
Plant production	214.077	377.241	591.319	28.064	23.556	51.620
Animal production	128.559	1179.260	1307.819	6.641	314.815	321.456
Mixed production	125.162	321.756	446.918	14.218	112.582	126.800
Average	164.137	756.662	920.798	16.397	172.263	188.659

Table 6. Global and commodity production [GJ]

Energy efficiency indicates which inputs should be incurred to obtain one production unit. Production activity in the investigated organic farms may be generally considered as efficient since from each unit of incurred energy inputs [GJ] at the average 2 units of global production in GJ was obtained (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Effectiveness and energy consumption of global production in production trends

While, in each trend group, positive effectiveness was obtained. The most advantageous activity with regard to energy effectiveness was obtained by farms specializing in animal production, since, from each unit of the incurred energy input [GJ] 2.598 production unit was obtained (Fig. 2). The least advantageous were mixed production farms, in which the obtained production balanced the incurred input. Moreover, in all groups, an advantageous index of energy consumption was obtained. It is proved by the fact that in order to obtain the global production with the value of 1 GJ, inputs from 0.385 GJ in the animal production farms to 0.985 GJ in the mixed production farms should be incurred.

While, energy efficiency of commodity production indicates that at the average out of 1 GJ of the input only 0.419 GJ of commodity production was obtained (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Effectiveness and energy consumption of commodity production in trend groups.

In the trend groups, a negative effect with regard to effectiveness was obtained. Since, from 1 GJ of input, from 0.132 through 0.288 to 0.639 GJ of commodity production was obtained, respectively for farms which specialize in the plant, mixed and animal production (Fig. 3). While, the least favourable with regard to energy consumption were objects with the plant production trend because for the commodity production with the value of 1 GJ the input of 7.5552 GJ had to be incurred. In the remaining groups, energy consumption index was 3.471 and 1.566 respectively in the objects with the mixed and plant production trend. According to Sørensen et al. [17], in plant production, a 26% reduction of energy inputs can be obtained, through the use of minimum crops and as much as 41% in the case of a non-cutting system [17].

Energy intensity of agricultural production decreases along with changes in the agrarian structure and intensification of production in commercial farms. Nevertheless, energy consumption per unit of decreasing farmland and LSU stocking density will slowly increase along with the increase in the technical condition of agricultural equipment [15, 22].

4 Conclusion

At the average, in all trend groups a positive effect on account of energy efficiency of global production was obtained. However, the best index was reported in farms specializing in animal production [2.598] and the lowest in the mixed production farms [1.015].

However, commodity production efficiency was negative both at the average for all farms [0.419] and in all trend groups. Here, also animal production farms, where efficiency index at the level of 0.639 was twofold higher than in the remaining groups, distinguished.

With regard to energy consumption, both of global production and commodity production farms with animal production trend had the best results with the index at the level of respectively 0.385 and 1.566. While, in order to obtain 1 GJ of the global production, the highest input is incurred by farms which carry out mixed production [0.985] and commodity production – plant production facilities [7.552].

Reducing energy intensity of production, including in agriculture, it fosters respect for the natural environment. Research conducted using energy intensity assessment methods show the current state of energy economy in agriculture as well as ways and possibilities its improvement.

Transformations in agriculture cause, among others changes in the level of energy inputs and costs. The analysis of these changes over time is indispensable for forecasting their level in the future, because energy has a significant share in agricultural production outlays.

Acknowledgments. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (statutory activities DS-3600/WIPiE/2017, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow).

References

- 1. Bielski, S., Dubis, B., Jankowski, K.: The energy efficiency of production and conversion of winter triticale biomass into biofuels. Przemysł Chemiczny **94**(10), 1798–1801 (2015)
- Grotkiewicz, K., Latawiec, A.E., Kuboń, M., et al.: Productivity of work and land: a comparison between three dissimilar countries. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Applied Economics Contemporary Issues in Economy: Economics, Torun, Poland, 22–23 June 2017, Contemporary Issues in Economy. 30. Institute of Economic Research, ISBN 978-83-65605-06-1, pp. 170–178 (2017)
- 3. Hamm, U., Gronefeld, F.: The European Market for Organic Food: Revised and Updated Analysis. School of Management and Business, The University of Wales, Aberystwyth (2004)
- Kahl, J., Van den Burgt, G.J., Kusche, D., et al.: Organic food claims in Europe. Food Technol. 3, 38–46 (2010)
- 5. Komorowska, D.: Znaczenie rolnictwa ekologicznego w Polsce. Roczniki Naukowe SERiA XVII 2, 119–126 (2015)
- Kowalski, J.: Praca zbiorowa.: Postęp naukowo- techniczny a racjonalna gospodarka energią w produkcji rolniczej. PTIR, Kraków (2002)

- Krasowicz, S., Igras, J.: Regionalne zróżnicowanie wykorzystania potencjału rolnictwa w Polsce. Pam. Puław. 132, 233–251 (2003)
- 8. Kreisberg, J.: Learning from organic agriculture. Health Environ. 5, 450-452 (2006)
- Kuboń, M., Krasnodębski, A.: Logistic cost in competitive strategies of enterprises. Agric. Economics. 56, 397–402 (2010)
- Kuś, J., Krasowicz, S., Harasim, A.: Studia nad możliwością zwiększenia udziału zbóż w strukturze zasiewów. Efektywność energetyczna. Pam. Puł. 101, 185–199 (1992)
- 11. Malaga-Toboła, U., Tabor, S., Kocira, S.: Productivity of resources and investments at selected ecological farms. Agric. Agric. Sci. Proc. 7, 158–164 (2015)
- Orłowska, M.: Konkurencyjność polskich gospodarstw ekologicznych o różnych kierunkach produkcji w świetle danych FAND. Roczniki Naukowe SERIA XX(5), 146–153 (2018)
- Pawlak, J.: Rolnictwo a środowisko naturalne. Problemy Inżynierii Rolniczej 1(87), 17–28 (2015)
- Pawlak, J.: Wartość produkcji a nakłady i koszty energii w rolnictwie. Zagadnienia Ekonomiki Rolnej. 1(346), 80–96 (2016)
- Pawlak, J.: Nakłady energii a liczba gospodarstw i powierzchnia użytków rolnych. Problemy Inżynierii Rolniczej. 2(92), 53–66 (2016b)
- Prokopowicz, J., Jankowska-Huflejt, H.: Ocena ekonomiczna kierunków działalności rolniczej gospodarstw ekologicznych mierzona standardową nadwyżką bezpośrednią. J. Res. Appl. Agric. Eng. 53(4), 45–50 (2008)
- 17. Sørensen, C.G., Halberg, N., Oudshoorn, F.W., et al.: Energy inputs and GHG emissions of tillage systems. Biosyst. Eng. **120**, 2–14 (2014)
- Szeptycki, A., Wójcicki, Z.: Postęp technologiczny i nakłady energetyczne do 2020 r, pp. 14–20. IBMER, Warszawa (2003)
- 19. Tabor, S., Szczuka, M.: Charakterystyka wyposażenia technicznego i technologii uprawy roli w gospodarstwach ekologicznych. Inżynieria Rolnicza **2**(137), 295–302 (2012)
- Wójcicki, Z.: Poszanowanie energii i środowiska w rolnictwie i na obszarach wiejskich. Monografia. IBMER, Warszawa (2007). ISBN 978-389806-17-18
- Wójcicki, Z., Rudeńska, B.: Efektywność nakładów materiałowo-energetycznych w gospodarstwie rolnym. Problemy Inżynierii Rolniczej 4(86), 57–70 (2014)
- 22. Zalewski, A. (red.).: Rynek środków produkcji dla rolnictwa. Stan i perspektywy, 42. IERiGŻ-PIB, ARR, MRiRW, Warszawa, 45 (2015)

Environmental Protection



The Influence of Long-Term Application of Organic Manures and NPK on Barley Grain and Straw Yields and Soil Properties

Lukáš Hlisnikovský^{1,3(⊠)}, Ladislav Menšík², Ladislav Holík¹, and Eva Kunzová¹

 ¹ Department Management of Nutrients in Agrosystems, Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507, 161 06 Prague 6, Ruzyně, Czech Republic

 hlisnik@vurv.cz
 ² Department of Sustainable Management and Utilization of Permanent Grassland, Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507, 161 06 Prague 6, Ruzyně, Czech Republic
 ³ Department of Ecology, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences, Kamýcká 129, 165 21 Prague 6, Suchdol, Czech Republic

Abstract. We evaluated how sixty years of regular application of mineral fertilizers (NPK), farmyard manure (FYM), poultry slurries (PS) and combination of FYM+NPK and PS+NPK influenced grain and straw yield of spring barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). The effect of fertilizer treatments on soil's pH, soil organic carbon (Cox) and total nitrogen content (Nt) in two decades of the longterm experiment (1983-1992 and 2001-2010) was also analyzed. Long-term application of FYM and PS increased grain yield by 19 and 35%, respectively, while application of NPK, FYM+NPK and PS+NPK increased grain yield by averagely 66%. Straw yield was not affected by organic manures, only NPK, FYM+NPK and PS+NPK treatments provided significantly higher yields compared to the unfertilized Control treatment. The soil's pH was comparable between fertilizer treatments between the years 1983-1992 and significantly differed between the years 2001-2010, especially in FYM+NPK and PS+NPK treatments. Generally, the mean pH significantly decreased from 6.42 (1983-1992) to 5.95 (2001-2010). Cox was not significantly affected by fertilizer treatment in both analyzed decades, but significantly increased from 1.44% (1983-1992) to 2.2% (2001-2010). Nt concentration was not affected by fertilizer treatment in both decades and did not change during the time. Application of NPK with or without organic manures is the best way how to achieve high production of barley grain and straw, but with organic manures and wellcomposed crop rotation is, according to the results, sustainable even without fertilizer inputs.

Keywords: Spring barley \cdot Grain and straw yields \cdot Soil organic carbon \cdot Soil pH \cdot Soil nutrient content

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 87–93, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_12

1 Introduction

Application of animal excreta slurry and farmyard manure is an old practice on how to support plants with nutrients they need to grow strong and healthy. Organic manure applied on arable land undergoes mineralization, a process of releasing of its nutrients to the soil. This process is controlled by several factors, such as temperature, soil humidity or soil microbial biomass and its activity. The amount of nutrients, mainly N, released to the environment is also strongly influenced by the manure origin since the inorganic and organic fractions and complexity of organic N compounds varies between manure types. Greater N mineralization is estimated in manures with lower C: N ratio (pig slurries and poultry manures) compared to cattle slurries, composted and straw-based farmyard manures, which have higher C: N ratios [1, 4]. Organic manures not only support and affect arable crops with released nutrients but can also influence soil chemical and physical properties and shape soil microorganism communities. Increasing the soil organic carbon content is one of the proclaimed attributes of organic manures. [5] found the significantly higher content of organic carbon, Nt, microbial and enzymatic activities in the arable soil after 15 years of FYM application. In the view of the above information, we decided to analyze the effect of mineral fertilizer (NPK). farmyard manure (FYM), poultry manure (PS), the combination of NPK with FYM (FYM+NPK) and PS (PS+NPK) on (i) spring barley grain yield, (ii) spring barley straw yield and on (iii) soil properties (the value of pH, soil organic carbon, total nitrogen content, concentration of P, K and Mg) over the sixty year long-term fertilizer experiment in Prague, Czech Republic, Central Europe.

2 Scope of Research and Study Methods

2.1 Site Description

The detailed description of the experimental site and soil and data analysis are available in [2].

2.2 Experimental Design

The long-term experiment is made up of five fields (marked as I, II, III, IV, and B), where different crop rotations and fertilizer treatments are analyzed. Each field comprises 96 plots (12×12 m), where we study 24 different fertilizer treatments. Each treatment is replicated four times and arranged in a completely randomized design. The subject of this study is field number II. Its crop rotation consists of alfalfa, alfalfa, winter wheat, sugar beet, spring barley, potatoes, winter wheat, sugar beet and spring barley (45% cereals, 33% root crops, 22% legumes). Eight spring barley varieties have been used from the beginning of the experiment: Hanácký Kargyn (1956, 1961), Branišovický (1965), Diamant (1970, 1974), Favorit (1979, 1983), Bonus (1988), Perun (1992), Akcent (1997, 2001) and Sebastian (2006, 2010 and 2015), therefore this paper covers 14 seasons of barley's cultivation in the long-term experiment. Out of 24 fertilizer treatments, we analyzed 6 treatments for the purpose of this paper, including

89

organic manures and mineral fertilizers. The treatments were: unfertilized control (Control), mineral NPK (NPK), cattle farmyard manure (FYM), cattle farmyard manure with NPK (FYM+NPK), poultry manure (PS) and poultry manure with NPK (PS +NPK). Mineral nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium in NPK treatments were applied as calcium ammonium nitrate (27% N) at rate 70 kg ha⁻¹, superphosphate (8.3% P) at rate 60 kg ha⁻¹ and potassium chloride (49.8% K) at rate 100 kg ha⁻¹. Organic manures were applied in the autumn to the barley preceding crop (sugar beet) at the rates 21 t ha⁻¹ (FYM) and 15 t ha⁻¹ (PS). The pH value and mean concentrations of main nutrients in manures shows Table 1. Crop management practices, such as fertilizers rates, tillage, seed bed preparation and seeding depth have been constant from the experiment's establishment. Pesticides were used only if necessary, and growth regulators have never been used.

Attribute	Weights of	factors	Contributi	ons of the	given
			factor to the community		
	Factor I	Factor II	Factor I	Factor II	R^2
pН	-0.120327	-0.144108	0.413785	0.703577	0.769137
Р	-0.097037	0.382571	0.014452	0.816530	0.919118
K	0.031517	0.282479	0.232325	0.861867	0.856987
Mg	0.310025	-0.206716	0.840715	0.864409	0.939584
Corg	0.247970	-0.005415	0.880309	0.972254	0.990452
Nt	-0.152491	0.359987	0.014421	0.598640	0.449325
Grain yield $(t ha^{-1})$	0.170893	0.103396	0.614418	0.859014	0.966579
Straw yield $(t ha^{-1})$	0.279159	-0.131871	0.801267	0.801304	0.930642

 Table 1. Weights of factors and contributions of the given factor to the community in periods

 1983–1992 (I) and 2001–2010 (II).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Grain Yield

Grain yield was statistically significantly affected by fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 5, F = 16.97, p < 0.001, Fig. 1a). The average grain yields in the Control, NPK, FYM, FYM+NPK, PS and PS+NPK treatments were 3.36, 5.66, 4.01, 5.58, 4.52 and 5.50 t ha⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 1a).

3.2 Straw Yield

Straw yield was statistically significantly affected by fertilizer treatment (d.f. = 5, F = 9.70, p < 0.001, Fig. 1b). The average grain yields in the Control, NPK, FYM, FYM+NPK, PS and PS+NPK treatments were 3.00, 4.13, 3.32, 4.22, 3.51 and 4.06 t ha⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 1b). Means with standard errors of the mean (SE) followed by the same letter were not significantly different at 0.05 probability level.



Fig. 1. The effect of fertilizer treatments on spring barley's (a) grain and (b) straw yields (t ha^{-1}) during the entire duration of the experiment (14 seasons)

3.3 Soil Properties

Due to incomplete data of soil properties from the long-term experiment we analysed and compared the effect of organic manures and mineral fertilizers on soil properties in two decades (1983–1992; 2001–2010), in which data were complete. Means followed by a different letter (A, B) were significantly different at 0.05 probability level. Means followed by no letter were not significantly different. The depth of the sampling was 30 cm of the top layer.

pН

The average pH value in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 6.53A (6.07B), NPK 6.69 (6.30), FYM 6.78A (6.37B), FYM+NPK 6.14A (5.60B), PS 6.29 (5.97) and 6.10A (5.43B) in the PS+NPK treatment. Comparing two decades of the long-term experiment 1983–1992 and 2001–2010, the mean pH value decreased significantly (d.f. = 1, F = 13.04, p < 0.001) from 6.42 (1983–1992) to 5.95 (2001–2010).

Cox (%)

The average Cox content in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 1.30 (1.76), NPK 1.38A (2.32B), FYM 1.39 (2.05), FYM+NPK 1.59A (2.50B), PS 1.46 (2.29) and 1.49 (2.30) % in the PS+NPK treatment. Comparing two decades of the long-term experiment 1983–1992 and 2001–2010, the mean Cox concentration increased significantly (d.f. = 1, F = 20.14, p < 0.001) from 1.44% (1983–1992) to 2.2% (2001–2010).

Nt (%)

The average Nt content in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 0.14 (0.13), NPK 0.15 (0.14), FYM 0.14 (0.14), FYM+NPK 0.15 (0.15), PS 0.14 (0.14) and 0.15 (0.14) % in the PS+NPK treatment. Comparing two decades of the long-term experiment 1983–1992 and 2001–2010, the mean Nt concentration was not significantly affected (d.f. = 1, F = 0.42, p = 0.52) by fertilizer treatment and was 0.14% in both decades.

P (mg kg⁻¹)

The average P content in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 21.33 (9.73), NPK 66.00A (44.83B), FYM 34.67 (25.00), FYM+NPK 75.00 (79.33), PS 35.33A (73.67B) and 87.00A (134.50B) mg kg-1 in the PS+NPK treatment.

K (mg kg^{-1})

The average K content in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 79.33 (124.00), NPK 169.33 (204.00), FYM 106.67A (168.00B), FYM+NPK 230.00 (281.50), PS 74.67A (145.50B) and 184.00A (233.00B) mg kg-1 in the PS+NPK treatment.

Mg (mg kg^{-1})

The average Mg content in 1983–1992 (respectively in 2001–2010) was in the Control 103.67A (145.83B), NPK 73.67A (127.83B), FYM 114.33A (165.33B), FYM+NPK 103.00A (157.67B), PS 103.33A (152.50B) and 90.33A (143.17B) mg kg-1 in the PS +NPK treatment.

Long-term and regular application of mineral fertilizers and organic manures has a positive and significant effect on productivity of arable crops, such as spring barley, and soil's organic carbon content [3, 6, 7]. The most positive effect was connected with application of mineral NPK, but sustainable production was related with all fertilizer treatments. Due to the soil's naturally high fertility and crop rotation including legumes, the production of spring barley was sustainable and increasing even without fertilizer inputs. This is very important information for farmers interested in now-a-days more popular organic farming. While soil organic carbon content increased in all treatments during the time, the value of the pH decreased significantly over the time and fluctuated significantly, especially in the treatments combining mineral NPK and organic manures. The concentration of nitrogen stayed unchanged during the time of the long-term experiment.

The Fig. 2 shows only the first two axes, which together explain approximately 80% of variability (PC1 and PC2 in the period 1983–1992, variants I, and 2001–2010, variants II). The Fig. 2 on the left compares the differences between the variables (if the characters are close together, they correlate strongly if they are far apart, then they do not correlate). The scales inform about the relationship between the original characters (parameters) and the main components. The PC1 axis in the graph (PC1 × PC2) characterizes Grain yields, K and Corg contents, which go directly along that axis and are correlated over 0.72–0.82 and partially correlated with P (0.5–0.6). Furthermore, the PC1 axis clearly characterizes soil reaction (pH). There is no pronounced correlation on the PC2 axis in the graph (PC1 × PC2), but the directions for Nt (the highest content in FYM+NPK, Ps+NPK) fertilization in both periods are different. The scatter plot of the component score (Fig. 2 on the right) shows the component score or the values of the first two major components. You can find clusters of objects similar to each other and objects that are remote and strongly different from other objects (objects close to each other are similar, far from each other they are dissimilar).



Fig. 2. PCA of parameters (pH, Cox, Nt, P, K, Mg, Grain yield, Straw yield) in period 1983–1992 (I) and 2001–2010 (II) in long-term application of different fertilizers treatment.



Fig. 3. FA of parameters (pH, Cox, Nt, P, K, Mg, Grain yield, Straw yield) in periods 1983–1992 (I) and 2001–2010 (II) as affected by the long-term application of different fertilizers treatment.

In the scattering diagram of the component score, variations of fertilization in both monitored seasons are unequally distributed along the PC1 axis. There are two clusters in the period 1983–1992 (Control I, FYM I, PS I and NPK I, FYM + NPK I, PS+NPK I). The fertilization treatments within the clusters are very similar, but the fertilization with organic manures and combinations of organic manures + mineral fertilizers is significantly different. In the period 2001–2010, there is already a significant differentiation (the distances between the clusters are large) and the variants of fertilization inside the clusters are very similar. The Control variation also differed significantly. This was confirmed by the Factor Analysis (FA) (Fig. 3), which differed similarly to the PCA method of the group of fertilization species. Factor 1 describes Grain yield, Grain yield, Corg content and Mg content, and Factor 2 describes the nutrient content (Nt, P, K). The community represents the proportion of the variability of the emblem expressed by the factors involved. It is similar to the R2 value we get when explaining

the original characters by regression by selected factors. From the contribution of Factor 1 and Factor 2 to the Community, it is clear how the Communality is high, and the values of the values are very well offset by the proposed factor model (Table 1). Multi-dimensional analysis of PCA, FA significantly distinguished two categories of fertilizer variants in the current second period (2001–2010): pH, Cox, Nt, P, K, Mg, Grain yield, Straw yield.

4 Conclusions

- 1. The application of organic manures, such as farmyard manure and pig slurries, and application of mineral fertilizers (NPK) can achieve long-term stable yields of grain and straw while maintaining soil at optimal quality.
- 2. Application of organic manures together with mineral forms of fertilizers can significantly affect soil chemical properties (reduction of pH) and increase the levels of P and K, but already impaired plant availability and other negative effects on the natural environment (nitrogen spillage, etc.) at the expense of high grain and straw yields.

Acknowledgements. The writing of the paper was supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (MZe RO419).

References

- Bhogal, A., Williams, J.R., Nicholson, F.A., Chadwick, D.R., Chambers, K.H., Chambers, B. J.: Mineralization of organic nitrogen from farm manure applications. Soil Use Manage. 32, 32–43 (2016)
- Hlisnikovsky, L., Kunzova, E.: Evaluation of the long-term fertilizer experiment: how organic manures, mineral fertilizers and potato varieties affected tuber yields. Infrastruktura i Ekologija Terenów Wiejskich 3, 1031–1041 (2017)
- 3. Koutroubas, S.D., Antoniadis, V., Damalas, C.H.A., Fotiadis, S.: Effect of organic manure on wheat grain yield, nutrient accumulation, and translocation. Agron. J. **108**, 1–11 (2016)
- Li, L., Li, S.: Nitrogen mineralization from animal manures and its relation to organic N fractions. J. Integr. Agric. 13, 2040–2048 (2014)
- Liang, Q., Chen, H., Gong, Y., Yang, H., Fan, M., Kuzyakov, Y.: Effects of 15 years of manure and mineral fertilizers on enzyme activities in particle-size fractions in a North China Plain soil. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 60, 112–119 (2014)
- Tadesse, T., Dechassa, N., Bayu, W., Gebeyehu, S.: Effects of farmyard manure and inorganic fertilizer application on soil physico-chemical properties and nutrient balance in rain-fed lowland rice ecosystem. Am. J. Plant Sci. 4, 309–316 (2013)
- Wei, W., Yan, Y., Cao, J., Christie, P., Zhang, F., Fan, M.: Effects of combined application of organic amendments and fertilizers on crop yield and soil organic matter: an integrated analysis of long-term experiments. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 225, 86–92 (2016)



Time Domain Reflectometry Usage to Moisture Content Estimation in Electrically Conductive Mineral Wastes

Maciej Gliniak^{1(⊠)}, Karolina Trzyniec¹, Tomasz Jakubowski¹, Anna Lis¹, Ernest Popardowski¹, and Marta Wołosiewicz-Głąb²

 ¹ University of Agriculture in Krakow, Mickiewicza Av. 21, 31-120 Krakow, Poland maciej.gliniak@urk.edu.pl
 ² AGH University of Science and Technology, Mickiewicza Av. 30, 30-059 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. The article presents the possibilities of using domain-time reflectometry (TDR) to determine the moisture content of waste. The TDR method consists in measuring the time of electromagnetic pulse transmission and reflection from the obstacle back to the source point. The impulse is a step signal of voltage. The reflected signal contains information about the dielectric properties of the material being tested. Therefore, qualitative and quantitative properties of the material can be detected. The tests were carried out using a stationary reflectometric device and an electronic temperature and humidity meter. The obtained results were validated using the traditional weight method, obtaining 94% convergence of results in the measurement cycle. On the basis of the obtained results, the usefulness of reflectometric methods in the study of the moisture content of wastes was determined.

Keywords: Reflectometry · TDR · Moisture · Waste

1 Introduction

Studies on municipal solid waste (MSW) require constant control of many physical parameters that determine the degree of their processing. Currently, many scientific centers are working on changing traditional measurement technologies to modern systems that allow to control biodegradation processes in an automated manner. The commonly used trend in humidity monitoring is its simultaneous measurement with temperature and pH conditions [7, 8].

The most popular technique for determining moisture content in waste is thermogravimetry (oven drying). This method requires appropriate measurement conditions and belongs to a group of destructive and local measurements. In order to avoid measurement errors, they are increasingly replaced with methods known from agriculture, which belong to fast and non-destructive measurement groups [7, 11].

The classic technique for determining moisture content is the gravimetric method. The principle of this measurement method is to determine the water content, which

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 94–99, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_13 evaporates from the sample during drying at 105 °C. The disadvantage of this method is the use of material samples of relatively low weight (up to 1 kg), which are collected in a selected batch of waste. According to this research method, it often leads to erroneous inference resulting from the evaporation of water during the transport of waste from the place of their collection to the laboratory [4, 10].

Due to the problem of changes in moisture content of waste samples during transport, for many years work has been underway on the use of electrical and electromagnetic properties of waste for the study of humidity. These methods have been known for many years in soil research techniques [5, 8].

Time-domain reflectometry is an electro-magnetic measurement technique used to determine the electrical conductivity of materials - dielectric and spectroscopic properties of materials; qualitative and quantitative control of liquids; examinations of vegetable oils; cable fault detection; and measurement of soil moisture [1, 2].

The method uses special measuring probes that measure the electric pulse flow time in the aqueous solution around the waste between the probe electrodes. The probe consists of two electrically connected waveguides: concentric and parallel (formed by two parallel metal rods). An initial voltage spike with a fixed rise and fall time runs from the generator towards the sensor. The recorder register its course as it passes the splitter. The measurement results are recorded in the form of a waveform, showing the relationship between the time of electrical impulse flow and the length and distance of the electrodes in the probe (Fig. 1). On this basis, the dielectric constant (bulk electrical permittivity) is determined [8, 9].



Fig. 1. TDR measurement method scheme

A comparison of the presented methods for determining moisture in waste is presented in Table 1.

Method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Gravimetric	Accurate absolute measure	Questionable sampling locations
	Medium sampling volume	(heterogeneous material)
	Very simple calculation	Destructive
		Time-consuming preparations
Thermogravimetric	Accurate absolute measure	Questionable sampling locations
	Very simple calculation	(heterogeneous material)
		Small sampling volume
		Destructive
		Time-consuming preparations
Time-domain	Inexpensive method	Measurements may be material-
reflectometry	Automation possible	sensitive
	Non-destructive	Small measurement volume
	Possibility of constant	Needs correction of disturbance
	measurement	material
		Hard to average measurements

Table 1. Advantages and disadvantages of gravimetric, thermogravimetric, and TDR measurements [5, 10]

The aim of this article is to use two parallel indirect methods, gravimetric and timedomain reflectometry (TDR). The purpose of the presented paper is to validate and to clarify the limits of gravimetric and TDR for long-term moisture measurements in semi-technological laboratory containers.

2 Materials and Methods

The test installation consisted of a system of 6 rectangular containers with the dimensions of the 2×3 m base and a height of 1.5 m. Each container was filled with MSW. The main components of the MSW were ashes (58%), construction waste (17%), paper (15%), plastics (10%). In 2 containers, 3 TDR measurement probes were placed at a depth of 1 m. Samples for comparative tests were taken from the same depth at 6 h intervals in the form of cores with a diameter of 25 mm, from which moisture content was analyzed in the lowest batch of material (Fig. 2). Prior to the measurements, the probes were conditioned in a thermostat, in 0.1 KCl solution and 30° C.

The TDR measurement set consisted of three-rod type probes connected to a coaxial cable with an automatic data acquisition system and a coaxial multiplexer. All set components were manufactured by Campbell Scientific (Logan, UT, USA).

Humidity determined by the gravimetric method was carried out according to PN-Z-15008/02: 1993, using the Memmert UN55 dryer and the Radwag AS.310 analytical balance [3, 7].



Fig. 2. Scheme of the experimental station - (a) container for TDR measurement, (b) container for humidity measurement by gravimetric method

3 Results

The results of conducted measurements are presented in Figs. 3 and 4. The measurements carried out using TDR probes and the gravimetric method show similar reaction. Analyzing the variability of humidity over time, both methods registered its decrease, but in the case of the TDR method it is clearly non-linear. The resulting differences between the methods can be partly explained by the inhomogeneity of the material or the periodic occurrence of air around the measurement probes. The gravimetric method allows for very accurate determination of humidity, while TDR measures local moisture in the so-called effective volume around the sensor.



Fig. 3. The results of TDR moisture measurements - container 1 (left), container 2 (right)



Fig. 4. The results of moisture measurements by weight method - containers 3–4 (left), containers 5–6 (right)

This phenomenon is the cause of undervaluation of the measurement results obtained in the TDR method. This effect has an impact on the slope of the moisture profile seen in Figs. 3 and 4. The standard error of the TDR measurements made was 1.6% with a standard deviation of 0.094%. Gravimetric measurements are characterized by significantly higher accuracy (standard error 0.4% and standard deviation 0.008%).

Comparison of the average values of the obtained results allows to state that the determination of moisture in waste by TDR method can partially replace the gravimetric method. The experiments carried out showed that during the first 100 h of measurement, the obtained values are within the 5% limit of quantification of the gravimetric method. Monitoring of humidity in the next 100 h showed discrepancies between the analyzed methods. It can be seen from Figs. 3 and 4 that the probes, along with the progressing drying of the waste mass, indicated a lower moisture content of the material than the gravimetric method. The cause of this phenomenon is the mentioned inhomogeneity of the material. The TDR method, when measuring the surface moisture of the waste, which is a source of error in the presented measurements.

4 Summary

The article presents long-lasting moisture measurements of the MSW using the TDR method and gravimetric analysis. The proposed measuring techniques during the tests demonstrated no signs of unreliability or technical problems. Measurements conducted with the use of TDR probes showed a higher measurement difficulty due to the need to place them inside the waste container. In the proposed semi-technical scale, both methods of humidity testing show significant similarity of the obtained results. The use of TDR also allowed to avoid the destruction of the tested position, in contrast to the gravimetric method, which used a total of 10 kg of waste.

Acknowledgment. Publication was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.
References

- Cataldo, A., Piuzzi, E., Cannazza, G., De Benedetto, E., Tarricone, L.: Quality and antiadulteration control of vegetable oils through microwave dielectric spectroscopy. Measurement 43(8), 1031–1039 (2010)
- Cataldo, A., Piuzzi, E., Cannazza, G., De Benedetto, E.: Classification and adulteration control of vegetable oils based on microwave e reflectometry analysis. J. Food Eng. 112(4), 338–345 (2012)
- Erdal, I., Demircan, V., Aynacı, D., Ekinci, K.: Agro-economic analysis of compost derived from organic kitchen wastes. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(2), 747–755 (2017)
- Famielec, S., Gliniak, M., Kapjor, A., Łukasiewicz, M., Malinowski, M.: Thermographic evaluation of CaO additive on the process of waste hygienization. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(4), 1857–1865 (2016)
- Gąsiorski, A., Posyłek, Z., Dróżdż, T.: Mikrofalowa metoda określania wilgotności lignocelulozowych paliw stałych. Przegląd Elektrotechniczny 12, 99–102 (2015)
- Grzesik, K., Malinowski, M.: Life cycle assessment of refuse-derived fuel production from mixed municipal waste. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery Util. Environ. Eff. 38(21), 3150– 3157 (2016)
- Malinowski, M.: Analysis of the undersize fraction temperature changes during the biostabilization process. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(3), 1773–1784 (2017)
- Masbruch, K., Ferré, T.P.A.: A time domain transmission method for determining the dependance of the dielectric permittivity on volumetric water content: an application to municipal landfills. Vadose Zone J. 2, 186–192 (2003)
- 9. Moradi, G., Abdipour, A.: Measuring the permittivity of dielectric materials using STDR approach. Prog. Electromagn. Res. **77**, 357–365 (2007)
- 10. Muweis, J.: The examples of modern solutions in the field of waste management in circular economy model transformation. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas **4**(3), 1785–1797 (2017)
- Wolny-Koładka, K., Malinowski, M., Sikora, A., Szymonik, K., Pelczar, G., Wawrzyniak-Turek, K.: The effect of the intensive aerobic biostabilization phase on selected microbiological and physicochemical parameters of wastes. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(1), 1099–1115 (2016)



Passive Biomonitoring of Selected Water Ecosystems with *Lemna Minor* L. of Kuyavia-Pomerania Province in Poland

Anna Figas^{1(⊠)}, Anetta Siwik-Ziomek², Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa¹, Mirosław Kobierski², and Jarosław Pakuła²

 ¹ Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland figasanna@utp.edu.pl
 ² Department of Biogeochemistry and Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland

Abstract. The aim of the study has been to evaluate the content of trace elements in the plant samples of common duckweed Lemna minor L. from five reservoirs or watercourses of Kuyavia-Pomerania province: A - Rynarzewo (ditch), B - Bydgoszcz (pond), C - Małe Rudy (the Noteć Canal), D - Drzewce (pond), E - Bydgoszcz (the Bydgoszcz Canal). The plant material was sampled in June 2016. In dried and mineralized plant material the total content of Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Ni, Cd was assayed with Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (AAS) with the use of spectrometer PHILIPS PU 9100X, while the content of sulphur – with the turbidimetric method developed by Bardslev–Lancaster. The content of carbon and nitrogen was determined with analyser Vario Max CN, made by Elementar. The results point to a varied level of metals accumulation in the common duckweed sampled from respective reservoirs and the watercourse. This research confirms the bioaccumulative properties of Lemna minor L. in terms of trace elements, including heavy metals. The greatest concentrations of manganese were assayed in the samples of plants from measurement points A and B, whereas most zinc - in the tissues of common duckweed from measurement points D and E and iron - from A and E. A low content of Cu and Ni, Cd, Pb below the quantification threshold of the analytic method applied points to a low pollution of the water ecosystems with those analytes. In L. minor tissues in the case of Zn and Cu, the large coefficients of variation was noted, whereas for Mn and Fe, there was a very large coefficients of variation, respectively 38.6% (Zn) and 25.7% (Cu), and 89.4% (Mn) and 76.1% (Fe).

Keywords: Trace elements · Bioaccumulation · *Lemna minor* L. · Biomonitoring

1 Introduction

The development of industry and urbanization have resulted in a serious pollution of waters with trace elements, including heavy metals [17]. The elements can be toxic to living organisms even in trace amounts and it is difficult to clean the water reservoirs and to eliminate them. Heavy metals harmfulness is mostly due to their capacity for bioaccumulation. They accumulate in water, soil, bottom sediments and in living organisms [7]. Water plants growing in polluted water uptake heavy metals which enter the trophic chains and pose a serious threat to the human health and life, most of them are carcinogenic [21]. They are also harmful for the physiological processes of plants, e.g. photosynthesis and enzymatic activity [15, 20].

One of the common water plants occurring in Poland is common duckweed *Lemna minor* L.. The plant is resistant to municipal pollution and, due to high concentrations of heavy metals, it can be used for waters phytoremediation [10]. Biomonitoring is becoming a more and more popular method to evaluate the pollution of various ecosystems. Due to the capacity for bioaccumulation of trace elements in tissues, common duckweed can be used for water ecosystem pollution evaluation biomonitoring [12, 19].

The aim of this research was has been to evaluate the content of trace elements in common duckweed plants from selected water ecosystems of Kuyavia-Pomerania province.

2 Materials and Methods

The preliminary research covered the plants of *Lemna minor* L. sampled during their intensive growth in June 2016 from four locations of five different water reservoirs and watercourses: A – Rynarzewo (drainage ditch), B – Bydgoszcz (pond), C – Małe Rudy (the Noteć Canal), D – Drzewce (a pond close to allotment gardens), E – Bydgoszcz (the Bydgoszcz Canal). Table 1 presents the location and the characteristics of measurement points in Kuyavia-Pomerania province.

Measurement	Measurement point and its characteristics	GPS coordinates
point marking		coordinates
А	Drainage ditch at Rynarzewo, 100 m away from	53°3′55.42″N
	county road 1950	17°49′3.25″E
В	Pond in Bydgoszcz in Babia Wieś residential district	53°07′10.8″N
	in the vicinity of public transport routes	18°01′31.8″E
С	Noteć Canal in at Małe Rudy surrounded by meadows	53°3′37.67″N
	away from routes	17°51′42.37″E
D	Pond in the allotment gardens at Drzewce	53°06′22.9″N
		17°51′41.8″E
E	Bydgoszcz Canal in Bydgoszcz in the Miedzyń	53°08′02.3″N
	residential single-family-houses district	17°56′40.7″E

Table 1. Location of measurement points.

From each location of 4 healthy colonies of *Lemna minor* L., about 200 plants were sampled by hand. The plant material was packed into polyethylene bags, marked and transferred to the laboratory as fast as possible. To assay the trace elements, the plants were rinsed with distilled water and the whole lot was dried (40 °C) to become air-dry. The plant material was crushed in the agate mortar. The homogenized material of 300 mg was exposed to microwave digestion using mineralizer Speedwave Two (Berghof) applying the wet mineralization method (5 ml 65% HNO₃, 1 ml 30% H₂O₂).

In the plant material the total content of Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd, Ni was assayed with Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (AAS) with the use of spectrometer PHILIPS PU 9100X. The content of total sulphur was determined with the turbidimetric method following Bardsley–Lancaster [2]. The content of carbon and nitrogen was assayed with analyser Vario Max CN, made by Elementar.

To compare a variation of trace elements (Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe) in plant *Lemma minor* L., the coefficient of variation (CV%) was determined. The coefficient of variation is a measure of relative variability the ratio of the standard deviation to the average. For the interpretation of coefficients of of variation was used on the scale proposed by Bogucki scale [3].

3 Results and Discussion

In the experiment the content of carbon in the dry matter of *Lemna minor* L. plants ranged from 321.3 to 378.4 g kg⁻¹ d.m., the highest N content was recorded for the common duckweed plants from location C (39.70 g kg⁻¹ d.m.). The total sulphur content in the material analysed from five different watercourses was similar and it ranged from 1.7 to 1.8 g kg⁻¹ d.m. (Table 2).

Table 2. The average content of carbon, nitrogen and sulphur total in dry matter *Lemna minor* L. (g kg^{-1} d.m.).

Place sampling ^a	Corg	Nt	St			
A	338.10	26.50	1.80			
В	321.30	31.04	1.80			
С	373.10	39.70	1.70			
D	378.40	36.40	1.80			
Е	364.30	36.12	1.80			
Mean	355.04	33.95	1.78			
^a place sampling: A – Rynarzewo (ditch), B – Bydgoszcz (pond), C – Mełe Rudy (the Noteć Canal), D – Drzewce (pond) E						
Dudgoogog (the	Dudgos	ana Cor	([ac			

– Bydgoszcz (the Bydgoszcz Canal)

The results point to a varied level of trace elements accumulation in common duckweed sampled from respective water reservoirs and watercourses. Their content in common duckweed plant tissues varied across the sampling locations. The trace elements ions can be ordered according to their decreasing mobility: Mn > Fe > Zn > Cu > Pb = Ni = Cd.

In this experiment manganese showed a much higher capacity for bioaccumulation, as compared with the other elements in L. minor biome. The content of manganese in the plants analysed from five stands varied and it ranged from 583 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the plants of common duckweed from the pond at Drzewce to 8585 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the plants growing in the watercourse in the vicinity of Rynarzewo (on average Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m.) (Figure 1). The highest manganese concentration was reported in the plants sampled from measurement point A (8585 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m.) and B (6692 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m.). Iram et al. [21] in the tissues of *L. minor* assayed on average 1055 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m., and Branković et al. [5] - 1740 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m.. Kastratović et al. [12] recorded the average Mn content in the root - 3427 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m. and 2225 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the common duckweed leaves from Skadar Lake. Manganese is a trace element which commonly occurs in the surface waters and its content depends mostly on leaching from the ground and, less considerably, on the supply from wastewater [14]. Heal [6] claims that a more intensified migration of manganese from the ground occurs under soil acidification, whereas Baran et al. [1] stress that more intensive leaching of manganese and iron is reported in the soils with organic rather than mineral fertilisation.



Fig. 1. The content of manganese (Mn) in dry matter Lemma minor L. (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).

In this experiment iron is a trace element which occurs in *L. minor* tissues at the concentration second highest after manganese, which is due to the fact that metals indispensable for metabolism can be more easily uptaken by roots from the environment and transported to green parts of the plants [13]. The highest Fe concentration was noted in the common duckweed from location A (3083 mg Fe kg⁻¹ of d.m.) and E (2375 mg Fe kg⁻¹ of d.m.) (Figure 2). Iron occurs in surface waters in a natural way at the amounts which depend on the structure and the mineral composition of the ground. A high Fe concentration in surface waters can be due to the discharge of waters from



Fig. 2. The content of iron (Fe) in dry matter *Lemma minor* L. (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).



Fig. 3. The content of zinc (Zn) in dry matter Lemma minor L. (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).

urbanized areas and arable fields. Bojar [4] reports that iron can occur at high amounts in mid forest brooks, in wetland soils and peatland as it bonds with humus substances. A higher iron concentration in the tissues of *Lemma minor* L. from the Bydgoszcz Canal can be due to municipal pollutions [11].



Fig. 4. The content of copper (Cu) in dry matter Lemma minor L. (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).

The content of zinc in this experiment varied and it was, on average, 23.7 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m. (Figure 3). The greatest concentration of that element was assayed in the samples of the plants derived from measurement point D (32.1 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d. m.) and E (34.6 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m.). Higher Zn contents were found in the plants of *L. minor* from the pond at Drzewce, in the area covered by allotment gardens. The key source of the natural emissions of zinc to surface waters is the erosion of its minerals. Also, e.g., the plant protection agents or mineral fertilizers can contribute to the anthropogenic emissions of zinc [18, 22], whereas a higher Zn content in the tissues of common duckweed in the Bydgoszcz Canal can be due to municipal pollution [11]. In another biomonitoring study Jamnička et al. [9] recorded the value of Zn in *L. minor* tissues of 14.68 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m., which was close to the lowest value in this study (measurement point C). Iram et al. [8] and Kastratović et al. [12] on the other hand, in common duckweed tissues assayed, on average, 106 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m. and 79.5 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m., respectively.

In the common duckweed plants from five different locations, the content of Cu was low and it ranged from 2.22 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the plants sampled from the Noteć Canal to 3.84 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. from the pond in Bydgoszcz (Fig. 4). In earlier research reported by other authors, the content of Cu in common duckweed plants was reported to be 20.4 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. [12], 29.9 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. and 10.9 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. [16], 112 mg Cu kg⁻¹ of d.m. [19].

The plants under study were not polluted with Ni, Cd, Pb. In the tissues of the common duckweed plants the content of those elements was below the detection threshold of the analytical method applied (< 0.2 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.).

The average content of trace elements of Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe in *L. minor* tissues was respectively 23.7 ± 9.15 , 3.07 ± 0.79 , 3926.40 ± 3509.50 , 1159.16 ± 1511.60 . In the case of Zn and Cu, the large coefficients of variation was noted, whereas for Mn and Fe, there was a very large coefficients of variation, respectively 38.6% (Zn) and 25.7% (Cu), and 89.4% (Mn) and 76.1% (Fe) (3).

4 Summary

This research confirms the bioaccumulation properties of *Lemma minor* L. in terms of trace elements, including heavy metals. The content of trace elements in *Lemma minor* L in the water reservoirs and watercourses of Kuyavia-Pomerania provincewas varied. The municipal pollutions and the application of plant protection agents and mineral fertilisers were demonstrated to have affected the concentration of some of the trace elements analysed in common duckweed found in the water reservoirs and watercourses. In *Lemma minor* L tissues in the case of Zn and Cu, the large coefficients of variation, respectively 38.6% (Zn) and 25.7% (Cu), and 89.4% (Mn) and 76.1% (Fe). A low content of Cu and Ni, Cd, Pb below the detection threshold of the analytical method applied points to a low pollution of the water ecosystems studied with those analytes. The results indicate that the *Lemma minor* L. could be a bioindicator used to monitor the changes occurring in surface waters. Therefore, it is advisable to re-analyze the trace elements in a few years.

References

- Baran, A., Kacprzyk, P., Jasiewicz, C., Kasperczyk, M.: Wymywanie pierwiastków śladowych z gleby w zależności od rodzaju nawożenia łąki górskiej. Woda-Środowisko-Obszary Wiejskie 11(33), 11–20 (2011). (in Polish)
- Bardsley, C.E., Lancaster, J.D.: Determination of reserve sulfur and soluble sulfates in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 24, 265–268 (1960)
- 3. Bogucki, Z.: Elementy statystyki dla biologów, statystyka opisowa. Wydawnictwo naukowe. UAM, Poznań (1979). (in Polish)
- Bojar, W.: Sesonal changes of heavy metals concentrations in water of lakes in Łęczyńsko-Włodawskie Lake land. Acta Agrophysica 1(3), 377–384 (2003)
- Branković, S., Pavlović-Muratspahić, D., Topuzović, M., Glišić, R., Stanković, M.: Concentration of some heavy metals in aquatic macrophytes in the reservoirs near city Kragujevac (Serbia). Biotechnol. Biotechnol. Equip. 24, 223–227 (2010). https://doi.org/10. 1080/13102818.2010.10817840
- Heal, K.V.: Manganese and land-use in upland catchments in Scotland. Sci. Total Environ. 265(1–3), 169–179 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(00)00657-4
- Ibragimow, A., Głosińska, G., Siepak, M., Walna, B.: Heavy metals in fluvial sediments of the Odra River flood plains – introductory research. Quest. Geographiceae 29(1), 37–47 (2010). https://doi.org/10.2478/v10117-010-0004-7
- Iram, S., Ahmad, I., Riaz, Y., Zahara, A.: Treatment of wastewater by *Lemna minor*. Pak. J. Sci. 44, 553–557 (2012)
- Jamnická, G., Hrivnák, R., Oťaheľová, H., Skoršepa, M., Valachovič, M.: Heavy metals content in aquatic plant species from some aquatic biotopes in Slovakia. In: Proceedings 36th International Conference of IAD. Austrian Committee Danube, Research/IAD, Vienna, pp. 366–370 (2006)
- Jayasri, M.A., Suthindhiran, K.: Effect of zinc and lead on the physiological and biochemical properties of aquatic plant *Lemna minor*: its potential role in phytoremediation. Appl. Water Sci. 7, 1247–1253 (2017)

- Jutrowska, E., Czerebiej, Z.: Zanieczyszczenie wód Kanału Bydgoskiego w świetle badań Wojewódzkiego Inspektoratu Ochrony Środowiska w Bydgoszczy. Geogr. Tour. 3(1), 27– 32 (2015). https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.19496. (in Polish)
- Kastratović, V., Jaćimovićn, Ž., Durović, D., Bigović, M., Krivokapić, S.: *Lemna minor* L. as bioindicator of heavy metal pollution in Skadar Lake (Montenegro). Kragujevac J. Sci. 37, 123–134 (2015)
- Lasat, M.M.: Phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soil: a review of plant/soil/metal interaction and assessment of pertinent agronomic issues. J. Hazard. Subst. Res. 2, 1–25 (2010). https://doi.org/10.4148/1090-7025.1015
- Müller, H.W.: Heavy metals contents in river sediments. Water Air Soil Pollut. 72(1/4), 191– 203 (1994)
- Paczkowska, M., Kozłowska, M., Goliński, P.: Oxidative stress enzyme activity in *Lemna* minor L. exposed to cadmium and lead. Acta Biologica Cracov. Ser. Bot. 49(2), 33–37 (2007)
- Pavlović, S., Pavlović, D., Topuzović, M.: Comparative analysis of heavy metal content in aquatic macrophytes in the reservoirs Gruža, Bubanj and Memorial Park. Kragujevac J. Sci. 27, 147–156 (2005)
- Podlasińska, J., Szydłowski, K.: Assessment of heavy metal pollution in bottom sediments of small water reservoirs with different catchement management. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 3(1), 987–997 (2017). https://doi.org/10.14597/infraeco.2017.3.1.076
- Rossa, L.: Zanieczyszczenie wód powierzchniowych i podziemnych przez odpływ ścieków opadowych z ferm chowu bydła. Woda-Środowisko-Obszary Wiejskie 12(1), 119–137 (2012). (in Polish)
- Szmit, K., Marciniak, M., Rajfur, M.: *Lemna minor* L. jako biomonitor punktowych źródeł zanieczyszczenia metalami ciężkimi ekosystemów wodnych. Proc. ECOpole. **11**(1), 303– 311 (2017). https://doi.org/10.2429/proc.2017.11(1)032. (in Polish)
- Teisseire, H., Vernet, G.: Copper-induced changes in antioxidant enzymes in fronds of duckweed (*Lemna minor*). Plant Sci. 153, 65–72 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9452(99)00257-5
- Vinodhini, R., Narayan, M.: The impact of toxic heavy metals on the hematological parameters in common carp (*Cyprinus* carpio L.). J. Environ. Health Sci. Eng. 6, 23–28 (2009)
- 22. WHO. World Health Organization 2001. Zinc. Environmental. Health Criteria. Geneva (2001)



A Pilot Study on Food Waste Amount and Origin in a Small Shop

Bohdan Stejskal^(III)

Faculty of Agronomy, Department of Applied and Landscape Ecology, Mendel University in Brno, Zemedelska 1/1665, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic bohdan.stejskal@mendelu.cz

Abstract. On the basis of the annual monitoring, the situation in the selected food shop of the Coop retail chain was evaluated. More than half of the food waste was made up of fruits and vegetables (258 kg). The most often cause of its discard was the rot of fruits and vegetables (98%). Surprising findings were data on baked goods. Although baked goods are considered to be the most wasting food after fruits and vegetables, the opposite was found in the shop. For the whole year only 2 kg of baked goods were thrown away. The second most frequently food waste were dairy products (223 kg). Expired date of consumption has been identified as the most common cause of waste production for dairy products and dry goods (94%). According to the information, about 459 Mg of foodstuff was purchased in total in 2017 but only 483 kg of food was thrown away. Compared to the total cost of purchased food, the costs of the loss were minimal.

1 Introduction

Food loss and waste are often used in scientific literature to identify materials intended for human consumption that are subsequently discharged, lost, degraded or contaminated. The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) defined food loss as any change in the availability, edibility, wholesomeness or quality of edible material that prevents it from being consumed by people. This definition was provided for the post-harvest period of food ending when it comes into the possession of the final consumer [6].

In 2011 the FAO estimated that one third of the worldwide food production is wasted or gets lost on the way from farm to fork [7]. In fact it means that while 870 million people are reported as being chronically undernourished, approximately 1.3 billion Mg per year is wasted [11]. In United States nearly 61 million Mg of food waste are generated every year [9]. Dee [2] reported a food waste generation rate of 4 million Mg per year in Australia. Other food waste generation data regards South Korea with 6.24 million Mg per year [10], China with 92.4 million Mg per year [12] and Japan where about 21 million Mg of food waste were generated in 2010 [11]. In Europe, food waste generation is estimated at 90 million Mg annually [3].

Food waste generation, happening throughout the entire food supply chain around the globe, is dominated by different dynamics, ultimately associated by the same unsustainable paradigm. Wasting food contributes to environmental pollution as well

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 108–113, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_15 as to natural resources degradation and depletion, threatening food security [5]. Wasted food is associated with an unnecessary use of energy and water, and emissions of greenhouse gases generated by production and delivery operations [13, 17]; it is also contradictory to the increased amount of food demanded by a growing population [8].

Although food is wasted at all supply chain (SC) stages, the cause of food waste does not necessarily arise at the same stage as the waste itself [16]. In developed countries, food waste is mainly associated to consumers, and because of their perception of product quality food waste also originates from farmers, processors, or retailers who sort out items that they expect to be undesired [1]. In developing countries, food waste mainly comes from poor technology and infrastructure, and rapid spoilage because of difficult climatic conditions [7].



Fig. 1. Ratio of particular supply chain stages on the total food waste amount (based on: [14])

Therefore, food waste is one of the targets of both environmental and food security policies at different scales. According to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 12.3, per-capita FW at retail and consumer levels should be halved and FW along the entire food supply chain should be reduced by 2030 [18]. The European Commission, beyond having committed to the SDG 12.3 reduction target on FW, has included FW among the priority areas of the Circular Economy Action Plan, and is committed to define a common EU methodology for FW accounting and to propose relevant indicators [4].

For effective food waste reduction it is necessary to know the ratio of particular supply chain stages on food waste production. Figure 1 shows required data of EU 27.

According to Bio Intelligence Service and other studies, most food waste is generated in households (42%) and in foodstuff production (39%). In public catering, food waste generation is significantly lower (14%), and in the sale stage, food waste is the lowest (5%) in the EU [14, 19]. On the other hand, there is not much empirical data in the area of sale stage. The amount of food waste and associated economic losses are among the strictly guarded secrets of almost all the retail chains. Tesco was the only retail chain that published the date of the food waste generated for 2016/17 and 2017/18 in Central Europe and the Czech Republic. The composition of food waste in Central Europe was also published (Table 1):

Period	Total amount of sold foodstuff [Mg]	Total amount of food waste [Mg]	Ratio of sold foodstuff/food waste [%]
2016/17	3,352,675/654,249	54,102/13,925	1.6/2.1
2017/18	3,227,655/651,575	38,054/10,227	1.2/1.6

Table 1. Tesco food waste in central Europe/in the Czech Republic. Based on [15].

In 2017/18, in the Tesco chain of stores in Central Europe were mostly wasted fruit and vegetables (34%), baked goods (26%), finished meals (10%), dairy products (8%), meat and fish (7%), products in the cash register (7%), durable food (5%) and alcoholic beverages (2%) [15].

For the reason of missing data, the aim of this paper is to determine the most frequent cause of food waste generation, the amount of food waste and associated economic losses at a selected food shop.

2 Materials and Methods

In order to monitor the amount of generated food waste, the causes of the waste origin and the relevant financial losses of the shop, it was agreed the cooperation with a shop of Coop retail chain in village of Rohatec in the South Moravian Region (the Czech Republic). About 3500 inhabitans live in Rohatec.

The monitoring took place from 1 January 2017 until 31 December 2017. The foodstuffs offered by the shop was divided into (a) fruits and vegetables, (b) meat products, (c) baked goods, (d) dairy products, and (e) dry goods.

Due to the recording practice of the shop, some data were kept for several shop departments together. Depending on the shop departments, the data were collected at monthly intervals, with the exception of the department of fruits and vegetables, where data was provided for the entire year of 2017 only.

For the internal reasons of the shop, the costs of purchased goods in the department of fruit and vegetables, as well as of meat products was kept secret. For this reason, the total financial loss of the shop could not be evaluated.

3 Results

Table 2 shows the weight of food waste in departments of diary products, meat products, baked goods and dry goods in each month. As can be seen, the amount of food waste is around 20 kg per month. October is the only month when more than

30 kg of waste was produced. On the other hand, less than 9 kg of food waste were produced in March and June. These differences in waste production do not indicate any specific problem during the recorded period.

The main reason of food waste origin (of baked goods, milk goods and dry goods) was expired date of consumption (94%), than damaged package (4%) and unsatisfactory storage conditions (2%).

Date	Food waste amount	Date	Food waste amount
[mm/yy]	[g]	[mm/yy]	[g]
01/17	20,422	07/17	19,324
02/17	21,200	08/17	26,837
03/17	8,520	09/17	16,817
04/17	19,495	10/17	30,590
05/17	15,481	11/17	20,266
06/17	8,998	12/17	17,060
Total	225,010		

Table 2. Weight of food waste (diary products, meat products, baked goods and dry goods).

258 kg of fruits and vegetable was wasted during recorded period of one year. The main reason of food waste origin (of fruits and vegetable) was rotting goods (98%) and damaged transport package (2%). It seems that there is a bad handling of fruits and vegetables, especially during goods transport when fruits and vegetables are transported in very small boxes, causing pressing and subsequent rotting of the goods. The same damage occurs in the shop itself when sellers want to have a full shopping area and thus the goods are squeezed.

Table 3 shows summarized amount of purchased and discarded foodstuff goods depending on the shop department. Costs of purchased and discarded goods were provided just from baked goods, milk foodstuffs and dry goods.

The ratio of food waste in monitored shop is really very small. Compared to the available data, the Tesco retail chain shows more 10 times greater ratio of foodstuff waste in Central Europe; the ratio is even worst in the Czech Republic. By Preifer et al. [14] the foodstuff waste ratio is approximatelly 4-5%, on an average.

These small numbers indicate well worked-out management system of goods ordering, combined with timely discounting of goods near the expired date of consumption. Low food waste production also corresponds to low cost losses.

A small amount of food waste is achieved even without any ordering system by customers; nevertheless the almost monopoly position of the shop in the village and a perfect knowledge of the citizens' requirements of the offered goods greatly help the management of the shop.

Goods	Purchased goods amount [kg]	Discarded goods amount [kg]	Waste ratio [%]	Purchased goods costs [€]	Discarded goods costs [€]
Fruits and vegetables	53,766	258	0.48	No available	No available
Meat goods	22,563	0	0	No available	0
Baked goods	19,962	2	0,01	83,040	8.32
Milk and dry goods	362,880	223	0.06	460,800	549.32
Total	459,171	483	0.11	No available	No available

Table 3. Amount of purchased and discarded foodstuff goods depending on the shop department.

4 Conclusion

Food waste is generated at all stages of the supply chain. In worldwide total, around one third of all food, i.e. about 1.3 billion Mg per year is wasted. According to available information, about 5% of food waste is generated at the point of sale. Tesco is the only one retail chain that published relevant data for the Czech Republic and Central Europe. Therefore, the given values (1.6% and 1.2% respectively) are 3–4 times lower than the officially reported average values. However, relevant data on shop waste production are very rare.

Therefore, cooperation with the Coop retail chain was agreed. For one year, the amount of food purchased and the amount of food waste that was produced in the shop were monitored. The finding was very surprising: about 459 Mg of food was purchased in the shop, but only 483 kg of food was thrown away. Thus, the quantity of waste was only 0.11% compared to the quantity of purchased food. More than half of the waste was made up of fruits and vegetables. In particular, the handling of fruit and vegetables during transport and warehousing would help to reduce the amount of discarded food, as 98% of the fruit and vegetables were thrown out of rotting (very probably caused by pressing). The second half of the waste was generated in the dairy products and dry goods department. The main reason for this food waste origin was the expired date of consumption (94%). In this case it is possible to timely discount the goods near the expired date of consumption.

Overall, the management system of goods ordering is almost perfectly worked-out in the recorded shop.

References

- Beretta, C., Stoessel, F., Baier, U., Hellweg, S.: Quantifying food losses and the potential for reduction in Switzerland. Waste Manag 33, 764–773 (2013)
- 2. Dee, J.: Australia needs a food waste strategy. ABC Environment (2013)
- 3. European Commission (EC): Food waste in Europe. European Commission (2013)

- 4. European Commission (EC): Closing the Loop An EU Action Plan for the Circular Economy, COM (2015)
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M.: Solutions for a cultivated planet. Nature 478(7369), 337–342 (2011)
- 6. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO): Food loss prevention in perishable crops. FAO Agric. Serv. Bull. **43**, 72 (1981)
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO): Global Food Losses and Food Waste – Extent, Causes and Prevention. International Congress SAVE FOOD! Düsseldorf, Germany (2011)
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M., Toulmin, C.: Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327, 812–818 (2010)
- 9. Grocery Manufacturers Association (GMA): Food Waste: Tier 1 Assessment (2011)
- Hou, L.: South Korea's food waste solution: you waste, you pay. Common Wealth Mag. (2013)
- 11. Kojima, R., Ishikawa, M.: Prevention and recycling of food wastes in Japan: policies and achievements. Kobe University, Japan, Resilent cities (2013)
- Lin, J., Zuo, J., Gan, L., Li, P., Liu, F., Wang, K., Gan, H.: Effects of mixture ratio on anaerobic co-digestion with fruit and vegetable waste and food waste of China. J. Environ. Sci. 23(8), 1403–1408 (2011)
- Papargyropoulou, E., Lozano, R., Steinberger, J.K., Wright, N., bin Ujang, Z.: The food waste hierarchy as a framework for the management of food surplus and food waste. J. Clean. Prod. 76, 106–115 (2014)
- Preifer, C., Jörissen, J., Bräutigam, K.: Technologické možnosti jak nasytit 10 miliard lidí Možnosti snížení plýtvání potravinami. Brusel: Evropská unie, 32 (2013). ISBN 978-92-823-5768-2
- Press release Tesco.: Výsledky plýtvání potravinami pro střední Evropu a Českou republiku (2018)
- Schneider, F.: Review of food waste prevention on an international level. Waste Resour. Manag. 166, 187–203 (2013)
- Tiwari, B.K., Norton, T., Holden, N.M.: Introduction. In: Tiwari, B.K., Norton, T., Holden, N.M. (eds.) Sustainable Food Processing, pp. 1–7 (2014)
- 18. United Nations (UN).: Sustainable development goals. 17 goals to transform our world (2015)
- Zimová, M.: Prevence vzniku potravinového odpadu (2016). http://www.potravinyav21.cz/ data/files/158/158_392_AV21-Potravinova-budoucnost-ZimovaA.pdf. Accessed 16 June 2018



Biological Stability Assessment of Selected Types of Separately Collected Kitchen Waste

Stanisław Famielec^(⊠)

Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka Street 116b, 30-149, Krakow, Poland stanislaw.famielec@ur.krakow.pl

Abstract. According to the Regulation on the Minister of Environment of 29 December 2016, four fractions of municipal solid waste has to be collected separately in Poland, including bio-waste. Since such waste has not been considered in currently applied waste collection systems, there is a need to rearrange those systems and provide for infrastructure for bio-waste collection and processing. The paper describes the results of the research on determining selected properties of some types of waste commonly present in kitchen waste generated in households. Such waste is biologically unstable, which means it is prone to fast biological decomposition. The analyzed fruit and vegetable peels are characterized by high values of moisture content (up to 87.97 \pm 0.41%), loss of ignition (up to 98.0 \pm 0.05%) and four-day respiration activity AT4 (up to 144.4 \pm 11.9 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m.). Moreover, it was found that respiration activity in mixtures of different types of peels is determined by also other factors than only individual properties of components.

Keywords: Biological stability · Kitchen waste · Bio-waste · Respiration activity

1 Introduction

On 1st July 2017 the Regulation of the Minister of Environment came into force in Poland, which introduced an obligation of separate collection of selected waste types [1]. According to the Regulation, following 4 fractions of municipal solid waste have to be collected separately: (1) paper, (2) glass, (3) metals and plastics, (4) biodegradable waste (with special regard to bio-waste). Municipalities, which, according to other law acts [2], have been obliged to provide a waste management system on their territories, are bound to introduce the new collection system until 30th June 2021. This means a significant change in waste management mostly due to the obligation of separate collection of bio-waste. Prior to this Regulation, municipalities themselves decided which types of waste were collected separately which not. The majority introduced systems including separate collection of such waste as paper, glass, metals or plastics (often as so called "dry fraction"), but with bio-waste going into mixed municipal waste.

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 114–120, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_16

Directive 2008/98/EC defines bio-waste as "biodegradable garden and park waste, food and kitchen waste from households, restaurants, caterers and retail premises and comparable waste from food processing plants" [3]. Article 22 of the Directive states that measures must be taken "to encourage the separate collection of bio-waste with a view to the composting and digestion of bio-waste and the treatment of bio-waste in a way that fulfils a high level of environmental protection" [3]. Introduction of the abovementioned Regulation in Poland responds to the requirements imposed by the Directive.

Food and kitchen waste from households consists mainly of left-over food waste, fruit and vegetable peels, egg shells, used coffee grounds and tea bags, withered flowers etc. [4, 5]. Such waste is biologically unstable, which means it is prone to fast biological decomposition. Its presence in mixed municipal solid waste (MMSW) increases moisture content and organic matter content and contributes to development of pathogens [4, 6]. Kitchen waste constitutes the organic fraction of MMSW, the share of which, according to the research by Malinowski *et al.*, is in the range of ca. 20–35%, depending on the area of waste collection (rural, urban) and the season of the year [7, 8]. During MMSW separation on a drum screen in a MBT plant organics (i.e. kitchen waste) goes mainly to the undersize fraction ($\Phi < 80$ mm), which may contain up to 40% of organics [9, 10]. A large share of organics and other biodegradable waste in MMSW subjected to processing in MBT plants negatively influences the properties of produced alternative fuels (higher moisture content, lower heat of combustion) [7]. A share of organics in alternative fuel derived from MMSW may reach up to 3–4% [11].

Existing systems of waste collection in Poland allow for separate collection of kitchen waste from bigger subjects, such as restaurants, shopping centers, grocery markets, etc. Waste collected in such places are managed in a composting plant or an MBT plant, where kitchen waste can be added to undersize fraction during the biostabilization process. The new law [1] obliges every household to collect separately kitchen waste into a separate, brown bin or bag (marked "BIO"), which requires significant changes in logistics of waste management (more bins are needed, changes in waste collection routes and frequency are to be established, more specialized trucks are necessary, etc.). The change will affect also waste processing technologies - presumably a more emphasis will be laid on bio-waste composting (more supply of waste) and MMSW will change some of its properties (less organic matter). It has to be noted however, that many residents living in detached houses, are already using some of kitchen waste in backyard composters [12]. Of great importance is attitude of residents towards new obligations - how much kitchen waste will be collected and what the quality of such waste will be [13]. The pilot program of bio-waste separate collection launched in Krakow at the beginning of 2018 has not brought expected effects - the majority of Krakow residents taking part in the program are reluctant to collect kitchen waste separately [14]. The obligatory separate collection of bio-waste in Krakow is planned to start on 1st April 2019 [5].

One of the crucial feature of bio-waste treatment, e.g. during composting, is its biological stabilization. There are different methods of determining the rate of biological stability [15] – in Polish regulations the measurement of four-day respiration activity AT4 is recommended [16]. E.g. for compost derived from waste respiration activity has to be less than 10 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m [17]. It is of importance to know the

properties of waste before submitting it to processing in order to apply proper process conditions. The aim of this study was to investigate the selected properties (moisture content, loss on ignition, AT4) of several types of kitchen waste often present in households as well as to attempt to assess the range of changes in those properties in different waste mixtures. There are no reports of such research scope in the literature, especially concerning AT4 measurements.

2 Materials and Methods

In the research four different types of fruit and vegetable peels were examined, namely apple, carrot, orange and potato peels. They are common components of kitchen waste generated in households in Poland. Each kind of peels was examined separately and in mixtures. Three mixtures were prepared: apple and carrot peels (weight ratio 1:1), orange and potato peels (weight ratio 1:1), and all four kinds of peels (weight ratio 1:1).

Moisture content in investigated materials was determined by oven drying of material samples at 105 °C till constant weight (according to PN-EN ISO 18134-3:2015-11). Dry matter content was calculated on the basis of moisture content. Loss on ignition was determined by igniting ca. 1–2 g dried material samples in a muffle furnace at 550 °C for 2 h (according to PN-EN 15169:2011). Tests for each type of material were repeated three times.

Respiration activity (AT4) was determined using OxiTop® System according to the procedure described in the Austrian standard *Richtlinie für die mechanisch-biologische Behandlung von Abfällen (Guidelines for biological-mechanical treatment of waste)* [18]. The method consists in placing 40 g of the analyzed sample in an air-tight vessel (volume 2.5 dm³) equipped with a pressure sensor. Inside the vessel there is a small container hung under the lid with CO₂ absorber. Biological processes taking place in the vessel use oxygen and generate CO₂. Since CO₂ is immediately absorbed, the changes in pressure are related to loss of oxygen. A wireless controller allows for reading pressure changes in each vessel. The analysis lasts for 5 days (in constant temperature 20 °C), as the result a 4-day period is taken into account (without so called "lag phase", which can occur at the beginning of the analysis) to determine AT4. The relation between pressure changes and respiration activity is described by the formula [15]:

$$AT4 = \frac{Mo_2}{R \cdot T} \cdot \frac{V_g}{m_s} \cdot |\Delta p|$$
(1)

where:

AT4 – respiration activity $[mgO_2 \cdot g^{-1} \text{ d.m.}],$

$$M_{O_2}$$
 – molar mass of oxygen, $M_{O_2} = 31~988~\text{mg}\cdot\text{mol}^{-1}$,

- R universal gas constant, R = $83,14 \text{ dm}^3 \cdot \text{hPa} \cdot (\text{K} \cdot \text{mol})^{-1}$,
- T temperature, T = 293 K,
- V_g volume of gas in the vessel, $V_g = 2.5 \text{ dm}^3$,

$$\begin{split} &m_s - \text{ sample dry mass [g d.m.],} \\ &|\Delta p| - \text{ pressure changes [hPa].} \\ &\text{Respiration activity tests were repeated three times for each type of material.} \end{split}$$

3 Results and Discussion

The results of conducted analyses are shown in Table 1 (for separate types of waste) and in Table 2 (for waste mixtures). The presented values are averages from the results of three individual tests for each type of material, the standard deviation is given after the value.

	Apple peels	Carrot peels	Orange peels	Potato peels
Moisture content	81.70 ± 0.51	87.97 ± 0.41	70.56 ± 1.61	84.80 ± 1.14
[%]				
Dry matter	18.30 ± 0.51	12.03 ± 0.41	29.44 ± 1.61	15.20 ± 1.14
[%]				
Loss on ignition [%]	98.02 ± 0.05	91.78 ± 0.57	97.06 ± 0.08	76.86 ± 1.41
AT4	56.80 ± 5.37	144.44 ± 11.85	54.10 ± 3.63	59.95 ± 2.60
$[mgO_2 \cdot g^{-1} \text{ d.m.}]$				

Table 1. Results of physicochemical tests for different types of kitchen waste.

The content of water and dry matter in peels from apples, carrots and potatoes are in the range between $81.70 \pm 0.51\%$ and $87.97 \pm 0.41\%$. In orange peels there is more dry matter ($29.44 \pm 1.61\%$) and less water ($70.56 \pm 1.61\%$) than in other types of peels. Peels from analyzed fruits (apples and oranges) are characterized by very high values of loss of ignition ($98.02 \pm 0.05\%$ and $97.06 \pm 0.08\%$, respectively), whereas a significantly lower value was noted for potato peels ($76.86 \pm 1.41\%$). It indicates that there is a relatively high content of inorganic matter in potato peels (ca. one quarter). Results of respiration activity AT4 for analyzed peels show that apple, orange and potato peels undergo aerobic biodegradation processes at a similar pace (AT4 values in the range of ca. $55-60 \text{ mgO}_2 \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ d.m.}$), while carrot peels are much more biologically active – AT4 reached $144.44 \pm 11.85 \text{ mgO}_2 \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ d.m.}$

The results of respiration activity tests indicate that the analyzed materials are biologically unstable, especially carrot peels. For comparison – typical AT4 values for such waste as untreated sewage sludge is ca. $60-70 \text{ mgO}_2 \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \text{ d.m.}$ [19] and for fresh digestate form biogas production vary from ca. 50 to 80 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m. [15], wheras waste from composting or MBT processing are characterized by lower values (up to ca. 50 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m. [15].

	Apple + carrot peels		Orange + potato peels		Mixture of 4 types of peels	
	Measured	Mean (calculated)	Measured	Mean (calculated)	Measured	Mean (calculated)
Moisture content [%]	83.26 ± 1.17	84.83 ± 0.33	79.08 ± 1.56	77.68 ± 0.99	82.40 ± 1.93	81.26 ± 0.52
Dry matter [%]	16.74 ± 1.17	15.17 ± 0.33	20.98 ± 1.56	22.32 ± 0.99	17.60 ± 1.93	18.74 ± 0.52
Loss on ignition [%]	94.27 ± 0.46	94.90 ± 0.29	87.85 ± 1.32	86.96 ± 0.71	90.68 ± 0.96	90.93 ± 0.38
$AT4 [mgO_2 \cdot g^{-1} d.m.]$	109.87 ± 1.38	100.62 ± 6.51	72.10 ± 3.89	57.03 ± 2.23	96.39 ± 5.11	78.82 ± 3.44

Table 2. Results of physicochemical tests for mixtures of kitchen waste.

Table 2 shows the measured values of analyzed properties of peels mixtures as well as outcomes of arithmetic mean calculations conducted on the basis of individual results for each type of peels (presented in Table 1) and weight ratios. Regarding moisture content, dry matter content and loss on ignition, in all cases for all the analyzed mixtures the measured results are very close to the calculated arithmetic means – the differences between respective values are within the range of standard deviation intervals. It indicates that those parameters are dependent only on actual content of water or organic matter (in the case of loss on ignition) of individual components and during mixing of such materials no processes occur which would change that state. A different situation is observed in the case of respiration activity – for each mixture the measured value is significantly higher than the calculated mean. The differences are in the range between ca. 9 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m. (for the apple + carrot peels mixture) and ca. 18 mgO₂·g⁻¹ d.m. (for the mixture of all four types of peels). It indicates that biological stability of bio-waste mixture is not a simple average of susceptibly to biodegradation of each components but other phenomena, such as synergic effects, may take place.

4 Conclusions

Fruit and vegetable peels used in the research are components of typical bio-waste from households. They are characterized by high values of moisture content (up to $87.97 \pm 0.41\%$ – carrot peels), loss of ignition (up to $98.02 \pm 0.05\%$ – apple peels) and AT4 (up to $144.44 \pm 11.85 \text{ mgO}_2 \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$ d.m. – carrot peels). The research revealed that whereas such properties as moisture content or loss of ignition do not change in mixtures of different types of peels (the parameters of mixtures depend on properties of components and their weight ratio), biological stability (measured using AT4 index) can change due to natural processes and interactions occurring in mixed materials. In the case of examined mixtures the AT4 values rose significantly compared to the values calculated on the basis of arithmetic means of pure components. The fact that there are

other factors determining biological stability of bio-waste than just individual properties of each component has to be taken into consideration during processing of such waste.

Acknowledgements. The publication and research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (BM 4638/2017, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow). The author would like to thank Eng. Aleksandra Gałązka for help in conducting the research.

References

- Regulation of the Minister of Environment of 29 December 2016 on detailed manners of separate collection of selected waste types (Journal of Laws of the Republic of Poland 2017, Item 19) (2017)
- 2. Act of 13 September 1996 on maintaining cleanliness and order in communes (Journal of Laws of the Republic of Poland 2017, Item 1289 consolidated text, as amended) (1996)
- 3. Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives (Waste Framework Directive) (2008)
- Girotto, F., Alibardi, L., Cossu, R.: Food waste generation and industrial uses: a review. Waste Manag 45, 32–41 (2015)
- MPO Kraków. Information on pilot program of bio-waste collection (2017). http://www. mpo.krakow.pl/aktualnosci/ruszyl-pilotazowy-program-odbioru-odpadow-bio. Accessed 15 July 2018
- Apte, A., Cheernam, V., Kamat, M., Kamat, S., Kashikar, P., Jeswani, H.: Potential of using kitchen waste in a biogas plant. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Dev. 4(4), 370–374 (2013)
- Malinowski, M., Sikora, J.: Wpływ zawartości odpadów ulegających biodegradacji na właściwości paliwa alternatywnego z odpadów. Proc. ECOpole 8(1), 223–230 (2014)
- Malinowski, M.: Analysis of the undersize fraction temperature changes during the biostabilization process. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas IV/3, 1773–1784 (2017)
- Wolny-Koładka, K., Malinowski, M., Sikora, A., Szymonik, K., Pelczas, G., Wawrzyniak-Turek, K.: Effect of the intensive aerobic biostabilization phase on selected microbiological and physicochemical parameters of waste. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas IV/1, 1099–1115 (2016)
- Dziedzic, K., Łapczyńska-Kordon, B., Malinowski, M., Niemiec, M., Sikora, J.: Impact of aerobic biostabilisation and biodrying process of municipal solid waste on minimisation of waste deposited in landfills. Chem. Process. Eng. 36(4), 381–394 (2015)
- Malinowski, M., Wolny-Koładka, K.: Microbiological and energetic assessment of the effects of the biodrying of fuel produced from waste. Ecol. Chem. Eng. S 24(4), 551–564 (2017)
- Boas Berg, A., Zloch, J., Radziemska, M., Adamcová, D., Vaverková, M.: Waste management law by example of a small European commune. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas IV/1, 1329–1341 (2017)
- Szpadt, R.: Problemy gospodarki odpadami komunalnymi ulegającymi biodegradacji (2011), http://www.pzits-cedeko.com.pl/referaty/Ryszard_Szpadt.pdf. Accessed 15 July 2018
- Łazarczyk, G.: Obowiązkowe segregowanie resztek jedzenia krakowianie tego nie chcą (2018). http://krakow.wyborcza.pl/krakow/7,44425,23153164,obowiazkowe-segregowanieresztek-jedzenia-krakowianie-tego.html. Accessed 15 July 2018

- Binner, E., Böhm, K., Lechner, P.: Large scale study on measurement of respiration activity (AT4) by Sapromat and OxiTop. Waste Manag 32, 1752–1759 (2012)
- Regulation of the Minister of Environment of 11 September 2012 on mechanical-biological treatment of municipal solid waste (Journal of Laws of the Republic of Poland 2012, Item 1052) (2012)
- 17. Szpadt, R., Jędrczak, A.: Wytyczne dotyczące wymagań dla procesów kompostowania, fermentacji i mechaniczno-biologicznego przetwarzania odpadów. Ministerstwo Środowiska Departament Gospodarki Odpadami (2008)
- 18. Richtlinie für die mechanisch-biologische Behandlung von Abfällen. Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft (2002)
- Myszograj, S., Kozłowska, K., Gramza, P.: Monitoring of the respiration activity of sewage sludge and biofractions of municipal waste in composting process. Br. J. Appl. Sci. Technol. 14(1), 1–11 (2016)



The Effect of a Biopreparation Intended for Improvement of Biowaste Processing Efficiency on the Quality of Obtained Stabilized Waste

Mateusz Malinowski^{1(⊠)}, Katarzyna Wolny-Koładka², Maciej Gliniak¹, Stanisław Famielec¹, Kamil Malczewski¹, Karolina Malczewska¹, Iwona Paśmionka², and Volodymyr Sharabrin²

 ¹ Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Informatics, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland mateusz.malinowski@urk.edu.pl
 ² Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Agriculture and Economics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Mickiewicza Ave 24/28,

30-059 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. The aim of the paper was an assessment of the effect of a commercial biopreparation, a liquid bacteria composite intended for improvement of biowaste processing efficiency, on the course of aerobic biostabilization process of the undersize fraction (waste separated from mixed municipal solid waste) mixed with municipal sewage sludge, as well as an assessment of the quality of initially obtained stabilized waste. Presented research comprised analyses of raw materials and mixtures used in the process and the waste obtained after 2 stage process (2 week intensive phase in a bioreactor and 6 week second phase maturation in the compost pile). Moisture content, organic matter, C and N contents, C/N ratio and pH were analysed. Moreover, the number of parasites and microorganisms in waste was estimated. The process temperature was monitored. On the basis of conducted analyses it was stated that the biopreparation tested does not fulfil its basic role, so it should not be used in sewage sludge and municipal solid waste hygienization process. Physicochemical analysis indicated an insufficient progress in the properties of treatment waste. The number of all investigated microorganisms increased considerably after aerobic biostabilization process, despite the added biopreparation, which according to its manufacturer's declaration was supposed to reveal antimicrobial effect. Moreover, presence of a large number of live parasite eggs was found in all analysed samples, which makes environmental application of the tested biowaste impossible.

Keywords: Biowaste · Biopreparation · Aerobic biostabilization · Microbiocenotic composition · Parasites

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 121–128, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_17

1 Introduction

The search for new methods which would enable shortening the duration of waste biological treatment and, at the same time, would ensure obtaining a final product of full value (e.g. compost) or waste meeting legal requirements (e.g. stabilized waste), has been currently one of the most important challenges of ecological engineering. Research conducted in this field focuses on decreasing the harmfulness of this process to the environment [5] and shortening biowaste processing time. Therefore, changes are made in construction of bioreactors [3] waste processing technologies, e.g. concerning lecheate recirculation [21], initial substrate transformation [10, 11, 30, 31], adding solid and liquid [9, 15, 17, 19, 20, 23] or gaseous substances [4]. Usefulness of these additives has been permanently discussed among experts and non-professionals [8].

Several works were published that studied both positive and negative effects on the course of the composting process and on the quality of the resulting compost [7]. Koivula et al. [12] studied the effect of bottom ash on the composting of source-separated catering waste and found that a 10% and 20% ash addition improved the temperature regime, mineralization and humification rates, and decreased loss of total nitrogen. Kollárová [13] experimented with two commercial additives for the composted waste. In this experiment, a positive effect was demonstrated on the reduced production of NH₃, CO₂, CH₄ and H₂S emissions. Out of three lime addition rates to sewage sludge (0.63%, 1%, and 1.63%) tested by Wong and Fang [29] the most efficient was 0.63%. This amount had a positive effect on composting by increasing temperature and CO₂ production without any negative effects on the microbial community. Bereza-Boruta et al. [2] investigated the effect of bacteria composite on odour emission and dynamics of bacterial microflora development.

Presented research analysed the efficiency of a liquid biopreparation (intended for sewage sludge composting plants and developed on the basis of various microorganisms mixture), whose main task is decreasing the odour nuisance of the process, shortening its duration owing to faster achievement of parameters for the final product and hygienization of the process waste (i.e. elimination of pathogenic microorganisms and parasites).

The aim of the paper was an assessment of the effect of a commercial liquid biopreparation on the course of aerobic biostabilization process of the undersize fraction separated from mixed municipal solid waste (MSW) and mixed with municipal sewage sludge. The paper also strived to investigate the initially stabilized waste generated in this process in view of their safe environmental application.

2 Materials and Methods

The waste (undersize fraction) was obtained from mechanical-biological installation (MBT) in Krakow (Poland), while sewage sludge came from the municipal sewage treatment plant in Bochnia (Poland). Analyses were conducted, in an insulated BKB100 bioreactor with 116 dm³ working volume and 99 cm high. The bioreactor, insulated outside with a special thermal mat, inside had 9 sensors for the bed temperature measurement. Construction of the bioreactor makes collecting samples at

various periods of the experiment possible. The functioning of the device was described in the papers by Baran et al. [1] and Malinowski [14].

The biopreparation is a liquid composite of yeast, mould, fungi and algae. The manufacturer states that the biopreparation application should result in a considerable water loss. After processing the waste should be more compact and drier.

The undersize fraction was mixed with municipal sewage sludge at 1:1; 2:1 and 3:1 ratios. The applied biopreparation dose was 1 ml per each kilogram of load wet weight. Two different concentrations of the biopreparation were applied in the analyses (it was solved in water at 1:5 and 1:10 ratios - according to the producer's recommendations). The waste and sewage sludge were mixed mechanically in a cement mixer prior to their putting in the bioreactor. The treatment of mixtures prepared in this way lasted for a total of 8 weeks (2 week intensive phase in the bioreactor and 6 week second phase – maturing in the compost pile). The non-mixed undersize fraction and municipal sewage sludge were also investigated.

Physicochemical analyses were conducted to determine the moisture content (MC), organic matter - loss on ignition (OM), C and N contents, C/N ratio and pH. Moreover, the number of parasites and microorganisms in the waste, sludge and in mixtures was estimated in order to assess the obtained material and its potential, e.g. environmental applications [26]. The process temperature was also monitored.

Microbiological analysis was conducted using serial dilutions method according to Koch. The following microorganism groups were determined: total vegetative bacteria and bacterial endospores, mould fungi, *Staphylococcus* spp., *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella* spp., *Clostridium perfringens* [28]. Parasitological analysis of the samples containing sewage sludge and undersize fraction was conducted by means of reference method, which relies on determining the number of live eggs of intestinal parasites.

The number of live eggs of *Ascaris* sp., *Trichuris* sp. and *Toxocara* sp. intestinal parasites was determined by isolating live eggs from a representative sample of sludge and waste through shaking or mixing, washing using centrifugation and flotation, followed by a microscopic analysis. In compliance with the Regulation of the Minister of Natural Environment of 1 August 2002 on municipal sewage sludge, a total number of live eggs of *Ascaris* sp., *Trichuris* sp. and *Toxocara* sp. intestinal parasites should be determined per 1 kg of dry mass (ATT index). The research was conducted using modified flotation method with sodium nitrate. The method involves application of a saturated solution with a higher specific gravity that the eggs weight, which causes their flotation to the surface [6, 16, 22]. The substances free from these parasites' eggs may be used in agriculture, whereas the content of over 10 invasive eggs is regarded as contamination dangerous from epidemiological point of view and such substances cannot be applied in agriculture.

3 Results

Organic waste $(21.2 \pm 4.4\%)$ and fine fraction $(35.9 \pm 5.7\%)$, i.e. with grain size below 10 mm, dominate in the morphological composition of the undersize fraction used in the research. Inorganic inclusions (plastics and glass) constitute a total of 27.2%. Morphological composition of the undersize fraction falls within the range

stated among others by: Baran et al. [1], Malinowski [14] and Stejskal et al. [24, 25]. Basic physicochemical properties of the analysed waste and mixtures were presented in Table 1. A sewage sludge additive (with the content of $N = 6.6 \pm 0.7\%$ d.m) significantly affected the increase in MC, N concentration and loss on ignition in the analysed mixtures.

Material*	MC	С	C/N	OM
	%	% d.m.	-	% d.m.
UF 100%	32.7	28.2	24.7	51.7
SS 100%	85.9	30.3	4.6	83.3
UF 50% + SS 50% (1:1)	63.3	43.7	13.3	78.8
UF 66% + SS 34% (2:1)	50.8	36.6	18.5	66.4
UF 75% + SS 25% (3:1)	46.1	34.3	20.2	61.7

Table 1. Characteristics of physicochemical properties of waste and mixtures used in the biostabilization process with the biopreparation

* UF - undersize fraction, SS - sewage sludge

Sewage sludge used for the analyses contained a high content of intestinal parasite eggs (because it was not stabilized by e.g. calcined lime). ATT index was 995 \pm 29. Moreover, the presence of spore forming bacteria, i.e. *C. perfringens* (4000 cfu g⁻¹) and pathogenic microorganisms, including *Samonella* spp. (1105 cfu g⁻¹) and *E. coli* (33400 cfu g⁻¹) was identified in the analysed material, which suggest that only the temperature exceeding 100 °C might prove adequate for the samples hygienization.

Pathogenic microorganisms i.e. *Staphylococcus* spp. (135100 cfu g⁻¹), *E. coli* (48000 cfu g⁻¹), *Salmonella* spp. (240 cfu g⁻¹) and *C. perfringens* (80 cfu g⁻¹) were the most numerous in the undersize fraction. The total content of intestinal parasite eggs was 857 ± 42 and, like in case of sewage sludge, *Ascaris* sp. eggs were the most numerous group.

As a result of aerobic biostabilization of the undersize fraction, sewage sludge and their mixtures with the biopreparation additive, ATT index decreased on average by 124 ± 36 . A very high abundance of *Staphylococcus* spp., especially following the aerobic stabilization process and *Salmonella* spp. are also particularly noteworthy. Comparing the results of bacterial counts from the subsequent waste samples subjected to aerobic biostabilization, it should be stated that the applied process parameters, and also the preparation and sewage sludge additive contributed to the increase in microorganism number. The numbers of individual microorganism groups grew significantly, while in case of pathogenic microorganisms, i.e. *E. coli* and *Staphylococcus* spp., reached the values 624000 cfu g⁻¹ (fraction:sludge 2:1) and 294000 cfu g⁻¹ (fraction:sludge 1:1), respectively. Therefore a counterproductive effect was achieved, which suggests, that the parameters of aerobic stabilization process were favorable for the development of determined microorganisms. In the research conducted by Wolny-Koładka et al. [27] the content of some microorganisms was also increasing during processing of undersize fraction (100%). Table 2 shows the effect of applied biopreparation on the maximum temperatures reached during the process, but also on the duration of the intensive (thermophilic) phase, during which the temperature exceeds 45 °C. The processing temperature exceed 60 °C in case of stabilization of the undersize fraction and undersize fraction mixed with sewage sludge at 1:1 and 2:1 ratios, whereas slightly higher temperatures were achieved with the biopreparation addition in 1:10 concentration.

Mixture*	Applied biopreparation	Maximum temperature	Duration of the thermophilic phase
	-	[°C]	[days]
UF 100%	1:10	62.4	3
UF 100%	1:5	60.2	4
SS 100%	1:10	42.2	1
SS 100%	1:5	49.8	4
UF 50% + SS 50% (1:1)	1:10	70.4	4
UF 50% + SS 50% (1:1)	1:5	66.7	5
UF 66% + SS 34% (2:1)	1:10	64.2	4
UF 66% + SS 34% (2:1)	1:5	63.8	2.5
UF 75% + SS 25% (3:1)	1:10	56.7	4
UF 75% + SS 25% (3:1)	1:5	54.3	4

 Table 2. Maximum temperatures during waste biostabilization and duration of intensive (thermophilic) phase

* UF - undersize fraction, SS - sewage sludge

Mixture*	MC	С	OM	pН
	%	% d.m.	% d.m.	
UF 100%	33.4	24.7	36.2	8.5
UF 100%	31.8	25.6	33.1	8.4
SS 100%	77.3	39.3	72.2	7.1
SS 100%	71.3	36.9	69.7	7.4
UF 50% + SS 50% (1:1)	33.3	26.4	42.2	7.9
UF 50% + SS 50% (1:1)	32.6	24.1	36.9	7.8
UF 66% + SS 34% (2:1)	28.9	26.1	41.1	8.3
UF 66% + SS 34% (2:1)	29.5	24.2	38.7	8.5
UF 75% + SS 25% (3:1)	28.6	19.6	28.7	8.6
UF 75% + SS 25% (3:1)	27.9	22.3	35.4	8.9

Table 3. Final parameters of the stabilized waste

* UF - undersize fraction, SS - sewage sludge

Final values characterizing physicochemical properties of waste after the process were presented in Table 3. As a result of the conducted process, water content in the sludge and in the analysed mixtures decreased significantly. The content of C declined in each of the analysed variants, but only in one fell below the reference value (20%). Also, only in two cases among all analysed ones, the values of loss on ignition below 35% d.m. were reached. The applied biopreparation did not allow for shortening the process duration, because it should last for at last several weeks more. Hlisnikovsky [8] and Razvi i Kramer [18], reached similar conclusions while testing the preparations based on microorganisms. They tested seven compost additives and demonstrated that the additives were no more efficient than mature compost without admixtures.

4 Conclusions

On the basis of conducted analyses it was found that the number of all analysed microorganisms increased significantly following the aerobic biostabilization process, despite the addition of the biopreparation, which according to its manufacturer was supposed to reveal antimicrobial activity. A physicochemical analysis indicated an insufficient progress concerning the obtained quality parameters of the treatment waste, thus it cannot be considered safe for agriculture use or depositing on a landfill site. The waste should be further processed to lower, among others, its C concentrations and organic matter content. Therefore, it should be said that the analysed preparation does not fulfil its basic function, so it should not be used in the process of the undersize fraction or sewage sludge hygienization.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (means of Statutory Research No. DS 3600/WIPIE, University of Agriculture in Krakow).

References

- Baran, D., Famielec, S., Koncewicz-Baran, M., Malinowski, M., Sobol, Z.: The changes in exhaust gas and selected waste properties during biostabilization process. Proc. ECOpole 10 (1), 11–18 (2016)
- Breza-Boruta, B., Troczyński, M., Hermann, J., Paluszak, Z., Skowron, K.: Wpływ kompozytu bakteryjnego na ograniczenie emisji odorów i dynamikę rozwoju mikroflory odpadów komunalnych. Przemysł chemiczny 89(4), 330–337 (2010)
- Dziedzic, K., Łapczyńska-Kordon, B., Malinowski, M., Niemiec, M., Sikora, J.: Im-pact of aerobic biostabilisation and biodrying process of municipal solid waste on minimisation of waste deposited in landfills. Chem. Process Eng. 36(4), 381–394 (2015)
- Gliniak, M., Grabowski, Ł., Wołosiewicz-Głąb, M., Polek, D.: Influence of ozone aeration on toxic metal content and oxygen activity in green waste compost. J. Ecol. Eng. 18(4), 90– 94 (2017)
- Grzesik, K., Malinowski, M.: Life cycle assessment of the mechanical biological treatment of mixed municipal waste in Miki Recycling, Krakow, Poland. Environ. Eng. Sci. 34(3), 207–220 (2017)

- 6. Gundłach, J., Sadzikowski, A., Tomczuk, K.: Zanieczyszczenia jajami *Toxocara* ssp. wybranych środowisk miejskich i wiejskich. Med. Wet. **52**, 395–396 (1996)
- Himanen, M., Hänninen, K.: Effect of commercial mineral-based additives on composting and compost quality. Waste Manag 29, 2265–2273 (2009)
- Hlisnikovsky, L.: The effect of ProBio Original[™] (EM-Farming[™]) on the composting process of biodegradable waste; its influence on final product quality and quantity. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 11, 41–48 (2011)
- Janczak, D., Malińska, K., Czekała, W., Cáceres, R., Lewicki, A., Dach, J.: Biochar to reduce ammonia emissions in gaseous and liquid phase during composting of poultry manure with wheat straw. Waste Manag. 66, 36–45 (2017)
- Knapczyk, A., Francik, S., Francik, R., Ślipe, Z.: Analysis of possible application of olive pomace as biomass source. In: Mudryk, K., Werle, S. (eds.) Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation - ICORES 2017, pp. 583–592. Springer, Heidelberg (2018)
- Knapczyk, A., Francik, S., Wójcik, A., Bednarz, G.: Influence of storing Miscanthus × Gigantheus on its physical-mechanical and energetic properties. In: Mudryk, K., Werle, S. (eds.) Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation ICORES 2017, pp. 651–660. Springer, Heidelberg (2018)
- Koivula, N., Räikkönen, T., Urpilainen, S., Ranta, J., Hänninen, K.: Ash in composting of source-separated catering waste. Bioresour. Technol. 93, 291–299 (2004)
- 13. Kollárová, M.: The effect of biotechnological preparations on the course of composting process and on the production of gaseous emissions from the composting process (2004). http://www.vuzt.cz/doc/clanky/zivotniprostredi/0507kompostovani.pdf?menuid=152
- Malinowski, M.: Analysis of the undersize fraction temperature changes during the biostabilization process. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 1(3), 1773–1784 (2017)
- Malinowski, M., Wolny-Koładka, K., Vaverkova, M.: Effect of biochar addition on the OFMSW composting process under real conditions. Waste Manag 84, 364–372 (2019)
- Mizgajska, H.: Rola czynników środowiskowych w biologii nicieni rodzaju *Toxocara*. Monografia nr 334, Akademia Wychowania Fizycznego, Poznań (1998)
- Pugliese, A., Bidini, G., Fantozzi, F.: Anaerobic digestion of macrophytes algae for eutrophication mitigation and biogas production. Energy Procedia 82, 366–373 (2015). 70th Conf. of the Italian Thermal Machines Engineering Association, ATI2015
- Razvi, A.S., Kramer, D.W.: Evaluation of compost activators for composting grass clippings. Compos. Sci. Util. 4(4), 72–80 (1996)
- Radziemska, M., Mazur, Z., Vaverkova, M.D., Repliński, M.: Evaluation of the addition of immobilizing agents on selected physicochemical properties of soil contaminated with heavy metals. Pol. J. Soil Sci. 51(1), 59–69 (2018)
- Radziemska, M., Bilgin, A., Vaverková, M.D.: Application of mineral-based amendments for enhancing phytostabilization in Lolium perenne L. cultivation. Clean - Soil, Air, Water 46(1) (2018)
- Religa, A., Malinowski, M., Łukasiewicz, M.: The impact of leachate recirculation during aerobic biostabilisation of undersize fraction on the properties of stabilisate produced. In: Cerkal, R., Belcredi, N.B., Prokešová, L., Vacek, P., (eds.) Proceedings of International PhD Students Conference. Mendel University in Brno, MendelNet, pp. 453–458 (2017)
- Quinn, R., Smith, H.V, Girdwood, R.W.A.: Studies on the incidence of *Toxocaris* ssp. ova in the environment. A comparision of flotation procedures for recovery of *Toxocara* ssp. ova from soil. J. Hyg. 84, 83–89 (1980)
- Sikora, J., Niemiec, M., Szelag-Sikora, A.: Evaluation of the chemical composition of raw common duckweed (Lemna minor L.) and pulp after methane fermentation. J. Elementol. 23 (2), 685–695 (2018)

- Stejskal, B., Mašíček, T.: Quantitive and qualitative analysis of household waste comparison of official data and results of case study. Infrastruktucture Ecol. Rural Areas IV (4), 1867–1877 (2016)
- 25. Stejskal, B., Malsová, A., Báreková, A.: Comparison of family house and apartment households bio-waste production and composition. Waste Forum (2017)
- Tomaszewska-Krojańska, D., Pranagal, J.: Organizacyjno-prawne uwarunkowania przyrodniczego zagospodarowania wybranych odpadów. Przemysł chemiczny 96(8), 1629–1631 (2017)
- Wolny-Koładka, K., Malinowski, M., Sikora, A., Szymonik, K., Pelczar, G., Wawrzyniak-Turek, K.: Effect of the intensive aerobic biostabilization phase on selected microbiological and physicochemical parameters of wastes. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(1), 1099–1115 (2016)
- Wolny-Koładka, K., Żukowski, W.: Mixed municipal solid waste hygienisation for refusederived fuel production by ozonation in the novel configuration using fluidized bed and horizontal reactor. Waste Biomass Valor. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-017-0087-7
- Wong, J.W.C., Fang, M.: Effects of lime addition on sewage sludge composting process. Water Res. 34(15), 3691–3698 (2000)
- Wójcik, A., Klapa, P., Mitka, B., Sładek, J.: The use of the photogrammetric method for measurement of the repose angle of granular materials. Meas.: J. Int. Meas. Confed. 115, 19– 26 (2018)
- Wrobel, M., Mudryk, K., Jewiarz, M., Knapczyk, A.: Impact of raw material properties and agglomeration pressure on selected parameters of granulates obtained from willow and black locust biomass. Eng. Rural. Dev. 17, 1933–1938 (2018)



Empirical Model of Thermophilic Phase of Composting Process

Tomasz Jakubowski^(⊠)

Institute of Machinery Management, Ergonomics and Production Processes, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland tomasz.jakubowski@ur.krakow.pl

Abstract. Progress of composting process depends on properties of feedstocks and conditions of decomposition. Factors influencing this process include most of all temperature of composting material, air temperature, feedstock humidity and structure, carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (C/N) and organic matter content in feedstocks. The aim of the present study was to elaborate a model characterizing the pattern of temperature changes in thermopilic phase of composting of dead poultry depending on the structural material used. The studies were conducted in a chicken (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) farm. Compost bins used in the experiment were equipped with perforated bottoms. Five types of straw were used as structural material in the composting process: wheat, oat, barley, rape and corn. The regression model computed in this study predicts temperature changes in the composting material exact to nearly 95% and the predicted values do not statistically significantly differ from empirical values.

Keywords: Model · Compost · Thermophilic phase

1 Introduction

Assessment whether the composting process runs properly is based on determination of physical and chemical properties of composting material, enzymatic activity, oxygen demand, carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission or seed germination test with the use of the final compost. Organic recycling process proceeds correctly primarily when appropriate humidity (40-50%), proper carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (C:N = 25:1) and availability of oxygen (above 5%, recommended 13-21%) are maintained and feedstock particle size is reduced (density below 500 kg.m⁻³). Optimal combination of these values influences the activity of microorganisms in the composting material, mostly mesophilic and thermophilic bacteria, actinomycetes and fungi. As thermophilic bacteria colonies grow, temperature of the composting material increases which results in deactivation of pathogens, among other things [1-3, 6, 11]. The composting process usually has four main phases: low-temperature (mesophilic) phase involving hydrolysis and oxidation of organic matter, high-temperatures (thermophilic) phase entailing decomposition of quickly biodegradable organic substances, temperature decay phase in which volume of the composting material is further reduced and compost cooling (psychrophilic phase) with formation of stable humus. If organic recycling is to be used

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 129–135, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_18

as a method of management of wastes from animal production in view of its agricultural use (as a fertilizer), the hygienization phase is of crucial importance. Activity of microorganisms causes an increase in temperature to 60–77 °C. Such thermal conditions lead to natural sterilization (deactivation of pathogens) in the composting material. The Polish law defines sanitary and hygienic requirements for organic fertilizers and soil amendments to be used for plant production. Composts and ferments must not contain live eggs of intestinal parasites (Ascaris sp., Trichuris sp., Toxocara sp.) or bacteria of the genus Salmonella [9, 10, 12, 15]. The European Union regulations require that composting temperature in the thermophilic phase reaches 70 °C which guarantees proper hygienization of organic matter and allows for compost use as a fertilizer [13, 14, 16].

The aim of the study was to develop a model characterizing temperature changes in thermophilic phase of organic recycling of dead poultry depending on the used structural material.

2 Scope of Research and Study Method

Empirical studies were conducted in a company engaged both in animal and plant production. Material for experiments was collected from a poultry farm producing meat and laying chickens (dual purpose breeds mostly Messa, and Playmouth rock). Compost bins with perforated bottoms were used in the experiments. Five types of partially dried straw: wheat, oat, barley, rape and corn, were used in the composting process as the structural material. Feedstocks included: litter (straw with chicken manure), straw and dead birds in the proportion by volume of 2:1:1. Studies were conducted in thermophilic phase and the relationship between changes in compost temperature and process duration were investigated [4, 5, 7, 8]. Based on these relationships, a regression equation was computed characterizing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase. Regression curves were calculated using the least square method. A polynomial function of degree 3 was arbitrarily used to develop the model. Coefficients of determination (R^2) were calculated for these regression equations as a measure of how well the regression model fits the data. In terms of predictive value, the obtained model was validated under real conditions (ex post). Predictive strength of the model was validated based on the regression equation which showed the highest coefficient of determination. Predictive strength of the obtained model was estimated by Person's coefficient of linear correlation (R) expressing the relation between the observed and predicted values. Significance of differences between the actual and predicted values was estimated with Student's t-test. Calculations were carried out with the use of Excel and STATISTICA 13.3 software package at a significance level $\alpha = 0.05.$

3 Results and Discussion

The highest value of coefficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.9566$) was obtained for the function $y = 0.0385x^3 - 1.3997x^2 + 13.905x + 29.19$ (composting with wheat straw, Table 1). Strength of the relationship between the observed (temperature measured) and predicted (according to the model) values, expressed by Pearson's coefficient of linear correlation was estimated at R = 0.9529. Relationship between the values predicted by the model and the experimentally measured values is described by a linear function: y = 1.0287x - 0.7701 ($R^2 = 0.9081$) (Fig. 6). No statistically significant differences were found between predicted and measured values (Student's t-test value t = -1.8245, probability level p = 0.0759). Study results indicate that the obtained regression model (polynomial function of degree 3) was able to predict temperature changes in composting material (dependent variable) based on duration of thermophilic phase (predictor) with an error of ca. 5%. It can be generalized that the developed models (regression equations, Table 1) can be useful in experimental works on organic recycling of dead poultry for estimation of temperature patterns in thermophilic phase $(R^2 \text{ ranging from } 0.8021 \text{ to } 0.9566)$. Universal character of regression equations presented in Table 1 can be corroborated by assumptions of the study and experimental design (Figs. 1 and 2):

- feedstocks included: litter, straw and dead poultry in the proportion by volume of 2:1:1 which secured C:N ratio of 25:1 that is optimal for composting process [5, 7, 8] (Fig. 3).
- five types of straw most often used as a structural addition were used as one of feedstocks [5, 7, 8] (Fig. 4).



Fig. 1. Regression line representing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase of composting with the addition of corn straw.

It can be assumed that in practice, it is impossible to construct a model accounting for all factors capable of influencing a given phenomenon. In organic recycling of dead poultry, more detailed predictive models could be computed taking into account also e.g. air temperature, weight and age of dead poultry and litter composition (Fig. 5).



Fig. 2. Regression line representing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase of composting with the addition of rape straw.



Fig. 3. Regression line representing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase of composting with the addition of wheat straw.



Fig. 4. Regression line representing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase of composting with the addition of oat straw.



Fig. 5. Regression line representing the pattern of temperature changes during thermophilic phase of composting with the addition of barley straw.

Applied the structural fraction	Regression equation	Value of the determination coefficient (R^2)
Corn straw	$y = 0,0436x^3 - 1,4863x^2 + 13,614x + 31,941$	0,8671
Rape straw	$y = 0,0368x^3 - 1,3105x^2 + 12,612x + 32,46$	0,9563
Wheat straw	$y = 0,0385x^3 - 1,3997x^2 + 13,905x + 29,19$	0,9566
Oat straw	$y = 0.0338x^3 - 1.2575x^2 + 12.757x + 31.826$	0,9469
Barley straw	$y = 0.0408x^3 - 1.3478x^2 + 12.059x + 31.867$	0,8021

 Table 1. Regression equations describing thermophilous phase of composting depending on the used structural fraction.



Fig. 6. A scatter plot of actual vs. predicted values

4 Conclusions

- 1. The regression model developed in this work allows for prediction of temperature changes in the composting material exact to nearly 95% based on duration of thermophilic phase.
- 2. The predicted values (calculated according to the model) did not significantly differ from actual measured values (determined empirically).

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.
References

- Bień, J., Milczarek, M., Neczaj, E., Worwag, M., Okwiet, T., Kowalczyk, M.: Composting process as an alternative method for the disposal of sewage sludge and organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Civ. Environ. Eng. Rep. 6, 127–136 (2011)
- Brand-Klibanski, S., Yalin, D., Shenker, M.: Comment on "formations of hydroxyapatite and inositol hexakisphosphate in poultry litter during the composting period - sequential fractionation, P K-edge XANES and solution 31P NMR investigations". Environ. Sci. Technol. 48(16), 9955–9956 (2014)
- Elson, H.A.: Select poultry welfare in intensive and extensive production systems. World's Poult. Sci. J. 71(3), 449–460 (2015)
- Gielżecki, J., Jakubowski, T.: The simulation of temperature distribution in a ground heat exchanger—GHE using the autodesk CFD simulation program. In: Werle, S., Mudryk, K. (eds.) CONFERENCE 2018 Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation, 20–22 June, Krynica (2018)
- Gielżecki, J., Jakubowski, T.: The simulation of the temperature distribution in the compost using the Autodesk CFD Simulation program. In: Werle, S., Mudryk, K. (eds.) CONFERENCE 2018 Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation, 20–22 June, Krynica (2018)
- 6. Golueke, C.G.: Bacteriology of composting. Bio Cycle 33, 55-57 (1992)
- Jakubowski, T., Sołowiej, P.: Dynamics of temperature changes in thermophille phase of composting process in the aspect of sanitary condition of obtained material. Agric. Eng. 20 (4), 207–217 (2016)
- Jakubowski, T., Giełżecki J.: The use of compost produced with the addition of wastes from a poultry farm in potato-growing. In: Werle, S., Mudryk, K. (eds.) CONFERENCE 2018 Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation, 20–22 June, Krynica (2018)
- 9. Kopeć, M., Gondek, K., Orłowska, K., Kulpa, Z.: Wykorzystanie odpadów z ubojni drobiu do produkcji kompostu. Inżynieria Ekologiczna **37**, 143–150 (2014)
- Nicol, C.J., Bestman, M., Gilani, A.-M., De Haas, E.N., De Jong, I.C., Lambton, S., Wagenaar, J.P., Weeks, C.A., Rodenburg, T.B.: The prevention and control of feather pecking: application to commercial systems. World's Poult. Sci. J. 69, 775–788 (2013)
- Neugebauer, M., Jakubowski, T., Sołowiej, P., Wesołowski, M.: A fuzzy model of the composting process with simultaneous heat recovery and aeration rate control. In: Werle, S., Mudryk, K. (eds.) CONFERENCE 2018 Renewable Energy Sources: Engineering, Technology, Innovation, 20–22 June, Krynica (2018)
- 12. Rodenburg, T.B.: The prevention and control of feather pecking: application to commercial systems. World's Poult. Sci. Assoc. **69**, 775–787 (2013)
- 13. Rozporządzenie Ministra Rolnictwa i Rozwoju Wsi z dnia 18 czerwca 2008 r. w sprawie wykonania niektórych przepisów ustawy o nawozach i nawożeniu, Dz. U. Nr 119, poz. 765
- 14. Rozporządzenie (WE) N^o 1069/2009 Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady z dnia z dnia 21 października 2009 określające przepisy sanitarne dotyczące produktów ubocznych pochodzenia zwierzęcego, nieprzeznaczonych do spożycia przez ludzi, i uchylające rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1774/2002 (rozporządzenie o produktach ubocznych pochodzenia zwierzęcego)
- 15. Staroń, P., Banach, M., Kowalski, Z., Wzorek, Z.: Unieszkodliwianie wybranych odpadów poubojowych na drodze hydrolizy. Chemia 1, 333–341 (2010)
- 16. Ustawa z dnia 10 lipca 2007 roku o nawozach i nawożeniu, Dz. U. nr 147, poz. 1033



Remediation of Landfill Leachates with the Use of Modified Ashes from Municipal Sewage Sludge

Jolanta Latosińska^(Z), Joanna Muszyńska, and Jarosław Gawdzik

Kielce University of Technology, Al. Tysiąclecia Państwa Polskiego 7, 25-314 Kielce, Poland jlatosin@tu.kielce.pl

Abstract. The paper presents investigations into the possibility of using sewage sludge ashes in the process of removal of selected contaminants from landfill leachate. A series of tests was carried out for that purpose using leachate from the Promnik landfill in the Świetokrzyskie Province, Poland. The used sewage sludge ash was obtained by incineration of sewage sludge in laboratory conditions. Additional tests were conducted for sewage sludge ash, which was modified by zeolitization with a fusion method. This modified ash contained zeolite X. The tests were carried out in the process times of 10, 20, 30, 60, 120, 180 and 240 min. Chemical oxygen demand (COD) and selected elements including metals (Cu, Cr, Ni, Pb, Fe, Mg, Zn, Ca, Na, K) were determined in leachate, before and after the treatment process. Furthermore, the following quantities were measured: pH, potential, conductivity, colour and dissolved organic compound (UV254). All analyses performed were compliant with the binding standards. It was observed that ashes used in the experiment proved effective for copper and lead removal from leachate samples. It was shown that the modified ash turned out to be as effective as the ash, which was not subjected to zeolitization with the fusion method. The modified ash of concern can also be used for the removal of organic compounds from landfill leachate.

Keywords: Landfill leachate · Heavy metals · Sewage sludge ash

1 Introduction

The Polish Law on wastes management was based on the Landfill Directive [2]. The principal objectives of the latter include a reduction in the amount of wastes that are produced, the increase in the level of recovery of materials and waste recycling, and the decrease in the quantity of biodegradable municipal wastes delivered to the landfill. Waste storage is the oldest method of waste management [4]. The operation of landfills and the physical, chemical and biological changes that occur at those facilities produce a number of environmental hazards. Among others, they are related to landfill gas emissions, microorganism emissions, odours, noise, pests and highly polluted leachate [15].

Growing awareness of on-going environmental degradation contributes to various actions that concern waste management, including that of sewage sludge. The above mentioned resulted in a ban on its deposition to landfills. The ban facilitates changes in

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 136–143, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_19

the strategies of sludge disposal, making thermal methods more popular [11]. In the ash created in sludge incineration, silicon and aluminium compounds prevail, so the ash could be used as a raw material for zeolite synthesis [12].

Landfill leachate is the infiltration water that percolates through the landfill body, together with waste ingredients that were washed out and dissolved. It also contains the products of biochemical reactions that occur in stored waste deposits. Highly concentrated leachate produced in this way requires specialist treatment. Leachate volume and composition, and the rate of its movement through the waste mass can be greatly diversified [17]. Leachate composition reflects changes that occur in the landfill body, thus in the microbiological activity of wastes. Leachate composition together with the volumetric flow rate are the most important parameters in leachate characteristics. Additionally, those two parameters are closely related [16]. The factors that affect the quantity and quality of landfill leachate include, among others, the following [15]: waste storage technique, runoff, type of stored wastes (the degree of compaction, water content), landfill age, and also the area climate. Leachate generated in the operation of the landfill of municipal solid wastes shows much higher concentration of chemical compounds compared with municipal wastewater. Occasionally, the concentration of pollutants in leachate can be very high [18].

The methods used for leachate treatment can be categorised as physical, chemical, biological or physicochemical. Also, they can be combined to operate jointly. The effectiveness of biological processes decreases substantially with the age of the landfill, which is related to refractory compounds that are formed in mature leachate. Therefore, physicochemical methods (advanced oxidation processes, adsorption, membrane methods) provide the optimal solutions [18].

Adsorption involves the accumulation of the substances dissolved in water on the surface of minerals or colloidal particles. The advantages of adsorption on solids include low costs, the process simplicity, and the lack of by-products [3]. Porous bodies such as zeolites, active carbon, ashes from incineration of municipal wastes or sewage sludge provide a particularly advantageous adsorptive material due to their large specific surface [5, 9, 21]. Zeolites are skeletal hydrated aluminosilicates that have crystalline structure, in which numerous channels and chambers are found. Zeolites are used in many fields. In agriculture they act as pesticide and herbicide carriers, and also as an additive to feed and fertilisers. In engineering and environmental protection, they are used for catalytic systems, gas drying and purification, heat exchangers, and ion exchange, those of molecular sieves, and also catalytic ones result from their characteristic spatial structure. Magnitude of zeolite adsorption depends on a number of factors, including Si/Al ratio, type, number and arrangement of cations that have ion-exchange ability, the content of micro- and mesopores, structure and chemical composition [19, 21].

Zeolites are more commonly used for wastewater treatment because of their low cost compared to activated carbon and their comparable properties to traditional adsorbents. They are mainly used to remove nutrients, radioactive elements and heavy metals. The application of natural zeolites allows for the removal of 0.4 to even 25.5 mg N-NH₄ per g of adsorbent from wastewater [7]. However, a number of factors influence the final result of the process: pH of the solution, the dose of zeolite, the time of sewage contact with zeolite, the presence of other anions and cations in the solution [19].

High efficiency of sorption of Cd ion (95%), Mn, Zn ion (over 97%) and Fe ions (73%) is demonstrated by synthetic and natural zeolites [6, 14, 20].

The literature does not give the examples of research on the removal of contaminants from landfill leachates with the use of modified sewage sludge ashes by zeolitization.

The paper discusses the results of the attempts to pre-treat leachate using zeolitization of sewage sludge ash with the fusion method, which contained zeolite X [12]. A series of tests were conducted to check whether it is possible to use modified sewage sludge ash for the removal of contaminants from landfill leachate.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Examined Material

Leachate samples were collected, stored and examined with respect to their chemical composition in accordance with the current standard PN-ISO 5667-10:1997. Leachate samples were collected from the landfill (10.8 ha) in Promnik (Świętokrzyskie Province), which is a part of the waste treatment plant (WTP). The latter includes, among others, a sorting plant, a composting facility and a digester. Promnik WTP is identified as a Regional Installation for Municipal Waste Processing no. 4, and it serves the population of 390 000 residents. During an annual landfill operation, 27,895 m³ of leachate is generated on average.

Sewage sludge was collected from mechanical-biological sewage treatment plant located in Sitkówka-Nowiny, the Świętokrzyskie Province, Poland (ERU-289,000, average capacity - 51,000 m³/d). The sludge was stabilized, dehydrated and dried with a disc dryer. Sewage sludge ash was obtained by sewage sludge incineration at the temperature of 790 °C for 11 min, after earlier drying at 105 °C, and crushed in the mortar to obtain the fraction of <125 μ m. Sewage sludge ash was modified by zeolitization with the fusion method, in which zeolite X was obtained (S1, S2). The Sewage sludge ash zeolitization process was conducted at the parameters described [10, 12].

2.2 Research Methodology

Leachate from landfill (pH 8.03, COD 3834 mgO₂/L, colour 5929, TOC 1688 mgC/L, temperature 20 °C \pm 1 °C) was used in the tests.

The following doses of modified sewage sludge ash were used in this research: 0.04 g (S1) and 0.08 g (S2), respectively.

0.04 g of sewage sludge ash (SSA), 0.04 g of the modified sewage sludge ash (S1) and 0.08 g of the modified sewage sludge ash (S2) were weighed and placed in 0,5 L conical flasks. Then, 0,4 L of leachate was added. The mixtures were mixed for a specific time at 150 rpm. The contact time was assumed to be 10, 20, 30, 60, 120, 180 and 240 min. Next, the samples were filtered. Changes in the parameters, including pH, potential, conductivity, COD, colour, dissolved organic compounds and metals were assessed for the applied process times.

The contents of metals in the samples were determined using ICP-OES Perkin-Elmer Optima 8000 spectrometer. Mineralization with aqua regia was conducted in accordance with PN-EN ISO 15587-1:2005. COD was determined with the Spectroquant photometric test. Cuvette tests measurements were performed using MERCK Nova 60 spectrophotometer. Prior to the tests, the samples were heated in MERCK TR 320 thermoreactor (120 min at 148 °C). This method corresponds to DIN ISO 15705 and is similar to EPA 410.4, APHA 5220 D and ASTM D1252-06 B. Colour was determined with a spectrophotometric method using UV/VIS spectrophotometer in accordance with PN-EN ISO 7887:2012 standard. Dissolved organic compounds were determined with the spectrophotometric method in the UV range (254 nm wavelength) acc. PN-C-04572:1984.

3 Result and Discussion

Tables 1 and 2 show the results of investigations into the use of raw sewage sludge ash and modified sewage sludge ashes in the remediation of leachate from the landfill site in Promnik near Kielce. The efficiency of the sorption of selected contaminants with the use of sewage sludge ash containing zeolite X is similar to the case when raw ash was applied.

Parameters	Sample	Time, min							
		0	10	20	30	60	120	180	
рН	SSA	8.03	8.21	8.17	8.20	8.2	8.18	8.2	
	S1	8.03	8.20	8.18	8.20	8.18	8.16	8.17	
	S2	8.03	8.18	8.17	8.19	8.21	8.20	8.19	
Potential [mV]	SSA	-	-80.8	-77.7	-79.2	-79.2	-79.2	-79.1	
	S1	-	-79.1	-77.8	-78.6	-80.9	-78.3	-77.8	
	S2	-	-79.2	-78.2	-78.5	-78.9	-80.2	-79.2	
Conductivity [mS]	SSA	-	178.4	174.2	177.6	170	177.8	179.9	
	S1	-	181	178.2	177.2	179.2	178.4	182.1	
	S2	-	178.7	177.6	178.4	172.1	179.7	177.7	
COD [mg O ₂ /L]	SSA	3834	3248	3256	3136	3208	3104	3312	
	S1	3834	3576	3264	3248	3296	3144	3136	
	S2	3834	3352	3216	3240	3272	3232	3184	
Colour, [mg/L]	SSA	5929	5719	5445	4878	4898	4596	4655	
	S1	5929	5818	5726	4577	5297	5660	4756	
	S2	5929	4843	4843	4342	4676	3530	4623	
UV254 $[cm^{-1}]$	SSA	25.71	23.37	23.00	24.03	25.48	23.55	25.84	
	S1	25.71	23.16	21.82	23.88	23.31	21.99	22.05	
	S2	25.71	21.36	21.55	25.90	20.26	26.14	23.31	

Table 1. Properties of landfill leachate before and after contact time with ash.

SSA - 0.04 g of sewage sludge ash; S1 - 0.04 g of modified sewage sludge ash; S2 - 0.08 g of modified sewage sludge ash

Samples	Time	Meta	Metals								
		Cu	Cr	Ni	Pb	Fe	Mg	Zn	Ca	Na	K
SSA	0	2.75	1.92	0.97	0.08	10.91	147	0.445	107	1639	1333
	10	0.57	1.90	1.05	0.03	11.39	150	0.700	126	1621	1330
	20	0.07	1.98	1.05	0.003	12.13	155	0.504	126	1664	1018
	30	0.17	1.87	1.06	0.10	12.22	150	0.551	128	1610	1336
	60	ND	1.94	1.04	0.04	11.36	153	0.475	122	1616	1327
	120	ND	1.87	1.17	0.02	11.23	150	0.821	137	1605	1276
	180	ND	1.87	1.03	0.01	11.14	154	0.463	120	1637	1369
	240	ND	1.91	1.03	ND	11.35	158	0.699	127	1634	1331
S1	0	2.75	1.92	0.97	0.08	10.91	147	0.445	107	1639	1333
	10	0.23	1.94	0.99	ND	10.69	146	0.634	116	1615	925
	20	ND	2.04	1.08	0.02	11.71	158	0.901	129	1547	505
	30	0.68	2.23	1.33	0.003	13.62	151	1.279	135	1684	1353
	60	ND	1.88	1.02	0.05	10.49	148	0.356	109	1658	1326
	120	ND	1.86	1.01	ND	10.04	150	0.317	104	1636	1277
	180	ND	1.89	1.01	ND	10.42	150	0.435	109	1652	1329
	240	0.01	2.22	1.90	ND	11.26	151	1.126	160	1622	1337
S2	0	2.75	1.92	0.97	0.08	10.91	147	0.445	107	1639	1333
	10	0.24	2.02	1.47	0.17	11.97	150	1.062	159	1678	1346
	20	0.05	1.85	1.00	ND	10.62	145	0.51	101	1618	1287
	30	ND	1.91	1.03	0.05	10.16	149	0.505	101	1638	1370
	60	ND	1.83	1.00	0.03	10.07	150	0.420	99	1627	1334
	120	ND	1.99	1.20	0.09	10.33	148	0.749	119	1635	1326
	180	ND	1.95	1.10	0.01	10.13	145	0.537	104	1640	1328
	240	0.38	2.00	1.27	ND	10.46	148	0.673	119	1635	1317

 Table 2. Content of metals in landfill leachate after a specific remediation time, ND – not detected.

SSA-0.04~g of sewage sludge ash; S1-0.04~g of modified sewage sludge ash; S2-0.08~g of modified sewage sludge ash

At the leachate and sorbent contact time range of 10 to 120 min, a advantage of raw ash over the modified ash can be seen. Further contact time extension causes an improvement in the results obtained when samples S1 (t = 180 min), S2 (t = 180 min) and S2 (t = 240 min) are used. Additionally, it should be noted that the results recorded for the sample marked as S2 reached the extremum at 20.08% of COD reduction. The measured value of COD after 4-h exposure of the leachate was 3064 mg O_2/L .

In the leachate remediation process, COD was reduced, but this change only slightly contributed to the improvement in leachate colour. The observed remediation effect was much better visible, additionally the most promising results were found for sample S2. In this case, already after 2-hour exposure of samples containing zeolite X and landfill leachate, a reduction of more than 40% in the solution colour was observed (Table 1). UV254 did not cause a high reduction, i.e. remediation effectiveness

exceeding 20% was observed for only one sample S2. That presents a certain analogy to the results of COD assessment, however, the results obtained in this case seem slightly worse.

The results obtained for the sorption of heavy metals are shown in Table 2. It was shown that the sorbents used in the experiment proved efficient only for copper and lead removal from leachate samples. High effectiveness of copper removal could be obtained after the contact time of 10 min. In this case, the concentration of copper in the leachate subjected to remediation with modified ash (S1) was almost twice lower than in the samples exposed to raw ash (0.234 < 0.566 mg/L), whereas Cu reduction degree clearly exceeded 90%. Comparably good treatment effects were found for sample S2. Extending the sorption time generally leads to improved results and a complete removal of copper. However, it does not seem reasonable to apply the process for longer than 180 min. Similarly to the case reported above, sample S1 yielded good results. They were even better than for copper as complete lead removal was attained. Additionally, the results achieved for samples exposed to ash are considered satisfactory. More than 60% of lead was removed after 10 min, and after 20 min, the outcome was definitely higher than 96%.

The comparison of test results with the results presented in [13] proves that a higher percentage of reduction of COD was obtained in a shorter period of time. Sewage sludge ash (SSA) and modified sewage sludge ash (S1, S2) resulted in the reduction of 19,04%, 18,20% and COD 16,95% respectively after 120–180 min. However, in paper [13], in which natural zeolite was used, the reduction of COD at the level of 20% was obtained after 72 h of the sorption process.

Similarly in the paper [8], in which the tests were base on zeolite synthesised from coal fly ash by a fusion method for the treatment of industrial wastewater, a 100% reduction of lead and copper was discovered. Simultaneously, the above mentioned effect was obtained with the use of doses of sewage sludge ash and modified sewage sludge ash 100 times smaller than the doses of zeolite from coal fly ash. Thus, the mass of the sorbent used will be smaller. The authors of the paper [22] proved that the zeolitic material obtained from sewage sludge ash can be the component of asphalt mixtures. Its introduction to the set of asphalt raw materials had a favourable influence on the reduction of production temperature of this material. Thus, the modified sewage sludge ash sorbent will not be deposited on landfills and will not pose a threat to the natural environment.

4 Conclusions

Increased awareness of growing environmental degradation contributes to taking various actions in the field of waste management, including the issues related to sludge management. A ban on sludge storage facilitates the advancement in sludge removal methodology. A strong interest in thermal treatment methods for sludge disposal has developed, which especially concerns large treatment plants. Sludge incineration ash shows the predominant presence of silicon and aluminium compounds, consequently, it seems suitable to be used as a raw material for zeolite synthesis. Before and after the treatment process, changes in, among others, COD, colour, dissolved organic compounds and heavy metals were determined in the leachate. It was observed that sorbents used in the experiment proved effective for copper and lead removal from leachate samples. It was shown that the modified ash turned out to be as effective as the sewage sludge ash, which was not subjected to zeolitization with the fusion method. The modified ash of concern can also be used for the removal of organic compounds from landfill leachate. It should be added that so far there have been no tests on the influence of modified sewage sludge ash as a result of zeolitization on the effect of landfill leachate treatment.

Acknowledgements. The project was funded by the National Science Centre. The funds were allocated on the basis of the decision DEC-2011/03/D/ST8/04984, Poland.

References

- 1. Bandura, L., Franus, M., Jozefaciuk, G., Franus, W.: Synthetic zeolites from fly ash as effective mineral sorbents for land-based petroleum spills cleanup. Fuel **147**(1), 100–107 (2015)
- 2. Council Directive 1999/31/EC of 26 April 1999 on the landfill of waste
- 3. Dąbek, L., Kuśmierek, K., Świątkowski, A.: Adsorption of phenols from aqueous solutions on powdered activated carbons. Environ. Prot. Eng. **19**(2), 217–226 (2016)
- 4. Environmental Protection 2016: Statistical information and elaboration. Central Statistical Office of Poland, Warszawa (2016). (in Polish)
- Erabee, I.K., Ahsan, A., Bipin, J., Manniruzzaman, M.A., Ng, A.W.M., Idrus, S., Daud, N. N.N.: Adsorptive treatment of landfill leachate using activated carbon modified with three different method. KSCE J. Civ. Eng. 22(4), 1083–1095 (2018)
- Franus, M., Wdowin, M., Bandura, L., Franus, W.: Removal of environmental pollutions using zeolites from fly ash: a review. Fresenius Environ. Bull. 24(3a), 854–866 (2015)
- Gupta, V.K., Sadegh, H., Yari, M., Shahryari Ghoshekandi, R., Maazinejad, B., Chahardori, M.: Removal of ammonium ions from wastewater a short review in development of efficient methods. Glob. J. Environ. Sci. Manag. 7(1), 149–158 (2015)
- 8. He, K., Chen, Y., Tang, Z., Hu, Y.: Removal of heavy metal ions from aqueous solution by zeolite synthesized from fly ash. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23(3), 2778–2788 (2016)
- Kołodyńska, D., Gęca, M., Franus, M., Franus, W.: The use of fly ashes and zeolites modified with chitosan for the removal of heavy metal ions. Przemysł Chemiczny 96(1), 124–131 (2017). (in Polish)
- Latosińska, J.: Sewage sludge ash as a new raw material for the synthesis of zeolites. In: Danso-Boateng, E. (ed.) Sewage Sludge. Assessment, Treatment and Environmental Impact, pp. 267–287. Nova Science Publishers, Leicestershire (2017)
- 11. Latosińska, J.: The influence of temperature and time of sewage sludge incineration on the mobility of heavy metals. Environ. Prot. Eng. **43**(4), 105–122 (2017)
- Latosińska, J.: Zeolitization of sewage sludge ash with a fusion method. J. Ecol. Eng. 17(5), 138–146 (2016)
- Lim, C.K., Seow, T.W., Neoh, C.H., Nor, M.H.M., Ibrahim, Z., Ware, I., Sarip, S.H.M.: Treatment of landfill leachate using ASBR combined with zeolite adsorption technology. Biotech 6, 194–195 (2016)

- Lizama-Allende, K., Henry-Pinilla, D., Diaz-Droguett, D.E.: Removal of arsenic and iron from acidic water using zeolite and limestone: batch and column studies. Water Air Soil Pollut. 228(8), 275–291 (2017)
- Mavakala, B.K., Le Faucheur, S., Mulaji, C.K., Laffite, A., Devarajan, N., Biey, E.M., Giuliani, G., Otamonga, J.P., Kabatusuila, P., Mpiana, P.T., Poté, J.: Leachates draining from controlled municipal solid waste landfill: detailed geochemical characterization and toxicity tests. Waste Manag 55, 238–248 (2016)
- Muszyńska, J., Gawdzik, J., Sikorski, M.: Application of a modified Fenton method for connection of landfill leachates. Gaz, Woda i Technika Sanitarna 9(1), 339–342 (2018). (in Polish)
- Nowak, R., Włodarczyk-Makuła, M., Wiśniowska, E., Grabczak, K.: The comparison of the effectiveness of landfill leachate pre-treatment processes. Rocznik Ochrona Środowiska 18 (2), 122–133 (2016). (in Polish)
- Omar, H., Rohan, S.: Treatment of landfill waste, leachate and landfill gas: a review. Front. Chem. Sci. Eng. 9(1), 15–32 (2015)
- 19. Wiśniowska, E., Karwowska, B., Sperczyńska, E.: Interventional use of zeolites in wastewater treatment. Environ. Eng. **160**(40), 56–63 (2015). (in Polish)
- Xingu-Contreras, E., García-Rosales, G., García-Sosa, I., Cabral-Prieto, A., Solache-Ríos, M.: Characterization of natural zeolite clinoptilolite for sorption of contaminants. Hyperfine Interact. 232(1), 7–18 (2015)
- You, X., Valderrama, C., Querol, X., Cortina, J.L.: Recovery of ammonium by powder synthetic zeolites from wastewater effluents: optimization of the regeneration step. Water Air Soil Pollut. 228, 396 (2017)
- Zhang, Y., Leng, Z., Zou, F., Wang, L., Chen, S.S., Tsang, D.C.W.: Synthesis of zeolite a using sewage sludge ash for application in warm mix asphalt. J. Clean. Prod. 172(20), 686– 695 (2018)



Assessing Hydromorphological Characteristics of Small Watercourses Using the River Habitat Survey (RHS) Method

Adam Brysiewicz^{1(IM)} and Przemysław Czerniejewski²

 ¹ Institute of Technology and Life Sciences in Falenty, Al. Hrabska 3, 05-090 Raszyn, Poland a. brysiewicz@itp.edu.pl
 ² Faculty of Food Sciences and Fisheries, Department of Fisheries Management and Water Protection, West Pomeranian University of Technology in Szczecin, Królewicza Kazimierza 4 Street, Szczecin, Poland

Abstract. River Habitat Survey method is a popular and widely used method for surveying river hydromorphology. In this paper, two watercourses differing in terms of their hydromorphology and crossed areas located in north-western and central Poland: the Wardynka river and Kanał Habdziński, were investigated. Wardynka is a meandering river, flowing across woodlands with numerous valuable environmental entities, whereas Kanał Habdziński is a straight-channel watercourse revealing major impact of humans on the environment. Data obtained during a field study allowed to calculate two overall (most commonly used) indicators, Habitat Quality Assessment (HQA) and Habitat Modification Score (HMS), which are the resultant of many single basic parameters. Based on calculated numerical values of hydromorphology indicators, HQA score for Wardynka watercourse was 68, and the modified HMS was 19. This allowed to classify the surveyed river as belonging to ecological status class 3, identified as moderate. In the case of Kanał Habdziński, HQA was much lower (33), whereas HMS was 28, which ultimately allowed to classify hydromorphological characteristics of the watercourse as belonging to class 4, corresponding to poor ecological status.

Keywords: Small rivers · River Habitat Survey · Hydromorphology · Ecological status

1 Introduction

For many years, major methods of assessing the quality of running waters have been reduced to their classification according to physical and chemical characteristics of waters. Hydrobiological features were scarcely used to expand river monitoring surveys. Recently however, in assessments of ecological status of rivers scholars have increasingly included also the hydromorphological conditions [1]. These include a set

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

of characteristics of running waters, related to channel features, river bank management, structure and abundance of macrophytes, as well as to hydrological regime [15]. Assessment of physical and hydrological characteristics complies with objectives of the European Water Framework Directive assuming that Member States are obliged to assess anthropogenic pressures on surface waters, and subsequently, should a need arise, take actions to restore at least good ecological status of the waters [13, 21]. Assessment methods are designed to determine the degree of conservation of valleys and rivers and the scope of anthropogenic modifications. In Poland, genuine attempts at assessing watercourses gave rise to development of a descriptive method [14]. Currently, one of the latest methods of assessing hydromorphological characteristics in the territory of Poland has been the Polish version of the British River Habitat Survey protocol [6].

It allows to characterise rivers and assess their physical structures as belonging to specific classes, and it has been used more frequently than other methods. River Habitat Survey is a method designed to assess river morphology based on detailed gridding. The quality of morphological characteristics of rivers are assessed using the HQA score which depends on the scope and diversity of natural structures. The other indicator, the Habitat Modification Score on the other hand, depends on the scope of modifications driven by humans. The baseline for classifications relying on the aforesaid indicators are reference conditions (values of reference parameters) for watercourses for which RHS was designed [13].

This paper was intended to use the RHS method to assess two watercourses located in north-western and central Poland, differing in terms of human-driven modifications and hydromorphological characteristics.

2 Material and Method

Specific hydromorphological characteristics of 2 small watercourses in the Oder (Wardynka) and Vistula (Kanał Habdziński) catchments, were examined using the River Habitat Survey method (Fig. 1). Each 500 m long survey site was divided in line with RHS methodology into 10 spot-checks. The survey site on the Wardynka river, being the largest tributary of the Stobnica river belonging to the Ina catchment (West Pomeranian Voivodship), was determined by coordinates spanning from N53°15'64.6, E15°62'48.3 to N53°16'06.4, E15°62'19.1. The survey site on Kanał Habdziński (supplying the Wilanówka river, Mazovian Voivodeship) had the following coordinates: from N52°07'88.7, E21°17'46.4 to N52°08'21.3, E21°16'91.0. RHS was carried out in August 2017.



Fig. 1. Map with locations of selected survey sites (own elaboration)

RHS method is based on observations and recording of elements of the river environment. Each river selected to be examined was monitored along survey sites of 500 ms. The first stage involved characterisation of the basic morphological features of the channel and banks, whereas at the second stage, overall assessment of the entire survey site was carried out, considering different morphological forms and transformations not recorded in the first stage. During the first stage, in 10 spot-checks located at 50 m intervals, physical features of the channel were recorded, such as predominant flow-type, substrates of the channel and banks, as well as reinforcements in the cliffs and the channel. Use of adjacent land, as well as water and bankface vegetation structure were identified as well. During the overall assessment of the entire survey site, the description was completed with a range of elements, such as channel dimensions, number of hydraulic structures, stream pools, riffles, point bars or description of the valley. Additionally, any significant elements not assessed at the first stage of the survey were recorded. Consequently, nearly 400 parameters describing hydromorphological features of the watercourse channel were obtained. In order to determine numerical values of these parameters and to enable the comparison across specific survey sections, three indicators used and described in detail in the Polish RHS method were applied. Habitat Quality Assessment (HQA) score describing diversity of natural morphological features of the channel was determined. The HQA score reveals naturalness of the watercourse based on the diversity and extent of natural features found in the watercourse. High score corresponds to the presence of multiple features under high natural value. Another indicator was the Habitat Modification Score expressing the extent of human impact on hydromorphological features of the river. The more hydrological structures and regulation works are found in the river sections, the higher the score.

In order to meet the requirements set out in the European Water Framework Directive (WFD), five-class tiers of the ecological status (I-V) were proposed, based on the overall HQA and HMS scores. Each indicator has five classes (1–5) determined on the basis of the obtained score [20]. In accordance with the WFD, watercourses should belong to ecological status class 1 (high) or class 2 (good).

3 Results

Both survey sites selected for either river showed considerable differences between the surveyed watercourses related to, among others, use of adjacent land, water flow type and extent of valuable morphological features in the rivers (Fig. 2).

Examination of the basic morphological parameters and spot-checks have shown that over the whole RHS site on Wardynka river, the substrate of both banks was mineral ground with peat admixture. In the final spot-check, boulders and stones were additionally recorded, which in this region were also predominant in the bed material. The predominant channel substrates of the Wardynka river were bedrock and gravel (in three spot-checks), as well as bedrock and sand (in seven spot-checks).

Along the whole RHS site, Wardynka river was rapid (6 spot-checks), whereas in some areas it turned into broken standing waves, upwelling and in the final section, free fall flow-type was recorded. Meandering water flow favoured creation of natural morphological features of riparian zones recorded a number of times along the whole survey site, obtaining the total of 11 points. The river channel was inhabited mainly by liverworts and mosses, however in 5 spot-checks the surveyors recorded presence of narrow-leaved submerged and emergent vegetation, and in 2 spot-checks presence of filamentous algae was reported. A typical valley profile was determined as a shallow vee valley. Over the survey season, along the whole survey site the total of 6 riffles and 10 unvegetated point bars was recorded. Among valuable morphological features of the Wardynka river, the surveyors recorded: shading of channel, overhanging boughs, exposed bankside roots, fallen trees and underwater tree roots in the channel, as well as boulders (>1 m) and leafy debris.



Fig. 2. Surveyed watercourses with visible morphological features under high natural value on the Wardynka river (A) and marked tilled land around Kanał Habdziński (B).

Habitat Quality Assessment score for the surveyed section of the Wardynka river was 68, which allows to classify the watercourse as belonging to ecological status class 3 (Table 1). Habitat Modification Score for Wardynka river was 19, which corresponds to ecological status class 3 (Table 1). The above results allow to classify the Wardynka river as a moderate ecological status watercourse.

The other surveyed watercourse was Kanał Habdziński located in central Poland (catchment of the Vistula river). This small river flows mainly across agricultural land. As opposed to the former watercourse (catchment of the Oder), the 500 m long survey site of Kanał Habdziński had a very straight channel and the bank substrate was tilled land only (Fig. 2). Both banks and the channel had no natural morphological features. The predominant substrate of the channel bed was a layer of silt, and in two spotchecks residue amounts of clay and loam were recorded. In the surveyed watercourse section, channel modifications included 2 culverts, and no perceptible flow was recorded. Kanał Habdziński provided highly favourable conditions for reedbed development in the channel, whereas submerged macrophytes could be spotted over the whole survey site.

As opposed to Wardynka river, Kanał Habdziński as a straight-channelled watercourse had no morphologically valuable features. Only one riffle was recorded, with complete absence of any point bars. The only hydrological structures included 2 culverts exerting major impact on the environment. The only visible outcomes of anthropological pressures included draining, bank trimming and removing channel vegetation.

Over the whole survey site, HQA score for Kanał Habdziński was 33, which allowed to classify the watercourse as belonging to ecological status class 4. The score is significantly lower (by more than 50%) when compared with HQA score recorded for the Wardynka river. Low HMS score (28) also points to ecological status class 4 (Table 1).

Name of the watercourse	HQA [class]	HMS [class]	Ecological status classes for a HQA and HMS	Ecological status of the watercourse
Wardynka	68 [III]	19 [III]	III	Moderate
Kanał	33 [IV]	28 [IV]	IV	Poor
Habdziński				

Table 1. Classification of watercourse ecological status based on HQA and HMS scores(ecological status classes: I – high, II – good, III – moderate, IV – poor, V – bad)

Explanations: HQA - Habitat Quality Assessment; HMS - Habitat Modification Score.

4 Discussion

Hydromorphological assessment of flowing waters is an obligatory task implemented in the European Union member states, as part of the so called Water Framework Directive (WFD), which has been established in the European Parliament Directive [9]. WFD assumes that the ecological status of surface flowing waters is primarily determined by biological elements which depend on abiotic factors related to hydromorphological elements of the river bed and valley and to physicochemical water properties. Assessment of the hydromorphological status of flowing waters with the RHS method aims at determination of reference conditions of a watercourse, and is useful for the management of catchment area, e.g. renaturalization of rivers or anti-flood protection. RHS is a WFD compliant method developed in the UK and follows rapid and simple survey procedures using a standardized approach to characterize the physical habitat and evaluate hydromorphological quality [10].

A number of RHS-based multi-factor analyses during river monitoring have shown that they are an effective assessment method, especially after cross-reference of their results with three different aquatic communities, such as benthic macroinvertebrates, fish and macrophytes [2]. The RHS method has a wide application in various types of rivers [5]. It may be used to assess both lowland [11] and highland [12] watercourses.

The watercourses assessed in the present study were characterised by a different river bed structure. The Wardynka river had mainly rocky and sandy river bed, while in Kanał Habdziński mud was dominant. It should be stressed that a similar bed structure was recorded in previous surveys carried out on other sections of the Wardynka river [19]. The water flow in the rivers was also varied. Wardynka, which is locally a typically mountain river, was characterised with a rapid water flow. Similar results were achieved during the monitoring conducted in earlier years. In their study Spieczyński *et al.* [19] also recorded rapid water flow almost along the whole survey site. Low flow of water in the river and intense overgrowing of the river bed with reed-bed plants was observed in Kanał Habdziński. This slight water movement is conducive to the growth of genus *Potamogeton* which finds more favourable development conditions in stagnant waters [2]. Intense overgrowing of watercourses and small water reservoirs on agricultural areas results from high eutrophication of surface waters from these areas [4].

The studies conducted on the Wardynka river show low HQA score. The results of our studies classify the river to the ecological status class 3. This is a low class considering presence of RHS high-score trees and associated features and morphological features under high natural value, as well as natural morphological features of the banks and the channel. Although Wardynka displays many features under high natural value and in many sites it resembles a mountain torrent, after the analysis of all attributes required for RHS assessment, low results may point to extensive anthropogenic transformations. However, in a previous survey carried out by Spieczyński *et al.* [6] on the Wardynka river, lower HQA score was obtained (48), which pointed to poor habitat quality corresponding to class 4. These differences induce provision of more extensive monitoring by expanding the surveyed section to assess rivers in a number of sites. It would be advisable not only to expand the area of flowing waters hydrological assessment, but also to perform it and compare every couple of years. Such conclusions may also be drawn based on the results of studies conducted on Portuguese rivers [10].

Even lower HQA scores than in the Wardynka river were recorded in Kanał Habdziński. The watercourse revealed not only slight water flow, but also intense overgrowing of the river with macrolytes, combined with poor bottom. Kanał Habdziński is a regulated watercourse, where cyclic maintenance works are conducted. Similar results were recorded in RHS carried out for two rivers in north-western Poland - Gowienica Miedwiańska and Kanał Młyński [11] subject to major human impact. For these two watercourses, tilled land-use of adjacent areas and visible outcomes of human impact on the environment contributed to their poor ecological status, just as in the assessment of water quality for Kanał Habdziński. Despite low HQA scores and final classification of Kanał Habdziński as having poor hydromorphology, the watercourse was not classified as belonging to class 5, as it was the case with RHS assessment of Osówka watercourse, which corresponded to poor hydromorphological quality [17].

Different values of the HQA score were achieved in studies carried out in the middle and upper section of the Yitong River in Northeast China [18]. Only 7.8% of the studied river sections had its natural character preserved, which is reflected by HMS parameters. This state of affairs exists despite the fact that the river flows across sparsely populated areas, mountainous and with low intensity of land-use. Nevertheless, there are clear differences between the upper, middle, and lower course of the river.

The RHS method is an effective river assessment tool, and with additional analyses of catchment parameters it may link the results of hydromorphology studies with catchment management and human impact on the surveyed watercourse via an overall indicator. Just like any other method, it has some shortcomings, however they have been remedied on an ongoing basis [7, 8].

Due to extensive overgrowing and silting, the surveyed small watercourses are subject to considerable reclamation. This leads to frequent transformations and environmental changes occurring immediately after channel improvement, and restoration of hydrodynamic balance may occur very slowly [16]. This especially applies to the Wardynka river, where its meandering nature and numerous valuable morphological features constitute important nature conservation qualities, and any disturbances may have a damaging impact on biodiversity. Any methods for assessing hydromorphology and ecological status of rivers should be applied on an ongoing basis and they should cover as extensive area as possible, to allow assessment of any changes and transformations in the aquatic environment in the short- and long-term [10].

Another widely used river assessment instrument is the European Fish Index (EFI+) where the final metric value of EFI+ is calculated as the mean probability value ranging from 0 to 1. Specific ranges of the index value are aligned with assessment categories (environmental status of the site), spanning from high to low. Assessment of surveyed rivers based on this index was carried out, among others, on the Wardynka river and Kanał Habdziński [3]. A relatively low EFI+value, indicating poor quality of fish habitats, confirmed poor ecological status classes on particular rivers [6].

5 Conclusions

Despite its methodological imperfections and differentiation in selection of various methods to assess flowing waters, River Habitat Survey (RHS) is still one of the most effective and easy to use methods of watercourse assessment. The River Habitat Survey method could be used not only for the present river reach hydromorphological status evaluation, but also for forecasting morphological and habitat changes impact initiated

by river restoration works. Simplicity of conducting field works allows assessment of numerous parameters, which makes it possible to use the data in a comparative analysis of various solutions, including ecological ones, at various time points. The River Habitat Survey method may also be used to forecast the effects of renaturalization works on the rivers. Two small watercourses assessed in the present study were characterised by high differentiation. Kanał Habdziński is an example watercourse with a low habitat quality assessment (HQA) and a high habitat modification score (HMS). HMS was more than half lower than in the Wardynka river, which, despite observed land transformations and changes resulting from human activity at the studied section, preserved some elements of a natural watercourse, resulting in a much higher habitat quality assessment (HQA). During the field tests, it was noticed that history of the river's knowledge is important for RHS method. The studies carried out on the rivers, and consultations with the institutions managing the watercourses revealed that the river has undergone significant transformation over the years. Any information on changes and transformation of the habitats may be used in the future to conduct maintenance works on the watercourses, and may have significant value for planning future works on the rivers.

Acknowledgements. This study was supported due to implementation of the multi-annual programme "Technology and environmental projects supporting innovative, effective and low-pollution management of resources in rural areas", task no. 5 "Knowledge support of the preparation, implementation and approval of works intended to maintain land reclamation equipment", implemented by the Institute of Technology and Life Sciences.

References

- 1. Adynkiewicz-Piragas, M.: Hydromorphological assessment on rivers at European Union country as element supported ecological assessment of river condition in accordance with water frame work directive. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural. Areas 4(3), 7–15 (2006)
- Bedla, D., Misztal, A., Krużel, J., Chmielowski, K.: The effect of selected hydromorphological parameters on the state of aquatic vegetation in the Chechło river. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3(I), 705–714 (2016)
- Brysiewicz, A., Czerniejewski, P., Wolska, M., Kieresiński, B., Lipiński, J.: Assessment of the composition and state of the fish fauna of small streams in central and west of Poland using the European Fish Index (EFI+). Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 151–162 (2018)
- Brysiewicz, A., Jankowski, M., Tański, A.: Zooplankton structure in midfield ponds in north-west part of Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(2), 1673–1686 (2017)
- Cegłowska, A., Jusik, S., Samecka-Cymerman, A., Klink, A., Szoszkiewicz, K.: Habitat requirements of *Elodea canadensis* Michx Polish rivers. Ocean. Hydrobiol. Stud. 46(4), 363–378 (2017)
- Cortes, R.M.V., Varandas, S., Hughes, S.J., Ferreira, M.T.: Combining habitat and biological characterization: ecological validation of the River Habitat Survey. Limnetica 27 (1), 39–56 (2008)
- Cunha, A., Gonçalves, P., Barreira, J., Trigoc, A., Hughes, S.J.: Mobile RHS: a mobile application to support the "River Habitat Survey" methodology. Procedia Comput. Sci. 64, 87–94 (2015)

- Czmiel, J., Kotarska, I.: Application of River Habitat Survey method for hydromorphological state of watercourses in the area of copper ore underground mining impact. CUPRUM – Czasopismo Naukowo-Techniczne Górnictwa Rud 4(81), 71–84 (2016)
- 9. European Commission: Introduction to the New EU Water Framework Directive (2016). http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-framework/info/intro_en.htm
- Ferreira, J., Pádua, J., Hughes, S.J., Cortes, R.M., Varandas, S., Holmes, N., Raven, P.: Adapting and adopting River Habitat Survey: problems and solutions for fluvial hydromorphological assessment in Portugal. Limnetica, **30**(2), 263–272 (2011)
- Frankowski, R.: The usefulness of the River Habitat Survey method for hydromorphological evaluation of a stream – examples of the Gowienica Miedwiańska river and the Młyński channel. Woda-Środowisko-Obszary Wiejskie, 11(2), 53–63 (2011)
- Gebler, D., Szoszkiewicz, K., Bielak, S.R.: Diversity of hydromorphological conditions of rivers in the lowland and mountain catchment scale. Nauka Przyroda Technologie 7(4), 1–12 (2013)
- Gręplowska, Z., Żołnacz, J.: Premilinary evaluations of methods assessing the morphological river features on the example of Raba river catchment. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4 (3), 37–44 (2006)
- 14. Ilnicki, P., Lewandowski P.: Metodyka ekomorfologicznej waloryzacji koryt rzecznych. Zeszyty Naukowe AR Wrocław nr 270 (1995)
- 15. Łabaj, P., Hamerla, A.: Assessment of hydromorphological conditions of rivers in urbanised catchments with River Habitat Survey method. Res. Rep. Min. Environ. 4, 109–121 (2012)
- Łapuszek, M., Lenar-Matyas, A.: Methods of analysis the riverbed evolution a case study of two tributaries of the upper Vistula river. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(3), 1313–1327 (2015)
- Raczyńska, M., Grzeszczyk-Kowalska, A., Raczyński, M.: Application of the River Habitat Survey method to conduct hydro-morphological evaluation of the Osówka watercourse (Western Pomerania). J. Ecol. Eng. 3, 266–276 (2012)
- Song, Y., Song, S.: Assessment of habitats on typical low hills in the Yitong river in Northeast China. J. Freshw. Ecol. 32(1), 591–599 (2017)
- Spieczyński, D., Raczyńska, M., Grzeszczyk-Kowalska, A., Raczyński, M., Zimnicka-Pluskota, M.: The application of the River Habitat Survey method to the assessment of the quality of the river Wardynka (Northwestern Poland). J. Ecol. Eng. 35, 85–93 (2013)
- Walter, J., Diamond, M., Natura, M.: The development of physical habitat objectives. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 12, 381–390 (2002)
- Wasilewicz, M., Oglęcki, P.: Comparison of selective evaluation methods of river ecological status based on the middle Wkra river research. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(3), 171–188 (2006)



Habitats and Density of the Invasive Topmouth Gudgeon (*Pseudorasbora parva* Schlegel) in Small Polish Watercourses, in the Light of Threats to the Habitats of Native Species of Fishes

Przemysław Czerniejewski^{1(⊠)}, Adam Brysiewicz², Kinga Zatoń¹, and Natalia Kasowska¹

¹ Faculty of Food Sciences and Fisheries, Department of Fisheries Management and Water Protection, West Pomeranian University of Technology in Szczecin, Kazimierza Królewicza 4 Street, 71-550 Szczecin, Poland przemyslaw.czerniejewski@zut.edu.pl ² Institute of Technology and Life Science, Al. Hrabska 3, 05-090 Raszyn, Poland

Abstract. The newly introduced species (alien species) can become invasive and pose a serious economic and ecological threat, causing changes in the habitats of native species, while competing with native species, they can affect the density and biodiversity within the ecosystem. One of the invasive species of fish in Europe is the topmouth gudgeon (Pseudorasbora parva Schlegel, 1842). The aim of this study was to assess the habitats of selected topmouth gudgeon's populations in terms of basic hydrological and physicochemical characteristics, as well as to determine the density of the species and the potential impact of the population on native species in small Polish watercourses. Three small watercourses in Odra catchment (Myśla and Wardynka river) and Wisła (Molnica river) were selected for the study, where electrofishing were conducted and water samples were taken for hydrochemical analysis. Among the 9 surveyed sites, the topmouth gudgeon was caught on the 5th. On the Myśla River, it was located on two sites, the same on the Molnica river and on the 1 site on the Wardynka river. In total, 550 fishes (belonging to 10 species) were caught on these 5 sites, including 388 topmouth gudgeon, which accounted for over 70% of the fishes caught. Although the physicochemical conditions of the tested watercourses are not optimal for this invasive species, the increase of density and further colonization of the topmouth gudgeon can be expected, and thus already observed in other watercourses, the impact on indigenous species and habitats occupied by it.

Keywords: Fishes · Topmouth gudgeon · *Pseudorasbora parva* · Invasive species · Small rivers · Habitats

1 Introduction

Invasions of expansive alien animals are one of the most important threats to biodiversity due to the unforeseen effects of the emergence of a new species in the environment. In nature, there are many negative human activities, such as the creation of migration barriers for valuable salmonids through hydrotechnical constructions [7]. The newly introduced species (alien species) can become invasive and pose a serious economic and ecological threat, causing changes in the habitats of native species, and when competing with native species, they can affect the density and biodiversity within the ecosystem [8]. One of the invasive species of fish in Europe is the topmouth gudgeon (Pseudorasbora parva Schlegel, 1842). It comes from eastern Asia, where it occurs in the waters of Japan, China, Korea and the Amur river basin. It was accidentally introduced to Europe together with carp stocking material for ponds in the Danube delta (Romania) in 1961 [3]. Since that time, it got into the natural waters of Europe, and in Poland it was recorded for the first time in the 1980s [13, 14]. This success of quickly settling new areas should be explained by the development of international logistics in aquaculture, but also high physiological tolerance, high reproductive potential, a wide spectrum of food and care for offspring [1, 3]. Although there is literature on the spread of this species in polish waters, its behavior, age structure or growth, there is little information about the habitats occupied by this invasive species, especially in the aspect of colonization and impact on native species in small watercourses. The aim of this study was to (I) assess the habitats of selected the topmouth gudgeon's populations in terms of basic hydrological and physicochemical characteristics, (II) determine species density and (III) the potential population impact on native species in small polish watercourses.

2 Materials and Methods

In 2017 monitoring of ichthyofauna was carried out on 26 small rivers of Odra and Vistula catchment areas [4]. Only three small watercourses in the Odra river basin (the Myśla and Wardynka rivers) and the Vistula river (Molnica river) were selected for further research on the topmouth gudgeon's population (Fig. 1), because we noted the occurrence of this species.

On each rivers, 3 sites were selected, which differed each other in hydrological and hydrochemical condition, and were located in the upper, middle and lower reaches of each watercourse. In the period from July 12th to July 21st 2017 fishes were collected and samples were taken for physicochemical analyzes. The fishes were fished with the Electric Fishing Device Type ELT 60 II GI. The following standards recommendations have been taken into account in catches: CEN EN 14011 2003 and PN-EN 14011 2006, because obtaining reliable information on the distribution and dominance of species in rivers requires conducting electrofishing taking into account the specific character of the watercourse (stream, large alluvial river). Fishing at individual site was carried out by wading against the current on sections of at least 100 m. At the fishing site, the caught fishes' species belonging and the number of species of each species were determined.



Fig. 1. Map with the location of selected rivers and research stations

In addition, physicochemical studies of water were carried out at individual sites where the topmouth gudgeon were found, specifying: flow rate (using an SENSA RC2 electromagnetic meter equipped with an RV2 probe), pH and oxygen content (using a HACH multiparameter field meter). At the same time, 1 dm³ of water samples were collected, which were measured in the laboratory with a colorimetric HACH DR890 m for nitrates, ammonium and orthophosphates. The bottom substrate (broken down into stones, gravel, sand, silt) and the degree of overgrowing with aquatic vegetation (in% of the water surface area) were also determined.

3 Results

Among the 9 surveyed sites, the topmouth gudgeon were caught on 5 sites. On the Myśla river, it was located on two, the same on the Molnica river, and on one site on the Wardynka river. In total, 550 fishes (belonging to 10 species) were caught on these 5 sites, including 388 of the topmouth gudgeon, which accounted for over 70% of the caught fishes. The largest number of the topmouth gudgeon was caught at a site located in the upper reaches of the Wardynka river, located in the immediate vicinity of carp ponds. The width of the watercourse was 1.6 m, with an average depth of 0.30 m. The sandy bottom (80% sand layer) only contained 20% of the silt. The aquatic vegetation was made up of common reed (*Phragmites australis* (Cav.) Trin. Ex Steud), flowering rush (*Butomus umbellatus* L.) - belt growth, as well as canadian waterweed (*Elodea*

canadensis Michx.) and rigid hornword (*Ceratophyllum demersum* L.) - meadow growth. The degree of overgrowing the water table with vegetation was 40% (Table 1). In total 379 fishes were caught in this position (density of 2.37 individuals/m²), belonging to 7 species, including 291 of the topmouth gudgeon. This species accounted for 74.67% of caught fishes (Fig. 2a), at a density of 1.77 individuals/m². Water was characterized by a high phosphate content and conductivity and low flow, although larger than in the case of other watercourses (Table 1).

A total of 54 fishes were caught on 2 sites of the Myśla river, including 28 of topmouth gudgeon (Fig. 2b-c). Higher density of fishes compared to second site, were found at site 1 (0.231 and 0.05 individuals/m² respectively) and density of topmouth gudgeon (0.163 and 0.01 individuals/m²), although both sites were characterized by a leveled bottom and unfavorable physicochemical conditions. However, in the site with a larger population size, a great depth of water was observed on the water surface, which was of a meadow character (the degree of overgrowth was 100% and 40% respectively). The bottom in this site was covered with muddy sediments, and the water was characterized by higher conductivity and the content of N-NO₃ and lower oxygen content (Table 1).

On the Molnica river, in total, 69 the topmouth gudgeon was caught on two sites. The Molnica river flows among areas heavily changed by man (agricultural areas), its trough is straight. The average width on these sections was from 0.6 to 0.9 m, and the average depth from 0.05 to 0.10 m. The bottom in both stands was leveled, consisting of 100% of silt. The aquatic vegetation, rooted in the bottom, was covered with the whole riverbed of the watercourse (100% overgrowth), with the character of meadow lichen. The flow was small (0.01 to 0.03 m/s), and the physicochemical parameters of the water at both sites indicate to its low quality (Table 1). In the site 1 and 2 on the Molnica river were caught 41 and 76 fishes, respectively, with a total density of 0.686 and 0.844 individuals/m². At both sites the topmouth gudgeon was dominated (Fig. 2d-e), with the density 0.350-0.533 individuals/m².

River (site)	pН	EC	02	N-NO3	N-NH4	P-PO4	CV	Н
		$[\mu S \cdot cm^{-1}]$	[mg·dm ³]	[mg·dm ³]	[mg·dm ³]	[mg·dm ³]	[m/s]	[%]
Wardynka	7.59	687	3.09	4.41	0.09	0.64	0.21	40
Myśla (1)	7.60	750	2.20	10.60	0.03	0.90	0.14	10
Myśla (2)	7.49	677	7.29	1.96	0.06	1.34	0.02	50
Molnica (1)	7.45	775	8.14	19.99	0.10	0.62	0.01	80
Molnica (2)	7.26	761	7.59	8.25	0.06	0.42	0.03	100

Table 1. Selected hydrological and abiotic features of watercourses at research sites.

Explanations: EC – conductivity; CV – current velocity; H – the degree of overgrowth with hydrophytes



Fig. 2. The structure of fishing on the researched sites (a – Wardynka; b-c – Myśla; d-e – Molnica).

4 Discussion

Since the first observation of the presence of the topmouth gudgeon in Europe, the displacement of this species covered almost the entire continent [1, 3, 8]. In Poland, the occurrence of P. parva has been noted in flowing and standing waters, except in the north-western part of the country [11, 13, 14]. The catch of these fishes in the Wardynka river (the Ina river catchment) and Myśla (the Odra catchment) is the first records of their presence in this part of Poland. Occurrence of this species in Molnica river is not a surprise, because there are some fishing ponds upstream. It should be emphasized that the transport of breeding stock of farmed fishes is one of the transmission vectors of this species [13]. It is probable that this species, migrating down these rivers, settled further watercourses in the Ina and Odra catchments, due to the fact that the speed of settling rivers for this species was set at 7.5 km/year [2]. The fact that it shows great plasticity of life history traits, which facilitates the colonization of new waters, is a facilitation for this species [8]. Successful colonization of this fish in the tested watercourses is undoubtedly favored by the lack of predatory fishes.

Similar phenomenon was noted by Rosecchi et al. [12] in Lake Prespa, where the only predator was a chub (*Leuciscus cephalus*). As demonstrated by Pollux and Körösi [9] population density of this species depends on the type of water. For example, in floodplain lakes it was more abundant than in the rivers of the Netherlands (141 individuals/m² (and 0.11 individuals/m², respectively). In contrast, in ponds in the southern part of the Czech Republic, the concentration of up to 1.4 individuals/m² was found [1]. In polish carp ponds Witkowski [13] noted 300 kg of the topmouth gudgeon from the 5 ha area. In our study, the population density of this species only on the Wardynka river was high and amounted to 1.77 individuals/m². In the other watercourses it was much smaller and it was in the range given by Rechulicz [11] for watercourses in the south of Poland.

The excessive inflow of pollutants, especially biogens (the form of nitrogen and phosphorus) from both point sources and area sources, is responsible for the quality and degradation of waters in small rivers [10]. Small rivers flowing through agricultural areas, despite the high biogenic load, are habitats for many ichthyofauna species [4]. Although the physicochemical conditions of the studied watercourses are not optimal for this invasive species, the increase of compaction and further colonization of the topmouth gudgeon can be expected, and thus already observed in other watercourses, the impact on native species and habitats. For example, Barnaescu [3] noted that the juveniles' stages of cyprinids were eaten by the topmouth gudgeon. In this way, these fishes contribute to a drastic decline in the population of native fish species. In addition, the topmouth gudgeon, eating larger species of planktonic and benthic crustaceans, significantly reduces the nutrient resources for which it competes with indigenous species [9, 12]. The presence of this species is associated with the threat of interspecific and intergeneric hybridization. Gozlan and Beyer [5] crossing the topmouth gudgeon with the sunbleak *Leucaspius* delineatus in laboratory conditions, received as much as 86% of vital hybrids. Another extremely dangerous problem for indigenous species resulting from the presence of them in polish waters is the transmission of numerous infectious diseases [11]. The topmouth gudgeon is the carrier of the intercellular protozoan Sphaerothecum destruens, which

causes an extremely dangerous infection (rosette-like agent), which among others causes necrosis of soft tissues and hepatocytes in cyprinids and salmonids [6]. Hence, this species is considered one of the most dangerous species of invasive fish [8, 9, 11], whose populations in the small polish waters examined in this paper should be covered by monitoring and regular catches. These actions can prevent the spread of this species in the catchments of these watercourses.

Acknowledgements. Work financed by West Pomeranian University of Technology in Szczecin. Project no. 518-08-056-3186-01/18. Rationalization of fisheries management on the lakes and rivers of north-western Poland.

References

- 1. Adamek, Z., Sukop, I.: Vliv strevlicky vychodni (*Pseudorasbora parva*) na parametry rybnicniho prostredi. Biodiverzita Ichtyofauny ĆR **3**, 37–43 (2000)
- Anhelt, H., Tiefenbach, O.: Zum auftreten des Blaubandbärblings (*Pseudorasbora parva*) (Teleostei: Gobioninae) in den Flüssen Raab und Lafnitz. Österr. Fischerei 44, 19–26 (1991)
- 3. Barnaescu, P.: The freshwater fishes of Europe. 5.1. Cyprinidae 2/1. Aula Verlag, Wiesbaden (1999)
- Brysiewicz, A., Czerniejewski, P., Wolska, M., Kieresiński, B., Lipiński, J.: Assessment of the composition and state of the fish fauna of small streams in central and west of Poland using the European Fish Index (EFI+). Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Area 2(I), 151–162 (2018)
- 5. Gozlan, R.E., Beyer, K.: Hybridisation between *Pseudorasbora parva* and *Leucaspius delineatus*. Folia Zool. 55(1), 53-60 (2006)
- Gozlan, R.E., Whipps, C.M., Andreou, D., Arkush, K.D.: Identification of a rosette-like agent as *Sphaerothecum destruens*, a multi-host fish pathogen. Int. J. Parasitol. 39, 1055– 1058 (2009)
- 7. Łapuszek, M.: Changes of stream channel on Trzebuńka stream upstream lowered and restored check dam. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 1(I), 151–162 (2018)
- Pinder, A.C., Gozlan, R.E., Britton, J.R.: Dispersial of the invasive topmouth gudgeon *Pseudorasbora parva* in the UK: a vector for an emergent infectious disease. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 12, 411–414 (2005)
- 9. Pollux, B.J., Korosi, A.: On the occurrence of the Asiatic cyprinid *Pseudorasbora parva* in the Netherlands. J. Fish Biol. **69**, 1575–1580 (2006)
- Pytka, A., Jóźwiakowski, K., Marzec, M., Gizińska, M., Sosnowska, B.: Impact assessment of anthropogenic pollution on water quality of Bochotniczanka river. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3(II), 15–29 (2013)
- Rechulicz, J.: Monitoring of the topmouth gudgeon, *Pseudorasbora parva* (Actinopterygii: Cypriniformes: Cyprinidae) in a small upland Ciemięga river, Poland. Acta Ichthyol. Piscat. 41(3), 193–199 (2011)
- Rosecchi, E., Crivelli, A., Catsadorakis, G.: The establishment and impact of Pseudorasbora parva, an exotic fish species introduced into Lake Mikri Prespa (northwestern Greece). Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 3, 223–231 (1993)
- 13. Witkowski, A.: *Pseudorasbora parva* (Schlegel 1842) (Cyprinidae: Gobioninae) a new component of the Polish ichthyofauna. Przeglad Zoologiczny **35**, 323–331 (1991)
- Witkowski, A., Wiśniewolski, W.: Ryby i minogi Biebrzy, jej starorzeczy i dopływów. W: Dyrcz, A., Werpachowski, C. (red.) Przyroda Biebrzańskiego Parku Narodowego. Wyd. Biebrzański Park Narodowy, Osowiec-Twierdza, pp. 247–255 (2005)



Utilisation of Bio- and Geoindicators for Assessment of the State of Natural Environment in the South-Western Part of the Świętokrzyskie Mountains

Rafał Kozłowski and Mirosław Szwed^(⊠)

Department of Environmental Protection and Modelling, Jan Kochanowski University, Swietokrzyska Ave 15, 25-406 Kielce, Poland mireneusz@interia.pl

Abstract. This article presents the results of studies on the pollution of atmospheric air with trace elements in the area of the so-called "Białe Zagłębie" located in the Świętokrzyskie Mountains. As a bioindicator, *Hypogymnia physodes (L.) Nyl.* was used. The lichens on twigs were taken from the Borecka Primeval Forest, and then transplanted into the trees growing in selected points of the "Białe Zagłębie", according to a semi-annual cycle. The obtained results present an analysis of selected trace elements accumulated in the lichen thalli. The average content of accumulated metals was the highest for aluminium (over 427 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) and iron (232 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.). Both elements occur in a much higher amount in the second series of exposure, as in the case of lead, copper, nickel, and strontium, whose average content in the lichen thalli did not exceed 10 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.

Keywords: Air pollution · Biomonitoring · Trace elements

1 Introduction

An industrial area functioning in the Świętokrzyskie Mountains, which concentrates facilities extracting and processing mineral raw materials called "Białe Zagłębie", causes multi-directional changes in the natural environment [1, 2]. Atmospheric air belongs to these elements of the natural environment which are the most sensitive to such kind of industrial activity. Dusts and gases emitted to the atmosphere during the production process significantly reduce the air quality in this area [3]. Apart from automatic methods determining the level of immission in a given place and time, lichen-indication methods [4] are also commonly used. These methods base on the reaction of living lichens transferred from a relatively clean areas (primeval forests, parks) to those contaminated ones. The confirmed ability of lichens to accumulate pollutants, including metals, in their thalli [5, 6] was used to assess the quality of atmospheric air in "Białe Zagłębie".

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 161–168, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_22

2 Study Area and Methods

The study area was located in the south-western part of the Świętokrzyskie Mountains. The Hypogymnia physodes (L.) Nyl. lichens, taken from the Borecka Primeval Forest (north-eastern Poland) on approx. 30-cm twigs, were placed in 21 control points at a height of approx. 2 m above ground level, using plastic self-locking bands. The exposure time of lichens in the area of anthropogenic pressure lasted for 6 months (cool half-year period), i.e. from 30th October 2016 to 30th April 2017. On 1st May 2017, the second series of lichens was transplanted into trees growing in the same control points for the next 6 months (warm half-year period), i.e. until 31st October 2017. After each exposure time, the lichens were transported to the Environmental Research Laboratory of the Jan Kochanowski University, where they were detached from the twig bark. The samples were then mineralised using the Anton Paar Multiwave 3000 mineraliser. Mineralisation was carried out using mixture of nitric acid and hydrogen peroxide in a quantitative 3:1. The analytical sample was approximately 0.1 g dry matter. After mineralisation, the samples were subjected to chemical analysis for the content of selected metals (Pb, Cd, Cr, Co, Cu, Ni, Zn, Sr, Al, Fe) using the ICP-MS-TOF OptiMass 9500. Limits of detection was: 0.01 µg/L. In order to control the quality of obtained results, such certified reference materials as ERM-CA713 produced by the Institute for Reference Materials and Measurements in Belgium, were used. Meteorological data for the Kielce weather station was obtained from the Spanish OGIMET portal. The volume of emissions was elaborated basing on the data retrieved from the Regional Inspectorate of Environmental Protection in Kielce. The obtained data was statistically elaborated using the Statistica 13 program. Used Ward's agglomeration, Manhattan distance method.

3 Results and Discussion

The average annual air temperature during the studies (hydrological year 2016) was 7.9 °C; it amounted to 0.7 °C in the cool half-year period (the first series of lichen exposure) and 15.2 °C in the warm half-year period (second series of exposure). The annual rainfall totalled 554.8 mm–207.8 mm in the cool half-year period and 347 mm in the warm half-year one. The relative air humidity varied from 67.1% - the monthly average for June to 88.2% for January with the annual average amounting to 78.1% (81.1% for the cool half-year period and 75.2% for the warm half-year period). During the exposure time, the WSW (13.3%) winds prevailed in the cool half-year period, blowing with the average speed of 2.9 ms⁻¹; while the WNW (16.7%) winds prevailed in the warm half-year period, blowing with the average speed of 2.6 ms⁻¹ (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Meteorological conditions during lichen exposure period (source: https://www.ogimet. com).

The volume of cement dust emissions from the largest cement plants in "Białe Zagłębie", located in Małogoszcz, Nowiny, Bukowa and Trzuskawica, amounted in total to 263 300 kg in 2016 and 302 200 kg in 2017. During the studies, the cement plant in Małogoszcz has the largest share in cement dust emissions, i.e. over 98 000 kg in 2016 and approx. 124 000 kg in 2017, while the smallest plant in Bukowa – about 33 000 and 50 000, respectively (unpublished data of Regional Inspectorate of Environmental Protection in Kielce).

Transplantation of lichens in the south-western part of the Świętokrzyskie Mountains indicated the accumulation of trace elements in the lichen thalli (Tables 1 and 2). The amount of accumulated metals was calculated for each control point based on the difference between the concentrations of metals in the biota of lichens transplanted into "Białe Zagłębie" and the concentrations of metals in the blank sample tested immediately after taking it from the Borecka Primeval Forest. Cement and lime dusts coming from technological processes belong to one of the most important sources of metal emissions to the air in this area [7]. The content of trace elements in the dust composition results from technological processes based on thermal treatment in furnaces using a specific fuel, i.e. coal, iron ore or waste [8]. Precipitation of dusts containing significant quantities of chromium, lead, cadmium, and iron, present in the vicinity of cement plants poses a direct threat to the environment [9]. The average content of accumulated metals was the highest for aluminium (over 427 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) and iron (232 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.). Both elements occur in a much higher amount in the second series of exposure, as in the case of lead, copper, nickel, and strontium, whose average content in the lichen thalli did not exceed 10 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.

Heavy metals	Results b	Results by mg kg ⁻¹ d.m.								
	Average	Median	Min	Max	Standard deviation					
Pb	5.23	3.93	1.15	32.11	6.26					
Cd	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.32	0.08					
Cr	1.69	1.25	0.76	6.71	1.29					
Со	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.29	0.08					
Cu	5.34	5.68	1.94	8.45	1.91					
Ni	1.25	1.02	0.16	3.31	0.87					
Zn	20.87	18.06	3.76	68.72	13.80					
Sr	3.55	2.31	0.00	11.76	3.68					
Al	396.91	325.81	50.17	1534.10	320.16					
Fe	222.57	194.34	34.28	644.73	123.97					

Table 1. Accumulation of heavy metals in lichen thalli - first series of tests.

Table 2. Accumulation of heavy metals in lichen thalli - second series of tests.

Heavy metals	Results b	Results by mg kg ^{-1} d.m.									
	Average Median I		Min	Max	Standard deviation						
Pb	6.74	4.06	1.90	45.45	9.27						
Cd	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.15	0.03						
Cr	1.18	0.94	0.35	4.64	0.92						
Со	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.30	0.07						
Cu	6.96	6.10	1.76	18.25	4.38						
Ni	1.36	1.01	0.24	3.36	0.92						
Zn	39.58	27.77	9.51	203.49	41.38						
Sr	18.22	14.62	1.06	54.96	13.56						
Al	480.21	369.71	121.68	1859.43	425.85						
Fe	245.58	223.26	102.60	676.27	132.59						

The increased content of iron and aluminium in the air, apart from the emission from cement plants, is also associated with the weathering process of rocks and minerals [10]. Strontium accumulation was 3.58 mg kg⁻¹ d.m. in the cool half-year period and 18.71 mg kg⁻¹ d.m. in the warm half-year period. Zinc accumulation amounting, on average, to 21.56 mg kg⁻¹ d.m. in the first series was doubled in the next season (40.69 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.). Chromium, cobalt and cadmium concentrations in both series of exposure slightly exceeded 1 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.

Depending on the location, and above all, the distance from the emitter, the volume of accumulated elements varied considerably; while, the highest concentrations were recorded in the control points located in the vicinity of cement plants and nearby quarries. Aluminium, whose average concentrations exceeded 400 mg kg⁻¹ d.m., was accumulated the most by the lichen thalli in the area of Dyckerhoff cement plant in Nowiny and its concentrations amounted more than 1 500 mg kg⁻¹ d.m. there (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Map of aluminium concentrations in the lichen thalli exposed in the cool half-year period $(\text{mg kg}^{-1} \text{ d.m.})$.

All lichen thalli located near the cement plants and quarries were characterised by the increased metal concentrations, except for copper whose high concentrations occurred in the vicinity of the Chęciny crossroad junction being built along the E77 express way (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Map of copper concentrations in the lichen thalli exposed in the cool half-year period (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).

During the cool half-year period, the lichens accumulated 5.34 mg kg⁻¹ d.m. of copper; while, the highest values (above 7 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) were recorded for the control point in Szewce (near the E77 express way) and in Radkowice (near one of the quarries). In the warm half-year period, in turn, the average Cu concentrations were 6.96 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.; while, its highest values were recorded for the lichen thalli exposed in Radkowice (18.2 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.), Bolechowice (17.3 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) and Szewce (13.5 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.).

The use of Ward's cluster analysis (Manhattan distance) allowed for separating 5 groups (Fig. 4). The first group included those control points where the lichen biota accumulated the largest amounts of lead, i.e. Bolechowice (near the cement plant) and Szewce (near the express way). The next group consisted of the control points with the highest accumulation of cadmium, chromium and cobalt in the lichen biota, located next to plants and quarries (Wola Murowana, Milechowy, Brzeziny, Polichno, Rad-kowice and Bukowa). The fourth group was characterised by the increased concentrations of copper; however, the location of the control points included in this group was made of the lichens from the areas with the highest concentrations of nickel, zinc and strontium. These control points, although located the farthest away from the emission sources (Lipowica, Wymysłów, Jaworznia), were characterised by the increased concentrations of these metals, due to natural topography.



Fig. 4. Ward's agglomeration results, Manhattan distance for the lichen samples exposed in "Białe Zagłębie".

Studies conducted by Białońska and Dayan using the same species of lichen taken from the Borecka Primeval Forest to some industrialised zones in Poland (Bukowno, Młoszowa, Jankowice, Alwernia) for six months had showed significantly higher concentrations of metals compared to those lichens which were exposed in the Świętokrzyskie Mountains [11]. According to the studies, the cadmium concentrations had been 10 times higher; lead and zinc concentrations had been two times higher (except for Bukowno); nickel, copper and iron concentrations had been at a similar level; and chromium concentrations had been lower by half (except for Alwernia) than the metal concentrations recorded for the lichens in the study area. As part of the Integrated Environmental Monitoring (IEM) in Poland in 2010, Sawicka-Kapusta et al. had conducted lichen-indication studies of *Hypogymnia physodes* occurring in its natural environment (in situ) in the IEM study stations [12]. The obtained metal concentrations were close to the values found in the lichen thalli in "Białe Zagłębie" in the case of copper and iron, and several times higher in the case of zinc and cadmium. Koroleva and Revunkov who were studying metals in the *Hypogymnia physodes (L.) Nyl.* on the Sambia Peninsula in the Kalinigrad Oblast found similar concentrations of lead, copper, nickel and strontium, as well as twice as high zinc concentrations and three times higher iron concentrations than those recorded for the control points [13]. Studies conducted by Mikhailova et al. in Russia [14] and Policnik et al. in Slovenia [15], with the annual exposure period of the same species of transplanted lichen, had indicated varying accumulation of iron, lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc throughout the year.

4 Conclusions

- The lichens exposed in the study area accumulated significant volumes of the analysed trace elements, exceeding the concentrations occurring in the Borecka Primeval Forest several times (Cu 4.2 times, Pb 2.9 times, Cr 2.8 times, Ni 2.1 times, Fe 1.8 times).
- The level of heavy metals accumulated in the lichen thalli located in the vicinity of facilities extracting and processing mineral raw materials may be the basis for estimating the immediate threat to human health.

References

- Kasprzyk, P.: Elements of cultural landscapes arised in mining of mineral raw materials. Dissertations of Cultural Landscape Commission, Polish Geographical Society, Sosnowiec, pp. 176–184 (2011)
- Jarzyna, K., Kozłowski, R., Szwed, M.: Chemical properties of snow cover as an impact indicator for local air pollution sources. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, IV(2), 1591–1607 (2017)
- Kozłowski, R., Jóźwiak, M.: The transformation of precipitation in the tree canopy in selected forest ecosystems of Poland's Świętokrzyskie Mountains. Pol. Geogr. Rev. 89(1), 133–153 (2017)
- 4. Conti, M.E., Cecchetti, G.: Biological monitoring: lichens as bioindicators of air pollution assessment a review. Environ. Pollut. **114**, 471–492 (2001)
- 5. Garty, J.: Biomonitoring atmospheric heavy metals with lichens: theory and application. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. **2001**(20), 309–371 (2001)
- Jóźwiak, M.: Ectohydricity of lichens and role of cortex layer in accumulation of heavy metals. Ecol. Chem. Eng. S 20(4), 659–676 (2013)
- Kozłowski, R.: The functioning of selected Polish geoecosystems under diverse anthropopressure conditions: the case of low mountains and foothills. Landf. Anal. 23, 1–150 (2013)
- Stryczek, S., Gonet, A., Wiśniowski, R., Sadłos, M.: Influence of Rudniki cement dust concentration on rheological properties of sealing slurries. Drill. Oil Gas 26(1–2), 355–367 (2009)

- Gołuchowska, B., Strzyszcz, Z., Kusza, G.: Magnetic susceptibility and heavy metal content in dust from the lime plant and the cement plant in Opole Voivodeship. Arch. Environ. Prot. 38(2), 71–80 (2012)
- 10. Kabata-Pendias, A., Pendias, H.: Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements. Polish Scientific Publishers, Warsaw (1999)
- 11. Białońska, D., Dayan, F.E.: Chemistry of the lichen *Hypogymnia physodes* transplanted to an industrial region. J. Chem. Ecol. **31**, 2975–2991 (2005)
- Sawicka-Kapusta, K., Zakrzewska, M., Bydłoń, G., Hajduk, J.: Estimation of air pollution in the base stations of the integrated nature monitoring system by heavy metals and sulphur dioxide in 2001–2009 using lichen *Hypogymnia physodes*. Nat. Environ. Monit. **11**, 63–71 (2010)
- 13. Koroleva, J., Revunkow, V.: Air pollution monitoring in the south-east Baltic using the epiphytic lichen *Hypogymnia physodes*. Atmosphere **8**, 119 (2017)
- 14. Mikhailova, I.N., Sharunova, I.P.: Dynamics of heavy metal accumulation in thalli of epiphytic lichen *Hypogymnia physodes*. Russ. J. Ecol. **39**, 346–352 (2007)
- Policnik, H., Batic, F., Ribaric, L.C.: Monitoring of short-term heavy metal deposition by accumulation in epiphytic lichens (*Hypogymnia physodes* (L.) Nyl.). J. Atmos. Chem. 49, 223–230 (2004)



Population Structure of Sandy Everlasting *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench in Relation to the Advancement of the Secondary Succession of Swards on Sandy Soils

Anna Katarzyna Sawilska^(⊠)

Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, Department of Biology and Plant Protection, Laboratory of Botany, Ecology and Landscape Architecture, University of Science and Technology, Prof. S. Kaliskiego 7, Building 2.5, 85-796 Bydgoszcz, Poland anna. sawilska@utp.edu.pl

Abstract. Helichrysum arenarium (L.) Moench is a perennial in the Asteraceae family that is under partial protection in Poland whose inflorescences are a source of valuable herbal material. Field observations were conducted over five consecutive growth seasons at permanent study plots in the Bory Tucholskie forest complex, Poland. The plots were in secondary anthropogenic replacement communities, which develop on poor sandy soils. Phytocenoses of initial, medium and most advanced succession were distinguished by the species composition of the communities. The aim of this study was to determine the density and morphological structure of shoots and ramets of the sandy everlastings, and of their potential and actual fertility as the early phase of secondary succession of swards advanced on sandy soils. Many features showed large variations caused by weather, but the stage of successional advancement in the phytocenoses had the greatest effect on the number of sandy everlasting shoots, their mass and morphology. The estimated yield of herbal material from 1 m² of a phytocenosis was on average smallest from the plot with the most advanced secondary succession, about half the yield from each of the other two plots. The vield from natural sites varied widely over the years.

Keywords: *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench \cdot Secondary succession \cdot Population \cdot Density \cdot Morphological structure \cdot Potential and actual fertility \cdot Inflorescences \cdot Achenes \cdot Herbal material

1 Introduction

Helichrysum arenarium (L.) Moench is a perennial in the Asteraceae whose inflorescences are a source of valuable herbal material used since medieval times to treat diseases of the digestive system [5]. In Poland the species has been partially protected since the 1970s. Sandy everlasting can inhabit sandy soils that are exceptionally poor in minerals and dry easily [8] because of its capacity for mycorrhizal symbiosis.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 169–174, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_23

Sandy everlasting populations are being studied in preliminary investigations of cultivating this species, which until recently has been considered unsuitable for cultivation. The study aimed to determine the density and morphological structure of shoots and ramets of the sandy everlasting, and of their potential and actual fertility in relation to the stage of advancement in the early stage of the secondary succession of swards on sand.

2 Materials and Methods

Field observations were conducted in five consecutive growth seasons on permanent study plots in the Bory Tucholskie forest complex (N 53o62'19", E 17o98'49"; N 53o61'92", E 17o97'94"; N 53o37'13", E 17o58'43"). Study plots were selected using generally accepted methods of population studies [1]: species composition and structure of phytocenoses, and density and age of individual sandy everlastings. All study plots were in secondary anthropogenic replacement communities that develop on fallow farmland. Soils inhabited by populations of sandy everlasting were acidic sands or clayey sands low in nutrients [9].

Vegetation on the study plots was classified systematically as loose xerophilous swards on non-lime sands by Matuszkiewicz [4]. Phytocenoses were similar, but their species composition indicated different stages of secondary succession [9]. Thus three levels of change were distinguished: initial, medium and most advanced succession.

The density of shoots per 1 m^2 and morphological features were examined in populations of sandy everlasting from each phytocenosis. Plants for biometric analyses were collected in each of the five growth seasons. The mass of plants, the number of inflorescences on a shoot and of shoots in a clump (ramet), and the number of clumps per 1 m^2 of the study plot were determined. Flowers and achenes in inflorescences were counted. The collected data were analysed statistically and the yield of herbal material was estimated.

3 Results

Subsequent years of study did not differ much in temperature, but differed significantly in the amount of precipitation (Table 1).

	Precipitation						Mean ambient temperature					
	Growt	Growth seasons										
Months	1	2	1	2	3	4	5					
IV–V	36.6	86.5	117.4	136.9	90.7	10.6	9.4	9.8	9.8	11.2		
VI–VII	136.6	93.3	64.1	46.0	210.2	18.4	15.6	17.2	19.6	18.1		
VIII	17.7	138.7	43.4	129.0	42.1	18.4	17.9	16.3	16.6	17.8		
IX–X	50.7	103.8	32.9	52.7	57.5	9.2	10.8	11.8	12.4	9.7		
Total	278.6	539.4	347.1	413.9	522.3	×	×	×	×	×		
Mean	×	×	×	×	×	10.9	10.6	10.8	10.8	11.8		

Table 1. Precipitation [mm] and mean ambient temperature [°C] during growth of sandy everlasting (data from Mochelek weather station).
Over the five-year period the density of sandy everlasting generative shoots at the study plot in the latest stage of succession was on average about half that at the plot in the medium stage of succession, and a third of that at the early-stage plot (Table 2).

Table 2. Values of the selected features of *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench in relation to the stage of advancement in secondary succession, measured in 1 m^2 , and in a single ramet (clump), based on measurements taken over five growth seasons.

-						Stage	e of seco	ndary suc	cession	n			
tion	Feature	Ea	rly stage	of succe	ssion	Med	lium stag	ge of succ	ession		Advar of su	cced stage	e
Loci		Mean	Minim um	Maximu m	V%	Mean	Minim um	Maximu m	V%	Mean	Minim um	Maximu m	V%
	Number of clumps	82.0	6.1	199.1	102.4	53.3	14.0	113.4	73.3	23.4	7.5	47.5	66.6
m^2	Number of generative shoots	228.4	14.0	522.4	99.0	163.5	50.5	294.8	58.5	64.7	18.1	114.0	64.4
Per 1	Number of flowers	747.4	34.6	2895.9	161.4	433.8	227.0	757.3	62.6	159.5	43.4	376.0	94.3
	Estimated yield of herbal material [g]	54.0	12.7	144.0	97.2	54.4	35.0	64.1	22.2	25.5	10.1	44.0	50.8
	Number of achenes	623.5	30.8	2396.2	159.6	371.7	180.8	653.2	63.7	134.0	36.9	322.9	95.4
	Dry mass of shoots above ground [g]	1.37	0.27	4.14	115.3	1.69	0.55	4.58	97.2	1.88	0.49	5.87	121.1
ramet	Number of generative shoots	2.9	2.1	4.0	30.4	3.4	2.5	5.2	31.6	2.8	1.7	4.6	39.3
a single	Number of inflorescences on a shoot	64.6	14.7	108.7	56.4	74.2	19.5	111.9	51.9	59.0	14.9	104.4	57.8
In	Number of flowers in an inflorescence	44.2	37.7	51.0	11.2	42.5	40.4	44.4	4.4	42.6	40.0	44.8	4.7
	Number of achenes in an inflorescence	37.8	31.1	42.2	11.3	36.3	32.3	39.3	7.8	35.9	32.6	39.3	6.7

The mass of sandy everlasting shoots in all years varied much less than the number of shoots (Table 2) among the populations in the different phytocenoses, as well as among the stages of development (minimum for propagules, maximum for generative shoots). Analysis of this feature in different growth seasons revealed large differences that might be associated with humidity in different years.

Significant differences were also noted in the number of clumps (ramets) of sandy everlasting per square metre within different phytocenoses (Table 2). The greatest number of clumps was recorded in the youngest population. Advancement of succession led to a decrease in their numbers, initially by 36%, then by 57%.

The number of generative shoots growing per square metre decreased after the decrease in the number of ramets (Table 2). In contrast, the number of shoots with inflorescences in a clump was more stable, modified mainly by precipitation (Tables 1 and 2). The number of inflorescences on one shoot was also relatively stable over the years, and the largest for plants from the phytocenosis at the medium stage of secondary succession (Table 2).

The number of flowers in a flower head also varied slightly, from 38 to 51 (Table 2). Sandy everlasting forms a dense umbelliform panicles of many flowerheads that jointly contain large numbers of single flowers. Conspicuously, in the second growth season in the phytocenosis at the early stage of succession the estimated number of sandy everlasting flowers per 1 m² might reach 3 million but did not exceed 35 thousand in the fifth year.

Peak flowering occurred in August and flowering lasted until early autumn. The theoretical mean yield of herbal material was estimated based on detailed measurements of sandy everlasting shoots and the numbers of clumps per unit of surface (Table 2). On average, the largest yield from a ramet might be collected from the population in the community with the most advanced secondary succession, but a square metre in the remaining phytocenoses would be expected to produce twice the yield.

A detailed analysis of the number of achenes produced by sandy everlasting in subsequent growth seasons showed that though they produced huge numbers of conspicuously small flowers, their pollination remained very efficient. This was confirmed by values of generative potential exceeding 80% (the ratio of the number of achenes to the number of flowers) independent of the plot where the plants grew (Table 2).

Sandy everlastings growing in the most advanced secondary succession plot showed lower actual fertility, measured by the number of achenes produced, than the other two plots. Though fewer fruits formed, they were larger than fruits from the other plots.

4 Discussion

These observations showed that sandy everlasting is a species typical of the early stage of the transitional phase of secondary succession on poor soils. Advancement of succession leads to a decrease of this species' participation in the phytocenoses [6, 7]. Fijałkowski and Seroczyńska [2] much earlier pointed out that dicotyledonous perennials and grasses displace sandy everlasting.

Precipitation differed in each growth season in which we observed sandy everlasting, so many of the plant features we analysed showed large variation between years. However, the advancement of succession in the phytocenoses played a key role in the number of shoots, their mass and the morphological structure of the plants.

Simultaneous occurrence of different morphological and developmental stages of shoots in ramets is a typical feature in populations of sandy everlastings. These plants produce vegetative propagules in spring and autumn; between summer and autumn their reproductive effort is focused on developing inflorescences by forming flower heads with numerous achenes. These achenes can germinate immediately after they had been dropped, even during the same growth season. Vegetative propagules in the form of leaf rosettes are formed on underground organs and on lignifying fragments of shoots [6, 7].

Our analysis of selected morphological elements of sandy everlasting specimens showed that each ramet forms a relatively constant number of generative shoots, but these shoots exhibit large plasticity in the production of inflorescences, dependent on precipitation. However, the decreasing number of clumps of sandy everlasting in phytocenoses at successive stages of succession reflected more than the plants' reaction to water availability. The changes observed in populations over five seasons of study might be the result of other plants increasingly co-habiting the phytocenoses and of ageing of individuals, i.e. the progress of secondary succession.

The yield of herbal material varied greatly among years, especially on the plot at the initial stage of secondary succession, which was poor in nutrients. Sandy everlasting flowers over a long period, so collection of the herbal material can also extend over many weeks.

Identifying the features of specimen structure in a species allows researchers to control ecosystem processes and to determine the habitat and the participation of other taxa [12]. This enables a better understanding of the direction of changes, including secondary succession. It can also be concluded which changes in plant features might be expected in different geographical locations [3, 13]. Additionally, some features of plant morphology are considered as indicators [14]. Population studies that include these features can be practically implemented. In the case of sandy everlastings, these studies provided the background for a technology to cultivate this species [10, 11].

5 Conclusions

- 1. Many features we studied varied in relation to current weather. However, the advancement of succession in phytocenoses was the main factor that affected the number and mass of shoots, and the morphology of *Helichrysum arenarium*.
- 2. Based on estimates of the herbal material of *Helichrysi inflorescentia* available for harvest it was shown that double the yield might be expected from sites at initial and medium stages of secondary succession than from the most advanced phytocenoses. The yield varied greatly among years.

Acknowledgment. The study was supported by the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education, project no. 2P06R 073 30.

References

- Falińska, K.: Przewodnik do badań biologii populacji roślin. Vademecum Geobotanicum, p. 587. PWN, Warsaw (2002)
- Fijałkowski, D., Seroczyńska, M.: Kocanki piaskowe *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench w województwie lubelskim i ich uprawa. Herba Pol. 20(4), 363–372 (1974)

- Kikuzawa, K., Onoda, Y., Wright, I.J., Reich, P.B.: Mechanisms underlying global temperature-related patterns in leaf longevity. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 22, 982–993 (2013)
- Matuszkiewicz, W.: Przewodnik do oznaczania zbiorowisk roślinnych Polski, p. 537. PWN, Warsaw (2005)
- Pljevljakušić, D., Bigović, D., Janković, T., Jelačić, S., Šavikin, K.: Sandy everlasting (*Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench): botanical, chemical and biological properties. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 1123 (2018)
- Sawilska, A.K.: Wpływ czynników środowiskowych na przebieg kwitnienia *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench. Acta Agrobot. 59(1), 241–249 (2006)
- 7. Sawilska, A.K.: Dynamics of *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench populations growing in fallow field on barren soil. Ecol. Quest. **9**, 93–101 (2008)
- Sawilska, A.K., Jendrzejczak, E., Welc, M., Kieliszewska-Rokicka, B.: Influence of mycorrhizal fungi on the growth and development of sandy everlasting *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench. Acta Agrobot. 62(1), 67–76 (2009)
- Sawilska, A.K., Dąbrowska, B.B., Kwiatkowska, B.: Struktura ekologiczna fitocenoz z udziałem kocanek piaskowych *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench zlokalizowanych na obrzeżach Bydgoszczy i w Borach Tucholskich. Ekologia i Technika **19**(3A), 187–193 (2011)
- Sawilska, A.K., Włodarczyk, A.: Sposób otrzymywania sadzonek kocanek piaskowych *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench pochodzących z kultur *in vitro*. Patent PL 215247 (2013)
- 11. Sawilska, A.K., Włodarczyk, A.: Sposób otrzymywania sadzonek kocanek piaskowych *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench pochodzących z kultur *in vitro* oraz inicjowania uprawy z siewu niełupek do zmodyfikowanego podłoża. Patent PL 216755 (2014)
- 12. Westoby, M.: Plant ecological strategies. South Afr. J. Bot. 73(2), 275-276 (2007)
- Westoby, M., Falster, D.S., Moles, A.T., Vesk, P.A., Wright, I.J.: Plant ecological strategies: some leading dimensions of variation between species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 33, 125–159 (2002)
- Westoby, M., Wright, I.J.: Land-plant ecology on the basis of functional traits. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21(5), 261–268 (2006)



The Application of the WID Method in the Ongoing Control of Urban Trees

Edyta Rosłon-Szeryńska^(运) and Marcela Purgat

Warsaw University of Life Science, Nowoursynowska 159, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland edyta_roslon_szerynska@sggw.pl

Abstract. The application of systematic monitoring in the ongoing control of urban trees plays an important role in maintaining safety for people and their property. In practice, visual methods are used for routine control of urban trees, including the WID method. In 2014, software was developed to improve the assessment process in the form of the Trees Analyzer application for a mobile device such as a smartphone or a tablet. The criteria and components of the WID method are still being verified. The purpose of the research was to determine the suitability and functionality of the Tree Analyzer application for tree assessment. One hundred trees were assessed in summer and winter season using paper sheets and the Trees Analyzer application for a smartphone. The evaluation time was measured and comments on the functionality and usability of both techniques were noted. The results were compared applying the difference test between the means in the Statistica 6.0 software. The conducted research confirmed the usefulness of the WID method to carry out ongoing control of trees in urban areas. The use of the Trees Analyzer application shortened the time of tree assessment even three times, and tree assessment was easier and more convenient when the software was employed. The comparative studies carried out confirmed that there were no statistically significant differences in the determination of the probability of the fall of the tree using the traditional method and the Trees Analyzer application.

Keywords: Visual identification method for hazardous trees \cdot Tree assessment \cdot WID method \cdot Trees Analyzer application

1 Introduction

In the prevention of threats caused by falling and breaking trees, it is important to assess the condition and mechanical strength of trees with regard to the safety aspect. In practice, visual methods are used for routine control of urban trees. The first methods of urban tree assessment were created in the 1970s in Germany and in the USA. These were: (a) methods assessing the risk of tree fall based on observational data, (b) methods for assessing statics based on the principles of biomechanics, (c) methods of assessing the risk of an accident caused by falling trees [1, 3–5, 11]. International Society of Arboriculture [US] presents the Tree Risk Assessment Qualification (TRAQ) standard for professional tree risk assessment and management program [11]. Some of them, like the VTA-method (Visual Tree Assessment), SIA-method (Static

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 175–183, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_24

Integrated Assessment), have gained international popularity and are still evolving [6, 7, 12]. However, it is still believed that there is no ideal method that covers all possible cases of tree damage, which is why new research and methods are emerging on this topic [8]. In 2006, the WID method (visual identification method for hazardous trees) was developed on the basis of a critical analysis of the European and American research between 1951 and 2005, as well as a close study of 261 cases of windfalls and windthrows in Masovia. In the development of the method elements of the fault tree analysis (FTA) and event tree analysis (ETA) were used, which aim at identifying specific relations between the causes and a combination of events which can result in creating a hazard situation and contribute to the damaging process itself. The WID method assesses the level of safety hazard associated with five elementary events such as windthrow, breakage in the base of the trunk, trunk breakage above the apical part to the base of the crown, boughs breakage in the fork, breakage within the crown of the tree. In the WID method, logic diagrams were used to assess the probability of falling or breaking a tree [8, 9].

In 2013, research was carried out to determine the possibility of using the WID method in the systematic control of trees in urbanized areas. The undertaken measurements analyzed the unambiguity of method criteria, clarity of the wording, repeatability of the results of tree assessment and the ease of its use. The study included 126 trees of the *Fraxinus pennsylvanica* and *Fraxinus excelsior* species growing on Rozbrat Street in Warsaw. Two rounds of tests were carried out with an interval of 6 months (January, July) on the same statistical sample. The gathered data was subjected to a comparative analysis. Information on the differences in the inventory of the intensity of the examined trees features was obtained (i.e. slenderness, deadwood, crown surface or extent of damage in individual tree zones) and also on how the risk of accident caused by trees as well as the time of testing in winter and summer varied [2].

Up till 2014, the WID method has been used to evaluate over 1500 trees growing in the urban areas. On the basis of the conducted research, the effectiveness and repeatability of the WID Method was revealed. The analysis of variance of variables performed using the Anova test showed a high degree of compatibility between the results of the assessment. The repeatability of the assessment results was high, at the level of 80%. The features, as assessed in the summer and winter tests, were: the slenderness coefficient and the height of the trees so the parameters that are easy to measure. In the winter study, the underestimated or overestimated evaluation resulted from snow drifts on the side of the road obstructing the observation of tree trunks and the soil under the crown canopy. The differences in winter and summer assessment also refered to the crown's force resistance and the presence of deadwood, where the errors of visual assessment in winter were the result of the lack of leaves on trees. The time consuming assessment was the WID method's shortcoming [8, 10].

In 2014, software in the form of the Trees Analyzer application for a mobile device such as a smartphone was developed to improve the assessment process. The criteria and the components of the WID method are still being verified. In the following years, further improvement of the Trees Analyzer application is planned [10].

The aim of the research is to determine the suitability and functionality of the Tree Analyzer tool for assessing trees by comparing the results of tree assessment using traditional methods and the Trees Analyzer application. The collected results will answer the questions in relation to the advantages and disadvantages of the WID method in the traditional and electronic version and to the guidelines on improving the WID method in the Trees Analyzer application.

2 Materials and Methods

One hundred tree specimens of the following species: *Acer platanoides, Salix alba, Quercus robur* and *Tilia cordata* growing in the Skaryszewski Park were selected for the study. The assessment of trees in the field was carried out in the winter (March) and summer (July). A measuring tape and an altimeter were used to measure trees. Diameter at breast height was measured at a standard height of 1.3 m above the ground level in accordance with the rules adopted by ISA and TROBI. The features of the vicinity and tree defects that affect their statics were evaluated in accordance with the rules rules adopted by ISA are evaluated in accordance with the five events. The WID method, by Rosłon-Szeryńska [8], separate for each of the five events. The WID method consists of two main parameters presented in the following formula:

$$Rz = Pu \times E\left[0 \div 10\,pkt\right] \tag{1}$$

where:

Probability of tree fall (Pu), {P_W (probability of toppling); P_N (trunk breakage in the base); P_P (trunk breakage); P_R (breakage in the fork); P_K (breakage in the crown)}, $[0 \div 10 \text{ points}]$, Exposure to risk (E) $[0 \div 1 \text{ point}]$.

The most variable parameter Pu, for which the following hazard categories were determined, was subject to a comparative assessment:

Pu (0–2.99) means the low risk of tree fall, Pu (3–5.99) medium risk, Pu (6–9.00) high risk, Pu (9.1–10.0) critical risk.

The assessment of fifty trees in the leafless period and fifty trees in foliage period was carried out using paper sheets and the TreesAnalyzer smartphone application. The evaluation time was measured and remarks on the functionality and usability of both techniques were noted. The results were compared applying the difference test between means in the Statistica 6.0 software.

3 Results and Discussion

In order to test the compatibility of tree assessment results with the TreesAnalyzer application in two seasons (in summer and winter season), the difference test between the means was performed.

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the crown performed in the winter amounted to 3.16/10 points and the one obtained in the summer was slightly higher and equaled to 3.28/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.43 and 1.90, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.7656. The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage within the trunk carried out in the winter was 2.4/10 points and obtained in the summer was slightly higher and amounted to 2.52/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.22 and 1.29, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.7369.

The mean probability assessment of toppling of the examined trees conducted in the winter with the use of the application was 2.72/10 points and calculated in the summer was slightly higher and amounted to 2.80/10 points. The standard deviation came to 1.62 and 1.68, respectively, which means that the differences between means (p) equaled 0.8646.

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the base of the trunk carried out in the winter using the application was 1.16/10 points and calculated in the summer was slightly higher and amounted to 1.68/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.62 and 1.37, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.2264 (Table 1).

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the fork in the winter was 3.12/10 points and calculated in the summer was slightly higher and amounted to 3.24/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.51 and 1.94, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) were 0.8082. It can be noticed that the winter assessment of trees was slightly higher than the summer one each time. The difference between the means (p) came to 0.3606. The differences are significant at p < 0.05. The significance tests carried out showed that there are no statistically significant differences in determining the probability of occurrence of the five events between the summer and winter tests.

Research sample	Breakage in the crown	Breakage of the trunk	Windthrow	Breakage in the base of the trunk	Breakage in the fork	Mean
Mean assessment of trees in winter	3.16	2.40	2.72	1.16	3.12	2.51
Standard deviation	1.43	1.22	1.62	1.62	1.51	1.64
Mean assessment of trees in summer	3.28	2.52	2.80	1.68	3.24	2.70
Standard deviation	1.40	1.29	1.68	1.37	1.94	1.64
i.e.:	2.84 ± 0.85					
The difference test between the means; Statistica 6.0	0.7656	0.7369	0.8646	0.2264	0.8082	0.3606

Table 1. Comparison of the compatibility of tree assessment results in the summer and winter using the TreesAnalyzer software

Figure 1 presents a comparison of the mean assessment of trees obtained in winter and summer. The mean probability assessment of tree fall taking into account all five events (regardless of the season) fell into the low $(0 \div 2.99)$ and medium (3–5.99) risk category. When analyzing the data, it can be noticed that in the winter season the assessment of trees gave milder results. This is due to the reduction of the crown's force resistance factor due to foliage loss. When analyzing individual cases of trees, it can be observed that only in the probability assessment of breakage in the crown and in the fork the results between the summer and winter scores differed by 2 and more points, which resulted in the change of the risk category from medium (5 points) to high (7 points). This applies to 8% of the tested sample. In other cases, the differences in scores did not change the risk category.



Fig. 1. Mean assessment of trees in winter and summer, including estimation of probability of: (P_K) breakage in the crown, (P_P) trunk breakage, (P_W) toppling, (P_N) trunk breakage in the base, (P_R) breakage in the fork.

In order to test the compatibility of the results of the tree assessment using two different assessment tools (paper sheet and Trees Analyzer application), a significance test of differences between the means was performed. The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the crown performed using the application amounted to 2.44/10 points and calculated in the sheets was slightly higher and reached the level of 2.84/10 points. The standard deviation was 0.96 and 0.85, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.1254.

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage within the trunk carried out using the application was 1.4/10 points and calculated in the sheet was slightly lower and amounted to 1.36/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.04 and 0.95, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.8877.

The mean probability assessment of toppling of the examined trees employing the application was 2.36/10 points and calculated in the sheet was slightly lower and amounted to 2.24/10 points. The standard deviation was 1.08 and 1.13, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.7028.

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the base of the trunk carried out by means of the application was 0.42/10 points and calculated in the sheet was slightly higher and amounted to 0.56/10 points. The standard deviation was 0.73 and 0.96, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.5643.

The mean probability assessment of examined trees breakage in the fork made using the application was 3/10 points and calculated in the sheet was slightly lower and amounted to 2.92/10 points. The standard deviation was 0.65 and 0.64, respectively, which means that the differences between the means (p) came to 0.663 (Table 2).

The differences are significant at p < 0.05. The significance tests carried out imply that there are no statistically significant differences in determining the probability of occurrence of the five events between the manual method and the digital one.

Research sample	Breakage in	Breakage	Windthrow	Breakage	Breakage	Mean
	the crown	of the		of the	in the	
		trunk		trunk base	fork	
Mean assessment of	2.44	1.4	2.36	0.42	3.00	1.92
trees using the						
application						
Standard deviation	0.96	1.04	1.08	0.73	0.65	1.28
Mean assessment of	2.84	1.36	2.24	0.56	2.92	1.98
trees using paper						
sheets						
Standard deviation	0.85	0.95	1.13	0.96	0.64	1.28
i.e.:	2.84 ± 0.85					
The difference test	0.1254	0.8877	0.7028	0.5643	0.663	0.7113
between the means;						
Statistica 6.0						

Table 2. The examination of the compatibility of tree assessment results using the TreesAnalyzer software and traditional paper sheets

Figure 2 shows a comparison of the mean assessment of trees obtained using the TreesAnalyzer application and the traditional paper sheets. The mean probability assessment of tree fall (Pu), taking into account all five events, fell into the low and medium risk category. Compared to the assessment of trees using traditional paper sheets, the use of the TreesAnalyzer application gave a slightly smoother results when assessing the probability of crown breakage (PK) and breakage in the base of the trunk (PN) as well as slightly higher in the case of other events.



Fig. 2. Mean assessment of trees using the TreesAnalyzer application and traditional paper sheets, including probability assessment of: (P_K) breakage in the crown, (P_P) trunk breakage, (P_W) toppling, (P_N) trunk breakage in the base, (P_R) breakage in the fork.

The time of tree assessment employing the traditional and digital method as well as in the summer and winter period was compared. The mean measurement time using paper sheets amounted to 11:42 min in summer and 09:44 min in winter. However, the assessment of the same trees using the TreesAnalyzer application shortened the mean time to 3:56 min in summer and 2:47 min in winter. The time of summer assessment of trees in both cases was longer due to the presence of foliage hindering the examination of boughs. A summary of the study time is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Mean time of tree assessment using the TreesAnalyzer application and a traditional paper sheet, in winter and summer.

During the research, remarks on practical usability of both tools were noted. A more efficient evaluation and a greater possibility of managing test results (transfer to a spreadsheet, database about a tree, etc.) are the assets of the electronic version. The use of the application, however, leads to the simplification of certain data such as the features of the habitat and features of the tree species, because it does not take into account individual cases, but is only based on general data on the sensitivity of tree species. Technical defects of the application were noticed. The biggest obstacle is the inability to edit the completed analysis. Possible errors noticed after the completion of the electronic sheet can be corrected by undoing particular steps of the evaluation, which results in the loss of data.

The season of the year is also a kind of hindrance. During the frosty or wet weather, the paper sheets get wet and the device on which the software has been installed does not always respond (no reaction to finger touch). It is also worth noting that a too sunny day is not a convenient time for measurement. The sun's rays make it impossible to read information on the screen of the device. Despite these inconveniences, the electronic method of evaluation is more suitable.

4 Conclusion

The research undertaken confirmed the usefulness of the WID method by Rosłon-Szeryńska (2006) for conducting ongoing control of trees in urbanized areas.

The application of the WID method in the TreesAnalyzer application shortened the time of tree assessment even three times, and tree assessment was easier and more convenient when the software was employed.

The comparative studies carried out confirmed that there were no statistically significant differences in determining the probability of falling of the tested tree sample, taking into account five events employing the traditional method and the TreesAnalyzer application.

The Difference in results the average assessment of the probability of falling of the tree, (depending on the season of the assessment) concerned only 8% of the tested sample. Compared to the assessment of trees using traditional paper sheets, the use of the TreesAnalyzer application gave a slightly smoother results when assessing the probability of crown breakage (PK) and breakage in the base of the trunk (PN) as well as slightly higher in the case of other events.

The research undertaken confirmed that the use of new technologies in the visual identification of trees has enormous potential.

Acknowledgement. Research for this document was financed from statutory activities in the Department of Landscape Architecture at the University of Life Sciences in Warsaw. In developing the research presented here, we received helpful data from the City Cleaning Management Authority in Warsaw.

References

- 1. Dunster, J., Smiley, E.T., Matheny, N., Lilly, S.: Tree Risk Assessment Manual. International Society of Arboriculture, Champaign (2013)
- Głogosz, J.: Zastosowanie metody WID (wizualnej identyfikacji drzew zagrażających bezpieczeństwu) do bieżącej kontroli drzew przyulicznych. Master Thesis. SGGW, Warsaw (2013)

- 3. Hart, K.: Tree risk assessment manual. Arboric. J. 36(3), 179-180 (2014)
- Ellison, M.J.: Quantified Tree Risk Assessment Practice Note. Version 5. V5.1.5 (US) 2016-03 (2015)
- Koeser, A.K., Hasing, G., McLean, D., Northrop, R.: Tree Risk Assessment Methods: A Comparison of Three Common Evaluation Forms. University of Florida IFAS Extension, ENH1226/EP487 (2016)
- Koeser, A.K., Hauerb, R.J., Miesbauerc, J.W., Peterson, W.: Municipal tree risk assessment in the United States: findings from a comprehensive survey of urban forest management. Arboric. J. 38(4), 218–229 (2016)
- 7. Mattheck, C., Bethge, K., Weber, K.: The Body Language of Trees. Verlag KIT, Karlsruhe (2015)
- Rosłon-Szeryńska, E., Nitecka-Frączyk, D., Gawłowska, A.: Management of hazardous trees in heritage areas. Technical Transactions. Architecture/Czasopismo Techniczne. Architektura 5-A/2015, pp. 205–223 (2015)
- Rosłon-Szeryńska, E.: Ocena zagrożenia bezpieczeństwa ludzi i mienia powodowanego przez drzewa o osłabionej statyce. Czasopismo Międzynarodowego Towarzystwa Uprawy i Ochrony Drzew 27, Kluczbork (2012)
- Rosłon-Szeryńska, E., Sikorski, P., Zaraś-Januszkiewicz, E.: The effectiveness of the visual method of hazard tree assessment (WID method) in the management of urban trees. Plants in Urban Areas and Landscape, pp. 89–93 (2014). http://dx.doi.org/10.15414/2014. 9788055212623.89-93
- 11. Smiley, E.T., Lilly, S., Matheny, N.: Tree Risk Assessment Best Management Practices Paperback, 2nd edn, p. 86. International Society of Arboriculture (2017)
- 12. Wessolly, L., Erb, M.: Manual of Tree Statics and Tree Inspection. Patzer Verlag, Berlin (2016)



Reducing the Environmental and Landscape Impacts of Quarries Using Windbreaks and Green-Isolation Zones

Bartosz Jawecki^{1(\boxtimes)}, Marek W. Lorenc¹, Katarzyna Tokarczyk-Dorociak¹, and Xiangdong Wei²

¹ Institute of Landscape Architecture, Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences, ul. Grunwaldzka 55, 50-357 Wrocław, Poland bartosz.jawecki@upwr.edu.pl

² Department of Environmental Sciences, School of Resource and Environment, Hunan Agricultural University, Changsha, Hunan 410128, China

Abstract. The study presents the conception of the windbreaks and the greenisolation limiting dust migration from the granite quarry. Local geology as well as the volume of stone production, technical parameters of rocks and assortment of manufactured aggregates are characterized. The authors have also discussed the climatic conditions with particular reference to prevailing directions of the wind. The article describes the physical-chemical properties of the land dumping grounds and the quarry ground-shafts. The suggested conception of the windbreaks and the green-isolation includes the planting of trees and shrubs within the quarry area and in the windbreaks adjacent to the quarry. The aim of the proposed planting is to reduce the wind speed, to capture the particles of dust and to improve the aesthetic values of the quarry, which will lead to a reduction of the pressure and negative impact of the quarry on the environment, landscape and local inhabitants.

Keywords: Windbreaks \cdot Green-isolation zones \cdot Quarry \cdot Environment \cdot Impact of the quarry \cdot Landscape \cdot Dust reduction \cdot Dust pollution

1 Introduction

Mining and quarrying natural resources results in the impact of the related activities on the environment, landscape and the living conditions of local residents. The operation of mines and quarries strongly affects the natural environment, leading to geomorphological transformations of the land (workings, tips), changes in the hydrological conditions, deterioration of air quality (dust), acoustic climate, reduction of the fauna and flora and a deterioration of the aesthetical values of the area [8, 11]. After the end of mining and quarrying operations it is possible to start dealing with the morphological deformations of the land and the absence of vegetation in order to give them an attractive form [1, 11, 24].

The influence on the environment that results from the mining, quarrying and processing of natural resources may cause local social conflicts [2], in particular referring to dust originating from rock grinding and sifting processes, blasting works,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 184–192, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_25

transport and loading of the excavated material and products, dust from technological roads and product storage facilities.

Appropriate designing and management of a mining and quarrying facility may limit the inconveniences connected with its operations, including by the application of dust emission reduction techniques [22], where the degree of reduction results from the undertaken technological and organizational activities [4]. Common methods of limiting dust emission include: sealing of processes, dust cleaning and sprinkling devices. Their efficiency may reach even up to 90%. Unfortunately, they are not free from disadvantages. The effectiveness of sprinkling depends on the manner of controlling and application of various types of profiling nozzles, the application is limited during the winter and the resulting waste pulp is difficult to store or to use. The sealing of processes and dust cleaning are also difficult to apply, due to the specificity of technological processes. They also require high investment expenditures [22].

The volume of dust emission from quarry areas depends, among others, on the size of the airborne fraction of particles as well as on wind direction and speed [4]. At higher wind velocity, dust particles are lifted more efficiently and transported on larger distances [7, 13]. The amount of dust deposition decreases with the increase in the distance from the emitter and with the presence of various barriers on the route of the dust [25]. The conducted reforestation of mines and quarries may lower their negative influence on the environment. Trees planted in the vicinity of quarries act like filters, trapping dust particles in their leaves or like screens by lowering wind velocity and enabling earlier deposition of dust [15].

Open-work windbreaks (average permeability 50%) provide the highest values of wind velocity reduction, by approx. 60% of the initial speed [3], although on ground level the wind velocity is reduced on the average by approx. 25–30%. On the leeward side, the positive influence of the tree belt is felt at a distance equivalent to 15–20 times its height. However, the most beneficial effects are noted at the distance of approx. 8 times the height of the trees. The tree belt will achieve the size enabling windbreaks at the height of approx. 10 m, i.e. 10 years after planting [3]. It is assumed that the application of windbreak barriers may enable the reduction in emission from storage tips by 30% [18]. Moreover, the trees and windbreaks will have a positive influence on the landscape values of the quarry and its surroundings [10].

2 Methodology, Objective and Scope of the Study

The authors conducted a literature review and analyzed source materials to define the following: quarrying volume, climatic conditions, geological conditions and partly soil conditions. Soil samples were collected from the quarry area (tips and embankments made from humus overburden and tailings that form the acoustic screen – soil embankment) in order to determine their basic physical and chemical properties. Samples were collected at the depth of 0–20 cm, at 4 locations (Fig. 1). Laboratory analyses were conducted at the Regional Chemical Agricultural Station in Wroclaw (accredited by the Polish Centre for Accreditation, No. AB 779), using reference methods of analysis. The content of macroelements was evaluated in compliance with the guidelines of the Cultivation and Fertilization Institute in Puławy [6, 23]. The

evaluation of the suitability of the analyzed formations for reclamation [12, 19] was conducted with use of the Skawina method and the (simplified) point bonitation method [12]. The site inspection involved the determination of the species composition of tall greenery.



Fig. 1. Location of the "Siedlimowice" granite quarry and design of the windbreaks and greenisolation in the quarry. Zones: 1 – plantings along the road (windbreaks), 2 – multi-level protection screen, 3 – plantings along the drainage ditch (windbreaks), 4 – plantings along the road (isolation and windbreaks), 5 – landscaping arrangement, 6 – spatial barrier, 7 – supplementation of existing greenery, 8 – plantings along the road (windbreaks), 9. – protection of village (windbreaks), 10 – first barrier (windbreaks). A–D sampling sites of soil and land. (Author: B. Jawecki, map from the Marshal of Lower Silesia Voivodeship resources on license No. MGW-I.7522.70.2018_02_CL2, for Bartosz Jawecki).

The objective of this study is to present a concept of introducing windbreaks and a green-isolation belt with the aim to create a spatial barrier limiting dust emission from the quarrying and technological processes at the Siedlimowice Granite Quarry, and thus to protect the Siedlimowice village from granite dust. Apart from protective tall greenery zones located in the area of the quarry, the authors propose windbreaks located in areas adjacent to the quarry. Windbreaks were designed along the roads and drainage ditches, so as not to interfere with areas of agricultural production. The aim of the designed green isolation is to capture airborne dust particles on leaves and branches and to reduce the wind velocity, as well as to improve the aesthetical and landscaping values of the quarry and its surroundings. Basing on the available data including the quarrying volume, the range of manufactured products, climatic conditions (in

particular wind) properties of soils and land and the existing tall greenery a spatial arrangement of vegetation was proposed along with the relevant composition of species of trees and bushes. The intention of the concept was to use mainly native species of trees and bushes.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Location, Geology, Resources and Quarrying Characteristics

The "Siedlimowice" granite quarry is located in the Lower Silesian Voivodeship, Swidnicki County, Żarów commune, approx. 40 km south-west from Wroclaw and 1 km west from the Siedlimowice village (Fig. 1). The quarry is located in the Sudetian Foothills, in the eastern part of the Strzegomskie Hills, on the border of the Swidnicka Plain [12].

This area is a part of the Strzegom-Sobótka granitoid massif that spreads from the vicinities of Jawor to the south-east up to the Sobótka. The Massif itself is composed of four types of granitoids: biottite-hornblende monzogranite, biotite granite, two-mica granite and biotite granodiorite [14]. The Siedlimowice village is located precisely half way between the Strzegom and Sobótka towns. The granite that occurs there is the two-mica alkaline granite with transition to monzogranite. This kind of rock has much finer grain than both biotite granite and granodiorite, its colour is lighter because of the presence of muscovite, and it has a directional structure along which numerous enclaves, quite common in other rock types [14].

The operations of the "Siedlimowice" quarry, where the rock extraction is conducted with use of open pit and long-wall methods consists of the quarrying area (16.92 ha) and deposit area (11.69 ha). The estimated amount of geological resources at the end of 2016 was 9911 thousand tons and the quarrying volume remains on the level of approx. 1 million tons per year. The quarried rock is used for the production of crushed-stone aggregate, stone aggregate and regular elements, among others for the road, railway and hydro-technical engineering industry [16, 17]. Different kinds of quarried rocks from Lower Silesia are used as construction materials in buildings in other architecture objects [9, 11].

3.2 Climatic Conditions

The quarry is located in the area of a transitional (foothill) climatic region. The climate is mild, warm and moderately humid. The solar conditions in the analyzed area do not show significant differences. The average annual temperature is 8 °C, with July being the warmest month (mean temperature 14 °C) and January the coldest (mean-temperature -2 °C). The vegetation period lasts for 220 days when temperature in the vegetation period is lower than 14 °C. The number of clear days is 55. Total annual precipitation is on the level of 630 mm. This area is dominated by western winds: north-western in winter and south-western in summer [5, 20]. The western winds account for 26% of directional frequency, while southwestern ones account for 12%. Northern and north-eastern winds occur most rarely (5%), while atmospheric stills account for 10–15%. Average wind

velocities fall into the range from 2.5–3.0 m \times s⁻¹, with a low share of strong and very strong winds (velocity exceeding 10 m \times s⁻¹). The windiest months are December and January, while July and August are the calmest [5].

3.3 Soil-Samples Conditions

In the direct proximity of the quarry the soil is of the IIIa and IVa class arable soils, classified as good wheat-soil and defective wheat-soil [21].

The analyzed samples are classified as light soils (sample A), medium soils (sample B) and heavy soils (samples C and D). The formations in the embankments are also characterized by a significant share of skeletal structures, mainly stone rubble from the overburden. The pH of the analyzed soils was acidic and strongly acidic, so they will require liming in order to increase the low pH. The content of assimilable forms of NPKMg varied. The nitrogen content was either very low (samples A and B) or very high (samples C and D). The content of phosphorus was classified as very low in all analyzed samples. The content of potassium (K) was evaluated as medium (samples A, B, C) and low. Magnesium (Mg) content was generally very good: average in samples C and D, very high and high in samples B and A, respectively. The low content of organic coal observed in the analyzed soils proved their mineral nature. The content of mineral nitrogen was classified as very low (samples A and B) and very high (samples C and D). It should be noted that the constructed tips and embankments are artificial formations and as such they are characterized by high variability of chemical and physical properties. The evaluation of the suitability of the analyzed formations for reclamation demonstrated that these formations are potentially productive and suitable for the introduction of trees and bushes after improving melioration activities have been conducted.

3.4 General Characteristics of Existing Tall Greenery

Tall greenery in the area of the Siedlimowice granite quarry consists of scattered, irregularly arranged groups, mostly concentrated in the external belt of soil embankments surrounding the quarry. The composition of plants is clearly characterized by a significant share of species of a wide range of environmental tolerance. The dominant species are: *Betula pendula, Prunus avium, Populus tremula, Salix caprea, Crataegus monygyna* and *Cytisus scoparius*. Most of the trees and shrubs are located in the lowest parts of the protection embankments, which is probably due to the beneficial water and soil conditions. In the areas adjacent to the quarry there are also mid-field groves and thickets (to the north and east of the quarry) and a forest complex located to the south-east of the quarry. Along the Mrowiny-Siedlimowice road there is a section with trees on both sides, dominated by *Tilia cordata* trees in the area of the Siedlimowice village, while single trees and shrubs grow next to the Siedlimowice-Kalno road [10].

3.5 Design Concept of Windbreaks and the Zones of Green-Isolation in the Siedlimowice Quarry

In order to limit dust emission to the areas surrounding the quarry it is necessary to create barriers – tall greenery screens and windbreaks. In order to improve their operational efficiency, the location of such spatial barriers should take into account dominant wind directions. Greenery screens should be adapted to the existing spatial conditions (soil embankments), soil and (micro) climatic conditions. Due to the disadvantageous water and soil conditions, greenery should be planted at the bottom and at the maximum, up to 0.5 of the height of soil embankments. The proposed greenery screens should be varied in terms of layer structure (a layer of tall trees, a layer of medium-height shrubs and a layer of low bushes) and the composition of species. The screens should be located in the direct proximity of the quarry as well as in parts of the surrounding areas, such as access roads and drainage ditches [10].

The land development design is based on the assumption that the space in question will be divided into several functional zones (Fig. 1) and windbreaks. Zones 1, 3, 8 (Crataegus monogyna - respectively 40 pcs., 40 pcs., 45 pcs.) involve the creation of windbreaks along the country road located to the north-west of the quarry and the drainage ditch between the fields east of the quarry and the road near Siedlimowice village. An irregular arrangement of shrubs is proposed for these zones. Zone 2 (Betula pendula - 50 pcs., Prunus avium - 15pcs., Pinus nigra or Pinus sylvestris - 10 pcs., Cytisus scoparius - 140 pcs., Rosa canina - 140 pcs.) includes an earthwork acoustic screen with a multi-level greenery screen. Zone 4 (Populus nigra 'Italica' - 190 pcs., Rosa canina - 10 pcs.) consists of a road belt spreading from the main road to the quarry, consisting of an open-work spatial barrier in form of a row of tall trees. Zone 5 (Salix purpurea - 300 pcs., Salix caprea - 300 pcs., Salix viminalis - 1500 pcs. Sorbus aucuparia - 20 pcs.) is a landscaping arrangement located in the western part of the quarry. The major part of the arrangement consists of shrubs with additional single specimens of trees. In Zone 6 (Salix caprea - 20 pcs.), which is a spatial barrier consisting of existing greenery located in the western part of the quarry, only supplementary plantings are foreseen with the aim to densify the existing vegetation belt. Zone 7 (Crataegus monogyna - 30 pcs., Cytisus scoparius - 20 pcs.) is located in the northern part of the quarry, on the non-exploited part of the deposit. Due to the possible start of excavations in the future and the presence of existing tall greenery, the authors suggest only supplementary planting of shrubs [10]. Zone 9 (Tilia cordata - 25pcs.) is the last windbreak before Siedlimowice village. The last zone no. 10 (Populus nigra 'Italica' - 160 pcs.) is the first protection windbreak whose role is to decrease (reduce) wind speed before the quarry.

4 Conclusion

Dust emission from quarries often takes the form of unorganized emission that originates from stone excavation and processing (e.g. blasting works, grinding, sifting and loading of raw material) and secondary emission (from transport inside the quarry, loading finished products or tips of finished product). Dust generated by the quarry may often cause social conflicts. The use of technological methods (such as sprinkling, dust cleaning and production sealing) results in a significant limitation of dust emission. Technological methods of reducing dust emission should be supplemented by belts of insulation and protective greenery planted within the quarry area but also windbreaks created in the external direct and indirect surroundings. Apart from reducing dust emission, green-isolation and windbreaks will have a positive influence on the land-scape values of the quarry, improving its aesthetical aspects and its perception by the local community.

Green-isolation should be introduced in the parts of the quarrying area that are currently (and were in the past) excluded from excavation and processing operations as well as on tips and earthwork protective screens. The greenery will act as a filter that traps dust particles on leaves and branches and reduce wind velocity in the quarry area. Typical environmental conditions that exist in quarrying areas are usually difficult for plants. This refers in particular to the availability of nutrients and water. A good solution is to support the growth of self-sowing plants. If additional trees and shrubs are planted it is recommended to use species that naturally exist within the quarrying area or pioneer species. In order to accelerate the result in form of dust emission limitation it is acceptable to use fast-growing alien species. In order to maintain the dust limitation results in winter it is recommended to introduce evergreen species of conifer trees. The planting of green barriers and screens conducted in the quarrying area should be supplemented by the creation of windbreaks surrounding the quarry. An appropriate arrangement of such barriers should contribute to the reduction of wind velocity and the limitation of blowing dust particles out of the excavation area. As far as plantings proposed for the zones located outside the quarry area are concerned, the consent of land owners or tenants should be obtained. Local communities and territorial selfgovernment bodies often foster and support such projects.

Even if technological methods are used, it is extremely difficult to completely eliminate dust emission (in particular secondary emission) from the area of a granite quarry. Thus, technological methods of limiting dust emission should be supplemented by belts of isolation and protection greenery planted within the quarry area, but also windbreak belts created in the direct and indirect external surroundings. They will influence the modification of wind conditions and limit the expansion of dust to adjacent areas, as well as improve the aesthetical and landscaping values of the quarry.

Following the analysis of the design concept of green isolation zones and windbreaks at the Sedlimowice Granite Quarry, we arrived at the following conclusions:

- 1. Green isolation zones and windbreaks should play the role of green filters and reduce granite dust emission from the quarry, acting as a supplement for the technical and organizational methods lowering dust emission from the quarry.
- 2. The system of windbreaks around the quarry should influence to reduce wind velocity and thus reduce the volume and range of dust emission from granite quarry.
- 3. Green isolation zones and windbreaks designed around the quarry, should decrease the negative visual impact of quarry elements on the perception of quarries in the landscape.

References

- Baczyńska, E., Lorenc, M.W., Kaźmierczak, U.: Research on the landscape attractiveness of the selected abandoned quarries. Int. J. Min. Reclam. Environ. 1–19 (2017). https://doi.org/ 10.1080/17480930.2017.1386756
- Badera, J.: Konflikty społeczne na tle środowiskowym związane z udostępnianiem złóż kopalin w Polsce. Gospodarka Surowcami Mineralnymi 26(1), 105–125 (2010)
- Bernacki, B., Karg, J.: Zadrzewienia śródpolne jako bariery antyerozyjne i biogeochemiczne. In: Problem erozji gleb w procesie przemian strukturalnych na obszarach wiejskich. Studia I Raporty IUNG – PIB, vol. 10, pp. 59–68 (2008)
- Dziugieł, M., Bogacki, M.: Metodyka wyznaczania emisji niezorganizowanej pyłu do powietrza z dróg oraz eksploatacji składowisk w kopalni odkrywkowej surowców mineralnych. Przegląd Górniczy 69(12), 68–74 (2013)
- Environmental Impact Report Crushed Aggregate Production Plant Siedlimowice in the Siedlimowice Granite Quarry, Manuscript (2005)
- Grabowski, J., Piszcz, R.: Azot mineralny. Okręgowa Stacja Chemiczno-Rolnicza w Białymstoku (2010). http://odr.zetobi.com.pl/roslinna/rosl037.html. Accessed 25 Apr 2012
- Hussein, T., Abu Al-Ruz, R., Petäjä, T., Junninen, H., Arafah, D.-E., Hämeri, K., Kulmala, M.: Local air pollution versus short–range transported dust episodes: a comparative study for submicron particle number concentration. Aerosol. Air Qual. Res. 11(2), 109–119 (2011)
- Jawecki, B., Dąbek, P.B., Pawęska, K., Wei, X.: Estimating water retention in post-mining excavations using LiDAR ALS data for the Strzelin quarry, in lower Silesia. Mine Water Environ. 37, 744–753 (2018)
- Jawecki, B., Lorenc, M.W., Tokarczyk-Dorociak, K.: Quarries in landscape of Strzelin County – native rock materials in local architecture. Z. Dt. Ges. Geowiss. (German J. Geol.) 166(2), 205–225 (2015)
- Jawecki, B., Szopińska, E., Łaska, A.: Land development study of the area of the "Siedlimowice" Granite Quarry. Study ordered by Mineral Polska Sp. z o.o., Manuscript, p. 22, Annex 6. Wrocław (2012)
- 11. Jawecki, B.: Rola kamieniołomów w kształtowaniu krajobrazu na przykładzie ziemi strzelińskiej. Wyd. UP we Wrocławiu, Wrocław (2017)
- 12. Karczewska, A.: Ochrona gleb i rekultywacja terenów zdegradowanych. Wyd. UP we Wrocławiu, Wrocław (2012)
- Lin, C.-Y., Wang, Z., Chen, W.-N., Chang, S.-Y., Chou, C.C.K., Sugimoto, N., Zhao, X.: Long-range transport of Asian dust and air pollutants to Taiwan: observed evidence and model simulation. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 7, 423–434 (2007)
- Lorenc, M.W.: Dolnośląskie masywy granitoidowe jako potencjalne składowisko odpadów promieniotwórczych. Przegląd Geologiczny 47(8), 723–730 (1999)
- Madungwe, E., Mukonzvi, T.: Assessment of distribution and composition of quarry mine dust: case of Pomona stone quarries, Harare. Atmos. Clim. Sci. 2(1), 52–59 (2012)
- 16. MIDAS: System for the Protection and Management of Mineral Resources. http://geoportal. pgi.gov.pl/midas-web/pages/index.jsf?conversationContext=4. Accessed 03 May 2018
- Mineral Polska. http://www.mineral-cesko.com/pl-1/kopalnie-oferta/polska-ii/contactid_ 281/kopalnia-granitu-siedlimowice.aspx. Accessed 15 Sept 2015
- National Pollutant Inventory Emission Estimation Technique Manual for Mining. http:// www.npi.gov.au/system/files/resources/7e04163a-12ba-6864-d19a-f57d960aae58/files/ mining.pdf. Accessed 08 Sept 2015
- Paulo, A.: Przyrodnicze ograniczenia wyboru kierunku zagospodarowania terenów pogórniczych. Gospodarka Surowcami Mineralnymi 24(2/3), 9–40 (2008)

- 20. Resolution No. V/24/2011 of the Municipal Council of Żarów of January 27, 2011 on adopting the updated "Environment Protection Programme for the Żarów Commune"
- 21. Śliwowski, M., Podralski, K..: Development and agricultural plan of the Żarów commune (Manuscript), p. 168 (2011)
- 22. Stefanicka, M.: Techniczne metody ograniczania zapylenia w zakładach kruszyw i ocena ich skuteczności. Min. Sci. **20**, 71–85 (2013)
- 23. Tkaczyk, P.: Report on the state of the environment in the Lubelskie Voivodeship 2005 yr. Soil. Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Lublin (2006)
- Tokarczyk-Dorociak, K., Lorenc, M.W., Jawecki, B., Zych-Głuszyńska, K.: Post-industrial landscape transformation and its application for geotourism, education and recreation – an example of the Wide Mt. near Strzegom, Lower Silesia/Poland. Z. Dt. Ges. Geowiss. (German J. Geol.) 166(2), 195–203 (2015)
- Watson, J.G., Chow, J.C., Chen, L., Wang, X., Merrifield, T.M., Fine, P.M., Barker, K.: Measurement system evaluation for upwind/downwind sampling of fugitive dust emissions. Aerosol. Air Qual. Res. 11(4), 331–350 (2011)



An Analysis of Intense Rainfalls in Cracow Area

Elżbieta Jarosińska^(⊠)
^[D]

Cracow University of Technology, Cracow, Poland elzbieta.jarosinska@pk.edu.pl

Abstract. The study involves an analysis of intense rainfall events determined based on data from 21 precipitation stations located in the area of Cracow. The data was extracted from rainfall sequences from years 2013–2017 at the Municipal Water and Sewage Company (MPWiK [*Miejskie Przedsiębiorstwo Wodociągów i Kanalizacji*]) in Cracow. The analysis was carried out using the sequences of highest intensity from the summer months, i.e. VI–IX. Applying the Chomicz scale, identified were the types of rainfalls which occurred in Cracow in the observed time. It has been shown that the two types of intense rainfall, rainstorms and heavy rainfalls, were prevalent in the selected years of observation whereas regular types were infrequent. Analysed were rainfalls which occurred on the same day of the given observation year at all of the precipitation stations of the MPWiK in Cracow.

Keywords: Intense rainfalls \cdot Rainfall events \cdot Urban catchment \cdot Chomicz scale

1 Introduction

Extreme phenomena occurring in urban catchments have become part of reality. Observable changes in the character of the rainfalls currently occurring during summer months [13] and the increasing trend of urban catchment sealing [3, 4, 17] pose new challenges related to local floodings or floods in general which are urgent issues to be resolved. Special attention should be placed on maximum rainfalls, especially of the following types: heavy rainfalls, rainstorms and torrential rains occurring in urban catchments [10] with varied intensity in different parts within a city. Short-duration intense rainfalls are responsible for the highest discharges in rain water drainage or combined sewage systems [11]. It is currently necessary to carry out systematic observations and quantitative research of those. As a consequence of this research, it may be possible to make appropriate decisions related to rational rainwater management in cities [1, 2, 5, 16], especially knowing that rainstorms in Cracow are predicted to occur more often than before [6].

This study, based on the precipitation data collected by the Municipal Water and Sewage Company in Cracow, presents an analysis of intense rainfalls which occurred in Cracow. This study is a continuation and exploration of a previous research [7].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 193–202, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_26

2 Material and Method

Measurement data of precipitation formed observation sequences recorded in years 2013–2017 at 21 gauging stations located in Cracow, south of Poland (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Locations of the MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow (source: own work based on the map from MPWiK)

Based on the available precipitation data, identified were rainfalls from summer months VI–IX for each of the stations. The identification of the rainfalls was performed using a criterion of Wischmeier and Smith, commonly applied by researchers both in Poland [12] and abroad [8, 9, 14, 15]. According to this, rainfall was defined as precipitation of minimum 1.3 mm of volume during maximum period of 6 h and however an interval lasting 6 h or a total volume of less than 1.3 mm for 6 h, demanded further separation of the phenomenon into two rainfalls. As a result, 1583 independent rainfalls of varied duration were identified, including 815 of duration up to 6 h (Table 1) which constitutes 51.5% of all precipitation events.

Table 1. The number of rainfalls identified based on the selected criterion at the 21 MPWiK precipitation stations in the area of Cracow; gray field – no data (own work).

Precipitation station	Rzepichy	Lindego	OŚ Kostrze	Zawiła	Senatorska	Witkowice	Pomp. Wilga	PFZ Stojałowskiego	Syfon Dąbie	OŚ Płaszów	Pomp. Jeziorany	Pomp. Żaglowa	OŚ Kujawy	Chabrowa	Rybna	Kampus UJ	Reduta	Narciarska	Bełzy	Krzemionki	Miedziana
year								nu	ımber	of rai	nfalls	n									
2013	11	4	6	19	13	5	18	13	13	11	16	15	7								
2014	14	15	16	19	15	19	17	17	17	25	18	20	17	3		1		1			
2015	6	10	10	16	13	12		11	0	15	11	16	7	6	2	9	13	15			14
2016	3	11	0	14	4	11	10	11		16	15		14	13		15	16	12	5	14	13
2017				5		0					0	20		7			5	6			4
Sum	34	40	32	73	45	47	45	52	30	67	60	71	45	29	2	25	34	34	5	14	31
All	92	79	63	129	86	89	95	109	65	110	112	123	79	55	5	55	64	63	17	26	67
[%]	37	51	51	57	52	53	47	48	46	61	54	58	57	53	40	46	53	54	29	54	46

For each rainfall the Chomicz scale [9] was used to compute rainfall depth h, duration t, intensity I, efficiency α and rainfall type to determine maximum rainfall events, especially heavy rainfalls, rainstorms and torrential rains. For further analysis selected were only those rainfalls of intensity $I > 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$. There was a total of 144 rainfalls of this kind. At the next stage of the analysis, from among those 144 rainfalls selected were those which occurred on the same day of a given year at different stations. The findings were: on 10 June 2013 observed were rainfalls which occurred on the area represented by five precipitation stations, i.e. Rzepichy, Zawiła, Senatorska, Pomp, Wilga and PFZ Stojałowskiego (Table 2), on 15 and 31 July 2014 observed were rainfalls which occurred on the area represented by nine precipitation stations, i.e. Zawiła, Senatorska, Witkowice, Pomp. Wilga, PFZ Stojałowskiego, Syfon Dąbie, OŚ Płaszów, Pomp. Jeziorany and Pomp. Żaglowa (Table 3), on 16 August 2015 observed were rainfalls which occurred on the area represented by fifteen precipitation stations, i.e. Lindego, Kostrze, Zawiła, Senatorska, Witkowice, PFZ Stojałowskiego, OŚ Płaszów, Pomp. Jeziorany, Pomp. Żaglowa, Chabrowa, Rybna, Kampus UJ, Reduta, Narciarska and Miedziana (Table 4), on 25 and 26 June 2016 observed were rainfalls which occurred on the area represented by ten precipitation stations, i.e. Witkowice, Pomp. Wilga, PFZ Stojałowskiego, OŚ Płaszów, Chabrowa, Kampus UJ, Reduta, Narciarska, Krzemionki and Miedziana (Table 5) and on 1 September 2017 observed were rainfalls which occurred on the area represented by five precipitation stations, i.e. Zawiła, Pomp. Żaglowa, Chabrowa, Narciarska and Miedziana (Table 6) (Fig. 2).

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Durati of rair t	on Ifall	Intensity of rainfall I		Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according
	[dd-mm-yy]	[dd-mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	to Chomicz
Rzepichy	10.06.13 18:00	10.06.13 20:40	18.8	170	2.8	0.11	6.64	1.44	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Zawiła	10.06.13 18:10	10.06.13 20:10	13.0	130	2.2	0.10	6.00	1.14	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Senatorska	10.06.13 18:20	10.06.13 20:40	15.8	150	2.5	0.11	6.32	1.29	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Pomp. Wilga	10.06.13 18:20	10.06.13 20:20	15.0	130	2.2	0.12	6.92	1.32	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
PFZ Stojałowskiego	10.06.13 18:20	10.06.13 21:00	17.6	170	2.8	0.10	6.21	1.35	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)

Table 2. The characteristics of rainfalls of intensity $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$ from 10 June 2013 at different MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow (own work).

Table 3. The characteristics and types of rainfalls of intensity $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$ from 15 and 31 July 2014 at different MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow (own work).

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of	Rainfall depth h	Durati of rain	on Ifall	Intensity of r	ainfall I	Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according to
		rainfall		t			1	0.5	Chomicz
	[dd-mm-	[dd-mm-	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	
	yy]	yy]							
Senatorska	15.07.14	15.07.14	9.4	50	0.8	0.19	11.28	1.33	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
	13:20	14:00							

(continued)

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of	Rainfall depth h	Durati of rain	on Ifall	n Intensity of rainfall I all		Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according to
	[dd-mm- yy]	[dd-mm- yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	Chomicz
Witkowice	15.07.14 13:10	15.07.14 13:40	9.4	40	0.7	0.24	14.10	1.49	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Pomp. Wilga	15.07.14 13:20	15.07.14 14:00	30.4	50	0.8	0.61	36.48	4.30	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
PFZ Stojałowskiego	15.07.14 13:30	15.07.14 14:20	27.6	60	1.0	0.46	27.60	3.56	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Syfon Dąbie	15.07.14 13:20	15.07.14 14:50	13.4	100	1.7	0.13	8.04	1.34	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
OŚ Płaszów	15.07.14 13:30	15.07.14 15:00	12.4	100	1.7	0.12	7.44	1.24	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Zawiła	31.07.14 17:50	31.07.14 19:20	15.8	100	1.7	0.16	9.48	1.58	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
Senatorska	31.07.14 18:10	31.07.14 19:50	21.4	110	1.8	0.19	11.67	2.04	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)
Witkowice	31.07.14 19:00	31.07.14 20:00	7.8	70	1.2	0.11	6.69	0.93	Regular rainfall
Syfon Dąbie	31.07.14 18:20	31.07.14 20:50	18.2	160	2.7	0.11	6.83	1.44	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
OŚ Płaszów	31.07.14 18:30	31.07.14 19:30	31.0	70	1.2	0.44	26.57	3.71	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Pomp. Jeziorany	31.07.14 18:50	31.07.14 19:50	21.2	70	1.2	0.30	18.17	2.53	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Pomp. Żaglowa	31.07.14 19:00	31.07.14 20:00	26.6	70	1.2	0.38	22.80	3.18	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)

 Table 3. (continued)

Table 4.	The	characteris	stics and	types	of rain	nfalls o	f inte	ensity I	\leq	0.10 mm	\min^{-1}	from	16
August 2	015 a	at different	MPWiK	precip	oitation	station	s in (Cracow	v (ov	vn work).			

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Duration of rain t	on fall	Intensity of r	ainfall I	Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according
	[dd-mm-yy]	[dd-mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	$[mm \ h^{-1}]$	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	to Chomicz
Lindego	16.08.15 13:50	16.08.15 16:40	41.2	180	3.0	0.23	13.73	3.07	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Kostrze	16.08.15 13:30	16.08.15 16:20	33.0	180	3.0	0.18	11.00	2.46	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Zawiła	16.08.15 14:00	16.08.15 17:00	22.2	190	3.2	0.12	7.01	1.61	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Senatorska	16.08.15 14:00	16.08.15 17:00	59.4	190	3.2	0.31	18.76	4.31	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
Witkowice	16.08.15 14:20	16.08.15 17:10	25.4	180	3.0	0.14	8.47	1.89	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
PFZ Stojałowskiego	16.08.15 14:00	16.08.15 17:00	27.8	190	3.2	0.15	8.78	2.02	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
									(continued)

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Duration of rain t	on Ifall	Intensity of r	ainfall I	Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according
	[dd-mm-yy]	[dd-mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	to Chomicz
OŚ Płaszów	16.08.15 14:00	16.08.15 16:40	41.2	170	2.8	0.24	14.54	3.16	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Pomp. Jeziorany	16.08.15 14:10	16.08.15 19:20	31.2	320	5.3	0.10	5.85	1.74	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Pomp. Żaglowa	16.08.15 13:00	16.08.15 15:50	37.2	180	3.0	0.21	12.40	2.77	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Chabrowa	16.08.15 14:10	16.08.15 17:00	18.2	180	3.0	0.10	6.07	1.36	heavy rain- fall (A ₀)
Rybna	16.08.15 13:40	16.08.15 16:40	32.8	190	3.2	0.17	10.36	2.38	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Kampus UJ	16.08.15 13:40	16.08.15 16:30	32.8	180	3.0	0.18	10.93	2.44	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Reduta	16.08.15 14:10	16.08.15 17:00	31.4	180	3.0	0.17	10.47	2.34	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Narciarska	16.08.15 13:10	16.08.15 16:00	50.8	180	3.0	0.28	16.93	3.79	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Miedziana	16.08.15 13:50	16.08.15 16:50	76.4	190	3.2	0.40	24.13	5.54	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)

 Table 4. (continued)

Table 5. The characteristics and types of rainfalls of intensity $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$ from 25 and 26 June 2016 at different MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow (own work).

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Durati of rair t	on Ifall	Intensity of rainfall I		Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according to
	[dd- mm-yy]	[dd- mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	$[mm min^{-1}]$	$[mm h^{-1}]$	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	Chomicz
PFZ Stojałowskiego	25.06.16 07:00	25.06.16 08:00	11.6	70	1.2	0.17	9.94	1.39	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
OŚ Płaszów	25.06.16 06:50	25.06.16 07:10	13.8	30	0.5	0.46	27.60	2.52	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)
Krzemionki	25.06.16 06:50	25.06.16 07:10	4.6	30	0.5	0.15	9.20	0.84	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Miedziana	25.06.16 07:10	25.06.16 07:20	2.6	20	0.3	0.13	7.80	0.58	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Witkowice	26.06.16 13:00	26.06.16 14:30	18.4	100	1.7	0.18	11.04	1.84	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)
Pomp. Wilga	26.06.16 12:40	26.06.16 13:30	17.0	60	1.0	0.28	17.00	1.20	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)

(continued)

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Duration of rain t	on Ifall	Intensity of r	ainfall I	Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according to
	[dd- mm-yy]	[dd- mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	Chomicz
PFZ Stojałowskiego	26.06.16 13:00	26.06.16 14:00	17.4	70	1.2	0.25	14.91	2.08	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)
OŚ Płaszów	26.06.16 12:50	26.06.16 13:30	8.4	50	0.8	0.17	10.08	1.19	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Chabrowa	26.06.16 13:00	26.06.16 13:20	6.6	30	0.5	0.22	13.20	1.20	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Kampus UJ	26.06.16 12:40	26.06.16 13:20	10.8	50	0.8	0.22	12.96	1.53	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
Reduta	26.06.16 13:00	26.06.16 13:40	10.0	50	0.8	0.20	12.00	1.41	III-degree rainstorm (A ₃)
Narciarska	26.06.16 13:00	26.06.16 13:40	5.0	50	0.8	0.10	6.00	0.71	I-degree rainstorm (A ₁)
Krzemionki	26.06.16 12:40	26.06.16 13:40	11.6	70	1.2	0.17	9.94	1.39	IV-degree rainstorm (A ₄)
Miedziana	26.06.16 12:50	26.06.16 13:20	15.2	40	0.7	0.38	22.80	2.40	I-degree torrential rain (B ₁)

 Table 5. (continued)

Table 6. The characteristics and types of rainfalls of intensity $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$ from 1 September 2017 at different MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow (own work).

Precipitation station	Start time of rainfall	End time of rainfall	Rainfall depth h	Duration of rainfall t		Intensity of rainfall I		Efficiency of rainfall α	Rainfall category according to
	[dd- mm-yy]	[dd- mm-yy]	[mm]	[min]	[h]	[mm min ⁻¹]	[mm h ⁻¹]	[mm min ^{-0.5}]	Chomicz
Zawiła	01.09.17 23:00	01.09.17 23:00	8.6	10	0.2	0.86	51.60	2.72	II-degree rainstorm (A ₂)
Pomp. Żaglowa	01.09.17 22:50	01.09.17 23:20	7.6	40	0.7	0.19	11.40	1.20	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Chabrowa	01.09.17 22:50	01.09.17 23:10	7.0	30	0.5	0.23	14.00	1.28	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Narciarska	01.09.17 22:50	01.09.17 00:50	13.4	130	2.2	0.10	6.18	1.18	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)
Miedziana	01.09.17 22:50	01.09.17 00:30	10.6	110	1.8	0.10	5.78	1.01	Heavy rainfall (A ₀)



Fig. 2. Maps of rainfalls of intensity $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$ during observation period from: (a) 10 June 2013, (b) 15 July 2014, (c) 31 July 2014, (d) 16 August 2015, (e) 25 June 2016, (f) 26 June 2016 and (g) 1 September 2017 in Cracow based on the MPWiK precipitation stations; the depth of the blue colour indicates increasing efficiency of rainfall α (source: own).

3 Analysis of Results

At the final stage, analysed were rainfalls which occurred on the same day of a given year at all of the MPWiK precipitation stations in Cracow. Determined were seven days of this kind from different observation years. In each case the start and end times of the rainfalls were identical, or their occurrences were marginally different. The longest duration, in minutes, between the start/end time of two different rainfalls was: 10 June 2013 - 20/50, 15 July 2014 - 20/100, 31 July 2014 - 70/90, 16 August 2015 - 80/210, 25 June 2016 -20/50, 26 June 2016 - 20/70 and 1 September 2017 - 10/110. The rainfall duration, in hours, in all of the cases was fairly equal and within the following range: 10 June 2013 – 2.2-2.8, 15 July 2014 - 0.7-1.7, 31 July 2014 - 1.2-2.7, 16 August 2015 - 2.8-5.3, 25 June 2016 - 0.3-1.2, 26 June 2016 - 0.5-1.7 and 1 September 2017 - 0.2-2.2. It is particularly worth noting that all rainfalls which occurred during the seven days of observation were predominantly of intense character and were within the Chomicz scale beginning with heavy rainfall type (A_0) and ending with type IV-degree rainstorm (A_0). Regular rainfalls occurred infrequently. In none of the analysed cases were torrential rainfalls observed. Rainfalls which occurred in June 2013 and September 2017 are of similar type according to Chomicz, the only difference being that on 10 June 2013 four out of five of them were heavy rainfalls (A₀) (Rzepichy, Senatorska, Pomp. Wilga, PFZ Stojałowskiego), and only one was a I-degree rainstorm (A_1) (Zawiła), whereas on 1 September 2017 four out of five rainfalls were heavy rainfalls (A₀) (Pomp. Żaglowa, Chabrowa, Narciarska, Miedziana), and only one was a II-degree rainstorm (A_2) (Zawiła). The prevailing type among the rainfalls which occurred in August 2015 was rainstorm and three out of 15 rainfalls which occurred on 16 August 2015 were I-degree rainstorms (A_1) (Zawiła, Witkowice, Pomp. Jeziorany), six of them – II-degree rainstorms (A₂) (Kostrze, PFZ Stojałowskiego, Pomp. Żaglowa, Rybna, Kampus UJ, Reduta), three – III-degree rainstorms (A₃) (Lindego, OŚ Płaszów, Narciarska), two IV degree rainstorms (A₄) (Senatorska, Miedziana) and one heavy rain (A_0) (Chabrowa). The type of rainfalls which occurred at the precipitation stations in July 2014 and June 2016 is changeable - in half of the cases it was rainstorm and in the other half heavy or regular rainfall. On 15 July 2014 the rainfall type was: one out of six were I-degree rainstorm (A_1) (Witkowice), one was III-degree rainstorm (A_3) (PFZ Stojałowskiego) and one case of IV-degree rainstorm (A_4) (Pomp. Wilga) and three out of heavy rainfalls (A_0) (Senatorska, Syfon Dabie, OŚ Płaszów). On 31 July 2014 two out of seven were I-degree rainstorms (A1) (Zawiła, Syfon Dabie), two II-degree rainstorms (A₂) (Senatorska, Pomp. Jeziorany), two III-degree rainstorms (A₃) (OŚ Płaszów, Pomp. Żaglowa) and one regular rainfall (Witkowice). On 25 June 2016 two out of the four rainfalls was: two regular rainfalls (Krzemionki, Miedziana), one heavy rainfall (A₀) (PFZ Stojałowskiego) and one I-degree rainstorm (A₁) (OŚ Płaszów), whereas on 26 June 2016, similarly to 10 June 2013, the prevailing type of rainfall was rainstorm and out of ten rainfalls there were: one regular rainfall (Narciarska), three heavy rainfalls (Chabrowa, OŚ Płaszów, Krzemionki), three I-degree rainstorm (A_1) (Witkowice, Kampus UJ, Reduta) and three II-degree rainstorms (A_2) (Pomp. Wilga, PFZ Stojałowskiego, Miedziana).

4 Conclusion

This study presents an analysis of intense rainfalls which occurred in Cracow between 2013 and 2017. These rainfalls were identified based on precipitation data from the records of the MPWiK in Cracow as rainfall events whose intensity, according to the selected criterion, was $I \ge 0.10 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$. The application of the Chomicz scale revealed their changeable characteristics in particular observation years, however there

was a tendency towards intense rainfalls. In 2013, out of 13 cases, there were 11 cases of intense rainfalls making up 85% of all rainfalls recorded (i.e. 46% of heavy rainfalls (A_0) , 23% of II-degree rainstorm (A_2) and 16% of I-degree rainstorm (A_1)), whereas only 2 cases were of regular rainfall, the remaining 15%. In 2014, out of 49 cases, there were 34 cases of intense rainfalls making up 69% of all rainfalls (i.e. 25% of I-degree rainstorms (A_1), 20% of heavy rainfalls (A_0), II- and III-degree rainstorms $(A_2 \text{ and } A_3 - 10\% \text{ for each})$ and 4% of IV-degree rainstorms (A_4)) and regular rainfalls occurred in 15 cases, the remaining 31%. In 2015, out of 39 cases, there were 25 intense rainfalls making up 64% (i.e. I-degree rainstorms (A₃) – 33%, II-degree rainstorms $(A_2) - 15\%$, III-degree rainstorms $(A_3) - 8\%$, heavy rainfalls - 5% and IVdegree rainstorms $(A_4) - 3\%$) and regular rainfalls occurred in 14 cases, the remaining 36%. This presents a similar ratio of intense to regular rainfalls as in 2014. In 2016, intense rainfalls made up 51% of all recorded rainfalls (i.e. heavy rainfalls (A_0) – 23%, then I- and II-degree rainstorms (A1 and A2) each making up 14% of all recorded rainfalls) as compared to the regular types of which there was 49%. It is visible in this year of observation that the number of intense rainfalls was similar to the number of the regular rainfalls. In 2017, 7 out of 8 cases were of intense character, making up 88% of all recorded rainfalls (i.e. heavy rainfalls (A_0) – 62%, II- and III-degree rainstorms (A_2 and A_3) – each making up 13%) and there was only 1 case of regular rainfall, which made up 12%.

Analysing the rainfalls which occurred on the same day of a given year at particular precipitation stations located at different distances but within an area of one city, Cracow, again have validated the popular statement that rainfall is a random phenomenon, changeable in time and space, as well as of changeable type according to the Chomicz scale. The changeable type of rainfalls could be attributed to different factors, e.g. related to meteorology, climate, landscape, geology, or an overlap of a number of weather phenomena, not necessarily of extreme character. However, these factors were not analyzed in this work. The fact, however, is that intense rainfalls occur more and more often in the city and their type is gradually becoming more intense, moving towards rainstorm. Therefore, it is necessary to continuously analyze them considering the benefits it offers to designing rainfall runoff from the area to the receiver where rainfall scenario is taken as input data for designing rainfall-runoff models, accurate computing the components of water balance in urban catchment or designing rainwater drainage systems.

Acknowledgment. This research was supported by the grant from Ministry of Science and Higher Education \$1/391/2018/DS. I would like to thank the MPWiK in Cracow for sharing the precipitation data.

References

 Burszta-Adamiak, E., Licznar, P., Zalewski, J.: Criteria for identifying maximum rainfall determined by the peaks-over-threshold (POT) method under the Polish Atlas of Rainfall Intensities (PANDa) project. Meteorol. Hydrol. Water Manag. 7(1) (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.26491/mhwm/93595

- Chocat, B., Ashley, R., Marsalek, J., Matos, M.R., Rauch, W., Schilling, W., Urbonas, B.: Towards the sustainable management of urban storm-water. Indoor Built Environ. 16, 273– 285 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1177/1420326X07078854
- Dams, J., Dujardin, J., Reggers, R., Bashir, I., Canters, F., Batellan, O.: Mapping impervious surface change from remote sensing for hydrological modelling. J. Hydrol. 485, 84–95 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.09.045
- Fox, D.M., Witz, E., Blanc, V., Soulié, C., Penalver-Navarro, M., Dervieux, A.: A case study of land cover change (1950–2003) and runoff in a mediterranean catchment. Appl. Geogr. 32(2), 810–821 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2011.07.007
- Hailegeorgis, T.T., Alfredsen, K.: Analyses of extreme precipitation and runoff events including uncertainties and reliability in design and management of urban water infrastructure. J. Hydrol. 544, 290–305 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.11.037
- Jania, J., Zwoliński, Z.: Ekstremalne zdarzenia meteorologiczne, hydrologiczne i geomorfologiczne w Polsce. [Extreme meteorological, hydrological and geomorphological events in Poland.] In: Zwoliński, Z. (ed.). Globalne zmiany klimatu i ich implikacje dla rzeźby Polski. Landform Analysis, vol. 15, pp. 51–64 (2011)
- Jarosińska, E.: An analysis of short duration high-intensity rainfall events in Cracow area. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas III(1) (2018). https://doi.org/10.14597/INFRAECO.2018.3.1.038
- Karami, A., Homaee, M., Neyshabouri, M.R., Afzalinia, S., Basirat, S.: Large scale evaluation of single storm and short/long term erosivity index models. Turk. J. Agric. For. 36, 207–216 (2012). https://doi.org/10.3906/tar-1102-24
- Kim, H.J., Song, J.A., Lim, Y., Chung, D.Y.: Evaluation of erosivity index (EI) in calculation of R factor for the RUSLE. Korean J. Soil Sci. Fert. 45(1), 112–117 (2012). https://doi.org/10.7745/KJSSF.2012.45.1.112
- Kotowski, A.: Metodyczne podstawy formułowania modeli opadów miarodajnych do wymiarowania kanalizacji [Methodological basis for formulating models of dependable precipitations for measuring sewerage systems]. Przegląd Geofizyczny 1–2, 45–68 (2011)
- Kotowski, A., Kaźmierczak, B., Dancewicz, A.: Modelowanie opadów do wymiarowania kanalizacji [Modeling of Precipitation for Dimensioning of the Sewage System]. Polska Akademia Nauk. Monografia, Warszawa (2010)
- Licznar, P., Łomotowski, J.: Analiza średnich natężeń deszczów miarodajnych we Wrocławiu [Analysis of time frequency distribution of maximal intensities of storms in the city of Wroclaw]. Ochrona Środowiska 27(1), 29–34 (2005)
- Moberg, A., et al.: Indices for daily temperature and precipitation extremes in Europe analysed for the period 1901–2000. J. Geophys. Res. 111(D22), 1–25 (2006). https://doi.org/ 10.1029/2006JD007103
- Renard, K.G., Foster, G.R., Weesies, G.A., McCool, D.K., Yoder, D.C.: Predicting Soil Erosion by Water; A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Agriculture Handbook Number 703 (1997)
- 15. Renard, K.G., Freimund, J.R.: Using monthly precipitation data to estimate the R factor in the revised USLE. J. Hydrol. **157**, 287–306 (1993)
- 16. Stahre, P.: Sustainability in Urban Storm Drainage: Planning and Examples. Svenskt Vatten, Stockholm (2006)
- Walsh, C.J., Roy, A.H., Feminella, J.W., Cottingham, P.D., Goffman, P.M., Morgan II, R.P.: The urban stream syndrome: current knowledge and the search for a cure. J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 24(3), 706–723. (2005). https://doi.org/10.1899/0887-3593(2005)024[0706: tussck]2.0.co;2



New Approach to Determine the Sum of the Active Temperatures (*SAT*) Exemplified by Weather Conditions of Western Malopolska

Wiesław Kowalski [™] and Grzegorz Nawalany[™]

Faculty of Environmental Engineering, Department of Rural Building, University of Agriculture in Krakow, al. Mickiewicza 24/28, 30-059 Kraków, Poland {w.kowalski,g.nawalany}@urk.edu.pl

Abstract. The paper presents results of research on thermal conditions around the town of Chrzanów in Western Malopolska (southern Poland). The conditions have been determined with the help of the parameter called "sum of active temperatures" (*SAT*), quite commonly used in climatology and particularly popular among wine growers. New approach in *SAT* concept has been performed: it's value has been calculated based on the results of temperature measurements in selected points of environment in which grapevine (*Vitis* – species) vegetation takes place, that is in the air and in the soil. Moreover, various definitions of "mean temperature" have been applied. The use of different calculation formulae lead to different *SAT* values. In some cases, the differences in the obtained *SAT* values reached several percent. This demonstrates the sensitivity of this "measure" in the context of applied computational techniques. Such a conclusion leads to the discussion on the usefulness of calculation formulae used in research on regional climatic conditions, especially in comparative analysis.

Keywords: Soil temperature · Mean temperature · Temperature sum · Comparative analysis · Grapevine

1 Introduction

The knowledge of regional climatic conditions is a prerequisite for making right decisions in agricultural activities. These conditions determine the amount of rainfall in different seasons, the amplitude of temperature in summer and winter, humidity variations, etc. The sum of active temperatures (*SAT*) belongs to the category of thermal measures. This concept binds, in a way, temperature value with its duration. *SAT* is calculated as the sum of daily mean temperatures throughout the growing season and it only can consist of values which are higher than T_{opt} . If daily mean temperature value which is conducive to the start of the growing season for a given plant species or temperature value that supports intensive growth. Often in classic climatological studies, T_{opt} values equal 5 °C, 10 °C or 15 °C, depending on the purpose of the research [3, 4, 7, 13, 15, 16, 18–20]. It can be assumed that the values refer to air

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 203–216, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_27

temperature in the space occupied by the green parts of the plant, but the procedure has not been precisely defined. In the case of extremely thermopilic crops, higher values of T_{opt} are assumed; in other cases – lower ones. For grapevine growing, taking into consideration the so-called *terroir*, $T_{opt} = 10$ °C is assumed [7, 13].

In climatological studies, *SAT* is calculated based on data from meteorological stations, where thermometers are placed in cages at the height of 2 m above the ground level. If *SAT* is designed to identify conditions favorable for plant life processes, mean temperature should be determined for these "areas" of the environment in which vegetation takes place. In the case of traditional crops, *SAT* should be determined in the air and in the soil at different depths (depending on the type of the root system); in the case of aquatic plants - in the air and water; in the case of epiphytes - in the air at the height typical for the plant.

2 Research Method

For the purposes of this study it was assumed that *SAT* will be determined in the "area" where grapevines grow, that is:

- in the air, at the height of 1 m above the ground level,
- in the air, at the height of 5 cm above the ground level,
- in the soil, approx 5 cm beneath the ground level,
- in the soil, at the depth of 25 cm.

Temperature measurements were conducted from 1 January to 31 December 2011 at the site located at N50.159539°, E19.384979° in the western part of the Malopolska region (southern Poland). The measurements were recorded at 1-min intervals. High frequency of data acquisition in temperature studies is necessary for analysis on conductive processes in the soil [1], especially when applying methods based on Fourier decomposition of temperature-course [14]. In this work, such a sampling frequency allows for clear identification of temperature changes over time, because the highest significant components of the process (from particular positions), have periods of several minutes, which was confirmed by preliminary measurements. According to the Nyquist theorem [2], it can be therefore assumed that the temperature courses described above, after conducting appropriate approximation in time, can be treated on a par with analog functions. The presented assumption has been applied in the data analysis.

As already mentioned, temperature measurements were carried out at different levels with the help of electronic sensors Pt-100 with low thermal inertia, useful for temperature measurements in climatologic studies [6]. For the purposes of this study, data from the following measurement points was used:

- POINT 1 in the air (shadowed), at the height of 1 m above the ground level, at least 10 m away from other objects. It was assumed that this is the level of the growing zone for the green part of the grapevine. In large scale vineyards fruit buds are formed and ripen at this level.
- POINT 2 in the air (non-shadowed), at the height of 5 cm above the ground level, just beneath the POINT 1. This is the zone of periodic inversion phenomena, which

result in sudden temperature falls or growths as a result of insolation. Different land covers modify conditions of surface heat transfer [5], so, since grapevine growing requires the maintenance of proper soil quality it was assumed, that temperature measurement will be conducted in the soil deprived of natural vegetation (bare fallow).

- POINT 3 in the soil, approx 5 cm beneath the ground level This is the zone of heat exchange between the ground and the air. During spring frosts this zone freezes the fastest.
- POINT 4 in the soil, at the depth of 25 cm
 This is the zone occupied by roots; mycorrhizal fungi also develop here [10].

Based on the obtained data, mean daily temperature was determined with the help of three different definitions of the mean, according to the formulas:

$$T_{mean} = \frac{1}{24 \,\mathrm{h}} \int_{0}^{24 \,\mathrm{h}} T(\tau) d\tau \tag{1}$$

$$T_{mean} = \frac{1}{2} \left(T_{max} + T_{min} \right) \tag{2}$$

$$T_{mean} = \frac{T_{max} + T_{min} + T_{8\,am} + T_{8\,pm}}{4} \tag{3}$$

According to World Meteorological Organisation proposal, daily mean temperature formulae should help better understanding local weather conditions, in particular country [12, 23]. Formula (1) corresponds to this recommendation. Time domain integration, applied here, was conducted after approximating discrete data. Such a definition of the mean represents its conceivably most accurate value.

Formula (2) is very popular in climatological works [12, 21, 22] but, in author's opinion, it's the mostly rough and misleading concept of the mean, having regard to its value in agricultural studies. Moreover, it's often calculated on the basis of simulated (not measured) values of T_{max} and T_{min} [9, 24]. It's value can be questioned also in cases of long time-lag measurements, neglecting Nyquist's theorem [2], that usually unables to capture extreme temperatures [10].

Formula (3) represents the concept of the mean adopted in 1996 by the Polish Institute of Meteorology and Water Management as the official method for analyzing the results of meteorological observations in Poland [8].

3 Results and Analysis

In accordance with the adopted assumption, *SAT* was calculated by summing up the mean daily temperatures (calculated with different mathematical formulae), provided that the mean values were higher than $T_{opt} = 10$ °C. The calculation started from the first day on which this condition was fulfilled. Since the use of different mathematical formulas to determine the mean temperature led to different results, there were

situations, especially in spring and autumn, when some of the calculated daily means met the condition $T_{mean} > T_{opt}$, and others did not. Hence *SAT* growth rate for particular mean temperature formulas is different. The process of summing began on the following dates:

- 12 March (formulae (1) and (2)) and 13 March for formula (3)—in point 1;
- 13 March (formulae (1) and (3)) and 12 March for formula (2)—in point 2;
- 15 March (formulae (1) and (3)) and 14 March for formula (2)—in point 3;
- 31 March (for all formulae)—in point 4;

A similar challenge concerns mean values obtained from different measurement points, but on the same day. Since daily mean temperature of air and soil at the surface and in the deeper layers are not the same, there were situations when measurement data from the sensors in the air led to $T_{mean} > T_{opt}$, while on the same day, in the ground $T_{mean} < T_{opt}$. The opposite also occurred. This phenomenon is caused by thermal inertia of the ground, which heats and cools slowly, and soil temperature (also mean temperature) follows the temperature of the air with a certain time shift.

The start and end of the growing season (we are analyzing grapevine growing conditions, but the problem applies to all plants) are not precisely defined points in time. They are not assigned to a specific day of the year. The period of plant growth has fuzzy time limits. It is often the case that vegetation period is inhibited as a result of periodic coolings even in late spring. Conversely, sometimes in the autumn, after the loss of leaves, flower buds can be observed as a result of periodically increased air temperatures. It should be noted here that the beginning and end of the growing season is specific for different species (in the case of grapevine: different seedlings). Therefore in this study, *SAT* is calculated starting from the point in time when mean temperature reached the sufficient level, without trying to resolve the starting time point of the vegetation season. The same applies to the end of the calculation period. The calculations were conducted until the end of November, although *SAT* growths ceased in the early days of this month, namely:

- 8 November for formula (1) and 9 November (formulae (2) and (3))—in point 1;
- 6 November for formula (1); 9 November for formula (2) and 8 November for formula (3)—in point 2;
- 7 November for formula (1); 9 November for formula (2) and 8 November for formula (3)—in point 3;
- 9 November (for all formulae)—in point 4;

The number of days in the year 2011, when $T_{mean} > 10$ °C, depended on where the measuring point was located and which calculation formula was used. It ranged from 200 to 220 days. Detailed information is shown in Fig. 1. For each measuring point, the use of formulas (1) and (3) gives comparable results, while formula (2) leads to an overestimation of the number of vegetation days.

Figures 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 depicts results of *SAT* calculations. The charts include the period from the first day when $T_{mean} > 10$ °C, that is from 12 March till the end of November.


Fig. 1. Number of days in 2011, when $T_{mean} > 10$ °C, in particular measurement points.



Fig. 2. *SAT* increase during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 1 m above the ground. The digits indicate the number of formulas used for determining daily mean temperature.

The graphs confirm that the use of different definitions of daily mean temperature leads to different *SAT* values. Table 1 summarizes the results of the calculations.



Fig. 3. SAT increase during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 5 cm above the ground.



Fig. 4. *SAT* increase during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 5 cm beneath the ground level, in the soil.

It is obvious that in certain periods *SAT* grew faster and in certain periods it increased slower. During summer heat waves, daily mean temperatures were higher than their counterparts in spring or autumn, and mean temperature is the time derivative of *SAT*:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(SAT) = T_{mean} \tag{4}$$

Measurement points	Calculated SAT values				
	Formula (1)	Formula (2)	Formula (3)		
1	3856	4091	3824		
2	3959	4563	3920		
3	4347	4685	4322		
4	4197	4226	4227		

Table 1. Calculated *SAT* values (rounded to integers) based on data from individual stations measuring temperature and the daily mean calculation with various mathematical formulae.

Which means that it determines the slope of the curve representing *SAT* increase in time. It is worth pointing out the share of each month of the growing season in the total, annual *SAT* value. This is presented for particular measurement positions in Figs. 6, 7, 8 and 9.



Fig. 5. *SAT* increase during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located in the soil, 25 cm beneath the ground level.

Having analyzed graphs in Figs. 6, 7, 8 and 9, it becomes clear that the use of different definitions of daily mean temperature leads to discrepancies in the established *SAT* values. Particularly large differences can be observed for measurement points where temperature changes are very dynamic: frequent and significant increases and decreases in temperature value. Such conditions occur primarily where air and soil are in contact. Surface soil layer is subject to the effects of sun exposure, which heats the air near the surface of the ground. In periods of variable cloudiness, the rate of temperature values are illustrated in the Figs. 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13. In all the figures, *SAT* monthly values are presented, calculated with different mathematical formulae.



Fig. 6. Monthly *SAT* increments during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 1 m above the ground level.



Fig. 7. Monthly *SAT* increments during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 5 cm above the ground level.

Therefore the following question arises here: which of the definitions for daily mean temperature best describes thermal conditions conducive to the growth of plants?

The concept of Sum of Active Temperatures is a result of synthetic approach to temperature and the time of its duration. Taking into consideration various stages of plant development (e.g. flowering, leaf growth, fruit development, the so-called



Fig. 8. Monthly *SAT* increments during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 5 cm beneath the ground level.



Fig. 9. Monthly SAT increments during the 2011 growing season. Measurement point located 25 cm beneath the ground level.

"phonological phases"), it is essential that, for a certain period of time, temperature (of plant growth) remains above the so-called. "physiological zero", which has a specific value for the particular phase. The phrase "a certain period of time" should be emphasized here. This is the time needed for the necessary physical and chemical processes to be implemented and completed. Each phase lasts as long as the sum of the surpluses of daily mean temperatures above physiological zero reaches a certain value



Fig. 10. Daily mean temperatures for October 2011 based on the measurement conducted 1 m above the ground level; the colours indicate which formula was used for determining mean temperature.



Fig. 11. Daily mean temperatures for October 2011 based on the measurement conducted 5 cm above the ground level.

[11]. In a sense, the plant must "be satisfied with warmth." Therefore, it is not enough if high temperatures occur for one day. An example of such a situation is illustrated in Fig. 14. A hypothetical daily temperature course presented here may be illustrative of what happens during a cool, cloudy day, when for a short period of time the sky clears out and the temperature rises as a result of insolation (e.g. in the surface layer of soil).



Fig. 12. Daily mean temperatures for October 2011 based on the measurement conducted 5 cm beneath the ground level.



Fig. 13. Daily mean temperatures for October 2011 based on the measurement conducted 25 cm beneath the ground level.

Let us assume that the temperature indicated as T_1 represents daily mean determined with the formula (1), whilst T_2 – with the formula (2). Obviously: $T_1 \ll T_2$. Assuming that $T_{mean} = T_2 > 10$ °C (when, for example, $T_1 = 4$ °C) we run the risk of an erroneous conclusion that thermal conditions during the analyzed day were conducive to plant growth. In such circumstances, the use of formula (2) seems to be risky. And this is probably the reason why the number of days conducive to grapevine growth presented in Fig. 1 was overestimated.



Fig. 14. Exemplary situation when daily mean temperatures calculated with formulae (1) and (2) are significantly different, and formula (2) leads to erroneous interpretation of thermal conditions conducive to plant growth.

The concept of mean temperature calculated with formula (1) does not lead to such significant misinterpretations. From a physical point of view, the Riemann integral represents here the area delineated with the time course of temperature with respect to the time axis. Surface area calculated in such a way can be seen as a "temperature dose". Having split (averaged) it across the whole day we receive the so-called "dose density", "effective temperature value", which determines the intensity of heat transmission to the plant over a certain period of time.

The structure of formula (3) used to determine daily mean temperature indicates that it is a type of an empirical formula. The assumption that temperature values obtained at 8 am and 8 pm will be used for calculating the mean is purely arbitrary, because these are not extreme values. The authors are aware of that as they introduce other real extreme values, T_{min} and T_{max} into the equation. In that context, what is the role of T_{8am} and T_{8pm} ? Possibly they are supposed to eliminate the risk of overrating the daily mean, which, as already mentioned, happened in the case of formula (2). Fairly enough, we could conclude that the use of formulas (1) and (3) leads to comparable results. This is shown by figures illustrating the results of the analysis. Therefore it seems justifiable to conclude, without attempting at an analytical proof, that formula (3) is useful in estimating the *SAT*.

The calculated *SAT* values of 4000 for the 2011 growing season have to be considered very high, compared with the values published by climatologists and wine growers [7, 13, 17]. Based on data from specialist literature the expected *SAT* value in Western Malopolska is at <2600. The discrepancy between the two values should be attributed to different methodology of temperature measurements: primarily (in the case of results presented here) due to specific location of measurement points and high frequency of readings, which yields better description of the phenomenon.

The fact that the obtained values were so high indicate the suitability of the region of the town of Chrzanów for wine-growing, even late varieties whose requirements for *SAT* are at >2900 [17].

4 Conclusions

The results of the measurement and SAT analysis lead to the following conclusions:

- The use of different definitions of daily mean temperature leads to different *SAT* values.
- Physical interpretation of mean temperature according to formula (1) indicates that this concept can be useful for determining STA as a measure of conditions conducive to plant growth.
- Physical interpretation of mean temperature according to formula (2) indicates that this formula has limited applicability if we want to evaluate thermal conditions conducive to plant growth.
- The concept of daily mean temperature according to formula (3) leads to SAT values comparable with the ones obtained using formula (1), so it seems that it is an acceptable and useful concept.
- The number of days in the analyzed year 2011, characterized by conditions favorable for wine growing varied between the range of 200 to 220, depending on the formula used for calculating the daily mean temperature.
- The SAT calculated for the area of Chrzanów in 2011 was ~ 3800 in air, 1 m above the surface; ~ 3900 in the air, on the ground; ~ 4300 in the surface layer of the soil; ~ 4200 in the soil at the depth of 25 cm.
- In all measurement points during the year, the fastest *SAT* growth occurred in August.

Acknowledgments. The research was financed by statutory activity subsidy from the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- 1. Beltrami, H.: On the relationship between ground temperature histories and meteorological records: a report on the Pomquet station. Global Planet. Change **29**, 327–348 (2001)
- 2. Bendat, J.S., Piersol, A.G.: Analysis and Measurement Procedures, 4th edn. Wiley-Interscience, Wiley, New York-London-Sydney-Toronto (2010)
- Daugėlienė, N., Žekonienė, V.: The effect of climate change on the productivity of agrocenoses. Ekologija 55(1), 20–28 (2009)
- Eremeev, V., Jõudu, J., Lõhmus, A., Lääniste, P., Makke, A.: The effect of pre-planting treatment of seed tubers on potato yield formation. Agron. Res. 1(2), 115–122 (2003)
- Herb, W.R., Janke, B., Mohseni, O., Stefan, H.G.: Ground surface temperature simulation for different land covers. J. Hydrol. 356, 327–343 (2008)
- Jacobs, A.F.G., Heusinkveld, B.G., Holtslag, A.A.M.: Long-term record and analysis of soil temperatures and soil heat fluxes in a grassland area. Agric. For. Meteorol. 151, 774–780 (2011)
- Kopeć, B.: Thermal conditions of grape's vegetation in south-eastern Poland. Infrastructure and ecology of rural areas. Polish Academy of Sciences, No. 4/2009, pp. 251–262 (2009)
- Kossowska-Cezak, U., et al.: Meteorology and climatology. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN (2000)

- Kotsiantis, S., Kostoulas, A., Lykoudis, S., Argiriou, A., Menagias, K.: Using data mining techniques for estimating minimum, maximum and average daily temperature values. Int. J. Comput. Control, Quantum Inf. Eng. 1(2), 382–386 (2007)
- Kowalski, W.: Physical and mathematical ponderability of temperature measurement's frequency in environmental engineering. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum, Formatio Circumiectus 13(2), 39–49 (2014)
- 11. Kożuchowski, K., et al.: Meteorology and climatology. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN (2009)
- Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Żarski, J., Dudek, S.: Comparison of average daily air temperatures calculated based on different measurement procedures. Polish Academy of Sciences, Infrastructure and Ecology of Rural Areas No. 1/II/2013, pp. 109–121 (2013)
- Lisek, J.: Climatic factors affecting development and yielding of grapevine in central Poland. J. Fruit Ornam. Plant Res. 16, 285–293 (2008)
- Marchant, B.P.: Time-frequency analysis for biosystems engineering. Biosyst. Eng. 85(3), 261–281 (2003)
- 15. Marcinkevičienė, A., Velička, R., Kosteckas, R.: Crop density and fertilization effects on weed suppression in spring oilseed rape. Zemdirbyste-Agriculture **97**(2), 83–88 (2010)
- Mocanu, V., Maruşca, T., Dragomir, R., Blaj, A., Dragomir, C., Constantinescu, S.: Dry matter yield of improved alpine grasslands depending on climate conditions. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 47(2), 125–128 (2014)
- 17. Myśliwiec, R.: Grapevines and wine. PWRiL Warszawa (2008)
- Poor, M.S., Adibifard, N., Esfandiari, M., Avanji, S.R.H.: Detect the effect of climatic factors on the growth and yield biology of rapeseed in Kermanshah province by means of GIS system. J. Biodivers. Environ. Sci. 5(4), 108–113 (2014)
- 19. Sinčev, B., Petrović, N.: Phenological observation of white grape varieties in the grape growing area of Grocka. J. Agric. Sci. **49**(1), 41–48 (2004)
- Tijskens, L.M.M., Verdenius, F.: Summing up dynamics: modelling biological processes in variable temperature scenarios. Agric. Syst. 66, 1–15 (2000)
- Urban, G.: Evaluation of selected methods of calculating the daily, monthly and annual mean air temperature (with the Western Sudety Mountains and their foreland as an example). Opera Corcontica 47/2010, Suppl. 1, pp. 23–34 (2010)
- 22. Weiss, A., Hays, C.J.: Calculating daily mean air temperatures by different methods: implications from a non-linear algorithm. Agric. For. Meteorol. **128**, 57–65 (2005)
- WMO: Guide to Agricultural Meteorological Practices. Weather, Climate, Water. World Meteorological Organization–No. 134 Geneva 2010 (2012)
- Zaiki, M., Kimura, K., Mikami, T.: A statistical estimate of daily mean temperature derived from a limited number of daily observations. Geophys. Res. Lett. 29(18), 39.1–39.4 (2003)



Comparison of Sweet Cherry *Prunus avium* L. Tree Water Requirements in the Regions of Isparta (Turkey) and Bydgoszcz (Poland)

Ulas Senyigit¹, Stanisław Rolbiecki², Roman Rolbiecki²(^{⊠)}, Anna Figas³, Barbara Jagosz⁴, Wiesław Ptach⁵, and Waldemar Treder⁶

 ¹ Faculty of Agricultural Sciencies and Technologies, Isparta University of Applied Sciencies, 32260 Isparta, Turkey
 ² Department of Agrometeorology, Plant Irrigation and Horticulture, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland rolbr@utp.edu.pl
 ³ Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland
 ⁴ Institute of Plant Biology and Biotechnology, University of Agriculture in Krakow, 29 Listopada 54, 31-425 Krakow, Poland
 ⁵ Department of Engineering and Geodesy, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Nowoursynowska 159, 02-776 Warsaw, Poland

⁶ Research Institute of Horticulture, Konstytucji 3 Maja 1/6, 96-103 Skierniewice, Poland

Abstract. The aim of the present research was to compare sweet cherry tree water requirements in the vegetation period (IV-X) in the regions of Isparta (Turkey) and Bydgoszcz (Poland). The comparative analysis included precipitation values in the regions of Isparta and Bydgoszcz in the years 1984–2014. The calculation model by Hargreaves modified by Droogers and Allen [5] was applied in order to estimate the reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) . Potential evapotranspiration, identified with sweet cherry tree water requirements, was determined using the method of plant coefficients proposed by Doorenbos and Pruitt [2]. In each of month considered, higher sweet cherry water requirements occurred in the Isparta region. The highest sweet cherry trees water requirements for the research period were reported in July and they amounted to an average of 238 mm and 118 mm for the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions, respectively. Sweet cherry tree water requirements throughout were higher by 102% in the region of Isparta than in the region of Bydgoszcz. Higher irrigation requirements in the province of Isparta compared to the region of Bydgoszcz result mainly from the smaller amount of precipitation and differences in the distribution of precipitation during the vegetation period.

Keywords: Sweet cherry \cdot Water requirement \cdot Isparta region \cdot Bydgoszcz region

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 217–224, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_28

1 Introduction

The sweet cherry *Prunus avium* L. production in the world is 2.32 million tons in 439692 ha. Turkey is ranked first in sweet cherry production with a share of about 26% due to geographical location, climatic and soil conditions and is ranked in the top four with USA (12.4%), Iran (9.5%) and Chile (5.3%) with a sweet cherry production of 0.6 million tons according to 2016 data [7]. The sweet cherry cultivates for both fresh consumption and export in Turkey. The main export destination of the Turkish sweet cherry is Russia, the European Union, the Middle East and some Far East countries [22]. Fruits of sweet cherry growing in south-western Turkey in the Isparta province are characterized by a sweet taste and aroma. Due to the desirable properties of fruits, as much as 80–95% of their production is exported [2, 3]. Isparta region that provides almost 3.56% of total sweet cherry production for Turkey [21].

In Poland, the sweet cherry is mainly grown for a domestic market, but it is also exported to other countries. According to data provided in 2016, the area of cultivation of this species is about 10.000 ha and 53.8 thousand tons fruits were obtained and 50% of their production was exported to Germany and Russia [7, 8, 16, 19].

Sweet cherry trees are classified as a group of plants with moderate water requirements [6, 13, 15, 18]. In the literature, there are information about cultivation or water requirements of sweet cherry trees in the area of Isparta (Turkey) and Bydgoszcz (Poland) regions [2, 13, 21]. In mentioned regions, a comparative analysis of water requirements for apple trees was also carried out by Rolbiecki et al. [14].

2 Materials and Methods

The paper uses the thirty-year period (1984–2014) temperature and precipitation values for the Bydgoszcz and Isparta regions. In order to determine reference evapotranspiration (ET0), the calculation model by Hargreaves modified by Droogers and Allen [5] and Treder et al. [20] was applied:

$$ETo = HC \ Ra(Tmax - Tmin)^{HE} \left(\frac{Tmax - Tmin}{2} + HT\right)$$

where: HC = Empirical coefficients provided by the authors = 0.0025, Ra = Radiation over the atmosphere (mm day – 1), Tmax = Maximum temperature (°C), Tmin = Minimum temperature (°C), HE = Empirical coefficient provided by the authors = 0.5, HT = Empirical coefficient provided by the authors = 16.8.

Potential evapotranspiration, identified using sweet cherry tree water requirements, was determined by means of the plant coefficients method [11]. Coefficient "k" values for sweet cherry orchards at full development were used, as proposed by Doorenbos and Pruitt [4].

The results were statistically verified by determining the values of mean, median, maximum and minimum, standard deviation as well as the coefficient of variation. An attempt was also made to define potential trends of changes in the indicators of sweet cherry tree water requirements in both regions with the analysis of linear regression. The calculations involved the use of an Excel spreadsheet.

3 Results and Discussion

During the vegetation period (April–October), in the thirty one-year period (1984–2014) under study, the coefficient of variation in sweet cherry trees water requirements accounted for 3% and 6% for regions of Isparta and Bydgoszcz, respectively (Table 1). Sweet cherry water requirements showed a lower variation in the Isparta region than in the Bydgoszcz region. The coefficient of sweet cherry tree water requirements variation, in respective months of the vegetation period, ranged from 5% (September) to 9% (April) and from 9% (August) to 14% (September) in the Isparta and the Bydgoszcz regions, respectively.

Month	Minim	um	Maxim	ım	Mediana		Mean		SD		VC	
											(%	6)
	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В
IV	47.5	25.9	68.3	42.7	58.3	33.2	59.0	33.7	5.4	3.7	9	11
V	104.8	48.3	132.3	75.5	118.9	65.1	118.0	64.7	8.0	6.6	7	10
VI	170.0	80.0	204.9	126.0	189.00	97.9	189.1	98.7	10.5	10.1	6	10
VII	205.6	96.5	290.0	150.3	234.2	116.8	238.4	118.5	15.5	14.0	7	12
VIII	184.1	78.8	252.0	115.2	213.0	98.0	213.0	97.5	13.0	9.1	6	9
IX	138.2	41.0	170.8	66.3	155.0	51.3	154.0	52.1	7.5	7.3	5	14
Х	66.0	15.4	87.9	24.5	79.0	19.4	78.0	19.7	6.2	2.2	8	11
IV–X	998.4	418.1	1120.0	533.3	1048.0	493.3	1049.0	484.8	27.1	30.7	3	6

 Table 1. Statistical characteristics of the sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (mm).

Explanations: B – Bydgoszcz region, I – Isparta region, SD – standard deviation, VC – variation coefficient

Temporal variability of the sweet cherry tree water requirements in consecutive years of the period 1984–2014 in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions is shown in Figs. 1 and 2. In the period 1984–2014 in the both regions the sweet cherry tree water requirements tend to increase. According Rolbiecki and Piszczek [13] in region of Bydgoszcz in the forecast period (2016–2050), the water requirements will increase, in each pentad within, from 13.0 to 14.5 mm. An increase in the water requirements of plants can be caused of the forecast climate changes [1, 9, 12].

The sweet cherry tree water requirements were higher in the region of Isparta in each of the seven months (Fig. 3). The highest sweet cherry trees water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) for the research period (1984–2014) were reported in July and they amounted to an average of 238 mm and 118 mm (Fig. 5) for the Isparta and Bydgoszcz, respectively. Slightly lower sweet cherry tree water requirements occurred in the successive summer months: August and June, respectively



Fig. 1. Temporal variability of the sweet cherry tree water requirements (April–October) in consecutive years of the period 1984–2014 in the Isparta region.



Fig. 2. Temporal variability of the sweet cherry tree water requirements (April–October) in consecutive years of the period 1984–2014 in the Bydgoszcz region.

for the regions and months, amounting to 213 mm and 189 mm as well as 98 mm and 99 mm.

Cumulative sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) in the region of Isparta amounted 1049 mm while in the Bydgoszcz region it was 484 mm (Fig. 4). Sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) for the research period (1984–2014) throughout were much higher in the region of Isparta than in the region of Bydgoszcz by 102%.

A comparison of the sweet cherry water balance developed for respective months of the vegetation period shows that a positive water balance occurred only in October, exclusively in the region of Bydgoszcz (Fig. 5). In region of Isparta, the water requirements sweet cherry tree during all analyzed months exceeded the total natural



Fig. 3. Sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions.



Fig. 4. Cumulative sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April-October) in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions.

precipitation, which indicates a negative balance in the analyzed months. The highest rainfall deficits occurred in July for the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions and were 219 mm and 47 mm, respectively. A lower precipitation deficits were recorded in August (-200 mm) in the region of Isparta and in June in the region of Bydgoszcz (-41 mm).

Natural precipitation deficits must be covered in respective months with water provided with supplementary irrigation. The curves plotted for the sum of the indicators under study point to seasonal irrigation requirements of sweet cherry tree (Fig. 6). In the Isparta region they amount as much as 825 mm for the period between 1 April and 31 October. In the Bydgoszcz region, the seasonal irrigation requirements for sweet cherry (April–October) were only 144 mm. According to Rzekanowski et al. [17] for high yields, fruit plants in Bydgoszcz region (Poland) should receive from 100 to 200 mm of water by applying supplementary irrigation in addition to natural precipitation.



Fig. 5. Rainfall deficits during the vegetation season of the sweet cherry tree (April–October) in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions.



Fig. 6. Cumulative sweet cherry tree irrigation requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions.

Higher irrigation requirements in the province of Isparta compared to the region of Bydgoszcz result mainly from the smaller amount of rainfall during the vegetation season (April–October). In the Isparta province the sum of precipitation from April to October for the years 1984–2014 was only 223.7 whereas in the region of Bydgoszcz it was much higher (351.2 mm). Differences in requirements for sweet cherry irrigation also resulted from the difference in the distribution of rainfall during the vegetation period of the examined plant in the compared regions (Table 2). In the Isparta region, higher precipitation occurred in April and May and in October in the growing season, whereas in the region of Bydgoszcz in June, July and August. As reported by Kadayifci et al. [10], in Isparta province annual average rainfall is only 520 mm 162 mm of this amount falls in months May and October. Therefore, additional irrigation is needed in this region for high yields.

Month	Mini	mum	Maximum		Mediana		Mean	
	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В	Ι	В
IV	12.7	0.4	153.6	77.0	50.8	21.1	56.7	26.7
V	8.5	5.0	107.4	11.5	45.7	46.4	50.1	51.7
VI	0.6	15.5	82.9	133.8	25.45	49.3	26.2	58.2
VII	0.0	7.0	88.2	146.1	10.6	71.0	19.5	71.8
VIII	0.0	12.0	45.4	210.0	8.95	56.0	13.36	64.4
IX	0.0	9.0	99.2	122.6	10.4	40.6	18.5	47.9
Х	0.0	2.3	140.7	111.8	30.6	19.9	39.3	29.6
IV–X	21.8	51.2	117.4	912.8	182.5	304.3	223.7	350.2

Table 2. Course of precipitation (rainfall) during the vegetation season (April–October) in the Isparta and Bydgoszcz regions.

Explanations: B - Bydgoszcz region, I - Isparta region

4 Conclusions

Sweet cherry *Prunus avium* L. tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) for the research period (1984–2014) throughout were higher by 102% in the region of Isparta in comparison to the region of Bydgoszcz. Cumulative sweet cherry tree water requirements during the vegetation season (April–October) in the region of Isparta amounted to 1049 mm while in the region Bydgoszcz was 484 mm. The highest sweet cherry trees water requirements were in July and they amounted to an average of 238 mm and 118 mm. Seasonal irrigation requirements of sweet cherry tree amount to as much as 825 mm (April–October) in the region of Isparta while in the Bydgoszcz region amount to 144 mm. Higher irrigation requirements in the province of Isparta compared to the region of Bydgoszcz result not only from the smaller amount of rainfall but differences in the distribution of rainfall during the vegetation period.

References

- Bąk, B., Łabędzki, L.: Thermal conditions in Bydgoszcz region in growing seasons 2011– 2050 in view of expected climate change. J. Water Land Dev. 23, 21–29 (2009)
- Demircan, V., Ekinci, K., Keener, H.M., Akbolat, D., Ekinci, C.: Energy and economic analysis of sweet cherry production in Turkey: a case study from Isparta province. Energy Convers. Manag. 47, 1761–1769 (2006)
- Demirsoy, H., Demirsoy, L., Macit, I., Akcay, M.E., Bas, M., Demirtas, I., Sarisu, C., Taner, T., Kuden, A.: Sweet cherry growing in Turkey a brief overview (2013). https://doi.org/10. 17660/ActaHortic.2017.1161.19. http://www.cherry2013.com/sites/cherry2013.com/files/ presentaines/S2_O6_Demirsoy.pdf
- 4. Doorenbos, J., Pruitt, W.O.: Guidelines for predicting crop water requirements. In: Irrigation and Drainage Paper 31, FAO, Rome, vol. 144 (1977)
- Droogers, P., Allen, R.G.: Estimating reference evapotranspiration under inaccurate data conditions. Irrig. Drain. Syst. 16(1), 33–45 (2002)
- 6. Dzieżyc, J.: Rolnictwo w warunkach nawadniania. PWN Warszawa (1988). (in Polish)

- 7. FAOSTAT: The statistics division of the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2018). http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC. Accessed 07 Feb 2018
- Florkowski, W.J., Lysiak, G.: Quality attribute-price relationship: modernization of the sweet cherry sector in Poland. Sci. J. Warsaw Univ. Life Sci. – SGGW, Probl. World Agric. 15(XXX), 41–55 (2015)
- Josipovic, M., Plavsic, H., Kovacevic, V., Markovic, M., Iljkic, D.: Impacts of irrigation and genotype on yield, protein, starch and oil contents in grain of maize inbred lines. Genetika 46 (1), 243–253 (2014). https://doi.org/10.2298/GENSR1401243J
- Kadayifci, A., Senyigit, U., Kepenek, K.: Water consumption of oil rose (Rosa damascene Mill.) in Isparta conditions. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich. 3(2), 745–757 (2014). http://dx.medra.org/10.14597/infraeco.2015.3.2.059
- Łabędzki, L.: Ewapotranspiracja upraw rolniczych terminologia, definicje, metody obliczania. Materiały Informacyjne IMUZ 33, 1–15 (1996). (in Polish)
- 12. Łabędzki, L.: Przewidywane zmiany klimatyczne a rozwój nawodnień w Polsce. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich **3**, 7–18 (2009). (in Polish)
- Rolbiecki, S., Piszczek, P.: Effect of the forecast climate change on the sweet cherry tree water requirements in the Bydgoszcz region. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 4 (3), 1559–1568 (2016)
- Rolbiecki, S., Senyigit, U., Treder, W., Rolbiecki, R.: Comparison of apple tree water requirements in the Bydgoszcz (Poland) and Isparta (Turkey) regions. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 3(2), 1251–1261 (2017). http://dx.medra.org/10.14597/ infraeco.2017.3.2.096
- Rozpara, E.: Growth and yield of eleven sweet cherry cultivars in central Poland. Acta Hort. 795, 571–576 (2008)
- 16. Rozpara, E.: Intensywny sad czereśniowy. Hortpress, Warszawa (2005). (in Polish)
- Rzekanowski, C., Rolbiecki, S., Żarski, J.: Potrzeby wodne i efekty produkcyjne stosowania mikronawodnień w uprawie roślin sadowniczych w rejonie Bydgoszczy. Zeszyty Problemowe Postępów Nauk Rolniczych 478, 313–325 (2001). (in Polish)
- Rzekanowski, C.Z.: Kształtowanie się potrzeb nawodnieniowych roślin sadowniczych w Polsce. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 3, 19–27 (2009). (in Polish)
- Skrzyński, J., Lea, M., Gonkiewicz, A., Banach, P.: Cultivar effect on the sweet cherry antioxidant and some chemical attributes. Folia Horticulturae 28(1), 95–102 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1515/fhort-2016-0011
- Treder, W., Wójcik, K., Żarski, J.: Wstępna ocena możliwości szacowania potrzeb wodnych roślin na podstawie prostych pomiarów meteorologicznych. Zeszyty Naukowe Instytutu Sadownctwa. i Kwiaciarstwa 18, 143–153 (2010). (in Polish)
- 21. TUIK: Turkish Statistical Institute, Crop Production Statistics (2018). http://www.tuik.gov. tr/bitkiselapp/bitkisel.zul. Accessed 06 Feb 2018
- Yilmaz, H.: Farm level analysis of pesticide use in sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.) growing in West Mediterranean region of Turkey. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Hortorum Cultus 14 (3), 115–129 (2015)



Pine Bark and Activity of Arylsulphatase and Rhodanese as Biological Quality Indicators of the Bydgoszcz Agglomeration

Anetta Siwik-Ziomek^{1(⊠)}, Anna Figas², Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa², and Mirosław Kobierski¹

¹ Department of Biogeochemistry and Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, UTP University of Science and Technology Bydgoszcz, Bydgoszcz, Poland ziomek@utp.edu.pl
² Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, UTP University of Science and Technology Bydgoszcz, Bydgoszcz, Poland

Abstract. The aim of this study was to determine the pH and the concentration of calcium, potassium, magnesium, sodium sulphur, lead, nickel and cadmium in bark *Pinus sylvestris* L. and in soils, located in Bydgoszcz agglomeration, Poland. The activity of arylsulphatase and rhodanese taking part in transformation sulphur in soils were detected. Soils are contained natural content of sulphates or the soils had increased content but were not contaminated with this compound. The low content of lead, nickel and cadmium in pine bark reaction studied, there was a clear difference in contamination of both bark and soil with heavy metals. There was a correlation between the content of organic carbon and lead and nickel concentration in soils. The activity of rhodanese and arylsulphatase was not disturbed by the accumulation of sulphates or heavy metals. The analysis of the main components (PCA) showed that the content of potassium, sodium and magnesium in soils influenced the content of these elements in the pine bark.

Keywords: Biomonitoring · Bark Pinus sylvestris L · Enzymes in soils

1 Introduction

Emissions from cities is a result of pollution from technological processes carried out in numerous industrial plants, from heating processes in the municipal sector and fuel combustion in road transport [16]. In the urbanized area, the predominant component of the aerosol is dust particles in which the chemical profile is present, e.g. heavy metals, forms of carbon compounds, PAHs, anions and cations [14]. Bioindicative methods give a real picture of the state of the natural environment because living organisms record cumulative, toxic effects and respond to them with a defined reaction [23]. Enzymes are critical in soil biogeochemical processes [29]. Enzymatic activity of soil for an important role in soil ecosystems [4, 26], as well as polluted soils [27]. Rhodanese (EC 2.8.1.1.) splits the S-S bond of thiosulphate, forming S and sulphite,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 225–233, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_29

and then S is oxidized into sulphite by sulphur oxygenase, and sulphite is oxidized into sulphate by sulphite oxidase [1]. Arylsulphatase (EC 3.1.6.1) R-O-SO₃ + H₂O \rightarrow ROH + H + SO₄²⁻ [24]. Research of Kandeler et al. [13] has shown that arylsulphatase activity is sensitive to heavy metals, more acid phosphatase, urease, and invertase were less affected by them. Wainwright [28] presents that rhodanese activity was higher in polluted than in unpolluted soils. The bark of common pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) is a sensitive and common bioindicator [8]. Pine bark accumulates impurities in the outer peridermy seams in a passive way and through luminescence throughout the year and makes it possible to use it for research when the availability of other bioindicators is impossible due to the growing season [5]. Bark sulfur concentration depicts the relative bulk deposition [21].

The aim of the study was to determine the pH and the concentration of sulfur, calcium, magnesium, sodium, nickel, lead, cadmium, nickel and copper in the necrotic bark *Pinus sylvestris* in the Bydgoszcz agglomeration, Poland.

2 Materials and Methods

Surface soil samples (A horizon, 0–20 cm) from 5 representative soil profiles were collected in the areas of native vegetation. Soil samples were taken from selected locations in the region of agglomeration of Bydgoszcz: 1. Białe Błota (53°05′59.0″N 17°55′29.8″E), 2. Zbigniew Załuski Park at the Leśny housing estate (53°08′25.2″ N18°02′06.9″ E), 3. Chemical Plant Zachem (53°05′55.0″N 18°04′18.7″E), 4. Forest Park of Culture and Recreation in Myślęcinek (53°09′47.4″N 18°02′05.3″E), 5. Bydgoszcz Electomechanical Belma (53°07′45.6″N 17°53′59.1″E). Bydgoszcz is located in the northern part of Poland in the macroregion of the Toruń-Eberswald Pradolina within three great river valleys (Brda, Vistula and the Pradolina of Noteć-Warta). Soil samples were air-dried and sieved with 2 mm sieve. Basic soil properties were assayed in air-dry soils: pH potentiometrically in H₂O, organic carbon (C_{org}) using the Primas analyzer from Skalar, total sulfur (TS) and S-SO₄²⁻ were determined according to Bardsley-Lancaster [2], arylsulphatase activity (AR) [EC 3.1.6.1] [9], rhodanese activity (RD) [EC 2.8.1.1] by Tabatabai and Singh [25].

From the places from which the soil was taken, also necrotic bark from three trees with a diameter of 50 to 55 cm, spaced about 2 to 4 m apart, was obtained. The bark was obtained from the trunk at a height of 1.5 m from the ground, four samples from every tree. The determination of bark toxicity was carried out by assessing its pH (pH value) and then the content of lead, cadmium, copper and zinc was determined. In order to determine the pH value, the bark samples were dried at 65 °C for 3 h, the pH was measured using a pH meter. In the soil and plant material, the total content of K, Na, Ca, Mg, Pb, Cd was determined by atomic absorption spectrometry (ASA) using a PHILLIPS PU 9100X spectrometer.

A principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to select the (group of) soil attributes. PCA is a technique that indicates the connection, and grouping them with major similarity [19].

3 Results and Discussion

The analysis of the collected samples confirmed the acid reaction (pH in H₂O 3.99– 4.87) of all the studied soils. The acidity of tree bark is considered a very sensitive indicator of environmental pollution [3]. The average value of pine bark taken from trees was within the limits of 3.15 to 4.10. These results were similar to the average physiological acidity of *Pinus sylvestris* L. bark of 3.30. Chrzan [7, 8] achieved slightly lower results. The organic carbon content in the soils ranged from 3.100 mg kg^{-1} (station 3) to 81.9 mg kg⁻¹ (station 5). The high C_{org} content was most likely the effect of the inflow to the soil environment of fresh organic matter. The soil Bydgoszcz agglomeration showed arylsulphatase activity in the range 0.04 mM pNP g^{-1} h^{-1} to 0.158 mM pNP $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ (Table 1). The highest activity of this hydrolase was observed in the soils located on the forest Białe Błota. The activity of rhodanese detected in all the samples of soils was very diverse and depended on the sampling locations (Table 1). The highest activity of rhodanese was determined in the soil from the park at Osiedle Leśne (0.787 μ M SCN⁻ g⁻¹ h⁻¹) and it was 64-fold higher than rhodanese from the soil from the forest in Białe Błota (0.018 μ M SCN⁻ g⁻¹ h⁻¹). Enzymatic activities can reflect the biological state in the soil [9]. Wainwright [28] shows that rhodanese activity was higher in polluted than in unpolluted soils. The results indicate that microbial S-oxidation occurs in soils exposed to heavy atmospheric pollution.

Sulphur is essential to plant metabolic processes as a component of different organic compounds, for example, glutathione, methionine, cysteine, cystine, biotin, lipoic acids, thiols, sulphoquinovose. On the other hand, an excessive concentration of SO_2 and SO_4^{2-} in the air leads to degradation and to the development of chlorosis and necrosis. The total sulfur content in the soil was 20.44 mg kg⁻¹ and according to the limit sulfur content in the surface layer of light soils [18], stand 1 contained natural content of sulphates while the other soils had increased content but were not contaminated with this compound. The concentration of the Bydgoszcz agglomeration was ranged from 4.083 mg kg⁻¹ (position 5) to 8.341 mg kg⁻¹ (position 3). The density was lower than the sulfur in Finland [21] where the concentration was 0.174 g kg⁻¹ is 0.728 g kg⁻¹. The high sulfur content results explain the total emission of SO₂ from sources in the Kola Penisula, which was estimated about 600,000 tonnes per year, the bridge of which was derived from the smelters [21]. Soil deposition from atmospheric sulfur pollution [17] has been reduced by more than 85% in the last three decades [22]. Therefore the concentrations of sulfur from *Pinus sylvestris* L. from the Bydgoszcz agglomeration was low.

The abundance of sand rocks in the nutrients of plants is not the same and depends on the parent rock, mineral composition and the weathering process. The optimum ratio of macroelements in soils varies within wide limits [15]. The analysis of macronutrients (S, K, Ca, Mg, Na) showed variation between the studied soils. The highest content of these macronutrients was found in soils collected from the soil from forest in Białe Błota (0.343 mg S kg⁻¹, 10.10 mg K kg⁻¹, 5.800 mg Ca kg⁻¹, 1.600 mg Mg kg⁻¹, 2,300 mg Na kg⁻¹ The density of these bioelements was also the highest in the pine bark also taken from the forest from Białe Błota (8.341 mg S kg⁻¹, 464.0 mg K kg⁻¹, 11.90 mg Ca kg⁻¹, 183.0 mg Mg kg⁻¹, 484.0 mg Na kg⁻¹ (Table 2). The lowest contents of S, K, Ca and Pb were determined in soils located on the forest at Belma (0.171 mg S kg⁻¹, 4,800 mg K kg⁻¹, 0.500 mg Ca kg⁻¹, 5.420 mg Pb kg⁻¹). In the pine bark from this place, the lowest contents were also 277.0 mg K g⁻¹, 5.200 mg Ca kg⁻¹, 103.0 mg Mg kg⁻¹, 217.0 mg Na kg⁻¹, 0.612 mg Pb kg⁻¹.

Parameters	Site						
	1	2	3	4	5	Mean	SD
pН	3.990	4.580	4.390	4.870	4.490	4.464	0.320
TOC g kg ⁻¹	18.60	47.70	3.100	7.000	81.90	31.66	33.08
RD μ M SCN ⁻ g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.064	0.787	0.018	0.232	0.379	0.296	0.309
ARL mM pNP g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.158	0.128	0.024	0.029	0.212	0.110	0.082
$S-SO_4^{2-} g kg^{-1}$	14.76	21.94	21.75	21.08	22.69	20.44	3.227
TS mg kg ⁻¹	0.340	0.337	0.343	0.171	0.201	0.278	0.085
K g kg ⁻¹	6.700	5.900	10.10	4.800	9.200	8.060	1.740
Ca g kg ⁻¹	0.800	1.100	5.800	0.500	1.000	1.840	2.230
Mg g kg ⁻¹	0.900	1.100	1.600	1.200	1.300	1.220	0.260
Na g kg ⁻¹	1.200	1.500	2.300	2.100	1.800	1.780	0.440
Pb mg kg ⁻¹	14.20	31.00	7.750	5.420	32.20	18.10	12.74
Ni mg kg ⁻¹	8.300	16.40	8.240	9.600	17.20	11.95	4.471
Cd mg kg ⁻¹	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	-	-

Table 1. Physical and biochemical and chemical attributes of soil samples from Bydgoszcz agglomeration.

Site: 1. Białe Błota, 2. Park Z. on the Osiedle Leśne, 3. Chemical Plant ZACHEM, 4. Forest Park of Culture and Recreation in Myślęcinek, 5. Bydgoszcz Electromechanical Plant BELMA SD-standard deviation

According to Kabata-Pendias [11], the limit values for lead content in surface soil levels are from 30 to 70 mg kg⁻¹. In the studied soils, these were contents below this background except for the soil taken from the park at Osiedle Leśne where it was 31.00 mg kg^{-1} . The studied soils do not exceed the limit metal content for soils containing anthropogenic contaminants determined by Kabata-Pendias [11]. The content of the bark was bigger than the soil in which the trees studied were growing (Tables 1 and 2). The results are in line with the results obtained by Chrzan [8].

Municipal pollution, metallurgy of iron and steel, fuel in the main source of Cd in the air. It is used for the production of plastics, dyes, glass, accumulators and anticorrosive protection [11, 12]. Wet and dry development containing a rich source of the element which is supplied to the soil [5]. The element presents a high mobility in a soil environment. National regulations [10], for industrial sites: <15, for agricultural land: <5 [20]. The content of Cd in investigated soils was low (<0.2 mg kg⁻¹ s.m.).

Parameters	Site							
	1	2	3	4	5	Mean	SD	
pН	3.800	3.600	3.150	4.100	3.700	3.667	0.350	
TS g kg ⁻¹	5.720	5.395	8.341	7.524	4.083	6.213	1.710	
K mg kg ⁻¹	310.0	308.0	464.0	277.0	307.0	333.2	74.38	
Ca g kg ⁻¹	5.500	6.600	11.90	5.200	9.100	7.660	2.824	
Mg mg kg ⁻¹	129.0	142.0	183.0	103.0	157.0	142.8	29.97	
Na mg kg ⁻¹	267.0	353.0	484.0	217.0	359.0	336.0	102.0	
Pb mg kg ⁻¹	1.200	2.400	0.810	0.612	2.732	1.540	0.953	
Ni mg kg ⁻¹	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	-	-	
Cd mg kg ⁻¹	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	_	-	

Table 2. Physical and chemical attributes of pine bark from Bydgoszcz agglomeration.

Site: 1. Białe Błota, 2. Park Z. on the Osiedle Leśne, 3. Chemical Plant ZACHEM, 4. Forest Park of Culture and Recreation in Myślęcinek, 5. Bydgoszcz Electromechanical Plant BELMA SD-standard deviation

In order to determine the similarities between the 5 sites of soil extraction and bark from the pines, the grouping method was applied. It was based on pH, TS, Mg, Ca, Na, Ni, Pb and Cd. The results of a cluster analysis (CA) is illustrated with the dendrogram in Fig. 1A and B. The grouping procedure allowed to distinguish two clusters focusing soils with similar properties (soil from Białe Błota, Myślęcinek, and around Zachem and one cluster with similar properties (soil from Forest and around Belma), whereas in the case of bark, two clusters that cluster the bark with similar properties (soil from Białe Błota, Mielęcinek, and Osiedle Leśne and around Belma and Ouliner (around Zachem).



Fig. 1. Dendrogram differentiation position content of TS, Ca, K, Mg, Na and Pb, Ni, Cd A - in soils, B - in pine bark.

Inter-relation between measured soil properties are provided in Table 3. Organic C is positively and significantly correlated with Ni (r = 0.924, p < 0.05) and with Pb (0.934 at 0.05% level of significance). The correlation between TOC and Pb correlation that was also reported by other authors and explained in terms of binding power of soil organic matter [6, 12]. Also, Pb shows the positive correlation with Ni (0.939 at 0.05% level of significance). It was significantly correlated between Mg and Na (0.896 at 0.05% level of significance). In our research we do not received a significant correlation between enzymes activities and metal content in soil agglomeration of Bydgoszcz. Generally, earlier studies showed that an increase of metal pollution in a soil induces a significant decrease of enzyme activities that was confirmed by the negative correlations between metal content and soil enzymes [13, 29]. In the pine bark, negative correlations were found between metal content and another parameters: between the bark pH value and the Ca content (r = -0.879, p < 0.05), K (r = -0.975, p < 0.05), Mg (r = -0.48, p < 0.05) and Na were obtained(r = -0.975, p < 0.05). There was also a negative relationship between TS and Pb (r = -0.892, p < 0.05) as well as positive between the content of Ca and Mg (r = 0.944, p < 0.05) and Na (r = 0.977, p < 0.05). However, Chrzan [8] did not find, on the basis of a static analysis, a significant relationship between the Pb, Zn, Cu, Ni concentration in the soil and in the bark at any of the researched sites.

Variables		Regression equation	R	R^2				
Dependent	Independent							
Soil								
Mg	Na	y = -0.0096 + 1.5373x	0.896	0.802				
Ni	Pb	y = -13.87 + 2.6765x	0.939	0.881				
Ni	TOC	Y = -50.02 + 6.8362x	0.924	0.853				
Pb	TOC	y = -12,28 + 2.4269x	0.934	0.872				
Pine bark	Pine bark							
Pb	TS	y = 8.6775 - 1.601x	-0.892	0.795				
Mg	Ca	y = -5.037 + 0.00889x	0.944	0.891				
Na	Ca	y = -1.089 + 0.02604x	0.977	0.954				
pН	Ca	y = 33.704 - 7.100x	-0.879	0.772				
pН	K	y = 1050 - 195.6x	-0.975	0.950				
pН	Mg	y = 441.15 - 81.34x	-0.948	0.898				
pН	Na	y = 1380.4 - 284.7x	-0.975	0.950				

Table 3. Correlation coefficient (R) and linear regression models for selected properties of soils of Bydgoszcz agglomeration.

The PCA has been investigated in order to understand most important variables for the variability in the investigated soils. PC1 and PC2 explained 46.6% and 25.9% of the total variability (Fig. 2). On the side of the axis of factor 1 (constituent 1, PC1), it is strongly associated with bark pH (r = 0.952), TS in bark content (r = 0.923,) with Pb in soil content (r = -0.820), Pb in bark (r = -0.798) organic carbon (r = 0.769),



Fig. 2. Configuration of variables in the system of the first two axes of principal components.

content in the soil of calcium (r = 0.805), potassium (r = 0.686), magnesium (r = 0.708), Na (r = 0.772), and arylsulphatase activity (r = -0.844) and rhodanese (r = -0.693), firmness in the bark K (r = 0.764).

The value of the second constituent (PC2), which explains the effect, is negatively affected by the sulphate content in the soil (r = -0.842) and the content in the bark of Mg (r = -0.719) and Na (r = -0.720). The PCA cluster showed that concentration on Ca, Na, K, and Mg in soils had a great influence on the variation of Na, K and Mg in bark in *Pinus silvestris* L. and Pb in bark and between C_{org} and the enzyme's activity evidencing a strong geochemical affinity.

4 Conclusion

The low concentration of heavy metals of lead, nickel and cadmium in the surface layer of the Bydgoszcz agglomeration soils classify them into the category of soils with natural content. In the pine necrosis bark, the accumulation of lead and nickel and cadmium was lower than in soil. Soils taken from the forest in Białe Błota contained natural content of sulphates, while the remaining soils had increased content but were not contaminated with this compound. The activity of rhodanese and arylsulphatase was not disturbed by the accumulation of sulphates or heavy metals. The analysis of the main components PCA analysis showed an effect on their C_{org} activity and lead

content, which can be used in the bioindication of soil contamination with this heavy metal. The analysis of the main components (PCA) showed that the content of potassium, sodium and magnesium in soils influenced the content of these elements in the pine bark. The accumulation of compounds from the air in the outer pine decks takes place on the surface. The passive nature of accumulation of pollutants in pine bark leads to the less content accumulation of compounds than in soil where the distribution of bioelements like sulphur, calcium, potassium and magnesium depends on geochemical and biogeochemical processes.

References

- Anandham, R., Indiragandhi, P., Madhaiyan, M., Chung, J., Ryu, K.Y., Jee, H.J., Sa, T.: Thiosulfate Oxidation and Mixotrophic Growth of Methylobacterium goesingense and Methylobacterium fujisawaense. J. Microbiol. Biotech. 19(1), 17–22 (2009). https://doi.org/ 10.4014/jmb.0802.127
- Bardsley, C.E., Lancaster, J.D.: Determination of reserve sulfur and soluble sulfates in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 24, 265–268 (1960). https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1960.03615995 002400040015x
- Baslar, S., Dogan, Y., Durkan, N., Bag, H.: Biomonitoring of zinc and manganese in bark of Turkish red pine of western Anatolia. J. Environ. Biol. 30(5), 831–834 (2009). https://doi. org/10.5053/ekoloji.2010.7512
- Bastida, F., Zsolnay, A., Hernandez, T., Garcia, C.: Past, present and future of soil quality indices: a biological perspective. Geoderma 147, 159–171 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. geoderma.2008.08.007
- Bąblewska, A., Musielińska R., Ciesielski, W.: Pollution of Scots pine bark with heavy metals in the Załęcze Landscape Park – assessment of the risk. Sci. Works Jan Dlugosz Univ. 4, 33–48 (2016). https://doi.org/10.16926/tiib.2016.04.03
- Capra, G.F., Coppola, E., Odierna, P., Grilli, E., Vacca, S., Buondonno, A.: Occurrence and distribution of key potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in agricultural soils: a paradigmatic case study in an area affected by illegal landfills. J. Geochem. Explor. 145, 169–180 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2014.06.007
- Chrzan, A.: Content of heavy metals in soil and in pine bark. Proc. ECopole 7(2), 547–552 (2013). https://doi.org/10.2429/proc.2013.7(2)072
- Chrzan, A.: Necrotic bark of common pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) as a bioindicator of environmental quality. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 1066–1071 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11356-014-3355-0
- Igbinosa, E.O.: Effect of cassava mill effluent on biological activity of soil microbial community. Environ. Monit. Assess. 187, 418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-015-4651-y
- 10. J. Laws Regul. Minister Environ. Stand. Soil Qual. Land Qual. 165, 1359 (2002)
- Kabata-Pendias, A.: Trace Elements in Soils and Plants, 4th edn. Press, Taylor & Springer, Boca Raton, London, New York (2010)
- 12. Kabata-Pendias, A., Mukherjee, A.B.: Trace Elements from Soil to Human. Springer, Berlin (2007)
- Kandeler, E., Kampichler, C., Horal, O.: Influence of heavy metals on the functional diversity of soil microbial communities. Biol Fertil. Soils 23, 299–306 (1996). https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00335958

- Klejnowski, K., Rogula-Kopiec, P., Rogula-Kozłowska, W.: Assessment of secondary organic carbon content in fine particulate matter in selected place of Silesian Province. Eng. Environ. Sci. 6, 347–359 (2014)
- Komosa, A., Roszyk, J., Mieloch, M.: Content of nutrients in soils of highbush blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum L.) plantations in Poland in a long-term study. J. Elem. 22(4) 1193–1207 (2017). https://doi.org/10.5601/jelem.2016.21.4.1329
- Mayer, H.: Air pollution in cities. Atmosph. Environ. 33, 4029–4037 (1999). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00144-2
- 17. McGrath, S.P., Zhao, F.J., Lombi, E.: Phytoremediation of metals, metalloids and radionuclides. Adv. Agron. 75, 1–56 (2002)
- 18. Motowicka-Terelak, T., Terelak, H.: Sulphur in soils of Poland the status and the risks (in Polish, English summary). Bibl. Monit. Środ., PIOŚ, Warszawa, Poland (1998)
- Nogueira, T.A.R., Abreu-Junior, C.H., Alleoni, L.R.F., He, Z., Soares, M.R., dos Sntos Vieira, C., Lessa, L.G.F., Capra, G.F.: Background concentrations and quality reference values for some potentially toxic elements in soils of São Paulo State, Brazil. J. Environ. Manag. 221, 10–19 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.05.048
- Petryk, A.: Assessment of heavy metals in plants and soil in the Trzebinia Municipality, Poland. 1. Cadmium. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV/1, 1243–1256 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.14597/infraeco.2016.4.1.091
- Poikolainen, J.: Sulphur and heavy metal concentrations in Scots pine bark in northern Finland and the Kola Peninsula. Water Air Soil Pollut. 93, 395–408 (1997). https://doi.org/ 10.1023/a:1022160930526
- Sarda, X., Diqelou, S., Abdallah, M., Nesi, N., Cantat, O., Le Gouee, P., Avice, J.C., Ourry, A.: Assessment of sulphur deficiency in commercial oilseed rape crops from plant analysis. J. Agric. Sci. 152, 616–633 (2014)
- Serbula, S.M., Kalinovic, T.S., Ilic, A.A., Kalinovic, J.V., Steharnik, M.M.: Assessment of airborne heavy metal pollution using Pinus spp. and Tilia spp. Aerosol. Air Qual. Res. 13, 563–573 (2013)
- Tabatabai, M.A., Bremner, J.M.: Factors affecting soil arylsulphatase activity. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 34, 427–429 (1970)
- 25. Tabatabai, M.A., Singh, B.B.: Rhodanese activity of soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. **40**, 381–385 (1976). https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1976.03615995004000030023x
- Tejada, M., García, C., Hernández, T., Gómez, I.: Response of soil microbial activity and biodiversity in soil polluted with different concentrations of cypermethrin insecticide. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 69, 8–19 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-014-0124-5
- Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leirós, M.C., Gil-Sotres, F.: Hydrolytic enzyme activities in agricultural and forest soils. Some implications for their use as indicators of soil quality. Soil Biol. Biochem. 40, 2146–2155 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.03.015
- Wainwright, M.: Microbial S-oxidation in soils exposed to heavy atmospheric pollution. Soil Biol. Biochem. 11(2), 95–98 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(79)90082-8
- Wang, Y.P., Shi, J.Y., Wang, H., Lin, Q., Chen, X.C., Chen, Y.X.: The influence of soil heavy metals pollution on soil microbial biomass, enzyme activity, and community composition near a copper smelter. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safe 67, 75–81 (2007). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.03.007



Water Needs of Black Locust Robinia pseudoacacia L. in the First Three Years of Growing in the Reclamation Plantings in Poland

Stanisław Rolbiecki^{1(\Box)}, Wiesława Kasperska-Wołowicz², Wiesław Ptach³, Barbara Jagosz⁴, Anna Figas⁵, Roman Rolbiecki¹, Piotr Stachowski⁶, Vilda Grybauskiene⁷, Kazimierz Chmura⁸, and Krzysztof Dobosz⁹

¹ Department of Agrometeorology, Plant Irrigation and Horticulture, University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland rolbs@utp.edu.pl

² Institute of Technology and Life Sciences, Kujawsko-Pomorskie Research Centre in Bydgoszcz, Glinki 60, 85-174 Bydgoszcz, Poland

³ Department of Engineering and Geodesy, Warsaw University of Life Sciences,

Nowoursynowska 159, 02-776 Warsaw, Poland

⁴ Institute of Plant Biology and Biotechnology,

University of Agriculture in Krakow, 29 Listopada 54, 31-425 Krakow, Poland ⁵ Department of Agricultural Biotechnology,

University of Science and Technology,

Bernardyńska 6, 85-029 Bydgoszcz, Poland

⁶ Faculty of Environmental Engineering and Spatial Management,

Institute of Land Improvement, Environmental Development and Geodesy.

Poznań University of Life Sciences, Piatkowska 94, 60-649 Poznań, Poland ⁷ Institute of Water Resources Management.

Aleksandras Stulginskis University in Kaunas, Studentu g. 10, Kaunas, Lithuania

⁸ Faculty of Environmental Engineering and Geodesy, Institute of Landscape

Architecture, Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences.

Grunwaldzka 55, 50-357 Wrocław, Poland

⁹ College of Medical Sciences, University of Economy, Garbary 2,

85-229 Bydgoszcz, Poland

Abstract. Black locust, considered an ornamental plant, is often used in the soil reclamation process, because it enriches the soil with nitrogen. High seedling survival rate in the first stage of reclamation depends mainly on sufficient water conditions controlled by irrigation, which in turn requires determining the plant's water needs. The aim of the research was the estimation of black locust water needs during the first three years of growing. Potential evapotranspiration, as the measure of the plant water needs, was calculated in the study. The formula of Blaney-Criddle, modified by Żakowicz for Polish conditions, by using the adjusted crop coefficients, was applied. The calculations were carried out for the growing period (April-October) during the thirty years period (1981-2010), for five agro-climatic regions of Poland. The results

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 234-242, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_30

presented a rising tendency in the black locust water needs for all tested 30 years and in each considered region. The water needs during the growing season increased in each ten years period of the analyzed 30 years by 9.8 mm in the central-eastern and south-eastern regions, by 9.4 mm in the south-west region, by 8.3 mm in the north-east region and by 5.8 mm in the north-west region.

Keywords: Robinia pseudoacacia L. · Water needs · Polish conditions

1 Introduction

As an early succession and nitrogen-fixing plant, black locust Robinia pseudoacacia L. grows rapidly as a pioneer tree under a wide range of site condition and it is considered as a drought tolerant tree species [12, 22, 23]. In the Central Europe black locust has proven to be relatively drought tolerant in comparison to other temperate deciduous tree species. In the State of Brandenburg (Germany) for instance, with a continental climate and annual precipitation below 600 mm, the species has been successfully cropped for wood production for more than 250 years. The tree notably grows also in post-mining reclaimed areas where soil water availability is limited and drought can occur both in spring and summer [13]. Black locust requires well-drained soils with adequate moisture until the associated nitrogen-fixing Rhizobium bacteria are able to thrive [18]. Black locust is a valuable honey and ornamental plant [16]. It has been successfully used in the reclamation plantings [1, 2, 17, 26]. High seedling survival rate of the plantings is the basic strategy of the first stage of reclamation. The effective introduction of the plants on the reclamation area requires, on the one hand, the selection of appropriate species and high quality of the seedlings [4], on the other hand, ensuring sufficient water condition by irrigation treatments [25]. Although, the mature plants of black locust can adapt to the drought conditions, young seedlings (younger than 3 years old) require optimal water conditions, which are ensured by the irrigation that supplement periodic precipitation deficiencies [13–15, 25].

The aim of the present research was an attempt to estimate the water needs of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. in the first three years after planting. Particularly, the black locust water requirements were analyzed during the period of the highest water needs that, usually, starts at the beginning of June (full development of the leaves) and lasts to the end of August.

2 Materials and Methods

The study assumes that the water needs of black locust *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. are equal to the crop potential evapotranspiration (ETp) under the conditions of sufficient soil water supply. The black locust water needs were determined using the plant coefficient method as the ratio of the reference evapotranspiration (ETo) and the plant coefficient (k). The water deficiencies were determined as the difference between the potential evapotranspiration totals (ETp) and the atmospheric precipitation totals (P). The reference evapotranspiration was calculated using the formula of Blaney-Criddle,

modified by Żakowicz [25] for Polish conditions. The crop coefficients for black locust in the first three years after reclamation, adapted to the reference evapotranspiration, also were estimated using Żakowicz's method. The values of crop coefficients (k) ranged from 0.70 in April to 0.95 in October.

The water needs of black locust during the growing season (April–October) in the years 1981–2010 were determined for five agro-climatic regions of Poland [10], including following regions: north-east (N-E), central-north-west (C-N-W), central-east (C-E), south-west (S-W) and south-east (S-E) with the representative meteorological stations located in Olsztyn, Bydgoszcz, Warsaw, Wrocław and Kraków, respectively, (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Agro-climatic regions of Poland with the representative meteorological stations (according to [17]).

3 Results and Discussion

In every of the considered regions during the studied thirty years period (1981–2010), a significant upward trend of black locust water needs during the growing season (April–October) was noted (Table 1). The weakest relationship (r) (significant at p = 90%) occurred in the C-N-W region, while in the other regions this correlation was stronger (significant at p = 99%). In each of ten years period of the studied thirty years, the black locust water needs between April 1 and October 31 increased by 5.8 mm in the C-N-W region, by 8.3 mm in the N-E region, by 9.4 mm in the S-W region and by 9.8 mm in the C-E and S-E regions.

In the years 1981–2010, in all studied regions, a tendency to increase the black locust water needs in the period of high water requirements, was observed (Fig. 2). On average, in Poland during the considered thirty years, the black locust water needs in the month June–August increased in each ten years period by 7.1 mm. Moreover, with

Region of Poland	Trend equation	r	Tendency of water needs (mm per $decade^{-1}$)
N-E	y = 0.833x + 518	0.477***	8.3
C-N-W	y = 0.584x + 557	0.324*	5.8
C-E	y = 0.979x + 552	0.537***	9.8
S-W	y = 0.941x + 534	0.521***	9.4
S-E	y = 0.985x + 519	0.552***	9.8

Table 1. Equations of the trend for black locust water needs in the growing season (April–October) in the years 1981–2010. Explanations: ***significance for $\alpha = 0.01$ (p = 99%); *significance for $\alpha = 0.1$ (p = 90%).

the exception of the C-N-W region, the temporal variability of black locust water needs was significant in the other four studied regions of Poland. In each ten years period of the considered thirty years, the water needs of black locust, in the time from June 1 to August 31, increased in the range from 4.7 mm in the C-N-W region to 8.1 mm in S-E region. In the N-E, C-E and S-W regions this raise slightly exceeded 7 mm.

The average potential evapotranspiration (ETp) of black locust in Poland during the years 1981–2010 in the period of high water requirements (June–August) was 329 mm (Fig. 3). The largest water needs occurred in the C-N-W (341 mm) and C-E (340 mm) regions. While, the lowest water needs were observed in the N-E (324 mm) and S-E (316 mm) regions. The average precipitation deficiencies for black locust in Poland in the period of high water requirements (June–August) amounted to 112 mm. The highest rainfall deficits in the period June–August in the years 1981–2010 occurred in the C-N-W (152 mm) and C-E (129 mm) regions, lower in the N-E (108 mm) and S-W (109 mm) regions and the lowest in the S-E region (64 mm).

The relations between precipitation totals and precipitation deficiencies (or excess) in the period of June–August are presented in Fig. 4. In the N-E region, as well as on average in Poland, rainfall deficits were noted in each year of the considered long-term. In the S-E region, precipitation deficiencies occurred in 25 years, in the S-W region in 27 years, in the C-E region in 28 years and in the C-N-W in 29 of the studied years.

The greatest water needs of black locust in the first three years after reclamation were observed in the central regions (C-N-W and C-E), what was consistent with the results published by [20, 21, 26]. In the present study, during the thirty years period, a tendency to increase the black locust water needs in the growing season was observed in all regions of Poland. Previously, similar trend was reported also by [11]. The climate changes predicted for the near future, will increase the water requirements of plants, including also the plants grown as the reclamation plantings. Therefore, there is a necessity to undertake some adaptation activities, such as irrigation treatments, the importance of which will grow with the intensification of unfavorable climate changes [3, 6-9, 11].

The results obtained in the present study should be helpful in the arrangement and programming of black locust irrigation system [15, 24, 25]. The irrigation is one of the most important melioration treatments that provide the correct development of tree and shrub seedlings in the plantings and cultivations carried out, among others, in the forest



Fig. 2. Temporal variability of black locust water needs (ETp) in the period June–August in the different regions of Poland (meteorological stations representative for the regions).

nurseries [19]. The results of many field experiments performed in the region of Bydgoszcz presented a positive effect of irrigation applied together with other melioration treatments (revitalization), on the seedlings growth of trees species, such as: European larch [5], little leaf linden [4].

The usefulness of micro-irrigation for the black locust grown in the nest arrangement of reclamation plantings has been confirmed in the field experiments carried out in the central Poland, where the irrigation using the water of diverse quality (discharge water from sewage treatment plant, rainwater) positively influenced the tree height, the size of trunk and crown surface of the black locust plants [24, 25]. In the experiment carried out in Brandenburg University of Technology two years old black locust trees were irrigated by an automatic drip irrigation system [13, 14, 18].



Fig. 3. Long-term (1981–2010) average water needs (ETp) and rainfall deficits (N) of black locust in the period June–August in the different regions of Poland.



Fig. 4. Relationship between precipitation totals (P) and rainfall deficits (N) for black locust in the period June–August in the different regions of Poland.

4 Conclusions

- 1. In Poland, the water needs of black locust in the first three years after plantings estimated for the period of the largest water requirements (June–August) for the years 1981–2010, was on average 329 mm. The highest water needs, in the period of June-August were observed in the C-N-W (341 mm) and C-E (340 mm) regions. The lowest water needs were noted in the S-E (316 mm) and N-E (324 mm) regions.
- 2. In each ten years period of the studied thirty years, a tendency to increasing the water needs in the months June–August ranged from 4.7 mm in the C-N-W region to 8.1 mm in the S-E region.
- In Poland, the average long-term rainfall deficits for black locust in the period of June–August amounted to 112 mm. The highest precipitation deficits in this time occurred in the C-N-W (152 mm) and C-E (129 mm) regions, lower in the N-E (108 mm) and S-W (109 mm) regions and the lowest in the S-E region (64 mm).
- 4. In the N-E region, as well on average in Poland, the rainfall deficits for black locust in the period of June–August occurred in each of the considered thirty years. In the S-E region precipitation deficiencies occurred in 25 years (83% of the studied years), in the S-W region in 27 years (90% of the studied years), in the S-W region in 28 years (93% of the studied years), and in the C-N-W region in 29 years (97% of the studied years).

References

- 1. Böhm, C., Quinckenstein, A., Freese, D., Huttl, R.F.: Wachstumsverlauf von vierjährigen Robinien. AFZ-DerWald **10**, 532–533 (2009)
- Dilly, O., Nii-Annang, S., Schrautzer, J., Breuer, V., Pfeiffer, E.M., Gerwin, W., Schaaf, W., Freese, D., Veste, M., Huttl, R.F.: Ecosystem manipulation and restoration on the basis of long-term conceptions. In: Müller, F., Baessler, C., Schubert, H., Klotz, S. (eds.) Long-Term Ecological Research Between Theory and Application, pp. 411–428. Springer Science +Business Media, Amsterdam (2010)
- Josipovic, M., Plavsic, H., Kovacevic, V., Markovic, M., Iljkic, D.: Impacts of irrigation and genotype on yield, protein, starch and oil contents in grain of maize inbred lines. Genetika 46 (1), 243–253 (2014). https://doi.org/10.2298/GENSR1401243J
- Klimek, A., Rolbiecki, S., Rolbiecki, R., Długosz, J., Musiał, M.: The use of compost from sewage sludge and forest ectohumus for enrichment of soils in the nursery cultivation of little leaf linden (*Tilia cordata* Mill.). Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 15, 2811–2828 (2013)
- Klimek, A., Rolbiecki, S., Rolbiecki, R., Hilszczańska, D., Malczyk, P.: Effects of organic fertilization and mulching under micro-sprinkler irrigation on growth and mycorrhizal colonization of European larch seedlings, and occurrence of soil mites. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 5(20), 1211–1219 (2011)
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S., Diakowska, E., Gąsiorek, E.: Assessment of meteorological drought in 2015 for North Central part of Poland using hydrothermal coefficient (HTC) in the context of climate change. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 1(2), 257–273 (2017). http://dx.medra.org/ 10.14597/infraeco.2017.1.2.019

- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S., Diakowska, E., Gąsiorek, E.: Simulation of hydrothermal conditions for crop production purpose until 2050–2060 and selected climate change scenarios for North Central Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 319–334 (2015). http://dx.medra. org/10.14597/infraeco.2015.2.1.026
- Kuchar, L., Iwański, S.: Rainfall evaluation for crop production until 2050–2060 and selected climate change scenarios for North Central Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2 (1), 187–200 (2013)
- 9. Kuchar, L., Iwański, S.: Rainfall simulation for the prediction of crop irrigation in future climate. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas **5**, 7–18 (2011)
- Łabędzki, L., Bąk, B., Liszewska, M.: Wpływ przewidywanej zmiany klimatu na zapotrzebowanie ziemniaka późnego na wodę. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 2(1), 155– 165 (2013)
- Łabędzki, L.: Foreseen climate changes and irrigation development in Poland. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 3, 7–18 (2009)
- Li, G., Zhang, X., Huang, J., Wen, Z., Du, S.: Afforestation and climatic niche dynamics of black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia*). Forest Ecol. Manag. 407, 184–190 (2018). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.10.019
- Mantovani, D., Veste, M., Freese, D.: Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) adaptability and plasticity to drought. In: 2nd European Agroforestry Conference, Cottbus, Germany, Book of Abstracts, pp. 264–265 (2014)
- Mantovani, D., Veste, M., Freese, D.: Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) ecophysiological and morphological adaptations to drought and their consequence on biomass production and water-use efficiency. NZ J. For. Sci. 44, 29 (2014)
- Mantovani, D., Veste, M., Freese, D.: How much water is used by a black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) short-rotation plantation on degraded soil? Jahrestagung der DBG Kommission IV Titel der Tagung: Böden verstehen Böden nutzen Böden fit Machen Veranstalter: DBG, September 2011, Berlin Berichte der DBG) (nicht begutachtete online Publikation) (2011). http://www.dbges.de
- 16. Podbielkowski, Z.: Słownik roślin użytkowych. PWRiL, Warszawa (1989). (in Polish)
- Quinckenstein, A., Wöllecke, J., Böhm, C., Grünewald, H., Freese, D., Schneider, B.U., Huttl, R.F.: Ecological benefits of the alley cropping agroforestry system in sensitive regions of Europe. Environ. Sci. Policy 12, 1112–1121 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci. 2009.08.008
- Rédei, K., Osváth-Bujtás, Z., Veperdi, I.: Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) improvement in Hungary: a review. Acta Silvatica et Lignaria Hungarica 4, 127–132 (2008)
- 19. Rzekanowski, C., Pierzgalski, E.: Irrigation of forest nurseries. In: Karczmarczyk, S., Nowak, K. (eds.) Plant Irrigation. PWRiL, Poznań (2006)
- Stachowski, P., Markiewicz, J.: The need of irrigation in central Poland on the example of Kutno county. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 13, 1453–1472 (2011)
- 21. Stachowski, P.: Purposefulness of spray irrigation during agricultural cultivation of postmining grounds. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. **11**, 1131–1142 (2009)
- Veste, M., Kriebitzsch, W.U.: Response of chlorophyll fluorescence, photosynthesis and transpiration in *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. to drought stress. Verhandlungen der Gesellschaft für Ökologie 40, 26 (2010)
- Yüksek, T.: The restoration effects of black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.) plantation on surface soil properties and carbon sequestration on lower hills lopes in the semi-humid region of Coruh Drainage Basin in Turkey. Catena 90, 18–25 (2012). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.catena.2011.10.001
- 24. Żakowicz, S.: Podstawy technologii nawadniania rekultywowanych składowisk odpadów komunalnych, SGGW Rozprawy Naukowe i Monografie, Warszawa (2010). (in Polish)

242 S. Rolbiecki et al.

- 25. Żakowicz, S., Hewelke, P.: Technologia nawadniania roślin na rekultywowanych składowiskach odpadów komunalnych. SGGW Warszawa (2012). (in Polish)
- Żarski, J., Dudek, S., Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, R., Rolbiecki, R., Rolbiecki, S.: Forecasting effects of plants irrigation based on selected meteorological and agricultural drought indices. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 15, 2185–2203 (2013)


Content of Heavy Metals in Fodder from Sward of Grasses and Legumes from Selected Organic Farms in Poland as a Criterion of Fodder Quality

Marcin Niemiec^{1(⊠)}, Monika Tabak¹, Jakub Sikora², Maciej Chowaniak³, Monika Komorowska⁴, and Barbara Filipek-Mazur¹

 ¹ Department of Agricultural and Environmental Chemistry, Faculty of Agriculture and Economics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Al. Mickiewicza 21, 31-120 Krakow, Poland marcin. niemiec@ur.krakow.pl
 ² Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, ul. Balicka 116 b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland
 ³ Department of Agrotechnology and Agricultural Ecology, Faculty of Agriculture and Economics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Al. Mickiewicza 21, 31-120 Krakow, Poland
 ⁴ Department of Vegetable and Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Biotechnology and Horticulture, University of Agriculture in Krakow,

Al. 29 Listopada 54, 31-425 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. Limited fertilization, often forced by conducting an organic farming production, may lead to deficiency of some elements in soil. This may translate into a decrease in the quantity and quality of crop yields. The aim of the research was to assess the quality of sward from organic farms in the context of using the sward for feed purposes. 55 organic farms were analyzed (25 additionally conduct conventional animal production). Samples of mixed grasses and smallseed legumes were collected from each farm. After mineralization, content of heavy metals was determined in the plant material by ICP-OES method. The content of zinc in the samples was generally too low, also the copper content in some of the samples was too low for using the biomass for feed purposes. A very high content of iron and manganese was observed in almost all of the samples. Mean iron content in the samples was approximately 8 times higher, and manganese - approximately 3 times higher than the optimum content in fodder. A high content of Cd, Pb, Cr and Ni was not observed. The sward from the animal production farms had a lower mean content of zinc and lead than the sward from the farms without animals; the differences in the content of other analyzed elements were not statistically significant. Feeding animals exclusively with roughage obtained from the studied farms could pose a risk to the animal health and decrease animal productivity.

Keywords: Sward · Organic farming · Heavy metals · Iron · Manganese

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 243–251, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_31

1 Introduction

Chemical composition of fodder influences the state of health of animals and their productivity (including reproductivity, but also production of milk and other products) [1, 3, 14, 23]. Physiological functions of micronutrients often results from their role as a part of enzymes. Zinc activates enzymes that, among other things, take part in bone formation, immune defense, and synthesis of nucleic acids [16, based on different sources]. This element is also important for maintaining proper structures of proteins by forming zinc finger structures. Zinc also regulates expression of genes [28]. Manganese is important for antioxidation processes and synthesis of connective tissue [29, based on different sources]. Iron plays a role in oxygen transport by building heme proteins, it also builds redox system enzymes. Iron is not toxic to animals, but its deficiency leads to anaemia. Copper plays a role in cellular respiration, formation of bones and nervous system, melanin production, superoxide detoxification [29, based on different sources]. It also mobilizes iron stores. Chromium takes part in metabolism of carbohydrates and lipids [29, based on different sources]. Nickel affects functions of some hormones, the redox system and the immune system [30].

To assess the quality of fodder, it is also important to discuss the content of elements that are not crucial for organism growth and development, but which are toxic or even lethal in high doses. Cadmium has genotoxic and carcinogenic effects [1] – these effects also apply to other heavy metals; they may also act embryotoxically and teratogenically. The negative effect of cadmium exposure results among other things from the fact that it mimics essential elements, namely calcium, zinc and iron [24]. Lead is another toxic heavy metal. Unlike cadmium, lead is very dangerous for cattle, especially young ones (they are very susceptible to this metal). Waldner et al. [38] informed about frequent cattle lead poisoning. Other authors also pointed out that, among food-producing animals, lead poisoning occurs most often with respect to cattle [37]. Lead affects the central nervous system, the digestive system and the hematological system [37]. Exposure to lead can also reduce fertility in males [23]. It also interferes with metabolism of calcium and vitamin D [37]. Similarly to cadmium, the negative effect of lead partially results from its ability to mimic calcium.

Chemical composition of plants depends on their biological properties, weather conditions, and on soil properties: soil type, pH value, moisture, organic matter content, content of total and available forms of macro- and micronutrients [10, 13]. Of course, the lack of microelements in soil translates into the lack of them in grass forage [19]. Relations between elements in soil (and later in fodder) are also important – excessive fertilization with one element may block the uptake of the others [32]. High iron content can cause problems with manganese and zinc absorption. Copper and calcium are other antagonists to zinc [2]. Copper absorption can be also decreased by the presence of other elements – the most important interactions are: Cu-S-Mo, Cu-S, Cu-Fe and Cu-Mn [15, 32, 35].

Organic farming covers about 1% of the world's agricultural area [31]. It may seem little, but in point of fact organic farming belongs to the fastest growing sectors of agriculture. In 2016, the area under organic farming in European Union (28 countries) was 6.69% [7]. This area increases with time – in 2012 it was 5.62%. Countries with

the largest area under organic farming include: Spain, Italy, France, Sweden, the United Kingdom, the Czech Republic and Poland [7]. Proper nutrient management is pointed out as one of the main challenges of organic farming [20, 35, 41]. In organic farming, it is forbidden to use fertilizers produced with synthetic ingredients. Natural fertilizers (of plant, animal or mineral origin) are allowed for use, they include: compost, manure, mulch, seaweed [26, 31, 33]. It is also possible to use leguminous plants (the so-called "green manure"). The ways of supplementation of nutrient deficiencies in soils are strongly limited. The number of fertilizers approved for use in organic farming is limited. Because of that, maintaining nutrient balance is very difficult [36, 41]. This may lead to improper chemical composition of the cultivated plants. However, Gomiero [11, 12] points out that there may be no statistical differences in chemical composition between organic and conventional production.

The aim of the research was to assess the quality of sward from selected organic farms (55 organic farms were selected for the research; 25 of those farms additionally had conventional animal production) in the context of using it for feed purposes. The content of selected heavy metals (micronutrients and potentially toxic elements: Zn, Mn, Fe, Cu, Cd, Pb, Cr, Ni) was determined in the plant material.

2 Materials and Methods

The research was conducted in 2016, in 55 organic farms. All the farms had been subjected to a system of control and certification of the certification body, and based on the inspections performed in 2015 they met the requirements of EC Regulation No. 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products [3]. All the farms had been converted. The studied farms were located in Dolnośląskie (17), Lubuskie (13), and Warmińsko-Mazurskie (25) provinces. Among the studied farms, 25 had conventional livestock production. All farms with animal production were located in Warmińsko-Mazurskie province. The area of the studied farms ranged from 30 to 90 ha.

A sample of sward from the first crop was collected from each farm, from a randomly selected field. On all fields from which the samples were collected, a perennial mix of grasses and small-seed legumes was grown, with different share of legumes. The share of legumes resulted from changes in species composition of the sward which were caused by habitat and climatic conditions. The collected samples of sward were dried, homogenized and mineralized in an open system in a muffle furnace at 450 °C. Then they were diluted in nitric acid solution. The analytical sample was 3 g dry matter. Concentration of heavy metals (Zn, Mn, Fe, Cu, Cd, Pb, Cr and Ni) in the obtained solutions was determined by ICP-AES method (inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry) on an Optima 7600 spectrometer manufactured by PerkinElmer. Wavelengths that were used to determine the concentration of the studied elements as well as detection limits and content of the analyzed elements in the reference material are presented in Table 1.

Heavy metal	Wavelength	Detection limit	Declared content in reference material	Measured content in reference material	Recovery
	nm	mg dm ⁻³	mg kg ⁻¹	mg kg ⁻¹	%
Zn	206.200	0.0059	24	24.62	102.6
Mn	257.608	0.0014	47	48.56	103.3
Fe	238.204	0.0046	185	201.2	108.8
Cu	327.393	0.0097	9.4	9.125	97.1
Cd	228.802	0.0027	0.03	0.033	108.3
Pb	220.353	0.042	1.6	1.725	107.8
Cr	267.707	0.0071	6.5	6.412	98.6
Ni	231.604	0.015	4	3.856	96.4

 Table 1. Parameters of the ICP-AES analysis as well as the content of heavy metals in the reference material.

Results of the chemical analysis were subjected to a statistical analysis. A univariate analysis of variance was performed; type of production was the factor in the analysis (plant production or plant and animal production). Significance of variance in the mean values was determined using Duncan's test, at the significance level of $\alpha \leq 0.05$. Statistica 12 [StatSoft, Inc.] was used for statistical elaboration of the results. For more accurate analysis of the results, the mean content of the analyzed elements was completed with minimum, maximum and median values.

3 Result and Discussion

Assessment of fodder quality involves determination of the content of micronutrients and potentially toxic elements. The optimum amount of zinc in grassland fodder ranges from 50 to 100 mg Zn kg⁻¹ [32]. According to Falkowski et al. [8, 9], fodder should contain 30–50 mg Zn kg⁻¹. The sward from farms with animal production had statistically significantly lower (by 40%) mean content of zinc than the sward from farms with exclusively plant production, where it amounted to 34.38 mg Zn kg⁻¹ (Table 2). Zinc content in all of the samples from the sward from farms with animal production was too low to use it for feed purposes; zinc content in most of the samples from farms without animal production was also improper. Enjabert et al. [6], after conducting a study on cattle, linked zinc deficiency with low milk production, problems with locomotion, diarrhoea and poor growth. Parakeratosis (a skin disease) is another possible result of zinc deficiency [16].

The optimum manganese content in grassland fodder should be between 40 and 70 mg Mn kg⁻¹. According to Falkowski et al. [8, 9], fodder should contain 50–100 mg Mn kg⁻¹ (the content in meadow sward for cattle should be 50 mg Mn kg⁻¹). More than 1000 mg Mn kg⁻¹ is a toxic content in forages [19, 34]. The mean manganese content in biomass of the studied sward collected from farms with animal breeding and in those without animal production was 159.8 and 145.1 mg Mn kg⁻¹, respectively, and was not statistically varied (Table 2). The mean manganese content in

the samples was approximately 3 times higher than the optimum content in fodder. Higher than optimum content of manganese in the studied biomass was recorded in almost all cases. A large excess of manganese is neurotoxic and leads to brain disorder [37]. However, as stated by Jenkins and Hidiroglou [18] in their research on preruminant calves, concentration of manganese even several times higher than recommended may not have a disadvantageous effect (at the same time, manganese content in some tissues may occur). The researchers did not exclude a toxic effect of prolonged exposure to manganese excess.

Heavy metal	Farms with	hout animal	production	l	Farms with animal production			
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Median
	mg kg ⁻¹							
Zn	17.48	62.99	34.38 a*	32.01	14.05	26.83	20.59 b	20.13
Mn	60.54	326.8	145.1 a	132.3	54.30	294.6	159.8 a	175.4
Fe	142.1	1937	831.3 a	698.1	125.9	1722	755.7 a	545.5
Cu	4.315	9.880	6.778 a	6.877	3.958	8.100	6.030 a	6.200
Cd	0.145	0.623	0.332 a	0.345	0.124	0.567	0.279 a	0.217
Pb	0.829	2.856	1.625 a	1.539	0.667	1.650	1.155 b	1.125
Cr	2.660	7.663	4.594 a	4.272	3.067	8.050	4.516 a	4.275
Ni	2.012	4.772	3.286 a	3.151	1.408	8.333	3.067 a	2.683

Table 2. Statistical parameters of the content of selected heavy metals in sward.

*mean values in the rows marked with the same letters do not differ statistically significantly at the significance level $\alpha \leq 0.05$; according to Duncan's test

The optimum iron content in grassland fodder should be within the range from 40 to 80 mg Fe kg⁻¹ [13]. Falkowski et al. [9] give values between 50 and 200 mg Fe kg⁻¹ as optimal for fodder. However, the optimum content of this element in meadow sward for cattle should be 30–50 mg Fe kg⁻¹ [8]. According to Juknevičius and Sabienė [19], more than 1000 mg Fe kg⁻¹ is a toxic content in forages. The mean iron content in the biomass of sward from farms with animals was 755.7 mg Fe kg⁻¹, whereas sward from farms without animals contained, on average, 831.3 mg Fe kg⁻¹ (Table 2). The mean values were not statistically varied. The amount of iron in all of the studied samples was too high. It was found that the optimum content of iron in fodder was exceeded almost five-fold in approximately 80% samples. Iron favours formation of reactive oxygen species. However, iron toxicity rarely occurs in animals [37].

The optimum copper content in feed should be between 7 and 10 mg Cu kg⁻¹ [8, 9]. It was established that the mean copper content in biomass of the sward collected from farms with and without animal production was 6.030 and 6.778 mg Cu kg⁻¹, respectively, and was not statistically varied (Table 2). The studied samples had the optimum copper content or the content was too low to use it for feed purposes. Copper deficiency is associated with poor performance or health of calves [6].

Maximum tolerable content of cadmium and lead in feed materials is 1 and 10 mg kg⁻¹, respectively [4]. The content of these elements was not exceeded in the sward from the studied farms (Table 2). Mean cadmium content in biomass of the

sward collected from farms with and without animal production was not statistically varied – it amounted to 0.279 and 0.332 mg Cd kg⁻¹, respectively (Table 2). There was variation in lead content. The sward from farms with animal production had statistically significantly lower (by 29%) mean content of lead than the sward from farms with exclusively plant production, where it amounted to 1.625 mg Pb kg⁻¹.

Chromium and nickel are elements whose content in feeds is not standardized. Nevertheless, their high concentration in feed can be the cause of various animal diseases. More than 20 mg Cr kg⁻¹ indicates high content of this element in grassland feed [10, 15]. Mean chromium content in the studied samples from farms with and without animal production was 4.516 and 4.594 mg Cr kg⁻¹, respectively, and no difference in accumulation of this element was observed in individual groups (Table 2). The mean nickel concentration in the sward from organic farms with animal production was 3.067 mg Ni kg⁻¹, whereas in the group of farms without animals the amount of this element was 3.286 mg Ni kg⁻¹. As in the case of chromium content, there were no statistically significant differences in nickel content between the studied groups of farms. The determined amounts of chromium and nickel in all of the studied samples were not high and do not pose a threat to animals.

The results of the conducted research indicate that plants cultivated in accordance with organic farming principles are of low feed value. Additional animal production did not significantly influence the content of most of the analyzed elements in the biomass. Only in the case od zinc and lead was the mean content in the sward from farms with animal production statistically lower than in the sward from farms with only plant production. In all of the farms, fertilization on certified lands is not conducted. However, in farms with animal production grazing takes place periodically. Grazing can lead to chemical and botanical changes in sward [40]. This measure can change the content of available forms of nutrients in soil [27]. It is important to highlight that the mechanism of grazing impact on soil properties is complicated. Not only does grazing change chemical properties of soils, it can also influence soil temperature and moisture [39]. The more intense the grazing, the higher the soil temperature in the warm season and the lower in the cold season (which is a result of the amount of the above-ground plant parts and during winter also of the height of the snow cover). Grazing also reduces water storage in soils, especially in the early growing season. The impact of grazing on soil biological properties has also been confirmed [27].

In the studied farms, organic plant production and parallel traditional plant production are conducted. Organic biomass is utilized for feeding of conventional animals, also fed with traditional feed (roughages, concentrates). As a supplementation, the majority of the farms also use mineral additives. That is why no health problems are observed. López-Alonso et al. [22] also pointed out that giving concentrated feed containing mineral additives (present in high and balanced amounts) is one of the major methods of metal introduction in conventional farming.

The presence of conventional animal production in farms conducting organic plant production begs the question about the validity of its possible conversion to organic animal production. However, conducting organic animal production can be difficult because of insufficient consumer confidence in the standards of that production [34, 35]. Hovi et al. [17] also draw attention to the challenges associated with organic animal production. At the same time, demand for that production has increased in recent years [21, 30]. In Poland, organic farms with organic animal keeping are not common. In 2013, animal production was conducted alongside plant production only in 10% of the organic farms [12, 31, 33]. General lack of organic animal production strongly limits the development of organic farming. Animal production is a potential source of valuable fertilizers like manure. Without it, and of course with a considerable reduction in the use of external means of production, permanent negative balance of plant nutrients in organic farming is highly possible. This can disturb homeostasis of agroecosystems and relations of elements in plants [5, 25]. However, organic animal production does not guarantee nutrient balance in a farm. This is because when feed is produced on farmers' own fields, the amount of available elements may also be permanently reduced. Regardless of the kind of production, a positive environmental effect of organic farming, requires a rational fertilization policy.

4 Conclusions

The chemical composition of biomass organic grasses with small-seed legumes was improper from the point of view of using it for feed purposes. Feeding animals only with roughage obtained from the studied lands could pose a risk to animal health and decrease animal productivity. Some of the samples of the sward from grasses and small-seed legumes from the studied organic farms had too low content of zinc and copper. Additionally, very high content of iron and manganese was observed in almost all of the studied samples. It deteriorates the feed value of the obtained plant biomass.

The studied biomass samples did not have high content of cadmium or lead which would disqualify the biomass from being used as feed. The content of chromium and nickel was also not high and does not pose a threat to animals.

The mean content of most of the studied elements did not vary whether or not a farm had animal production. Zinc and lead content was an exception. The mean content of these elements in the sward from farms with animal production was statistically significantly lower (by 40% and 29%, respectively) than in the sward from farms with exclusively plant production.

References

- Bauer, B.U., Rapp, C., Mülling, C.K.W., Meissner, J., Vogel, Ch., Humann-Ziehank, E.: Influence of dietary zinc on the claw and interdigital skin of sheep. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 50, 368–376 (2018)
- 2. Bioavailability of Nutrients for Animals: Amino Acids, Minerals, and Vitamins. Academic Press, San Diego (1995)
- Capuano, E., van der Veer, G., Boerrigter-Eenling, R., Elgersma, A., Rademaker, J., Sterian, A., van Ruth, S.M.: Verification of fresh grass feeding, pasture grazing and organic farming by cows farm milk fatty acid profile. Food Chem. **164**, 234–241 (2014)
- Council Regulation (EC) No 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products and repealing Regulation (EEC) No 2092/91. 06.28.2007, no. 834/2007. Off. J. L, 189 (2007)

- Craheix, D., Angevin, F., Doré, T., de Tourdonnet, S.: Using a multicriteria assessment model to evaluate the sustainability of conservation agriculture at the cropping system level in france. Eur. J. Agron. 76, 75–86 (2016)
- Enjalbert, F., Lebreton, P., Salat, O.: Effects of copper, zinc and selenium status on performance and health in commercial dairy and beef herds: retrospective study. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 90(11–12), 459–466 (2006)
- 7. Eurostat. http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat. Accessed 16 Oct 2018
- 8. Falkowski, M., Kukiełka, I., Kozłowski, S.: Chemical properties of meadow plants. Wyd. AR, Poznań (1990)
- 9. Falkowski, M., Kukułka, I., Kozłowski, S.: Quality assessment of sward of perennial meadows. Zeszyty Problemowe Postępów Nauk Rolniczych **442**, 41–49 (1996)
- Filipek-Mazur, B., Tabak, M., Gorczyca, O.: Trace element content in meadow sward and soil along road no. 957 passing through Zawoja village. Ecol. Chem. Eng. A 20(6), 631–641 (2013)
- 11. Gomiero, T.: Food quality assessment in organic vs conventional agricultural produce: findings and issues. Appl. Soil Ecol. **123**, 714–728 (2018)
- 12. Gródek-Szostak, Z., Szeląg-Sikora, A., Sikora, J., Korenko, M.: Prerequisites for the cooperation between enterprises and business support institutions for technological development. In: Adam, N., Anna, U.-G. (eds.) Business and Non-profit Organizations Facing Increased Competition and Growing Customers' Demands: Proceedings of the 16th International Conference: Tomaszowice, Poland, 19–20 June 2017, vol. 16, pp. 427–439. Wyższa Szkoła Biznesu National-Louis University in Nowy Sącz, Foundation for the Dissemination of Knowledge and Science "Cognitione" (2017)
- 13. Grzegorczyk, S., Olszewska, M., Alberski, J.: Accumulation of copper, zinc, manganese and iron by selected species of grassland legumes and herbs. J. Elementol. **19**(1), 109–118 (2014)
- Guyot, H., Saegerman, C., Lebreton, P., Sandersen, Ch., Rollin, F.: Epidemiology of trace elements deficiencies in belgian beef and dairy cattle herds. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 23(2), 116–123 (2009)
- Hilal, E.Y., Elkhairey, M.A.E., Osman, A.O.A.: The role of zinc, manganse and copper in rumen metabolism and immune function: a review article. Open J. Anim. Sci. 6, 304–324 (2016)
- Hosnedlová, B., Trávníček, J., Šoch, M.: Current view of the significance of zinc for ruminants: a review. Agricultura Tropica et Subtropica 40(2), 57–64 (2007)
- Hovi, M., Sundrum, A., Thamsborg, S.M.: Animal health and welfare in organic livestock production in Europe: current state and future challenges. Livest. Prod. Sci. 80(1–2), 41–53 (2003)
- Jenkins, K.J., Hidiroglou, M.: Tolerance of the preruminant calf for excess manganese or zinc in milk replacer. J. Dairy Sci. 74(3), 1047–1053 (1991)
- Juknevičius, S., Sabienė, N.: The content of mineral elements in some grasses and legumes. Ekologija 53(1), 44–52 (2007)
- Jouzi, Z., Azadi, H., Taheri, F., Zarafshani, K., Gebrehiwot, K., van Passel, S., Lebailly, P.: Organic farming and small-scale farmers: main opportunities and challenges. Glob. J. Anim. Sci. Res. 132, 144–154 (2017)
- 21. Kouba, M.: Quality of organic animal products. Livest. Prod. Sci. 80(1-2), 33-40 (2003)
- López-Alonso, M., Rey-Crespo, F., Herrero-Latorre, C., Miranda, M.: Identifying sources of metal exposure in organic and conventional dairy farming. Chemosphere 185, 1048–1055 (2017)
- Mancuso, F., Arato, I., Lilli, C., Bellucci, C., Bodo, M., Calvitti, M., Aglietti, M.C., dell'Omo, M., Nastruzzi, C., Calafiore, R., Luca, G., Marinucci, L.: Acute effects of lead on porcine neonatal Sertoli cells in vitro. Toxicol. Vitro. 48, 45–52 (2018)

- 24. Martelli, A., Rousselet, E., Dycke, C., Bouron, A., Moulis, J.M.: Cadmium toxicity in animal cells by interference with essential metals. Biochimie **88**(11), 1807–1814 (2006)
- Nowak, B., Nesme, T., David, C., Pellerin, S.: Nutrient recycling in organic farming is related to diversity in farm types at the local level. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 204(1), 17–26 (2015)
- Organic Agriculture: Information Note. European Commission (2012). https://ec.europa.eu/ europeaid/sites/devco/files/study-organic-agriculture-201206_en_5.pdf. Accessed 01 Oct 2018
- 27. Pan, H., Liu, H., Liu, Y., Zhang, Q., Luo, Y., Liu, X., Liu, Y., Xu, J., Di, H., Li, Y.: Understanding the relationships between grazing intensity and the distribution of nitrifying communities in grassland soils. Sci. Total Environ. **634**, 1157–1164 (2018)
- 28. Present Knowledge in Nutrition. ILSI Press, Washington, DC (2006)
- Princewill, O.I., Uchenna, A.E., Charles, O.I., Uwaezuoke, I.M.: Interactions between dietary minerals and reproduction in farm animal. Glob. J. Anim. Sci. Res. 3(2), 524–535 (2015)
- Samal, L., Mishra, Ch.: Significance of nickel in livestock health and production. Int. J. Agro Vet. Med. Sci. 5(3), 349–361 (2011)
- Seufert, V., Ramankutty, N., Mayerhofer, T.: What is this thing called organic? How organic farming is codified in regulations. Food Policy 68, 10–20 (2017)
- Sikora, J., Niemiec, M., Szeląg-Sikora, A., Kuboń, M.: Zawartość metali ciężkich w wodach opadowych spływających z dachów o różnych pokryciach. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 20, 1079–1094 (2018)
- Sikora, J., Niemiec, M., Szeląg-Sikora, A., Kuboń, M., Olech, E., Marczuk, A.: Zgazowanie odpadów z przemysłowego przetwórstwa karpia. Przemysł Chemiczny 96(11), 2275–2278 (2017). https://doi.org/10.15199/62.2017.11.12
- 34. Sikora, J., Niemiec, M., Szeląg-Sikora, A., Chowaniak, M., Kuboń, M.: Bioakumulacja żelaza, manganu, boru i litu kobaltu w mleczaju jodłowym (Lactarius salmonicolor L), igliwiu jodły pospolitej (Abies alba M.) oraz glebie pasma Przedbabiogórskiego w Karpatach Zachodnich. Annu. Set Environ. Prot. 20, 1386–1401 (2018)
- Szeląg-Sikora, A., Niemiec, M., Sikora, J., Chowaniak, M.: Possibilities of designating swards of grasses and small-seed legumes from selected organic farms in Poland for feed. In: IX International Scientific Symposium "Farm Machinery and Processes Management in Sustainable Agriculture", Lublin, Poland, pp. 365–370 (2017)
- Tuomisto, H.L., Hodge, I.D., Riordan, P., Macdonald, D.W.: Does organic farming reduce environmental impacts? A meta-analysis of European research. J. Environ. Manag. 112, 309–320 (2012)
- 37. Veterinary Toxicology. Elsevier Inc., Academic Press, Amsterdam (2018)
- Waldner, Ch., Checkley, S., Blakley, B., Pollock, C., Mitchell, B.: Managing lead exposure and toxicity in cow-calf herds to minimize the potential for food residues. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 14, 481–486 (2002)
- Yan, Y., Yan, R., Chen, J., Xin, X., Eldridge, D.J., Shao, Ch., Wang, X., Lv, S., Jin, D., Chen, J., Guo, Z., Chen, B., Xu, J.: Grazing modulates soil temperature and moisture in a eurasian steppe. Agric. For. Meteorol. 262, 157–165 (2018)
- Zhang, Ch., Dong, Q., Chu, H., Shi, J., Li, S., Wang, Y., Yang, X.: Grassland community composition response to grazing intensity under different grazing regimes. Rangeland Ecol. Manag. 71(2), 196–204 (2018)
- Zikeli, S., Deil, S., Möller, K.: The challenge of imbalanced nutrient flows in organic farming systems: a study of organic greenhouses in southern Germany. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 244, 1–13 (2017)



Assessment the Phytoaccumulation of Trace Elements in Plants of Evening Primrose *Oenothera biennis* L. from Kuyavia-Pomerania Provinces (Poland)

Anna Figas^{1(\boxtimes)}, Magdalena Tomaszewska-Sowa¹, Anna Katarzyna Sawilska², and Mirosław Kobierski³

 ¹ Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology,
 University of Science and Technology, Bernardyńska 6, Bydgoszcz, Poland figasanna@utp.edu.pl
 ² Department of Biology and Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology, University of Science and Technology,
 Prof. S. Kaliskiego 7, Building 2.5, Bydgoszcz, Poland
 ³ Department of Biogeochemistry and Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture and Biotechnology,
 University of Science and Technology,

Abstract. The aim of the study has been the phytoaccumulation of trace elements in the plants of evening primrose Oenothera biennis L. from the areas of Kuyavia-Pomerania province. The soil and plants were sampled from natural stands (the edges of woodlands) from selected locations in Kuyavia-Pomerania province: A - Łosiny (53°44'29.1"N; 17°55'45.9"E), B - Okole (53°07'50"N; 17°58'24"E), C - Rynarzewo (53°3'55.42"N; 17°49'3.25"E), D - Łochowo (53° 07'19"N; 17°50'19"E). The plants were collected in July 2017 at flowering and fruit development stages. In dried and mineralized plant material and in soil samples the total content of Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd and Ni was assayed with the Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (AAS) with spectrometer PHILIPS PU 9100X. The content of carbon was assayed with analyser Vario Max CN, made by Elementar. The soils were not polluted with heavy metals. The content of Pb, Cd in the evening primrose organs did not exceed the admissible pollution norms. The lowest amount of Pb (<0.2 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) did not exceed the admissible pollution norms. The lowest amount of Pb (<0.2 mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) was found in seeds. The plants from stands C, D accumulated considerable amounts of Mn. The content of that element in stems and leaves ranged from 45.1 mg kg^{-1} in d.m. in stand A to 575 mg kg^{-1} of d.m. in stand D, whereas in seeds – on average from 18.9 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in stand A to 265.5 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in stand D.

Keywords: Trace elements · Herbal plants · *Oenothera biennis* L. · Phytotherapy · Phytoaccumulation

1 Introduction

Due to a serious threat of diseases of affluence to the societies and a search for alternative methods of preventing such diseases, over the recent years an interest in the plants showing health-enhancing effects as well as the secondary metabolites of the plants which increase the immune system effectiveness has been growing [5, 6, 13].

The medicinal plants representing the family Onagraceae, used to increase the immune system effectiveness, are representatives of the genus Oenothera. The genus includes a few dozen, difficult to distinguish from one another, species both in the wild and cultivable. The most common is evening primrose Oenothera biennis. In our conditions it grows up to 1.5 m. The medicinal material of evening primrose is acquired from seeds and seed-pressed oil and, after cooking, all the parts of the plants are edible: young leaves, green shoots, sacs and roots. The seeds contain up to 24% of oil, 15% of protein rich in sulphur amino acids and tryptophan, 43% of fibrin and starch, phytosterols, enzymes (inhibitor trypsin), vitamin E and mineral salts [25]. The oil derived from the evening primrose shows the content of more than 80% of essential fatty acids, about 10% of which is made up of, very rare in nature, gamma-linolenic acid (GLA) and 70% of linoleic acid [2, 25]. Besides the extracts from herbal material contain polyphenol compounds with antioxidant effect and they are a source of many biopharmaceuticals supporting the therapy of the diseases of affluence: atherosclerosis, arterial hypertension, diabetes, to mention just a few, as well as preparations applied in diet prophylaxis or skin regenerating and soothing cosmetics [8, 14, 19].

Due to valuable properties of the seeds, the evening primrose plants are grown on plantations and the material is acquired from natural stands. Often, however, the plantations of evening primrose and its resources in a natural state coincide with the area of industrial contamination or traffic fumes. Evening primrose is a plant which occurs in ruderal stands on sandy set-asides and grasses, frequently along traffic routes or industrial areas [25]. The global technical and technological advancement has resulted in the pollution of natural environment with trace elements, including the elements indispensable for living organisms (microelements), elements of an unknown physiological role as well as toxic elements. Plants, including the medicinal ones, next to metals essential for life, accumulate also heavy metals [11, 16]. The harmfulness of heavy metals is mostly related to their capacity for bioaccumulation [9, 21]. An increase in the concentration of trace elements in the tissues of herbal plants can lower the medicinal value of the material as well as it can be the cause of diseases [22, 28].

Herbal plants can be used as bioindicators of unfavourable changes in the environment [23]. Determining the content of heavy metals in medicinal plants facilitates an ongoing quality control of the pharmacopoeia material.

The aim of this research has been to evaluate the content of heavy metals in terms of a change in their concentration in respective morphological parts of evening primrose plants from natural stands in Kuyavia-Pomerania province.

2 Materials and Methods

The content of trace elements (Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Ni, Pb, Cd) was assayed in soil samples and evening primrose plants. The samples for analyses were taken in three replications from selected locations of Kuyavia-Pomerania province: A – Łosiny ($53^{\circ}44'29.1''N$; $17^{\circ}55'45.9''E$), B – Okole ($53^{\circ}07'50''N$; $17^{\circ}58'24''E$), C – Rynarzewo ($53^{\circ}06'21''N$; $17^{\circ}82'27''E$), D – Łochowo ($53^{\circ}07'19''N$; $17^{\circ}50'19''E$). The soil was sampled from the plant rhizosphere (0–20 cm), air-dried and sieved through the sieve with mesh 2 mm in diameter. The grain size composition was determined with laser particle size meter, Mastersizer 2000, made by Malvern. The reaction was potentiometrically determined using the pH-meter after providing the soil samples with 1M KCl solution, in the ratio soil/solution of 1:2.5. The content of carbon was assayed with analyser Vario Max CN, made by Elementar.

The plants were collected in July 2017 at the generative stage. The aboveground plant parts (seeds, flowers, leaves and stems) were separated from the roots, rinsed in distilled water and air-dried. The plant material was crushed in the agate mortar and homogenized. The samples, 300 mg each, were exposed to microwave digestion in mineralizer Speedwave Two (Berghof) with the wet mineralization method (5 ml 65% HNO₃, 1 ml 30% H₂O₂). In the plant material as well as in the soil samples, the total content of Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd and Ni was assayed with Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (AAS) with the use of spectrometer PHILIPS PU 9100X.

The results of the content of heavy metals in part of the plant are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The data was analysed using one-way analysis of variance applying 'Statistica for Windows'.

3 Results and Discussion

The soils showed mostly the grain size composition of loamy sand. The soil sampled from the rhizosphere of the evening primrose growing at Rynarzewo was the only one which demonstrated the grain size composition of sand. The soil analyses demonstrated that the soils reaction ranged from acid to neutral. The content of Corg ranged from 20.1 to 28.4 g kg⁻¹ (Table 1).

Place sampling*	Grain size co	mposition (%)	pН	Corg (g kg ⁻¹)	
	Sand (mm) φ 2.0 - 0.05	Silt (mm) φ 0.05 – 0.002	Clay (mm) φ < 0.002	1M KCl	
А	77.98	20.65	1.37	6.83	28.4
В	76.34	21.75	1.91	6.51	22.0
С	87.71	11.33	0.96	4.71	20.1
D	83.77	14.89	1.34	6.19	25.4

Table 1. Granulometric and selected properties of analyzed soils.

*place sampling: A – Łosiny, B – Okole, C – Rynarzewo, D – Łochowo

Place sampling*	Metals								
	Zn	Cu	Mn	Pb	Ni	Cd	Fe		
А	42.5	6.8	345.0	13.5	12.1	< 0.2	10.2		
В	32.6	5.9	298.0	12.8	10.2	< 0.2	8.9		
С	59.0	4.7	314.0	9.7	7.4	< 0.2	7.7		
D	35.8	9.4	321.0	13.5	10.3	< 0.2	8.6		
Mean	42.5	6.7	319.5	12.4	10.0	<0.2	8.9		

Table 2. The average content of metals: Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Ni, Cd (mg kg⁻¹) i Fe (g kg⁻¹), in the roots zone.

* place sampling: A – Łosiny, B – Okole, C – Rynarzewo, D – Łochowo

Evaluating the soils from 4 sampling locations in terms of the content of heavy metals (Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, Ni, Cd), it can be concluded that the total content of metals did not exceed the admissible contents provided for in the law [10]. The results of the total content of trace elements in soil are provided in Table 2. With the contents of respective metals in soil samples, one can order them as follows: Cd < Cu < Ni < Pb < Zn < Mn < Fe. For all the stands there were found the lowest contents of Cd (<0.2 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.), while maximum Fe contents were accumulated in the soils from sampling location A (on average 10.2 g kg⁻¹).

There was noted a varied content of metals in evening primrose plants depending on the stand they were sampled from. The ions of the trace elements can be ordered following their decreasing mobility: Fe > Mn > Zn > Cu > Pb > Ni = Cd (Table 3).

Metals	Evening primrose Oenothera biennis L							
	Seeds	Flowers	Leaves + shoots	Root				
Zn	27.95 ± 2.1	41.05 ± 1.8	35.45 ± 2.0	34.60 ± 3.1				
Cu	2.35 ± 0.3	2.00 ± 0.2	2.20 ± 0.2	<0.2				
Mn	18.90 ± 1.2	33.50 ± 2.4	45.10 ± 3.0	25.75 ± 2.4				
Fe	95.50 ± 20.1	1749.00 ± 108.0	240.50 ± 19.0	1949.00 ± 120.0				
Pb	<0.2	1.85 ± 0.5	1.90 ± 0.6	2.75 ± 0.9				
Ni	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
Cd	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
Zn	34.00 ± 3.4	43.35 ± 4.8	37.50 ± 5.6	44.15 ± 3.7				
Cu	1.35 ± 0.4	0.75 ± 0.2	1.15 ± 0.4	<0.2				
Mn	152.50 ± 38.1	39.75 ± 7.5	63.35 ± 8.2	24.10 ± 6.5				
Fe	160.50 ± 50.5	1602.50 ± 226.9	170.50 ± 22.7	1959.00 ± 343.1				
	Metals Zn Cu Mn Fe Pb Ni Cd Zn Cu Mn Fe	Metals Evening primo Seeds 27.95 \pm 2.1 Cu 2.35 \pm 0.3 Mn 18.90 \pm 1.2 Fe 95.50 \pm 20.1 Pb <0.2	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline \text{Hetals} & \hline \text{Evening primove} & Oenothera bient \\ \hline \hline \text{Seeds} & \hline \text{Flowers} \\ \hline \hline \text{Zn} & 27.95 \pm 2.1 & 41.05 \pm 1.8 \\ \hline \text{Cu} & 2.35 \pm 0.3 & 2.00 \pm 0.2 \\ \hline \text{Mn} & 18.90 \pm 1.2 & 33.50 \pm 2.4 \\ \hline \text{Fe} & 95.50 \pm 20.1 & 1749.00 \pm 108.0 \\ \hline \text{Pb} & <0.2 & 1.85 \pm 0.5 \\ \hline \text{Ni} & <0.2 & <0.2 \\ \hline \text{Cd} & <0.2 & <0.2 \\ \hline \text{Cd} & <0.2 & <0.2 \\ \hline \text{Zn} & 34.00 \pm 3.4 & 43.35 \pm 4.8 \\ \hline \text{Cu} & 1.35 \pm 0.4 & 0.75 \pm 0.2 \\ \hline \text{Mn} & 152.50 \pm 38.1 & 39.75 \pm 7.5 \\ \hline \text{Fe} & 160.50 \pm 50.5 & 1602.50 \pm 226.9 \\ \hline \end{array}$					

Table 3. Content of metals: Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb (mg kg⁻¹ d.m.) in dry weight of evening primrose *Oenothera biennis* L.

(continued)

Place	Metals	Evening primrose Oenothera biennis L							
sampling*		Seeds	Flowers	Leaves + shoots	Root				
	Pb	<0.2	1.10 ± 0.2	1.30 ± 0.4	1.40 ± 0.6				
	Ni	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
	Cd	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
С	Zn	45.40 ± 8.8	43.75 ± 7.6	44.30 ± 9.4	76.65 ± 12.3				
	Cu	10.00 ± 2.5	7.00 ± 1.9	8.10 ± 2.8	5.80 ± 1.4				
	Mn	194.50 ± 66.6	58.10 ± 10.7	339.50 ± 99.8	87.05 ± 14.5				
	Fe	92.30 ± 23.6	1433.00 ± 223.8	150.00 ± 33.1	2046.00 ± 401.9				
	Pb	<0.2	2.00 ± 0.2	2.00 ± 0.3	2.50 ± 0.7				
	Ni	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
	Cd	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
D	Zn	35.00 ± 5.5	46.25 ± 10.1	38.25 ± 7.2	37.9 ± 9.9				
	Cu	2.80 ± 0.7	5.35 ± 1.7	3.75 ± 1.6	1.95 ± 0.5				
	Mn	265.50 ± 90.1	200.00 ± 27.6	575.00 ± 62.1	81.45 ± 8.1				
	Fe	91.90 ± 21.7	1795.50 ± 293.8	144.50 ± 34.0	1691.50 ± 343.1				
	Pb	<0.2	1.15 ± 0.1	1.30 ± 0.3	2.60 ± 0.2				
	Ni	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				
	Cd	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2				

 Table 3. (continued)

*place sampling: A – Łosiny, B – Okole, C – Rynarzewo, D – Łochowo; results are mean \pm SD (standard deviation)

An average higher Fe content in the plant parts was assayed in roots (1911.38 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.) and flowers (1645.00 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.) than in shoots (176.38 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.) and seeds (110.05 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.) (Table 3). The highest Fe content was found in the seeds collected from stand B (160.5 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.). Lamer-Zarawska [15] reported similar contents of the element in the seeds of the plants collected from natural stands, Markiewicz et al. [17] from the plants from controlled plantations. The authors reported, on average, from 116.9 to 130.9 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m., respectively. As reported by Kobierski et al. [13] the content of that trace element in aboveground parts of common nettle, yarrow and dwarf everlasting was maximum for respective species 506 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m., 364 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. and 260 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. Buliński and Błoniarz [3] as well as Golcz et al. [7] showed considerable Fe contents in the tissues of marjoram (1037.5 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. and 853.8 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.). The variation in the content of that element depends on the age and the morphological plant part [12].

The content of manganese in the plants varied and it ranged from 18.90 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in evening primrose seeds from stand A to 575.0 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the stems and leaves of the plants from stand D (Table 3). Manganese is uptaken by roots as divalent cation and transported to aboveground plant parts. Excessive amounts of this element are accumulated in cell walls or physiologically little active places of leaf cells and generative organs, which is a natural defence process of plant organisms against stress

[1]. In all the plant parts collected from stands C and D there was observed a greater accumulation of Mn, which could have been due to a higher content of the forms of metals available to plants in soil (Table 2). In the vicinity of Łochowo and Rynarzewo in the material studied, in evening primrose seeds recorded the highest content of that element: $265.50 \text{ mg Mn kg}^{-1}$ of d.m. and $194.5 \text{ mg Mn kg}^{-1}$ of d.m. Markiewicz et al. [17] in the seeds of primrose derived from plantation, assayed the content of Mn reaching up to 353 mg Mn kg⁻¹ of d.m. In the research of the mineral composition of evening primrose, Markiewicz et al. [18] reported a definite dependence of the amount of elements in seeds on soil richness.

The lowest zinc content was reported in the seeds of primrose growing at Łosiny (27.95 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m.), whereas the maximum values, around 76.65 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m., were recorded in the roots of the plants from Rynarzewo (Table 3). The average content of that trace element in the seeds from all the sampling locations was 35.59 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m. In the seeds of evening primrose plants from the controlled plantation, Markiewicz et al. [17] assayed a higher zinc content (50.1–53.9 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m.), while Ražic et al. [24] as well as Ulewicz-Magulska et al. [26] noted the content of that metal up to 78.25 mg Zn kg⁻¹ of d.m. in other herbal plant species, which, according to the authors, points to a high zinc bioaccumulation capacity in the plants under study.

In the present research the content of Cu in plant tissues was low and it ranged from 10.0 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the seeds of evening primrose from Rynarzewo to <0.2 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m. in the roots collected at Łosiny and in the vicinity of Okole (Table 3). In the medicinal material the contents are comparable with the contents reported by Lamer-Zarawska [15] as well as by Markiewicz et al. [17].

The evening primrose plants were not polluted with Ni, Cd, Pb (Table 3). In all the organs analysed the content of Ni and Cd was below the detection threshold of the analytical method applied (< 0.2 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.). According to WHO [27], the admissible content of Cd in medicinal plants should not exceed 0.3 mg Cd kg⁻¹ of d. m. Similarly the lowest amount of Pb in tissues (< 0.2 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.) was noted for evening primrose seeds, whereas the highest content of that metal was assayed in roots (on average in all the stands 2.31 mg Pb kg⁻¹ of d.m.). The plants uptake easily soluble forms of Pb²⁺, which accumulates in roots due to the immobilisation in cell membranes and forming bonds with lipids, and then it penetrates to aboveground parts [20]. According to WHO [27], the admissible lead content in medicinal plants is 10 mg Pb kg⁻¹ of d.m., while, according to Farmakopea Polska [4], the limits for the concentration values for that element in dried plant material may not be higher than 5.0 mg kg⁻¹ of d.m.. Markiewicz et al. [17] recorded a similarly very low Pb content in the evening primrose seeds from controlled plantations (0.038 mg Pb kg⁻¹ of d.m.). Kobierski et al. [13], on the other hand, studying the bioaccumulation of heavy metals in other herbal plants, recorded high values of the bioaccumulative indicator for roots as well as aboveground parts of dwarf everlasting (above 10 mg Pb kg⁻¹ of d.m.) from the same natural stands as the evening primrose plants analysed in the present research. The results could have been due to the fact that the degree of trace elements accumulation in the plant depends on many factors, e.g. species, development stage, soil conditions as well as the interactions between the elements uptaken by plants from the environment [12, 13].

4 Conclusions

- 1. The content of trace elements in the plants of evening primrose from natural stands, especially in the seeds, constituting the medicinal material, is similar to the chemical composition of seeds from plantation.
- 2. Especially the content of Pb, Cd in respective parts of the evening primrose plants collected from the natural stands of Kuyavia-Pomerania province does not exceed the admissible pollution norms.
- 3. Medicinal raw material coming from the described location can be safely used in phytotherapy.

References

- 1. Badora, A., Kozłowska-Strawska, J.: Wybrane wskaźniki jakości roślin uprawnych. Ochrona Środowiska i Zasobów Naturalnych **48**, 439–452 (2011). (in Polish)
- 2. Bayles, B., Usatine, R.: Evening primrose oil. Am. Fam. Physician 80, 1405-1408 (2009)
- Buliński, R., Błoniarz, J.: Badania zawartości niektórych pierwiastków śladowych w przyprawach roślinnych i preparatach przyprawowych. Bromatologia i Chemia Toksykologiczna 28(2), 133–142 (1995). (in Polish)
- 4. Farmakopea Polska X. Wydawnictwo PTFarm, Warszawa (2014)
- Figas, A., Tomaszewska-Sowa, M., Sawilska, A., Bocian, K., Figas, A.: Effect of phosphorus on the growth and photosynthetic pigments content of *Helichrysum arenarium* (L.) Moench plantlets in in vitro cultures. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 3(1), 697–704 (2016). https://doi.org/10.14597/infraeco.2016.3.1.050
- Figas, A., Tomaszewska-Sowa, M., Sawilska, A.K., Keutgen, A.J.: Improvement of in vitro propagation and acclimation of *Helichrysum arenarium* L. Moench. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Hortorum Cultus 15(4), 17–26 (2016)
- Golcz, A., Seidler-Łożykowska, K., Kozik, E., Mieloszyk, E.: Zawartość mikroskładników w surowcach wybranych gatunków roślin zielarskich z upraw ekologicznych. Roczniki Akademii Rolniczej w Poznaniu CCCLXXXIII, Ogrodnictwo 41, 477–481 (2007). (in Polish)
- Grys, A., Łowicki, Z., Gryszczyńska, A., Kania, M., Parus, A.: Rośliny zielarskie w leczeniu chorób skóry– bezpieczeństwo i zastosowanie. Postępy Fitoterapii 3, 191–196 (2011). (in Polish)
- Ibragimow, A., Głosińska, G., Siepak, M., Walna, B.: Heavy metals in fluvial sediments of the Odra River flood plains – introductory research. Questiones Geographiceae 29(1), 37–47 (2010)
- 10. Journal of Laws, item 1395: Regulation of the Minister of the Environment of 1 September 2016 on the Method for Assessment of Land Surface Contamination (2016)
- Kabata-Pendias, A., Krakowiak, A.: Useful phytoindicator (Dandelion) for trace metal pollution. In: The 5-th International Conference Processes, Transport, Fate and Effects of Silver in the Environment. Canada. 28 September –1 October, pp. 145–149 (1997)
- Kabata-Pendias, A., Pendias, H.: Biogeochemia pierwiastków śladowych. PWN, Warszawa (1999)
- Kobierski, M., Tomaszewska-Sowa, M., Figas, A., Gatz, A., Sawilska, A.K.: Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in herbal plants from areas not exposed to heavy anthropopressure. Pol. J. Soil Sci. 50(1), 41–53 (2017). https://doi.org/10.17951/pjss.2017.50.1.41

- 14. Kostuch, R., Misztal, A.: Stanowisko wiesiołka dwuletniego w tokarni na wyżynie małopolskiej. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 1, 27–36 (2005)
- Lamer-Zarawska, E., Hojden, B., Milan, A.: Wpływ zanieczyszczenia środowiska na stopień skażenia wiesiołka (*Oenothera biennis* L.) przez metale ciężkie. Herba Polonica **39**(4), 217– 222 (1993)
- Luo, Ch., Yang, R., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, G., Li, X.: Influence of agricultural practice on trace metals in soils and vegetation in the water conservation area along the East River (Dongjiang River), South China. Sci. Total Environ. 431, 26–32 (2012). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2012.05.027
- 17. Markiewicz, K., Zadernowski, R., Markiewicz, E., Czaplicki, S.: Skład mineralny bioolejów tłoczonych z nasion wiesiołka i ogórecznika. Rośliny Oleiste **XXIII**, 461–471 (2002)
- Markiewicz, K., Zadernowski, R., Pieńkowski, H.: The content of selected minerals in evening primrose (*Oenothera biennis* L., *O. paradoxa* H.) seeds and their oils. Pol. J. Food Nutr. Sci. 3/44(4), 181–185 (1994)
- De Gives, E.M., Sparks, C.A., Fieldsend, A.F., Lazier, P.A., Jones, H.D.: High frequency of adventitious shoot regeneration from commercial cultivars of evening primrose (*Oenothera* spp.) using tidiazeron. Ann. Appl. Biol. **138**, 329–332 (2005)
- 20. Migaszewski, Z.M., Gałuszka, A.: Podstawy geochemii środowiska. WNT, Warszawa (2007)
- 21. Miretzky, P., Andrea, S., Alicia, F.C.: Aquatic macrophytes potential for the simultaneous removal of heavy metals (Buenos Aires, Argentina). Chemosphere **57**, 997–1005 (2004)
- 22. Niesiobędzka, K.: Metale ciężkie w roślinności i glebach narażonych na antropopresję. Chemia i Inżynieria Ekologiczna **12**(S4), 423–431 (2005)
- 23. Petryk, A., Bedla, D.: Ocena zawartości Pb, Zn, Cr, Fe w bulwach ziemniaka oraz w glebie na terenie gminy Trzebinia. Inżynieria Ekologiczna 22, 18–24 (2010). (in Polish)
- Ražic, S., Onjia, A., Dogo, S., Slavkovič, L., Popvič, A.: Determination of metal content in some herbal drugs. Empirical and chemometric approach. Talanta 67, 233–239 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2005.03.023
- 25. Strzelecka, H., Kowalski, J.: Encyklopedia zielarstwa i ziołolecznictwa. Wydawnictwo PWN, Warszawa (2000)
- Ulewicz-Magulska, B., Baranowska, M., Wesołowski, M.: Oszacowanie zawartości miedzi, manganu, cynku i żelaza w ziołach i liściach roślin leczniczych. Bromatologia i Chemia Toksykologiczna 42(3), 815–882 (2009). (in Polish)
- 27. WHO Guidelines for Assessing Quality of Herbal Medicines with Reference to Contaminants and Residues. WHO Press, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland (2007)
- Żurek, G.: Rośliny alternatywne w fitoekstrakcji metali ciężkich z obszarów skażonych. Problemy Inżynierii Rolniczej 3, 83–89 (2009). (in Polish)

Sustainable Development



Solecki Fund as Instrument in the Hands of Rural Development Policy Makers

The Case of Rural Communes of the Lodz Metropolitan Area in Poland

Marcin Feltynowski^(⊠)^[D] and Agnieszka Rzeńca^[D]

Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz, POW 3/5, 90-255 Lodz, Poland marcin.feltynowski@uni.lodz.pl

Abstract. The so called solecki fund (village fund) is an instrument that helps actively and directly engage local communities in all sorts of transformations of their respective territories. The fund is dedicated to solectwo, an auxiliary administrative unit, a subdivision of rural communes (gmina in Polish), but also of rural parts of urban-rural communes. Solectwo is established pursuant to the resolution of a Commune Council and because of its structure and financial resources it receives in the form of a solecki fund it may exert substantial impact upon the living conditions of local population as well as actively support and promote development policy of a commune.

Our studies were undertaken to identify the scope and scale of spending from solecki fund in rural communes of the Lodz Metropolitan Area. Our diagnosis and the inventory of tasks helped us classify them. Statistical and spatial analyses show that not all rural communes decide to use the solecki fund and most projects are infrastructural investments. An important conclusion from the survey is that environmentally-friendly projects involve the highest outlays.

Keywords: Solecki fund · Local development · Rural commune

1 Introduction

1.1 Rural Development in Poland

The existence of a specific local system is a trait typical of local development. Local system is understood as a territory governed by a community, within which this community can satisfy its everyday needs. A commune constitutes a local system and is characterised by: social bonds resulting from living within the same territory, direct relationships, as well as formal and informal dependences between its residents. Thus,

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 263–271, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_33

the local system makes part of individual, typical traits and properties, separate and autonomous in its modus operandi within a set of similar systems [10]. After Castells, Jałowiecki argues that a local system is a living system developed, transformed and experienced by people with locality being its main characteristics [9]. "Locality" in this case means the closeness of elements, relations and processes, the history and tradition of a territory, its present and future [4]. The crucial role is thus played by the local community who co-creates the local system and whose actions impact its development.

Community development encapsulates an array of processes and phenomena taking place within the local community, which initiate and integrate a number of diverse activities designed to meet local community needs, improve their quality of life and wellbeing. Local community initiatives, civil attitudes and engagement in common issues provide the starting point for developing an effective local policy. According to Łojko, in order to have an effective and comprehensive development policy in a commune, two conditions must be met: on the one hand, local communities should be aware of their own needs and be able to self-organise themselves around common interests; on the other hand, local authorities in the commune should be able to skilfully "read" these needs and based on them develop community development programmes [13]. By taking part in the policy development process, local community exerts direct or indirect impact upon decision-making and increases chances to successfully address social issues arising out of the scarcity of goods or their competitive use. Through negotiations and entering into agreements they may reduce or eliminate ramifications in meeting social needs [2].

1.2 Solecki Fund in Rural Development

Solecki funds (village funds) are instruments that help actively and directly involve the local community in transformations. They are available in a solectwo, that is in an auxiliary administrative unit¹ in rural communes and in rural parts of urban-rural municipalities. Solectwo is established based on the resolution of the Commune Council and because of its organisational structure and financial resources allocated within the framework of the solecki fund it may substantially shape living conditions and actively support and stimulate commune development policy.

Legal basis for the solecki fund can be found in the Solecki Fund Act [15] while its form, procedures and organisational principles are identical for all the communes. Resources for the solecki fund are ring fenced in the commune budget, which receives

¹ Auxiliary administrative units are established pursuant to the resolution of the Commune Council and their responsibilities are defined in statutes of the commune.

funds from the central budget through redistribution of financial resources². Although the fund is not created for a specific purpose, resources transferred to it from the state budget importantly support rural development through the implementation of concrete measures.

The fund helps motivate the local community to actively engage in local issues, build social relationships, and civil attitudes. By making reference to the fundamental values of local self-government, such as: independence (autonomy), participation (democracy), effectiveness and productivity [14], its idea reflects the principle of subsidiarity. In this case, the latter has got a practical dimension since the fund enables local community to decide on how resources allocated to them by the commune will be spent, even though an auxiliary administrative unit such as a solectwo does not have legal personality and may act within the boundaries delineated by responsibilities entrusted to it and use allocated financial resources.

Solecki fund is an optional instrument and its use remains within the discretion of local authorities and depends on the specificity of the local system and applied policy. Being aware of the multiplicity of instruments and their specificity based on time, nature, source, scope, and impact, local authorities may adapt them to their own needs. This is also the case of the solecki fund and how it is used. The key question is thus to what extent the instrument is used and what areas it covers. Our survey intended to identify the scale of using the solecki fund and the scope of investment interventions suggested by local community and their classification. It is a pilot study covering rural communes within the functional Lodz area (Lodz Metropolitan Area). We applied targeted sampling approach because we focused on communes situated within the sphere of influence of a big city [6].

$$F = \left(2 + \frac{L_m}{100}\right) K_b \tag{1}$$

where:

- 1. 40% for communes with the base amount below the national average;
- 2. 30%, when base amount in the commune is between 100 and 120% of national average;

² Solecki fund can be used upon the adoption of the resolution to ring fence these resources in the commune budget. How the resources from the participatory budgeting exercise are used depends of the size of the solecki fund, which is identified in accordance with formula (1) specified in the Solecki Fund Act.

 $F-\ensuremath{\text{resources}}$ allocated to a given solectwo, not higher than decuple of $K_b,$

 $L_{\rm m}$ – population of a solectwo as at 30 June of the year preceding the fiscal year,

 K_b – base amount, quotient of actual current income of a commune, referred to in regulations on public finance, for the year 2 years preceding the fiscal year and the number of people living in a given commune as at 31 December of the year 2 years preceding the fiscal year identified by the President of the Central Statistics Office of Poland.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Solecki Fund Act communes, which implement such arrangements may receive partial reimbursement of costs, depending on the base amount calculated for a particular commune in relation to the average base amount for the country. In accordance with the assumptions, three the following thresholds for reimbursement have been calculated:

^{3. 20%,} when base amount is above 120% of the national base amount.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Case Study Area

Lodz, the heart of the Lodz Metropolitan Area (LMA), is the third largest city in Poland when it comes to population. The LMA includes four counties (poviats): Brzezinski, Lodzki Wschodni, Pabianicki, Zgierski, and Lodz a city with county prerogatives; in total seven urban communes, five urban-rural communes, and sixteen rural communes. Our in-depth analysis focused on rural communes within the LMA.

The LMA covers the area of 2,499 km² accounting for 13.72% of the total area of Lodz voivodeship. In 2016 the area hosted over 1.082 million residents representing 43.56% of all the population of the region. Within the LMA rural areas represent 79% of its total size and are inhabited by 13.8% of the population of this functional area. Rural communes cover 56.8% of the LMA and are inhabited by slightly more than 10% of residents of the metropolitan area. They are exposed to strong urbanisation pressure connected with urban sprawl of Lodz producing changes in economic and social spheres. Independently of geographic location, rural areas within metropolitan areas are subject to pressures exerted by central cities [3, 5, 12, 16]. The further we get from the centre, the more prominent role played by agriculture, which is why function-wise these areas make references to traditional rural functions.

Counties within the LMA differ with respect to the structure, they include between 3 and 5 rural communes. Lodzki Wschodni poviat covers the smallest number of rural communes, while Pabianicki poviat includes the biggest number of such communes The rest of poviats have got 4 rural communes.

2.2 Data Used in Analysis

We analysed solecki funds in rural communes within the LMA based on the source data from budget related resolutions adopted by communes for solecki funds in 2016 and data from the Statistics Poland. Data from public statistics have helped us identify rural communes in the LMA, which decided to ring fence resources for the solecki fund in 2016. We could also assess the dynamics, with which resources from the solecki funds were used over the period 2014–2016. Desk studies into budget resolutions of selected rural communes for solecki funds allowed building the database of projects and further analyses necessary to accomplish our research goal.

Our significant research effort was dedicated to the working out of criteria that would help divide tasks financed from the solecki fund. In the first stage we availed ourselves of helpful budget-based classification used to plan the income and expenditure in communes. Following an in-depth analysis of all the identified projects, we applied an additional criterion of the project goal. As a result, we identified 8 groups of responsibilities, such as: modernisation of public establishments (C1), improving access to information and better communication between local authorities and the residents (C2), improving the quality of technical infrastructure (including roads and street lighting) (C3), promotion of a solectwo (C4), provision of spaces where people can meet and integrate (also leisure spaces) (C5), organising cultural and educational events (C6), expanding the share of green areas in the solectwo (C7), and the remaining

tasks not classified above (C8). Moreover, analysis of projects helped us find out projects with positive environmental impact connected with sustainable rural development.

For the presentation of quantitative data (voivodeships, counties and communes) we used vector data from the Head Office of Geodesy and Cartography. These materials provided foundations for the presentation of results of analyses and formulation of conclusions relating to the spatial distribution of obtained results.

3 Results

Solecki fund is an instrument of the development policy in 7 out of 16 rural communes included in the survey and located within the LMA (as at the end of 2016). The fraction of communes that use solecki funds was largely differentiated across individual counties (poviats). In Pabianicki poviat all 5 rural communes used this instrument while in Zgierski and Lodzki Wschodni poviats only some communes (in these two particular instances communes of Zgierz and Nowosolna) established such funds. In Brzezinski poviat not a single commune decided to ring fence a solecki fund in the commune budget in 2016 (Fig. 1). It only confirms little interest shown by rural communes in using the instrument. Perhaps its short back track history is crucial in this case. Other potential reasons may include a rather conservative approach of local authorities and lack of pressure from local communities due to the lack of awareness or incomplete information about how a solecki fund works.



Fig. 1. Solecki Fund in rural communes in the Lodz Metropolitan Area Source: own compilation based on spatial data from the Head Office of Geodesy and Cartography and statistical data from the Statistics Poland

In accordance with methodological assumptions, we identified the dynamics of change with respect to the size of resources allocated to the solecki fund in individual communes. The highest increase in the use of resources from a solecki fund of over 40% was reported for the commune of Dobroń. On the other extreme there is the commune of Ksawerów, in which the use of resources from the solecki fund dropped by 63.78% compared to 2014. Lutomiersk in 2016 launched the solecki fund for the first time, Zgierz commune also has a short history of using the fund (the 2nd edition of the fund).

Conducted analyses allowed us to identify the structure of how resources are spent depending on which class, out of the eight listed, they belong to. Taking the entire surveyed community as a point of reference, we must conclude that 48.33% of solecki funds are allocated to infrastructural investment projects in technical infrastructure, roads, and traffic safety. Substantial resources were used for the modernisation of public establishments. These projects consumed more than 25% of solecki funds in communes covered by the survey. Outlays on organising meeting spaces and places where local community could integrate represented 15.73%. In the remaining classes of expenditure the share of solecki fund was much lower, up to 5% (Table 1). Such a structure of expenditure is also connected with unit value of individual projects, which is confirmed by correlation between the indices of structure and average value of project of 0.949.

Analysis of data has also shown that 12.61% of solecki fund in the LMA communes goes for environmentally-friendly projects. In the case of discussed community the average value of such projects amounted to PLN 12,420.12, which was more than the total average financial rate of absorption of a project. It was also higher than any average calculated for the proposed eight classification groups. Survey considering individual indices for communes allowed us to conclude that the major portion of solecki fund was allocated to environmentally-friendly projects in Ksawerów, where the index was slightly higher than 54%. The lowest environmental expenditure was observed in Lutomiersk, less than 3.5%. Regardless of the commune, expenditure structure within categories corresponded to the structure of the entire community.

Commune	ommune Structure of expenditure by categories [%]								
	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	C6	C7	C8	resources spent on environmental projects [%]
Nowosolna	19.28	5.25	34.00	0.00	31.66	7.72	2.06	0.03	8.69
Dłutów	46.96	2.72	22.63	0.00	20.12	0.00	1.46	6.11	22.46
Dobroń	11.94	0.08	85.90	0.00	1.26	0.00	0.83	0.00	8.81
Ksawerów	13.56	1.21	66.10	1.81	12.94	4.38	0.00	0.00	54.03
Lutomiersk	37.89	0.00	37.51	0.00	19.95	4.65	0.00	0.00	3.45
Pabianice	30.33	0.73	44.31	0.49	11.25	10.16	2.74	0.00	10.58
Zgierz	27.56	1.24	50.56	4.30	14.32	1.73	0.29	0.00	10.07
Total	27.52	1.41	48.33	1.26	15.73	4.23	1.02	0.51	12.61

Table 1. Structure of funding tasks within the solecki fund in rural communes in the LMA

Source: own compilation based on budget data.

Taking account of the number of projects carried out by solectwo in individual communes we note big disproportions ranging from 0 to 6 projects. The analysed community includes solectwo units, which do not use the fund even though it is available in the commune and used by the neighbouring auxiliary administrative units. This is the case of solectwo units in communes, such as: Dobroń, Ksawerów, and Pabianice. Communes covered by the study include also highly active solectwo units in, e.g., communes of Ksawerów, Pabianice, and Zgierz. The structure of projects in communes is clearly dominated by infrastructural projects, which absorb the most of solecki fund and are the biggest group of projects (85.9%). Infrastructural projects come from categories: C1, C3, C5, and C7. Soft investment projects are more scarce (categories C2, C4, C6, and C8). Importantly, residents realise the need to have spaces where they could meet or integrate, projects in this category represent ca. 18% (Table 2).

Commune	Total Projects broken down by categories [no.]								Environmentally-	
	[no.]	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	C6	C7	C8	friendly projects [no.]
Nowosolna	40	4	3	19	0	10	2	1	1	1
Dłutów	36	17	3	8	0	5	0	1	2	7
Dobroń	24	4	1	17	1	0	0	1	0	2
Ksawerów	15	2	1	6	1	3	2	0	0	4
Lutomiersk	52	16	0	20	0	11	5	0	0	1
Pabianice	58	17	1	19	1	11	8	1	0	4
Zgierz	72	19	3	28	5	13	2	2	0	6
Total	297	79	12	117	8	53	19	6	3	25

Table 2. Projects carried out under the solecki fund in rural communes of the LMA

Source: own compilation based on budget data.

4 Conclusion

"Modern public management is not feasible without the participation of civil society stakeholders" [8]. Social engagement is indispensible for proper operation and development of a territorial unit, it is the reflection of the principle of subsidiarity and characteristics of civil society; it also confirms the openness and flexibility of local authorities [1, 7]. Nevertheless, we need to identify conditions of active involvement of local community, identification of areas, methods and forms of cooperation between local authorities and residents.

Solecki fund dedicated to rural and urban-rural communes is a practical solution, in which living in a given location (specific, distinct space – solectwo) conditions purposeful behaviours and actions [11]. As a result, small communities become the main subjects and animators of changes while tasks carried out under the fund are designed to improve the quality of life of local community.

The pilot survey carried out in the communes of LMA showed that the instrument, which is exclusively dedicated to rural areas, is used to a small extent. First of all, not all communes use it, secondly, not all villages within the commune participate in solecki fund. The motives for abandoning the use of this instrument are deliberate, because funds from the solecki fund are redistributed from the state budget. So what are the reasons for the limited use of the solecki fund. The conducted research allowed to indicate three sources:

- 1. Lack of knowledge of local governments and the local community about the possibilities of use and implementation rules of solecki fund (knowledge gap);
- 2. Lack of institutional and organizational capacity of the commune administration to prepare and support the solecki fund procedures (institutional gap);
- 3. Lack of sufficient social capital to exert pressure on local authorities to launch solecki fund (social capital gap).

In conclusion, we can say that the potential of the solecki fund is not used despite the fact that it is a real chance to develop civic activity in rural areas and an instrument for co-managing a commune that allows a real impact on meeting local needs.

Conducted studies clearly demonstrate that there are still shortages and shortcomings in meeting their basic needs. The structure of solecki funds in analysed communes shows that the condition of technical infrastructure, predominantly roads and commune structures, is the main issue in rural communes. That is the effect of many years during which the problem was neglected creating an urgent need to act in this field. Strangely enough, soft projects, the easiest and the cheapest initiatives to be carried out under the solecki fund, do not feature prominently in actions undertaken at the level of a village.

Conducting a literature and empirical study allows to formulate conclusions and recommendations. First of all, solecki fund creates an opportunity to activate inhabitants, build social relations and civic attitudes around key local needs. Secondly, it is a marginalized instrument in the development policy of communes. Thirdly, its formula, including village meeting and voting, it is difficult to read and requires clarification of the procedure. Fourthly, there are significant shortcomings in the field of information and education policy on the inclusion of the local community in the decision-making process using solecki fund.

We should highly appreciate the initiative to use the solecki fund by communes. It opens up opportunities to carry out the most necessary and indispensible tasks and helps local authorities engage people within solectwo units; involvement in the decision making process helps building up relationships between residents and local authorities.

Acknowledgments. Financial support for this study was provided by Department of Regional Economics and Environment, Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz.

References

- 1. Abbot, J.: Community participation and its relationship to community development. Commun. Dev. J. **30**(2), 158–168 (1995)
- 2. Antoszewski, A., Herbut, R. (eds.): Leksykon politologii. Atla 2, Wrocław (1999)
- 3. Carrion-Flores, C., Irwin, E.G.: Determinants of residential land-use conversion and sprawl at the rural-urban fringe. Am. J. Agric. Econ. **86**(4), 889–904 (2004)
- Duché, G.: W poszukiwaniu lokalności w rozwoju lokalnym. In: Jewtuchowicz, A. (ed.) Strategiczne problemy rozwoju regionów w procesie integracji europejskiej, pp. 13–19. Uniwersytet Łódzki, Łódź (2001)
- Feltynowski, M.: Planowanie przestrzenne na obszarach wiejskich łódzkiego obszaru metropolitalnego a problem rozprzestrzeniania się miast. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich 13, 111–121 (2010)
- Gawłowski, R., Sobolewska, A.: Fundusz sołecki. Przepisy prawne i zasady wdrożenia. C.H. Beck, Warszawa (2017)
- 7. Gore, T., Nicholson, D.: Models of the land development process: a critical review. Environ. Plan. 23, 705–730 (1991)
- 8. Izdebski, H.: Nowe kierunki zarządzania publicznego a współczesne kierunki myśli polityczno-prawnej. In: Bosiacki, A., Izdebski, H., Felicki, A., Zachariasz, I. (eds.) Nowe zarządzanie publiczne i public governance w Polsce i w Europie. LIBER, Warszawa (2010)
- Jałowiecki, B.: Lokalizm a rozwój (szkic z socjologii układów lokalnych). In: Jałowiecki, B. (ed.) Problemy rozwoju regionalnego i lokalnego, pp. 17–64. Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Warszawskiego, Warszawa (1988)
- Kacprzyński, B.: Gospodarka lokalna w Polsce. Seria: Rozwój regionalny, rozwój lokalny, samorząd terytorialny, vol. 22, pp. 7–28 (1990)
- Kaufman, H.T.: toward an international conception of community. Soc. Forces 38, 8–17 (1959)
- 12. Kew, B., Lee, B.D.: Measuring sprawl across the urban rural continuum using an amalgamated sprawl index. Sustainability **5**, 1806–1828 (2013). https://doi.org/10.3390/su5051806
- Łojko, E.: Warunki życia środowisk lokalnych w samorządowym modelu ustroju terytorialnego. In: Piekara, A. (ed.) Funkcje samorządu terytorialnego a lokalna jakość życia, pp. 23–74. Centrum Studiów Samorządu Terytorialnego i Rozwoju Lokalnego, Instytut Polityki Społecznej, Warszawa (1995)
- Stewart, J., Greenwood, R.: The purpose and character of local government. In: Świaniewicz, P. (ed.) Wartości podstawowe samorządu terytorialnego i demokracji lokalnej, pp. 57–62. Municipium, Warszawa (1997)
- 15. Ustawa z dnia 21 lutego 2014 r. o funduszu sołeckim [Solecki Fund Act]. Dz.U. 2014, item 301, with further amendments
- Yu, X.J., Ng, C.N.: Spatial and temporal dynamics of urban sprawl along two urban-rural transects: a case study of Guangzhou, China. Landscape Urban Plan. 79(1), 96–109 (2007)



Strengthening the Social Capital in Rural Areas Through the Rural Renewal Program. A Case Study of Opole Voivodeship

Laura Płatkowska-Prokopczyk^(\B)

Faculty of Economics, Opole University, Ozimska 46a, 45-058 Opole, Poland lplatkowska@uni.opole.pl

Abstract. Opinions regarding the limited resources of the social capital in Poland are quite common. The country is particularly often referred to as a place with a lower level of organization of its inhabitants. Therefore, a change is necessary towards a greater activation of local communities and creation of social organizations aimed at solving local problems. The effective implementation of development programs may provide considerable support for the introduction of these changes. The Rural Renewal Program may serve as a particularly good example in this respect because the local community is not only the beneficiary, but mainly the initiator of the actions taken.

The purpose of the paper is to present how Rural Renewal Program affects the activity and social bonds of rural areas inhabitants. Therefore, research was carried out in July and August 2017 among the leaders of Local Action Groups, i.e. the people most involved in the implementation of the Rural Renewal Program of Opole Voivodeship. Each leader is responsible for responsible for tasks implementation in his/her village within the program. The research sample covered 72 of more than 600 rural administrative units (601 units in 2015) participating in the Program, that is over 10% of their entire number. So the article is an attempt to determine the impact of the implementation of this program on the social capital of rural areas covered by the survey. It is worth emphasizing that the first regional rural renewal program was in fact initiated in Opole Voivodeship 20 years ago. Since that time, sufficient experience has been gained to draw conclusions regarding the benefits of the program, its successful aspects and the areas that need to be changed.

The results of the research have shown that there is a relatively high level of trust towards non-governmental organizations among the leaders of Local Action Groups. There is also concern for the weaker members of the community. On the one hand, the main constraints to their activity are the behavioral factors resulting from the attitude of the residents of their village (the lack of commitment) and the bureaucracy involved in funds raising. However, the very fact of respondents' activity within the framework of the Rural Renewal Program should be positively assessed in the context of social capital building.

Keywords: Sustainable development · Social capital · Rural areas · Rural Renewal Program

1 Introduction

The change in the political system has resulted in creating adequate conditions for the development of grass-roots initiatives of local residents. Poland's accession to the European Union enabled the local communities to obtain funds for common goals, which were primarily launched within the framework of programs aimed at rural development. With the EU's new financial perspectives, there has been a shift in the directions of spending on rural development initiatives. Stępień and Czyżewski [1] draw attention to the aspect that is the main priority for the "Rural Development Programme 2014–2020", namely the importance of increased competitiveness of agriculture, built through three initiatives: investments in farms, young farmers and the creation of producer groups and organizations. However, given that the funds allocated in the budget of the above-mentioned RDP for the spatial development of rural areas and also used to finance the rural renewal are at the same time being reduced, the achievement of lasting effects under this priority seems to be debatable [1].

However, the social capital of the area always remains the guideline on how to put the funds in use in a reasonable manner. By implementing the Rural Renewal Program, local leaders can initiate social capital growth processes in their area, and their experience can serve as a valuable source of knowledge about the social processes that take place in rural areas.

The purpose of the paper is to present how Rural Renewal Program affects the activity and social bonds of rural areas inhabitants. Therefore, research was carried out in July and August 2017 among the leaders of Local Action Groups, i.e. the people most involved in the implementation of the Rural Renewal Program of Opole Voivodeship. The article is an attempt to determine the impact of the implementation of this program on the social capital of rural areas covered by the survey.

Extremely interesting are the results of the research conducted by Krzyminiewska [2] on the human capital in rural areas and on the role of economic education in the process of building this capital and in the social development.

The aim of supporting the sustainable development of rural areas is to provide alternative sources of income and to shape agricultural production in accordance with the environmental requirements and in a manner that ensures the preservation of the landscape assets. Such a support is also important as far as the improvement of the social and the technical infrastructure is concerned. All of the actions taken are designed to reduce unemployment, including structural unemployment. The sustainable development of rural areas is connected with the concept of their multifunctionality, with the shaping of the conditions for diverse economic activities carried out with respect for environmental aspects, with the development of social and cultural functions, and with the attention to ensuring good living conditions for the inhabitants. It is true that the rural infrastructure, such as: local roads, sports facilities or sewage systems, seems to be the factor that is often more visible and one that encourages actions aimed at improving it. But the social capital remains an important element of the sustainable development, which was expressed in the Declaration of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment, adopted in Stockholm in 1972, resulting in commencing the work on defining sustainable development in the ecological, economic and social context. To ensure sustainable development, as defined in the Rio Declaration, participation of a conscious society is required. That is because one of the superior principles of creating conditions for effective achievement of goals is constant and consistent raising of public awareness, as well as an increase in the public access to information and its participation in the decision-making process. The sustainable development also anticipates the activity of both individuals and social groups. This is where the social capital comes to the fore.

The social capital, as one of the three components of the intellectual capital, with the other two: the human capital and the structural (institutional) capital, creates human relations and is based on trust and civic participation. From the macroeconomic point of view, the social capital is seen as a source of strategic competitiveness and, due to its specific characteristics, becomes a subject of socio-economic research. This component of the intellectual capital plays a special role in sectors of the economy under transformation. This also applies to rural areas, located outside industrial areas and far from urban agglomerations. They are characterized by their close relationship with natural environment, low population density, and dependence on agricultural business activity [3].

The social capital is a phenomenon that is not easy to measure due to the elusive nature of its components, including, for example, trust, sense of belonging or cooperation. However, it is possible to examine these factors indirectly, for instance by evaluating the activity of local people, their actions, which are signs of the social capital. That is because its essence is team competition based on mutual relations of members of a given community. Apart from trust and common values, important features of the social capital also include manifestations of local self-organization and civic engagement [4, 5]. The social capital can thus be understood as a social network governed by moral or customary norms that bind individuals to a society in a way that enables them to interact with others for the common good.

2 Material and Method

The presented research was conducted among the leaders of local action groups operating under the Rural Renewal Program in Opole Voivodeship. Such an approach can be justified on the basis of the model of rural renewal, published by Wilczyński [6]. According to this model the key areas of rural renewal include: shaping the intangible conditions that contribute to the quality of life, improving the living standards through the development of the material sphere and improving the economic conditions. Intangible conditions relate to neighborhood and interpersonal relations, participation in community life, possibility of creating and using the cultural, educational, leisure and recreation opportunities, and meeting current living needs. Material sphere means for example technical infrastructure, local community facilities, housing and equipment. And economic conditions include working and earning opportunities and related investments, as well as raising funds for common goals by the local community. During the research all these areas were examined, but this study only presents a fragment of the results on social capital.

The results obtained in July and August 2017 represented more than 10% of the rural administrative units participating in the Program. The research sample has

covered 72 of more than 600 rural administrative units (601 units in 2015) participating in the Program. 72 leaders of Local Action Groups were assessed. The employed research method were: telephone interviews and an electronic questionnaire consisting of 30 closed questions with a possibility to complement the given answer in an open question "Other (specify)" – which, however, was very rarely used by the respondents. As regards the social capital, the following issues were verified: strengthening the sense of social bond and knowledge flow, proposing solutions to the problems of rural population, the level of involvement of the village leaders and civic affairs, types of activity of leaders, information flow on the activities of the municipality authorities, social exclusion groups in rural areas, barriers to full participation of the inhabitants in social life and problems encountered by the leaders in their work for the village.

3 Research Results

The structure of the responses given by the target group of the "Village Renewal Program" indicates that they are most likely to include local residents and leaders, local government organizations, youth, women and children (Fig. 1). In the opinion of the surveyed respondents To a medium extent, actions are being implemented whose target groups are: senior citizens, farmers, tourists and men, while to the slightest and small extent they concern the unemployed, the disabled and entrepreneurs. Respondents were asked to evaluate areas that benefited the local community by its participation in the Rural Renewal Program (Fig. 2), and they most often pointed to the integration of the rural community (70% of the responses indicated good and the highest rating) and the sense of identity by the local community (68% of the responses for good and highest rating).

Among the other benefits, the improvement of the quality of life and stability were emphasized – 56% of respondents declared that the degree of improvement was good and very good, with a further 32% of respondents who thought that the change in this regard was sufficient. According to the respondents, the feeling of social ties and the flow of knowledge (Fig. 3) was built to the greatest extent by: an integrated community of the area (96% of respondents answered "definitely yes" and "yes"), an effective local action group (93% of responses in total) and cultivating the tradition of the area (92% of indications in total). The surveyed local community leaders directly pointed to the key importance of the social capital and cultural heritage for the functioning and development of local communities, which is also consistent with other research findings. The respondents were also asked what actions would solve the main problems of inhabitants. They mainly pointed to social and economic factors. Organizing trips, tours, cultural events and family fests got 92% of answers "yes" and "definitely yes", securing conditions for job creation through incentives for entrepreneurs are very important to 85% of the surveyed leaders. 82% of them noted that building cycling lanes as well as organizing summer recreation for children and the youth are important to the residents of their village. More than 80% of surveyed leaders think that there is need for greater involvement of people in self-employment and self-development and Christmas and casual occasions meetings. Also 79% of them notice the need of creating meeting and organizing sightseeing and natural tours in order to activate seniors.



■ to a large degree ■ to the greatest extent □ blank

Fig. 1. The groups indicated by the respondents as the target ones for the implementation of the Rural Renewal Program (RRP) (Source: Own study based on empirical research)



Fig. 2. Evaluation of the areas in which rural communities benefited from the Rural Renewal Program (RRP) (Source: Own study based on empirical research)



Fig. 3. Actions that could strengthen the sense of social bond and the knowledge transfer (Source: Own study based on empirical research)

Only two of the above-mentioned actions were aimed at the economic needs of the inhabitants, while most of them were community-based and could increase the intensity of local community contacts. This indicates that the need of building social relationships in surveyed villages is strong. It is also worth noting that they are targeted at vulnerable groups in these communities, i.e. children and seniors. Interestingly, these answers respond to the question of socially excluded groups. In respondents' opinion both groups: seniors and young people are not identified as excluded. This may indicate that these groups in the studied environment are not left alone and do not alienate themselves or withdraw from social life. The space created for them is actively managed, which seems to be a good testimony to the social capital of the surveyed villages.

The structure of the answers to the question about the form of obtaining and transmitting information about the life of the village indicates that the respondents prefer direct communication. And so, they talk to their neighbors or other people about the problems of the village (up to 99% of responses), participate in meetings with representatives of the municipality (90% of replies), are active in searching information on the Internet, checking plans, resolutions, protocols and other documents related to the locality (almost 92% of replies for each). Data in this regard were recalled by Skubiak [7], indicating the use of the Internet by rural residents between 25 and 64 (27.5% compared to 64.2% of urban residents). Also according to research results obtained by Ziemiańczyk and Krakowiak-Bal [8] although modern technologies are used in Poland mainly by young people and the population of the largest cities, the distance between the use of modern social communication technologies is not as significant as some might imagine or as some stereotypes suggest.

278 L. Płatkowska-Prokopczyk

The leaders, in their majority, personally initiate activities for the local community (90% of responses) and were actively involved in Voluntary Fire Brigades and school affairs. In contrast, relatively few of them were active in social media (32%). Their evaluation of information methods about the actions of the authorities was the confirmation of the communication practices of the respondents. Meetings with representatives of the office or councilors, or information via the local media or the official website of the municipality office (almost 92% of replies) were recognized by the respondents as the most comfortable for the residents. In view of local leaders, the main obstacle to full participation of villagers in social life was the reluctance to engage in activity (almost 85% of replies) or the lack of need to participate in social life (almost 74% of replies). This is in line with the findings published by Sokołowska and Szwiec [9] who found 10% of respondents in the research sample who were reluctant to attend rural meetings and any other activities. This seems to confirm the opinions of leaders in this year's research. The more objective reasons (Fig. 4) do not play any significant role.



Fig. 4. Barriers to full participation of residents in social life (Source: Own study based on empirical research)

On the other hand, among the problems encountered in the work for the village, the leaders indicated the overly complicated formalities related to raising funds for actions (68% of responses) and the related difficulties in obtaining funds (almost 53% of replies). They also experienced staffing issues related to the maintenance of good staff (half of indications). As the least important, from their point of view, they indicated the lack of premises or a place for regular meetings (75% of replies), lack of access to important information (a little less: 72% of indications) and lack of trust in non-governmental organizations (68% of replies). Especially the last factor confirmed the relatively high level of trust in the communities represented by the respondents.

4 Conclusions

The answers given by the surveyed leaders seem to provide – in line with their perspective – a relatively high level of trust towards non-governmental organizations and concern for the weaker members of the community in which they operate. On the one hand, the main constraints to their activity are the behavioral factors resulting from the attitude of the residents of their village (the lack of commitment) and the bureaucracy involved in funds raising. On the other hand, the very fact of respondents' activity within the framework of the Rural Renewal Program should be positively assessed in the context of social capital building, as the Rural Renewal Program has a positive impact on the social capital:

- by enabling the start of bottom-up initiatives relevant to local communities,
- by multiplying contacts between their members in new social contexts, not related to work or functions and life roles, but rather to the local environment,
- by creating opportunities for local community members to test new skills and competences in joint actions,
- by building a lasting relationship of cooperation within the local community, based on mutual knowledge and discernment of skills and capabilities, and on the individual (engaging) members.

Due to the fact that the respondents were leaders, the conducted research is of a partial and preliminary character and will require, at the subsequent research stages, to be supplemented with opinions of a wider group of rural areas inhabitants in Opole Voivodeship. The next stage of the study will allow building a dynamic picture of changes on the level of the social capital and directions for its development through the instruments included in the Rural Renewal Program based on a systematic review of data.

References

- Stępień, S., Czyżewski, A.: Economic aspects of the implementation of the Rural Development Programme 2014–2020. Reminiscences and projection. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 4(42), 651–658 (2016)
- Krzyminiewska, G.: Rozwój społeczny obszarów wiejskich a edukacja ekonomiczna młodego pokolenia. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 2(24), 151–158 (2012)
- Spychalski, G.: Wybrane charakterystyki kapitału społecznego polskich rolników. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 4(30), 231–241 (2013)
- Działek, J.: Kapitał społeczny ujęcia teoretyczne i praktyka badawcza. Studia Regionalne i Lokalne 3(45), 100–118 (2011)
- Sierocińska, K.: Kapitał społeczny. Definiowanie, pomiar i typy. Studia Ekonomiczne. Econ. Stud. 1(LXVIII), 69–86 (2011)
- Wilczyński, R.: Specyfika opolskiego programu odnowy wsi, VI Europejski Kongres Odnowy Wsi, Urząd Marszałkowski Województwa Opolskiego, 23–26 maja 2007, Kamień Śląski, 1–4 (2007)
- Skubiak, B.: Ekonomiczno-społeczne aspekty rozwoju obszarów wiejskich. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 2(28), 215–224 (2013)

- Ziemiańczyk, U., Krakowiak-Bal, A.: Importance of intellectual capital resources in rural development using the fsQCA method as an example. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV/3, 1799–1810 (2017). https://doi.org/10.14597/infraeco.2017.4.3.135
- 9. Sokołowska, S., Szwiec, P.: Changes in farmers' participation in rural organizations of Opolszczyzna Region. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 4(42), 629–638 (2016)


The Rural Renewal Program as a Source of Financing Small Architecture Forms Increasing the Chances of Rural Development (The Case Study of the Opolskie Province)

Jacek Pieczonka^(⊠)₀

Faculty of Economics, Opole University, Ozimska 46a, 45-058 Opole, Poland jpieczonka@uni.opole.pl

Abstract. Rural renewal as a method of development is one of the ways to achieve development goals, understood not only in the context of improving the quality of infrastructure, but improving, in a broad sense, the quality of life, which will not be achieved without residents' involvement.

The aim of the article is to present the Rural Renewal Program (the case study of the Opolskie Province) as a source of financing small architecture forms making the rural area more attractive, which can be expressed by the number of material undertakings (including small architecture forms) implemented by individual rural administrative units and their value.

In order to achieve the goal, the reports of rural councils (about 600 per year) on the implementation of the Rural Renewal Program (in years 2013–2015) were analyzed. Rural renewal, initiated in the Opolskie Province as early as 20 years ago, is the longest-running program for activating local communities and, at the same time, the first program that applied the long-term strategic planning method at the rural level. The process of rural renewal significantly stimulates local communities and builds society. Activation of residents entails the emergence of new cultural, recreational-integrational, educational and renovation projects. These activities restore identity, integrate residents and increase the value of rural life.

Keywords: Rural renewal · Rural areas · Small architecture forms

1 Introduction

In the programming period for 2014–2020, the European Union financial support addressed to Polish agriculture and rural areas is focused on the implementation of the objectives set out in the Strategy for Sustainable Rural Development, Agriculture and Fisheries, which reflects the EU policy priorities in the sustainable - economic, social and ecological development of rural areas.

The success of the implementation of sustainable development depends on the treatment of all the listed objectives (domains) in a similar way that is applying a comprehensive approach. These issues are particularly visible at the commune (local) level, as the development of self-governing communities should be perceived as a

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 281–292, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_35

process of steadily increasing the quality of life of local communities, supported by mutually sustained social, economic and ecological factors.

Inseparable from sustainable development, multifunctional rural development is an important direction of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) and means the need to implement rural development by adding and expanding functions and activities that improve the quality of life of inhabitants of these areas.

Rural renewal as a method of development constitutes one of the means to achieve development goals, understood not only in the context of improving the quality of infrastructure, but improving, in a broad sense, the quality of life, which will not be achieved without residents' involvement.

The aim of the article is to present the Rural Renewal Program (the case study of the Opolskie Province) as a source of financing small architecture forms which make the rural area more attractive and which can be expressed by the number and value of material undertakings (including small architecture forms) implemented by individual rural administrative units.

To accomplish the goal, the reports of rural councils (about 600 a year) on the implementation of the Rural Renewal Program (in years 2013–2015) were analyzed and such information as: the number of rural councils participating in the program, the value of funds employed for the implementation of various types of material projects and their number, illustrating the level of public involvement in building small infrastructure to improve the living conditions of the local community was articulated.

2 Ideas for Rural Development

Before the Rural Renewal Program is presented as a source of financing material undertakings with particular emphasis on financing elements of small architecture affecting the improvement of living conditions, relaxation, the quality of social capital in rural areas, it is worth discussing two basic ideas for rural development, i.e. the ideas of sustainable development and multifunctional development.

The concept of sustainable development establishes the bedrock of the EU policy, the implementation of which in relation to rural development requires the involvement and cooperation of numerous entities, both in relation to the EU institutions and operating in the areas of individual member states. Actions targeting rural areas, which constitute the majority of the EU territory, are the resultant of regional agricultural and cohesion policies, and these in turn combine the concept of stable and sustainable development [1].

In the programming period for 2014–2020, the EU financial support addressed to Polish agriculture and rural areas is focused on the implementation of the objectives set out in the Strategy for sustainable rural development, agriculture and fisheries, which reflects the EU policy priorities in the sustainable - economic, social and ecological development of rural areas.

The objectives of the RDP for years 2014–2020, and especially one of them: "The increase in the quality of human and social capital, employment and entrepreneurship in rural areas", are consistent with the assumptions of sustainable development and are based on the use of local resources.

This objective combines two concepts of rural development, i.e. both sustainable and multifunctional development.

It is commonly accepted that multifunctional development of rural areas is the idea of village activation and diversification of economic activity, according to which the future of the rural population is connected not only with agriculture, but also with other sectors of the economy. Multifunctional development of rural areas is connected with the introduction of an increasing number of new non-agricultural functions: production, trade, and service into the rural space [2].

Multifunctional development of the village is inseparably connected with the process of its renewal, that is, shaping the living conditions of residents in rural areas, whose animator and entity is the local community. Rural renewal leads to personal involvement of inhabitants, resulting from responsibility for their own future and a sense of participation in the community and co-creation, for it activates the basic capital that every society has at its disposal, that is human and social capital [3].

Summing up the issues related to the implementation of rural development, both sustainable as well as multifunctional development, it should be noted that as a result of the development, these areas should become an attractive place for working, living, relaxing and engaging in agricultural or non-agricultural activities, preserving unique natural, landscape and cultural values of these areas for future generations.

The presented information shows that in order to implement the idea of rural development, both sustainable and multifunctional, it is necessary to ensure an appropriate standard of living in rural areas, which will contribute to improving the conditions for human capital development. Unfortunately, currently poorly developed technical and social infrastructure of the village is one of the most serious barriers to rural development. The activities as part of the rural renewal program which are to mobilize local communities to undertake projects to improve the conditions and quality of rural life, create conditions for the development of economic, social and cultural functions of the village are the response to this situation. As part of this action, the implementation of investment (property) activities in the field of modernization and equipment of facilities having cultural, recreational and sports functions, renewal of objects characteristic of the rural architecture of the region and their adaptation for cultural and social purposes, modernization of public space in the village (pavements, squares, parks, markets) as well as projects contributing to the development of public infrastructure related to the development of tourist functions of the village are also supported.

3 Rural Renewal Program in the Opolskie Province

Germany is a pioneer of the idea of rural renewal programs in Europe. Analyzing the decades-long experience of Western European rural renewal programs, it can be stated that there are two ways. The first one starts in Germany, especially in Bavaria, Baden-Württemberg and Rhineland-Palatinate, and the other in Lower Austria. Due to the differences in carrying out the renewal processes in these countries (historically conditioned), one can talk about two ways of village renewal: top-down or "Bavarian" and bottom-up or "Lower Austrian" [4]. However, it should be emphasized that despite

some differences, both ways aim at a common goal, which is to improve living conditions in rural areas and to induce the involvement of residents in the development of their villages.

In Poland, the earliest dissemination of the idea of rural renewal in the form of a specific "Rural Renewal Program" took place in the Opolskie Province. Hence its influence on other regional programs and the shape of support from the EU funds for rural renewal projects determined at the central level. It should be noted that the Opole Program was influenced by partner inspiration for the Opole region that is the Rhineland-Palatinate, and was developed being supported by the experiences of the Land of Lower Austria.

According to Wilczyński [5] "The renewal of the countryside is an innovative conception of development of rural areas, which came into existence on the turn of the 1970s and the 1980s in German-speaking countries (in certain lands of Germany and Austria) and was the reaction to the then growing crisis of these areas. The crisis resulted from transformations in the sphere of agriculture (a radical decrease in the number of holdings and "industrialization" of agricultural production), as well as the socioeconomic transformations, among others, in the organization of trade and services, which brought on a loss of workplaces in favor of urban centers" [5].

It is to a similar effect that other authors express their opinions, among others. Jaszczak et al. [6] who believe that actions realized within the framework of renewal programs of rural areas in Europe offer a response to problems connected with transformation of space, economic development or identification of rural communities [6].

According to Niedźwiecka-Filipiak [7], the main aim of the Village Renewal Program is to improve the living conditions of inhabitants, to find new possibilities of earning their living, to raise the standard of existing infrastructure with simultaneous preservation of the cultural heritage. This is connected with both landscape, spiritual legacy, traditions, customs and holidays of the old times, which are disappearing in the modern world becoming totally urbanized [7].

According to Wilczyński [8], the concept of rural renewal is an exceptional trendit strongly underlines the significance of the human factor as the subject and driving force of development. It assumes that the bedrock for the increase in the standard of living and satisfaction from living in the village is the mobilization of all own resources and the use of external assistance, available, inter alia, from the European Union structural funds [8].

The use of EU funds and their involvement in local development is closely related to the activities of local councils, the most important determinant of which is civic selfawareness and bottom-up determination of priorities for socio-economic development. The primary goal in this context is to increase the quality of life of rural residents, especially the increasing importance of non-productive functions. Living in the countryside and deriving satisfaction from this is for numerous social groups the basic factor in the construction of local action strategies [9].

Rural renewal is the effect of cooperation of residents who want to improve their surroundings through changes in: infrastructure, services, architecture, culture, social life, education, agriculture, space, communication, etc. Rural renewal is also an opportunity to change the mentality of its inhabitants and to inhibit the process of disintegration. It manifests itself not only in economy and architecture but also in social life, culture and natural environment.

The Opolskie Renewal Program has been operating since 1997 and is the longestrunning regional program in rural areas in Poland. It is a distinguishing feature and a hallmark of the region and one of the most important national social innovations in the field of rural development. The pioneer's position and activity in promoting experiences caused that other regional programs largely adapted the Opole solutions. The number of program participants since its takeover by the province council in 1999 has doubled every 4 years. After 10 years of the program's operation (2007), the number of formally submitted rural administrative units reached the number of 551. The further increase was, however, slower; in 2012, 719 rural administrative units (70% rural administrative units in the region) were formally submitted from all rural and urbanrural communes.

In 2010–2015, the number of rural administrative units participating in the program fluctuated; however, it ranged from 600 to almost 700 (Figs. 1, 2 and 3).



Fig. 1. The number of rural administrative units in which undertakings were implemented as part of the Rural Renewal Program in the Opolskie Province (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).



Fig. 2. The number of undertakings implemented as part of the Rural Renewal Program in 2010–2015 (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).



Fig. 3. The value of undertakings implemented as part of the Rural Renewal Program in 2010–2015 (in KPLN) (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).

Rural renewal brought a number of effects in places where it occurred as a development process. In the villages, there were significant changes in the appearance of public spaces and properties and improvements in facilities for community life, celebration and recreation became evident. To recreate the past of the village and use it as a "material" of development, tradition, history and souvenirs were utilized on a mass scale.

Rural renewal also allows maintaining the vitality of rural areas and stimulating the growth of their attractiveness as a place of work and residence, and as a consequence, the quality and living conditions of the inhabitants of rural areas improves.

Being a leader of the rural renewal program, or at least high advancement of this process, makes a rural administrative unit stand out from a commune and even a region, becoming a more profitable place for depositing funds, because the success of undertaking is easier there.

The multitude and multiplicity of events became one of the fundamental results of the renewal process. Numerous villages carry out several dozen cyclical undertakings every year. The versatility of undertakings implemented by villages and their addressees proves that rural renewal activities support sustainable development, thus one that harmoniously combines economic, social, cultural and environmental needs. Cooperation of municipalities and villages results in projects that improve the quality of life and, what is extremely important, shape the image of the village.

The number of undertakings implemented ranged from 4362 to 5595 on an annual average with a significant majority of non-financial undertakings over the financial ones.

The value of projects (financial and non-financial) implemented in the rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province as part of the program amounted to PLN 26.14 million in 2015 to PLN 38.21 million in 2014.

The further part of the study presents information on the number of material undertakings per 1 (in units) per year and the average annual value of property undertakings per village (in KPLN) in individual communes of the Opolskie Province together with their ranking.

Table 1 shows a big difference in the activity of individual rural administrative units in the Opole Province, both due to the number of financial undertakings carried out on a yearly average per 1 rural administrative unit in a given commune (per unit), as well as the average annual value of financial undertakings carried out by rural administrative units in a given commune (in KPLN). Undoubtedly, the rural administrative units of the Skarbimierz commune implemented the greatest value of financial undertakings (including those related to small architecture). The analysis showed that it was mainly a consequence of significant co-financing of these undertakings from external sources, as well as contribution of the commune. Most rural administrative units carry out 1 to 3 material undertakings a year, and their total value usually ranges from 10 up to 30 KPLN per year. The number of realized enterprises by individual villages as well as their value are chiefly a resultant of the activities of leaders of the village renewal program and the possibilities of acquiring external means to finance the own contribution of each village. There is no denying that there are also rural administrative units that do not carry out even on average one undertaking per year, and the value of undertakings amounts to several PLN per year. Spatial distribution shows that there are no significant disproportions concerning individual poviats. However, one should note the greater activity of rural administrative units in such poviats as: Brest, Strzelce, and Nysa, while lower in rural administrative units in the following poviats: Namysłów and Oleski.

Table 1. The number of financial undertakings on an annual average per one rural administrative unit in the commune (in units) and the average annual value of financial undertakings per rural administrative unit in the commune (in KPLN) in 2013–2015. (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by the provinces of the Opolskie Province).

Place in the ranking	Rural	The number of financial	The mean annual value
taking into account the	administrative	undertakings per 100	of financial
number and value of	units	residents (in units) per	undertakings per
undertakings		year	village (in KPLN)
1	Skarbimierz	4.36	236.79
2	Prudnik	4.26	50.95
3	Strzelce	3.88	52.36
	Opolskie		
4	Leśnica	3.5	74.21
5	Kietrz	4.44	31.62
6	Dąbrowa	3.7	36.75
7	Lasowice	3.43	37.6
	Wielkie		
8	Olszanka	3.33	33.77
9	Krapkowice	4.06	28.25
10	Walce	4.28	24.37
11	Skoroszyce	3.67	28.48
12	Nysa	2.73	44.37
13	Kamiennik	2.79	33.71
14	Kolonowskie	3	32.23
15	Paczków	3.09	25.92
16	Baborów	2.48	31.87

(continued)

Place in the ranking	Rural	The number of financial	The mean annual value
taking into account the	administrative	undertakings per 100	of financial
number and value of	units	residents (in units) per	undertakings per
undertakings		year	village (in KPLN)
17	Ozimek	2.22	39.38
18	Branice	3.64	21.35
19	Lewin Brzeski	3.27	22.29
20	Głogówek	2.7	22.91
21	Gogolin	2.41	25.81
22	Łambinowice	2.1	32.02
23	Świerczów	2.56	21.73
24	Zdzieszowice	1.56	75.33
25	Reńska Wieś	2.33	21.86
26	Biała	2.18	23.33
27	Murów	3.44	13.71
28	Tułowice	2.78	16.93
29	Bierawa	2.33	21.58
30	Zawadzkie	4.33	8.61
31	Izbicko	2.48	17.67
32	Jemielnica	2.76	14.9
33	Wołczyn	1.5	32.25
34	Pawłowiczki	2.25	18.17
35	Głubczyce	1.81	23.41
36	Popielów	2.24	17.99
37	Pakosławice	2.12	19.77
38	Lubsza	2.07	20
39	Grodków	2	19.27
40	Radłów	1.83	19.87
41	Turawa	2.37	13.14
42	Pokój	0.6	29.75
43	Korfantów	2.09	13.43
44	Praszka	1.92	13.72
45	Gorzów Śląski	2.14	11.3
46	Chrząstowice	1.81	15.06
47	Kluczbork	1.82	13.33
48	Tarnów	1.72	15.68
	Opolski		
49	Komprachcice	1.67	16.55
50	Wilków	1.29	19.18
51	Prószków	1.74	12.65
52	Niemodlin	1.8	10.02
53	Głuchołazy	1.2	16.54

 Table 1. (continued)

(continued)

Place in the ranking	Rural	The number of financial	The mean annual value
taking into account the	administrative	undertakings per 100	of financial
number and value of	units	residents (in units) per	undertakings per
undertakings		year	village (in KPLN)
54	Zębowice	1.89	5.06
55	Olesno	1.5	12.16
56	Otmuchów	1.71	6.59
57	Ujazd	1.8	3.1
58	Domaszowice	1.33	8.55
59	Rudniki	0.86	11.9
60	Polska	1.5	6.34
	Cerekiew		
61	Namysłów	1.27	7.65
62	Dobrodzień	1.24	7.82
63	Cisek	0.79	9.37
64	Lubrza	0.55	9.68
65	Byczyna	1.06	4.88
66	Łubniany	0.6	5.75
67	Dobrzeń	1	1.9
	Wielki		
68	Strzeleczki	0.33	4.47

 Table 1. (continued)

The subsequent part of the study presents data on the number of financial undertakings carried out on an annual average in a rural administrative unit and their values – case study of the two most active rural administrative units in the given poviat, in the years 2013–2015. These data were also analyzed by assigning both quantity and value of financial undertakings (including mainly small architecture forms) for such purposes as: recreational and integrational, educational, religious worship, building road and other infrastructure, improving equipment and ecological (Table 2).

Table 2. The number of financial undertakings carried out in the village on an annual average and their value – case study of the two most active villages in the given poviat, in the years 2013–2015 (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).

The number of financial	The mean annual value of	Rural	Poviat
undertakings in a rural	financial undertakings in a	administrative	
administrative unit (in	rural administrative unit (in	unit	
units) per year	KPLN)		
3.33	75244.50	Różyna	Brzeski
6.00	432280.08	Lipki	Brzeski
1.33	104020.41	Dziećmarów	Głubczycki
7.33	86624.33	Pilszcz	Głubczycki

(continued)

		1	1
The number of financial	The mean annual value of	Rural	Poviat
undertakings in a rural	financial undertakings in a	administrative	
administrative unit (in	rural administrative unit (in	unit	
units) per year	KPLN)		
4.67	35630.33	Gościęcin	Kędzierzyńsko- Kozielski
3.67	54904.67	Łężce	Kędzierzyńsko- Kozielski
6.33	34564.33	Lasowice	Kluczborski
		Wielkie	
3.67	118085.74	Skałągi	Kluczborski
8.67	49477.67	Walce	Krapkowicki
2.00	137429.00	Żyrowa	Krapkowicki
1.33	147837.47	Krogulna	Namysłowski
4.67	34228.67	Biestrzykowice - Miodary	Namysłowski
5.00	136710.83	Kępnica	Nyski
9.67	69105.99	Trzeboszowice	Nyski
5.00	53510.00	Jastrzygowice	Oleski
3.00	58012.69	Żytniów	Oleski
8.33	73218.33	Chróścina	Opolski
3.67	217566.67	Schodnia	Opolski
7.67	71634.33	Pogórze	Prudnicki
6.00	136576.82	Niemysłowice	Prudnicki
2.67	437710.80	Łąki Kozielskie	Strzelecki
7.67	95910.00	Kadłub	Strzelecki

 Table 2. (continued)

The data presented in tabular and graphical form show that the dominant goal of financial undertakings is to improve the recreational and integration infrastructure (construction and renovation of rural clubs, recreation squares, carports, playgrounds). Then significant funds are allocated to road and other infrastructure (this mainly concerns the purchase of stones for rural roads and their renovation, building their lighting, the same applies to rural playgrounds). In the least, funds from the Rural Renewal Program are allocated for expenses related to religious worship, ecology and education. However, many of these activities are carried out as part of non-financial activities, e.g. educational activities (workshops, training and camps), ecological activities (planting trees, shrubs from donated material) (Figs. 4 and 5).



Fig. 4. The structure of financial undertakings with a breakdown by purpose (by number of activities) implemented as part of the Rural Renewal Program in 2013–2015 (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).



Fig. 5. The structure of financial undertakings with a breakdown by purpose (by number of activities) implemented as part of the Rural Renewal Program in 2013–2015 (Source: own study based on annual reports of the Rural Renewal Program implemented by rural administrative units of the Opolskie Province).

4 Summary

Against the background of generally outlined problems concerning rural areas and strategies for their development, i.e. sustainable and multifunctional, the aim of the undertaken research was to present the Rural Renewal Program implemented in the Opolskie Province and some of its achievements in the field of infrastructure improvement - forms of small architecture.

The implementation of joint ventures leads to the mobilization and cooperation of the society, strengthens faith in one's own strengths, stimulates optimism, and most importantly stimulates bottom-up activities at the rural level. The bottom-up action is the most important feature of rural renewal programs, and the involvement of rural leaders in favor of a new idea, consistent with the intention of these smallest communities is often the key issue of launching the program.

The Rural Renewal Program implemented in the Opolskie Province allows rural communities to decide directly on the goal. Therefore, the implementation of socially desirable initiatives contributes to sustainable socio-economic development, activates the population and results in the improvement of the quality of life in rural areas.

5 Conclusions

- (1) Rural renewal programs, implemented so far, have proved to be a very effective concept and method of rural development. With a small amount of resources, numerous rural communities were mobilized for high activity, generating significant effects of strong pro-development importance.
- (2) Generally, it can be assumed that rural renewal activities support sustainable development that is one that harmoniously combines economic, social, cultural and environmental needs.
- (3) Most rural administrative units carry out 1 to 3 financial undertakings a year, and their total value usually ranges from 10 KPLN to 30 KPLN per year.
- (4) Spatial distribution shows that there are no significant disproportions regarding the activity of rural administrative units in individual poviats. However, one should note the greater activity of rural administrative units in such poviats as: Brzeski, Strzelce, and Nysa, and lower in rural administrative units in poviats: Olesłów and Oleski.
- (5) Financial undertakings implemented by individual rural administrative units concerned mainly the improvement of recreational and integrational infrastructure, road and other infrastructure, and to the least degree, they were related to religious worship, ecology and education.

References

- Wilkins, J.: Cele i zasady koordynacji polityk wspierających zrównoważony rozwój obszarów wiejskich. In: Heffner, K. (eds.) Rozwój obszarów wiejskich w Polsce a polityka spójności Unii Europejskiej: stare problemy i nowe wyzwania, PAN Komitet Przestrzennego Zagospodarowania Kraju, Studia T. CLIV, pp. 25–36. Warszawa (2013)
- 2. Sznajder, M., Przezbórska, L.: Agroturystyka. PWE, Warszawa (2006)
- Sikora, J.: Wielofunkcyjność obszarów wiejskich w Polsce. J. Agribusiness Rural Dev. 2 (2012)
- Błąd, M.: Znaczenie programów odnowy wsi w rozwoju obszarów wiejskich w Polsce. In: Rosner, A. (ed.) Uwarunkowania i kierunki przemian społeczno-gospodarczych na obszarach wiejskich. IRWiR PAN, Warszawa (2005)
- 5. Wilczyński, R.: Village renewal as an environment of prevention and pliant to cultural heritage in shaping the rural landscape. Architektura krajobrazu 1, 2–10 (2005)
- Jaszczak, A., Žukovskis, J., Antolak, M.: The role of rural renewal program in planning of the village public spaces: systematic approach. Manag. Theory Stud. Rural Bus. Infrastruct. Dev. 39(4), 432–441 (2017)
- Niedźwiecka-Filipiak, I.: Rola architekta krajobrazu w programie odnowy wsi, Czasopismo techniczne. Architektura 104(5-A), 59 (2007)
- Wilczyński, R.: Odnowa wsi jako metoda wielofunkcyjnego rozwoju obszarów wiejskich. In: Kłodziński, M., Fedyszak-Radziejowska, B. (eds.) Przedsiębiorczość wiejska w Polsce i krajach Unii Europejskiej, PAN, IRWiR, Warszawa (2002)
- 9. Wójcik, M.: Nowy paradygmat w rozwoju wiejskiej infrastruktury. Studium przypadku konkursu projektów Przyjazna wieś. Studia Obszarów Wiejskich **41**, 109–120 (2016)



Sustainable Development thru Eco-Innovation Activities

Anna Krakowiak-Bal^{1((\Box)}) and Patrik Burg²

 ¹ Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Informatics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland anna. krakowiak-bal@urk.edu.pl
 ² Department of Horticultural Machinery, Faculty of Horticulture, Mendel University in Brno, Valtická 337, 691 44 Lednice. Czech Republic

Abstract. The activity of innovative activity of enterprises represents one of the important elements of regional and national development. The purpose of the paper is to assess relationship between eco-innovation activities and sustainable development in European countries. Analysis includes organizational eco-innovations implemented by enterprises. In analysis were included ecoinnovation projects, expressed by environmental friendly certificates ISO 14001 and 5001. The level of sustainable development of analysed countries has been expressed as Sustainable Development Goals Index (SDG). Results indicate a positive relationship between the eco-innovative activities and level of sustainable development. Although ecological innovations are rarely implemented and there is a small percentage of companies with environmental friendly standards. This kind of activity is mostly conducted in sectors manufacturing metal, food and chemical products, in construction, and electrical and optical equipment. This paper highlights the significance of ecological innovations, and importance of the activities in this matter undertaken by enterprises for sustainable development of the entire country.

Keywords: Organizational eco-innovation \cdot Sustainable development \cdot Environmental friendly certificates

1 Introduction

The concept of sustainable development assumes building a competitive economy based on the effective and sustainable use of resources. Among instruments to achieve this goal are investments in ecological innovations. The term eco-innovation calls attention to the positive contribution that industry can make to sustainable development and a competitive economy. They are to ensure the competitive advantage of enterprises, regions, nations, without detriment to the quality of the natural environment and to enable more efficient use of resources. Eco-innovation (also environmental innovation, ecological innovation or sustainable innovation) has been used to identify all forms of innovative activities and solutions that contribute to a sustainable environment through the development of ecological improvements [2, 12]. According to the

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 293–300, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_36

definition eco-innovation is an innovation that improves the efficiency of the use of natural resources in the economy, reduces the negative impact of human activities on the environment or strengthens the resilience of the economy to environmental pressures [10]. These include new production processes, new products or services, new business and management methods whose implementation will favor environmental protection or significantly reduce environmental risks and reduce the negative effects of raw materials consumption. Eco-innovations appear in various industries and mainly concern reduction of waste and the greenhouse effect, optimization of the natural resources use or reduction of pollution and increase of energy efficiency [6, 7]. The definition of eco-innovation indicates that in addition to limiting the harmful impact of economic processes on the environment, the productive use of natural resources is also important. Therefore, apart from the ecological dimension, the economic dimension (cost reduction) and security issues are also crucial (reduction of dependence on raw materials supplies). There are two approaches to eco-innovativeness: eco-efficiency and resource efficiency [11]. In this context, energy efficiency is becoming an important issue and theses solutions are sought and supported, which allow for savings and optimal energy consumption, as well as the economical management of resources, including energy. One of the solutions is an effectively implemented energy management system, which may become one of the critical conditions for the business success.

Ecologic innovative solutions are also important at different territorial level. In the European Union is assumed to achieve a resource-efficient Europe and an economic growth with eco-innovations [1, 4]. They will play a key role in saving resources on a global level, and all public and private parties involved appear to share a common perspective and to agree on the benefits of its implementation.

However, apart from the importance of eco-innovation, there are a number of barriers to their implementation, which are: market uncertainty, uncertain return on investment or negligible culture of excluding eco-innovation from an organisation's strategy [4, 9]. That is why the level of eco-innovativeness varies across countries, sectors and industries.

The purpose of the paper is to assess impact and relationship between ecoinnovation activities and sustainable development in European countries. Analysis includes organizational eco-innovation entered in enterprises. In this approach, ecoinnovation activities include the number of environment friendly certificates ISO 14001 and 50001. Both standards have a similar goal, which is to reduce the negative environmental impact of an organization.

The ISO 50001 standard was developed in response to the needs and requirements of modern market, where effective energy management is the key determinant of development and an important element contributing to environmental protection. The content of the standard indicates how to create systems, processes and principles in organizations necessary to improve the use of energy in their operations. It also promotes the idea of systematic energy management, which leads to reduction of cost and greenhouse gas emissions.

The ISO 14001 standard contains requirements for an environmental management system. Their fulfillment can help organizations to achieve environmental and economic goals. The basic task of the standard is to support environmental protection and to prevent pollution.

2 Material and Method

In analysis were included eco-innovation projects, which are expressed by certificates ISO 14001 and 5001. ISO 14001 is a standard concerning the environmental management system. It specifies the requirements for an environmental management system that an organization can use to enhance its environmental performance. ISO 14001 is intended for use by an organization seeking to manage its environmental responsibilities in a systematic manner. It applies to any organization, regardless of its size, type and nature, and refers to the environmental aspects of its operations, products and services. ISO 14001 is used to systematically improve environmental management. This standard undoubtedly contributes to the environmental pillar of sustainability. And some research results indicate that enterprises with implemented ISO 14001 declare, as a result of innovation, benefits due to decrease in material intensity and energy consumption of processes within the organization as well as a reduction in fees for using and changing the environment (environmental fees) [5].

The other eco-innovative activity analysed in this paper is implementation of energy management expressed by ISO 50001 standard. It concerns cost reduction, reduction of the greenhouse gases emission and energy efficiency. ISO 50001 supports organizations in all sectors to use energy more efficiently, through the development of an energy management system, which helps organizations to save money, and at the same time helps to protect resources and combat climate change. Firms to improve energy performance, reduce costs and meet customer expectations implement it.

The total number of certificates ISO 14001 and 50001 registered in 2017 in European countries and by industrial sectors was included in the analysis. Data source is the ISO Survey of certifications [3]. To compare these numbers ISO index was calculated (number of certificates per 100,000 enterprises).

The level of sustainable development of European countries has been expressed as the 2017 SDG Index (Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)) [8]. It is a composite measure that aggregates 83 indicators on all 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to provide countries with a quick assessment of how they are performing relative to their peers. The SDG Index score signifies a country's position between the worst (0) and best (100) outcomes.

Data set includes 37 countries described by following variables: ISO 14001 index, ISO 5001 index and SDG index.

To determine the relationship between eco-innovation activities and sustainable development a Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was adopted. It is a nonparametric measure of statistical dependence between the rankings of two variables. It assesses how well the relationship between two variables can be described using a monotonic function.

According to the formula:

The research questions posed at this paper are:

Q1: What is the impact of eco-innovation activities undertaken by enterprises on the level of countries sustainable development?

- Q2: In which countries and which sectors eco-innovation activities are the most popular?
- Q3: Is the eco-innovative activity a domain of most innovative countries?

3 Results and Discussion

The number of environmental certificates in European countries is rising. Definitely more numerous (almost eight times more) are ISO 40001 certificates, than ISO 5001 (see Table 1). The diversification in the number of certificates between 37 analyzed countries is also significant. The annual average rate of change in the number of ISO 40001 in 2011–2017 was 1.8%. While the number of ISO 5001 is growing dynamically, and increased in the period 2011–2017 by an average of 93.4%. It means clearly rising interest of enterprises in a more effective and less expensive energy management and use. Unfortunately, the percentage of companies with ISO certificates is still very low. The average value for analyzed countries is only 0.4%.

Variable	Unit	Average	Min	Max	Stand. deviation
Sustainable development (SDG)	-	76.7	65.5	85.6	4.9
Environmental management (ISO 14001)	No. of certificates per 100 000 enterprises	2979.6 343.0	17.0 1.8	17559.0 855.0	4389.4 232.2
Energy management (ISO 500001)	No. of certificates per 100 000 enterprises	523.1 44.2	3.0 0.0	8314.0 296.8	1475.2 66.9

Table 1. Basic statistic of data set.

Environmental management system (ISO 14001) is more often implemented in industrial sectors. Almost 19% of all ISO 14001 certificates are applied in construction, and 10% are in metal products, electrical and optical equipment and in wholesale and retail trade (see Fig. 1).

The half of all companies, which implement environmental management system in 2017, are located in only four countries: in United Kingdom (15.6% of all certificates), Italy (13%), Spain (11.6%) and Germany (11%).

The energy management system (ISO 50001) is particularly important in an energyintensive industry (including construction, transport and industry) to meet the requirements and regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions. This system is implemented most often in sectors, which produce: metal (12.5%), food products, beverages and tobacco (9%), chemicals (8.6%) and rubber and plastic (8%) (see Fig. 1). Certificates registered for companies in Germany (43%), United Kingdom (16%), and France (12%) represent over 70% of all certificates in European countries. However, regarding ISO index, the countries with the highest values of ISO 14001 are Sweden, Romania and Switzerland. The highest index of ISO 50001 is calculated for Germany, Luxemburg and UK. This list overlaps only partially the group of the most innovative countries in Europe, which are (in 2017): Sweden, Denmark Finland, Netherlands, United Kingdom and Luxemburg (Q3). This means that the innovations of countries' economies are based, for the most part, on the other solutions than on eco-innovation activities. On the other hand, Sweden which is the most innovative country in Europe has also the highest ISO 14001 index.



ISO 14001 ISO 50001

Fig. 1. Share of certificates ISO 14001 and ISO 50001 by sectors.

It is also worth to note, that the indicated, most eco-innovative sectors as wholesale, construction, food production are very often undertaken on the rural areas. It means that these economic activities could be treated as innovation wizards at rural areas.

To achieve the goal of the analysis and to answer the research question Q1 regarding relationship between eco-innovation activities and level of sustainable development of the countries, Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was calculated (see Table 2). Calculated values of r_s indicate a positive relationship between the eco-innovative activities and level of sustainable development. The higher ISO indexes implemented in enterprises, the higher level of country's sustainability and vice versa.

Variable	ISO 4001 index	ISO 5001 index	SDG index
ISO 4001 index	1.0		
ISO 5001 index	0.43	1.0	
SDG index	0.51	0.44	1.0

Table 2. Spearman's correlation coefficients r_s .

All correlations are significant at p < 0.05

Stronger correlation was detected between SDG index and implementation of environmental management system (ISO 14001).

It can be caused by more popularity of 14001 standard, much more often implemented in enterprises.

The relationship between ranks of 37 countries according to SDG and ISO indexes presents Fig. 2. Countries are divided into 4 groups based on the average value.



Fig. 2. Scatter plot comparing countries ranks in ISO 4001 and SDG indexes.

In the data set, countries with the highest ISO index values are scattered across the Europe. Twenty percent of the analysed countries are more sustainable then ecoinnovative (i.e. Austria, France Belgium). The efforts to obtain high level of sustainable development are focused on the other aspects then eco-innovativeness. Poland, for now, belongs to the weaker countries groups, in both rankings, but it is higher ranked in sustainability than in ISO indexes (see Fig. 2).

4 Conclusions

Ecological innovations seem to be effective tools for implementing the concept of sustainable development. Presented results confirm a positive relationship between these two phenomena: Eco-innovative activity (organizational eco-innovation) and country's sustainable development (Q1). Although this activity is still rarely under-taken and there is a small percentage of companies with analysed standards. Environmental management system is implemented mostly in sectors of: construction, metal products and electrical and optical equipment, while the energy management is applying mostly in sectors manufacturing metal, food and chemical products (Q2). The highest share of implemented organizational eco-innovations was calculated for Sweden, United Kingdom and Romania (Q2). It only partially covers the list of the most innovative countries (Q3). It may be concluded that ecological innovation are developed and entered not only in regions considered the most innovative.

On the one hand, eco-innovations contribute to improving the relations between implementing entities and the environment, and on the other hand, they contribute to technical progress being one of the basic conditions for building a competitive advantage of systems. Enterprises implementing ISO certificates expecting the more sustain resources management, with respect of social, environmental and economic aspects. The reason for entering such organizational eco-innovation is to improve energy efficiency, reduce energy costs (energy consumption) and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These goals are common with the sustainability requirements and challenges.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland (means of Statutory Research No. DS 3600/WIPIE, University of Agriculture in Krakow).

References

- 1. Eco-Innovation Observatory: The Eco-Innovation Challenge: Pathways to a Resource-Efficient Europe. European Commission, DG Environment, Brussels (2011)
- Halila, F., Rundquist, J.: The development and market success of ecoinnovations: a comparative study of eco-innovations and "other" innovations in Sweden. Eur. J. Innov. Manag. 14(3), 278–302 (2011)
- Karakaya, E., Hidalgo, A., Nuur, C.: Diffusion of eco-innovations: a review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 33, 392–399 (2014)
- Kaźmierczak-Piwko, L.: Determinanty działalności ekoinnowacyjnej przedsiębiorstw. Zarządzanie i Finanse 10(1), 533–543 (2012)
- Krakowiak-Bal, A., Burg, P., Ziemiańczyk, U., Trávníček, P., Junga, P., Vítěz, T.: Innovativeness – does the territorial typology matters? Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV(4), 1937–1945 (2016)
- 6. Muweis, J.: The examples of modern solutions in the field of waste management in circular economy model transformation. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas **IV**(3), 1785–1797 (2017)

- Sachs, J., Schmidt-Traub, G., Kroll, C., Durand-Delacre, D., Teksoz, K.: SDG Index and Dashboards Report 2017. Bertelsmann Stiftung and Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN), New York (2017)
- Scarpellini, S., Aranda, A., Aranda, J., Llera, E., Marco, M.: R&D and eco-innovation: opportunities for closer collaboration between universities and companies through technology centers. Clean Technol. Environ. Policy 14(6), 1047–1058 (2012)
- 9. Szpor, A., Śniegocki, A.: Ekoinnowacje w Polsce. Stan obecny, bariery rozwoju, możliwości wsparcia. Instytut Badań Strukturalnych, Warszawa (2012)
- Tarnawska, K.: Eco-innovations-tools for the transition to green economy. Econ. Manag. 18 (4), 735–743 (2013)
- Xavier, A.F., Naveiro, R.M., Aoussat, A., Reyes, T.: Systematic literature review of ecoinnovation models: Opportunities and recommendations for future research. J. Clean. Prod. 149, 1278–1302 (2017)



Homogeneity of Rural Communes with Respect to Green Areas

Marcin Feltynowski^(⊠)

Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz, POW 3/5, 90-255 Lodz, Poland marcin.feltynowski@uni.lodz.pl

Abstract. Green areas are fundamental to local communities as they fulfil important leisure and aesthetical functions. Their role in rural communes is also vital for accomplishing social functions. Studies discussed below are based on measures constructed using statistical data available in the section "Green Areas" of the Local Data Bank. Percentage indicators are used as input data to Ward's method applied to assess the homogeneity of rural communes with respect to types of green areas.

Obtained results allowed us to comprehensively assess rural communes from the perspective of the occurrence of different clusters that we identified across Poland. At the same time we could assess the location of these clusters in space and link them with the basic, qualitative evaluation of data used in the studies. An important conclusion in the study is that the major role in the clustering of rural communes plays the index of the share of communal forests in the total area of communes.

Keywords: Homogeneity of rural communes \cdot Green areas \cdot Ward method \cdot Rural commune

1 Introduction

Administratively, rural communes occupy 62.3% of Poland's territory. They are inhabited by slightly more than 28.5% of the country's population. These data coming from Statistics Poland provide the snapshot of the situation as at the end of 2016. Administrative approach, the most common in public statistics, helps identify the following types of green areas in communes: recreational and walking parks, green spaces, green belts in streets, borough open spaces, as well as cemeteries and communal forests. According to Statistics Poland, recreational and walking parks are organised areas extending across more than 2 ha with facilities offered to people, such as: walking paths, benches, playgrounds, beaches, etc. Green spaces whose area is in principle smaller than 2 ha complement the first category. Green belts in streets are organised alongside streets or footpaths. Borough open spaces are trees, bushes and other plants placed in between residential buildings or within housing areas and used for recreation but also as insulation and decoration. Cemeteries are pieces of land specifically designated as burial grounds with accompanying green areas. Communal forests include forests supervised and managed by local authorities of a given commune.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 301–306, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_37

Scientifically speaking, we must admit that the above listed types of green areas do not make a complete and exhaustive set of categories that the term covers, to which attention has been drawn also in the subject-matter literature [2, 3]. Nevertheless, we must accept that in order to assess the intensity of the presence of particular types of green spaces across the country, statistical data provide sufficient grounds to unambiguously decide how homogeneous rural communes are when it comes to the presence of green spaces. At the same time, we need to bear in mind that these types of green areas remain public resources, accessible to everyone without restrictions, which is important for the leisure function. On top of that, green areas perform other functions that shape local micro-climate [6]. Studies were undertaken to assess the presence of clusters of rural areas in the country and reveal whether there is any link between the formation of such clusters and their distance from major regional centres.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Case Study Area

The analysis covers the entire area of Poland, all of rural communes in the country in 2016. Time frame was decided by the availability of data at Polish statistical authority, Statistics Poland. At that point of time, rural communes represented 62.9% of all units in the country (2,478 communes). In nine voivodeships the percentage of rural communes is higher than the country average. In the remaining seven voivodeships the reported number of rural communes was below the country average (Table 1).

Voivodeships	Total number of communes	Percent of rural commune
Dolnoslaskie	169	46.2
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	144	63.9
Lubelskie	213	78.4
Lubuskie	82	48.8
Lodzkie	177	75.1
Malopolskie	182	66.5
Mazowieckie	314	72.6
Opolskie	71	50.7
Podkarpackie	160	68.1
Podlaskie	118	66.1
Pomorskie	123	65.9
Slaskie	167	57.5
Swietokrzyskie	102	68.6
Warminsko-Mazurskie	116	57.8
Wielkopolskie	226	50.4
Zachodniopomorskie	114	43.0

Table 1. Share of rural communes in voivodships

Source: own work based on Local Data Bank.

2.2 Methods and Data

Data used in the analysis come from Statistics Poland and refer to green areas in communes in accordance with the division applied in data collection system. They were used to calculate indicators of the share of individual types of green areas in the area of communes. These indicators later became foundations for the building of clusters applying Ward's method and using Euclidean distance. This method allows identifying homogenous clusters of rural communes based on specific set of indicators. Ward's agglomeration method uses variance analysis to estimate distances between clusters and creates clusters with the most congruent objects; moreover, it represents the highest efficiency of clustering [4, 5].

Ward's method could be applied as a result of using Statistica 12.5 software. For the analysis the cut-off value for clusters was selected at the point where the value of single-link between elements exceeds 5% of the complete-link. This assumptions also helped identify groups of objects whose variance compared to the base distance is the lowest. Additionally, we visualised and identified spatial diversity of elements within clusters and further investigated it at national and regional levels.

3 Results

Analysis conducted using the statistical software allowed us to find out that the cutoff value for clusters was equal to the link proximity distance of 25. At this level the assumption concerning the value of link between clusters higher than 10 (i.e. 5% of the complete link calculated in the analysis) was fulfilled. By finding this value we could form five homogenous clusters (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Homogeneity of rural communes with regard to green areas – Ward's method. Source: own work based on Statistica 12.5.

Based on obtained results we learnt that the biggest group of communes was found in cluster 2 which included over 69% of all communes. From the qualitative point of view we need to stress that these communes represented the lowest potential of green areas in all analysed categories. Cluster 4 exhibited similar attributes but communal forests were slightly more important in it. It was also the second biggest cluster bringing together 29.93% of communes. Next, there was cluster no. 5 in which communal forests covered between 0.5% and 2% of commune area. This cluster included 5% of all analysed rural communes.

Further, with respect to variances there was cluster 1; communal forests in communes within this cluster covered between 2% and 4.2% of the total area of a commune. They represented 1.41% of the total population included in the study. The smallest group of homogenous objects was found in cluster 3 for which the distinguishing feature was the biggest share of communal forests, over 4.5%, in the total area of this territorial unit. This cluster included only 0.64% of the investigated communes (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Clusters of rural communes with regard to green areas. Source: own work based on Local Data Bank.

These results have brought us to the conclusion that rural communes with the biggest share of green areas and, at the same time, with the biggest share of communal forests as percentage of the total area of a commune can be found in clusters 1 and 3. Geographically, these territorial units are located in voivodeships in the south of the country, i.e., in Podkarpackie, Malopolskie, Slaskie, and Dolnoslaskie voivodeships. The remaining voivodeships are dominated with units that, based on the Ward's

method, have been classified as clusters 2, 4, and 5. These clusters differed slightly with respect to qualitative assessment when it comes to the share of communal forests in the total area of the unit.

4 Conclusion and Discussion

We need to admit that – looking from the perspective of statistical data that we used – rural communes in Poland do not differ very much although Ward's method helped us identify clusters that varied significantly from the rest. The heart of Ward's method lies in identifying clusters which are later assessed in qualitative terms by researchers who have the right to suggest solutions that are potentially better suited to the needs of the users of space. Our study followed the same line of thinking and it allowed for qualitative assessment of clusters.

An important conclusion drawn from this exercise is that by leaving aside differences in the share of communal forests in the total area of communes we would face big difficulties in identifying differences between classes. Thus, we suggest extending the set of data used in the study with other categories of green that can be identified outside of public statistics in the category of green areas.

Results which did not confirm the hypothesis that laid foundations for our research about the relationship between types of communes and their location vis-à-vis big cities were relevant for the study. It turned out that for this particular set of statistical data such relationships were not quantified.

For the development of rural communes the share of green areas in public spaces is important as they contribute to the upgrading of the living standard of local population and perform recreational function in urbanised areas of rural communes. This relationship is clear in studies conducted in cities [1], it can also be justified in rural areas, however, it calls for more in-depth studies based on new statistical and spatial data that would allow capturing relationships other than those discussed in presented studies.

Acknowledgments. Financial support for this study was provided by Department of Regional Economics and Environment, Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz.

References

- Czembrowski, P., Kronenberg, J., Czepkiewicz, M.: Integrating non-monetary and monetary valuation methods – SoftGIS and hedonic pricing. Ecol. Econ. 130, 166–175 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.07.004
- Feltynowski, M., Kronenberg, J., Bergier, T., Kabisch, N., Łaszkiewicz, E., Strohbach, M.W.: Challenges of urban green space management in the face of using inadequate data. Urban For. Urban Greening **31**, 56–66 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.12.003
- 3. Kronenberg, J.: Why not to green a city? Institutional barriers to preserving urban ecosystem services. Ecosyst. Serv. **12**, 218–227 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.07.002

- Suchecki, B., Lewanowska-Gwarda, K.: Klasyfikacja, wizualizacja i grupowanie danych przestrzennych. In: Suchecki, B. (ed.). Ekonometria przestrzenna. Metody i modele analizy danych przestrzennych, pp. 56–69. Wydawnictwo C. H. Beck, Warszawa (2010)
- 5. Ward, J.H.: Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 58 (301), 236–244 (1963)
- Woźny, A.: Wpływ warunków siedliskowych na stan zieleni przyulicznej. Infrastruktura i Ekologia Terenów Wiejskich, no. 2015/III, pp. 557–567 (2015). http://dx.medra.org/10. 14597/infraeco.2015.3.1.044



Economic Missions and Brokerage Events as an Instrument for Support of International Technological Cooperation Between Companies of the Agricultural and Food Sector

Zofia Gródek-Szostak^{1(⊠)}, Małgorzata Luc², Anna Szeląg-Sikora³, Marcin Niemiec⁴, and Danuta Kajrunajtys⁵

¹ Department of Economics and Organization of Enterprises, Faculty of Management, Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow, Poland grodekz@uek.krakow.pl ² Department of Geographic Information Systems, Cartography and Remote Sensing, Faculty of Geography and Geology, Jagiellonian University, Gronostajowa 7, 30-387 Krakow, Poland ³ Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Computer Science, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116B, 30-149 Krakow, Poland ⁴ Department of Agricultural and Environmental Chemistry, Faculty of Agriculture and Economics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Mickiewicza 21, 31-120 Krakow, Poland ⁵ Department of Management Strategies and Organization Development, Faculty of Economics and International Relations, Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. The necessity of international cooperation between enterprises and the diffusion of innovations is indispensable in an environment characterized by complexity and dynamic development. Due to limited financial resources, micro-, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) are experiencing difficulties in accessing high-quality commercial services of searching for partners for advanced technological cooperation. However, companies that build their competitive advantage based on innovative solutions are increasingly willing and more likely to use the extensive catalog of support instruments offered by the Enterprise Europe Network. The quantitative data that characterize selected aspects of the potential and functioning of the Enterprise Europe Network (in the years 2008–2014).

Keywords: Economic mission · EEN · Support · Agri-food sector

1 Introduction

The agri-food sector is one of the largest subsystems of the national economy. This is mainly due to the fact that it satisfies the most important basic needs of the society [6, 9]. Entities of the agri-food sector produce food directly and participate in its

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 307–312, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_38

distribution, which makes them important components of the economy [3, 12]. However, as economic development progresses, the role of agriculture in generating national income decreases in relation to the food industry, trade and services [8].

The necessity of international cooperation between enterprises and the diffusion of innovations is indispensable in a complex and dynamically developing environment. Due to limited financial resources, micro-, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) are experiencing difficulties in accessing high-quality commercial partner searching services to establish advanced technological cooperation. However, companies that build their competitive advantage based on innovative solutions are increasingly willing and more likely to use the extensive catalog of support instruments offered by the Enterprise Europe Network (EEN). The quantitative data that characterize selected aspects of the potential and functioning of the EEN (in the years 2008–2014) and the results of structured interviews with representatives of centers supporting agri-food enterprises in the field of cooperation (with questions built on the recommendations of prediction techniques) were subject to empirical analysis in the process of their internationalization. The following research questions were posed:

- 1. What were the most frequent directions of the economic missions and brokerage events in the agro-food sector?
- 2. What quantitative and qualitative effects have been achieved by enterprises participating in the economic missions and brokerage events?

1.1 The Character of the Agri-Food Sector

The main links of the food complex are agriculture and the food industry (agri-food sector). Entities of the agri-food sector produce food directly and participate in its distribution, as important elements of the economy [3, 12]. However, with the economic development, the role of agriculture in generating national income decreases as related to the food industry, trade and services [8]. This is a regularity, which can be explained mainly by a lower income flexibility of demand for food products than that for other goods or services. A specific feature of the sector is also a limited size of food demand and an increase in the efficiency of all agricultural production factors, which is higher than the growth rate of demand [7]. As in other branches of the national economy, the directions of development of the industry are determined primarily by the aspiration of food producers to maximize profits. The demand resulting from the maximized utility of consumption, generally applicable law and the level of subsidies from public funds are also important [10]. The development of the agri-food sector is also evidenced by the growing export of agri-food products [2].

1.2 Support for International Cooperation of Enterprises

Literature shows that entrepreneurial orientation is an important function of the enterprise's survival [1, 4, 11]. An important variable determining the international technological cooperation of enterprises is the possibility of using public instruments to support innovative development of their organization [5].

The Enterprise Europe Network is an initiative of the European Union aimed at providing support for business innovation for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in Europe. The EEN remains the world's largest business and innovation support network and currently consists of 625 partner organizations located in more than 60 countries. Over 4,000 internationalization experts and technology transfer practitioners offer a wide range of services supporting entrepreneurship and innovation for enterprises. The members of the Enterprise Europe Network are chambers of commerce, regional development agencies, SMEs, research institutes, universities, as well as technology and innovation centers. The network's offer includes a number of specialized services, provided in a one-stop-shop formula.

It is the largest European network of business and innovation support, providing high quality integrated services to SMEs. The idea of the EEN is to provide integrated information, business cooperation, innovation and technology transfer in support of small businesses and innovative SMEs.

Economic missions are a platform that not only allows improving the establishment of direct contacts, but also exchanging innovative technologies and initiating and establishing new business partnerships with organizations from similar industries. The missions are the cheapest direct form of reaching the right potential business partner in its natural environment. They enable not only familiarizing with the partner's capabilities, but also with its closest business and legal environment. In turn, a brokerage meeting is a quick and direct form of seeking a partner for cooperation. It is an opportunity to exchange information about innovative technologies and new trends, as well as to search for business and technological partners. The participants themselves can choose partners for direct B2B meetings, in accordance with the type of cooperation sought before the event. In this way, the time at the fair can be more effectively planed.

2 Material and Method

Analysis of data in the EEN network reports on the support of the agri-food sector shows there are 56 countries in the world (out of 185) that have held company missions meetings and 47 that organized brokerage events between Jan 2016 and Apr 2017. To illustrate the different types and number of meetings the cartogram method was used and ArcMap 10.6 program. The Gastner-Newman anamorphic cartogram is a thematic type of maps that presents the relative values of the examined attribute of two-dimensional objects created by the division of the area into countries. The map created using this method shows the magnitude of the phenomenon through the variability of the size and shape of the reference unit (country). The total number of meetings is divided into 7 progressive classes (i.e. the higher the class, the greater the difference in extreme values), including the "0" class. Classes have a diverted color scheme (the smaller the number, the darker the color) for improved visualization. This method of presentation violates the common approach to data visualization, in which each area on the map must be reflected in reality. The anamorphosis stresses the territorial diversity of a given phenomenon at the expense of deforming its real boundaries. It uses more

the theory of perception of the phenomenon than its physical reference to reality through the use of scale.

3 Results

Analysis of used data shows countries in which the largest number of meetings in both company missions (>1000) and brokerage events (10000–15000) was held. These are: Spain, France and Germany, as illustrated by Figs. 1 and 2.



Fig. 1. Brokerage meetings of the agri-food sector organized by the EEN network between January and June 2017.



Fig. 2. Trade missions of the agri-food sector organized by the EEN network between January and June 2017



Fig. 3. Effectiveness of the trade missions and brokerage meetings of the agri-food sector organized by the EEN network between January and June 2017.

Poland, Romania and Turkey also ranked high in company missions. Most of the meetings had a transnational character, however only a few of them were fully international (Armenia – brokerage events; Armenia, Paraguay and Japan – company missions).

Very few meetings were concluded with a cooperation agreement, except company meetings in Chile (21%) and brokerage events in Moldova (8%). The effectiveness of company missions and brokerage events presented in Fig. 3 relates to the agreed collaboration and participation in international meetings. Spain, France and China remain leaders in this area. The amorphous cartograph presents the distribution of the effectiveness of the international activity of enterprises representing the agri-food sector.

4 Conclusions

There is no doubt that economic missions and brokerage meetings are among effective forms of promotion on international markets and support the establishment of technological cooperation of agri-food enterprises. These are the cost-conscious tools for enterprise development. Therefore, it is necessary to use public information tools to support the internationalization of economic activity. The EEN network is one of tools, which are subject of further research by the authors in terms of effectiveness.

References

- 1. Anand, B.: Reverse globalization by internationalization of SME's: opportunities and challenges ahead. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci. **195**, 1003–1011 (2015)
- Bórawski, P., Bełdycka-Bórawska, A.: Polish international trade of agri-food products and its prognosis. Zeszyty Naukowe SGGW w Warszawie, Problemy Rolnictwa Światowego 16 (31), 48–59 (2016)
- 3. Brodziński, Z., Chyłek, E.K.: Consulting in Agribusiness. ART, Olsztyn (1999)
- 4. Covin, J.G., Slevin, D.P.: A conceptual model of entrepreneurship as firm behavior. Entrepreneurship Theory Pract. 16, 7–25 (1991)
- Gródek-Szostak, Z., Nesterak, J.: Trade missions as the instrument for supporting international technological cooperation of enterprises - case study of Poland, Slovakia and Czech Republic. Acta Oeconomica Universitatis Selye 6(2), 57–67 (2017)
- 6. Kiełbasa, M.: The future of the agri-food sektor in relation to the current status. Prog. Econ. Sci. 2, 227–238 (2015)
- Kowalski, A., Figiel, S., Halamska, M.: Socio-economic conditions of food sector development. Pol. J. Agron. 7, 29–42 (2011)
- Mrówczyńska-Kamińska, A.: The structure of agribusiness in poland nd its importance in the economy in the context of the EU integration. Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu 360, 47–54 (2014)
- Smędzik, K.: Concentration of agrobusiness companies in Wielkopolska Voivodship. Roczniki Ekonomiczne Kujawsko-Pomorskiej Szkoły Wyższej w Bydgoszczy 2, 275–287 (2009)
- Urban, R.: Evaluation of the cohesion of developmental processes of agriculture and the food industry. Zagadnienia Ekonomiki Rolnej 1, 3–17 (2012)
- Wu, J., Wang, Ch., Hong, J., Piperopoulos, P., Zhuo, S.: Internationalization and innovation performance of emerging market enterprises: the role of host-country institutional development. J. World Bus. 51, 251–263 (2016)
- 12. Woś, A.: Agribusiness. Macroeconomics, vol. 1. Key Text, Warszawa (1996)



Examining Sources of Farmers' Knowledge as a Premise Behind Realization of the Smart Village Conception. A Case Study of Opole Region

Anna Bisaga^(⊠) **(**□)

University of Opole, pl. Kopernika 11a, Opole 45-040, Poland abisaga@uni.opole.pl

Abstract. The aim of the study is to point to the need of doing research on the system of agricultural knowledge and information as a premise behind realization of the conception of smart village in the territorial framework. Accepting the assumption that intelligent agriculture lies at the foundation of transformation of rural areas, the author indicates the role of the system of agricultural knowledge and information in the process of modernization of agricultural holdings. In the article, questionnaire-based survey research was used in relation to the sustainable development of agriculture in Opole Region. In order to assess the level of adaptation of agricultural holdings to economy based on knowledge, the author used the method of mapping the sources of knowledge and information related to farming. On its basis it was concluded that the examined farmers make use of a variety of sources to acquire knowledge and information, among them being traditional ones, agricultural counseling and Internet-based platforms. It is TV that still remains the main source of information concerning the domestic agricultural policy, whereas counselors provide knowledge on managing environment and requirements and standards connected with agricultural production in the EU. Internet platforms are winning farmers' greater and greater trust in all areas of knowledge and information which are indispensable for management of an agricultural holding today.

Keywords: Agricultural Knowledge and Information System \cdot Smart village \cdot Intelligent agriculture

1 Introduction

The conception of a smart village was born as a reflection on sustainable territorial development in the European Union [3, 15], similarly as it happened in the case of smart cities [1]. One can find a number of initiatives of creating smart villages in the global and European space, being described in the literature of the subject [18]. The new approach to a territory, which perceives not only its geo-economic features, allowed establishing infrastructural, social, human and information-oriented premises for "a better life in rural areas" [5]. It is an expression of the growing awareness of assets of a place and territory in spatial planning [7, 13].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 313–320, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_39

Initially, sustainable development of rural areas was connected with the paradigm of their multifunctional development. Its implementation exposed the need for activating specific resources existing in rural areas and contributed to endogenization of their development, as well as searching for smartness of local structures [17]. In turn, fuller and fuller making use of the specific resources of rural areas enforced a change of the development paradigm from multifunctional to an integrated one which lays the emphasis on strategic planning of development and strengthening the principle of subsidiarity.

In the debate on the Common Agricultural Policy 2020 Plus, which has been carried out for some time now, the following questions are of key importance: its orientation towards results, new institutional frameworks for the principle of subsidiarity, resistant and smart agriculture, securing the continuity of all capitals existing in rural areas – in particular – the natural capital, which is the condition of supplying public goods by the country and agriculture. The European Commission suggests that the strategic plans of the CAP should be created in member countries on the basis of the goals which were negotiated for the whole integration group. As regards the environmental management, it is proposed that the requirements of the GAEC (Good Agricultural Environmental Conditions), greening, as well as agricultural-environmental and climatic programs should be concentrated in one packet of requirements and instruments defined and monitored on the national/regional level, with taking into consideration the ladder of sustainable development and features of ecosystems existing on the given territory. This change is expected to provide adjustment of actions to regional and local needs and also a greater supply of public goods. Systems of knowledge and information addressed to farmers and inhabitants of the country should offer effective support for undertaking modernization-related actions.

The system of knowledge and information related to agriculture, which serves to implement a well-thought-over (reflective) modernization of the country and agriculture is multifaceted and is becoming more and more complex. For a smart transformation of the country and agriculture it is indispensable to assess the position of individual sources of knowledge and information in a variety of different thematic areas which are vital to this process.

The appearance of smart villages requires interpenetration of different kinds of knowledge: scientific, expert and confidential local knowledge. In order to secure the right conditions for the process to develop it is necessary to equip rural areas with the infrastructure of broadband Internet. All the documents which deal with the conception of smart villages give this as an indispensable condition for its realization.

2 Aim, Subject and Methods of Research

The aim of the research is linking tasks connected with adaptation of agricultural holdings to the European model of agriculture and intellectual assets which are at the disposal of the holdings. These tasks relate to all the areas of sustainable transformation of agricultural holdings and, in particular: environmental requirements, requirements of quality relating to produce and agricultural sources, market connections of farms and possibilities of entering into contracts, diversifying agricultural activity, support

instruments of the CAP, as well as the national policy of the state. The subject of the research is the system of knowledge and information with reference to agriculture (Agricultural Knowledge and Information System - AKIS). It is the most often defined as "a set of agricultural institutions and organizations and/or persons, as well as liaisons and interactions between them, engaged in creating, collecting, selecting, processing, passing and using knowledge and information in order to develop sustainable agriculture through support of taking decisions and solving problems" [12]. The system stems from a number of sources. Each of them builds its thematic profile in a different manner. The position of individual sources in the system, on the other hand, depends on the farmers' trust in the knowledge and information which the given source renders available. This is a peculiar characteristic of a reflective modernization. The impact of the scientific and expert knowledge on farmers' decisions depends on the degree of active trust that is placed in the types of knowledge. In turn, the trust is dependent on the institutional environment and structures of co-management.

Sources of agricultural knowledge and information were made the subject of studies within a cyclical research project dealing with sustainable development of family-run trade agricultural holdings based in Opole Province. The primary material for the studies came from the questionnaire-aided interview with 100 managers of agricultural holdings, conducted in 2014 and 2018 in communes which are representative of the intensive and medium-intensive agriculture. The research was carried out with the use of the same population of respondents selected on purpose. The changes concerned merely the liquidated holdings. The average size of agricultural holdings in 2018 amounted to 51 ha of arable land (in 2014 - 47 ha of arable land). The average age of the proprietor in 2018 is 46 years (compared to 45 in 2014). Managers of trade agricultural holdings possess high professional qualifications and as regards their education the following were found out: 13% (in 2014 - 11%) hold higher education, 47% (in 2014 - 49%) – secondary education, 38% – vocational and 2% - elementary, respectively in the years under examination.

In their studies on the agricultural knowledge and information, the authors applied the mapping method. The conception of making use of a map of knowledge as a tool to locate sources of knowledge was put forward by M. Epler in the 1990s. Then, it was popularized by, among others, Probst, Raub and Romhardt [14]. This method proves of key significance to realization of the idea of a smart village, since it can be applied to implement the project of smart agriculture and also is indispensable to secure its stability. Nowadays, the method of mapping knowledge and its sources is gaining acclaim from a larger and larger group of researchers who deal with the question of transfer of knowledge (KT) in agriculture. It is applied, among others, to make evaluations and inventories of the EU [8]. Mapping sources of knowledge is widely used today in research of the role of ITC in the development of agriculture [11]. There are also attempts made to examine transfer of knowledge on the territorial level [10].

3 Research Results and Discussion

The agriculture in Opole Region has been covered by the Common Agricultural Policy which changed its institutional matrix, especially with reference to the area of managing the environmental function. At the same time, the formal norms of the new CAP have clearly corresponded to the informal ones rooted in the consciousness of the population inhabiting the rural areas of the region. The institutional equilibrium which developed in the wake has translated into the readiness of farmers to implement ecological modernization. Simultaneously, the area-related premiums (direct payment) paid out to farmers were acknowledged as an adequate instrument of managing income risk, which allowed introducing changes in the organization of production, chiefly: simplifying the structure of crops and deepening specialization [2]. Consequently, the intensification of production and environmental management have delineated the area of strategic choices made by managers of agricultural holdings functioning in Opole Province. This type of agriculture development strategy is frequently defined as sustainable intensification [9]. Its realization assumes "more knowledge per one hectare" [4, 16]. In the long-term perspective for farmers in Opole Region the technological optimization of production and acquiring knowledge make the principal autonomous targets of their economic activity. As regards operational management, the farmers make use of different sources of knowledge and information.

As far as the method of mapping sources of knowledge is concerned, it is vital to both indicate the main sources of information and define thematic areas relevant to effective managing a production entity. Thus, selection of the source of knowledge and information is decided by: current validity of the thematic area and preceding processes of learning. Mapping the sources of knowledge takes into account thematic areas connected with: market information, agricultural policy, environmental norms, transaction process and quality requirements. In the 2018 research edition, this catalogue was expanded with the following: information on the existence of pathogens (indispensable in integrated plant protection) and information on climatic threats.

Comparing the research results obtained in 2014 and in 2018, it is possible to notice changes in the significance of the individual areas of information (see Table 1). In 2014, the farmers concentrated mainly on market information (the first place in the ranking list), processes of adjustment to the EU requirements (which resulted primarily from the "greening CAP" – ranking the second), the national agricultural policy (the third place), CAP support instruments (ranking the fourth), as well as information on new varieties of plants and breeds of animals (the fifth place). In contrast, in 2018, due to the growing uncertainty connected with institutional, technological, income and climatic risks, the first places in the ranking list of thematic areas were taken by: the national agricultural policy, CAP support instruments, market information, information on indispensable processes of adjustment to the EU requirements and that on climatic threats. On the basis of the presented ranking of information looked for it is possible to propose the thesis that modernization processes in agriculture demand institutional support of the agricultural policy to a greater and greater extent.
Information/knowledge	Place in the rankin	
	2014	2018
Market information	1	3
CAP support instruments	4	2
Principles of good farming practice and SMR (Statutory Management Requirements)	8	9
Ability to enter into contracts	12	11
Legal knowledge	7	8
National agricultural policy	3	1
Information on new varieties of plants and breeds of animals	5	6
Information on necessary processes of adjustment of the holding to requirements (standards) binding in the EU	2	4
Information of quality requirements set with reference to raw materials and agricultural produce	11	10
Information on the possibility of production of renewable energy	6	-
Information on climatic threats	-	5
Information on the occurrence of pathogens and protective actions	-	7

Table 1. Areas of thematic knowledge and information according to their importance to farmers.

The changes in the system of agricultural knowledge and information are significant as well. In the network which the system forms, it is mainly the positions of individual sources of knowledge which undergo changes (see Table 2).

 Table 2. Ranking of sources of information and knowledge according to their significance to farmers.

Source of information/knowledge	Place in the ranking			
	2014	2018		
TV	1	1		
Radio	6	7		
Agricultural counselors	4	3		
Magazines	3	4		
Training courses	5	6		
Commune workers	10	10		
Employees of cooperative banks	12	12		
County Department of Agricultural Market Agency	11	11		
County Department of Agency of Development and Modernization of	8	8		
Agriculture				
Information from neighbors	9	9		
Internet	2	2		
Sales representatives	7	5		

On the basis of the data in Table 2, it can be concluded that the significance of expert knowledge is on the rise. It is available on TV, the Internet, from agricultural counselors, in magazines, from trade representatives and during training courses.

Studies on rooting of the system of agricultural knowledge and information in the social networks of farmers in Opole Region have been carried out since 2008. A comparative analysis of the individual editions of the research points to the growing importance of the Internet as a source of knowledge and information. It was found out in the research of 2018, for example, that all the households of the examined farmers have access to the Internet. It is not used as a source of knowledge and information related to agriculture by mere 9% of the respondents. They are farmers at the age of 60 and more, who own holdings of 10–15 ha. On the other hand, the Internet was indicated as the main source of information in all thematic areas primarily by young farmers and the owners of holdings, who begin implementing a new specialization. Figure 1 presents main sources of information, in particular, the thematic areas limited to six basic "knowledge islands".



Fig. 1. Main sources of information and knowledge according to the thematic areas in 2018.

Farmers use the Internet to search mainly for legal knowledge and information on the appearance of pathogens. The Internet is also a source of market information, knowledge related to good agricultural and environmental practices, information on possibilities of entering into contracts. Comparing the research results obtained in Opole Province with similar studies carried out in Masovia [6] proves that farmers' preferences relating to sources of knowledge and information searched for on the Internet differ from region to region.

Smart agriculture means agriculture which is able to manage knowledge and information in operational activity. The high position of Internet platforms, agricultural counselors and magazines among the sources of knowledge can make a premise of smart modernization of agricultural holdings in Opole Province. This conclusion concerns mainly young farmers and holdings searching for new specializations.

4 Conclusion

Realization of projects of "smart village" is not possible without smart agriculture. Such a direction of its modernization requires making constant improvement to the AKIS, further informatization of rural areas, as well as new technologies which secure a green economic growth.

Knowledge – to be capable of having an impact on processes of farmers' decision taking – requires active trust on the part of the interested. To a greater degree this is trust in institutions dealing with dissemination of knowledge and information and to a lesser extent – a result of its critical analysis.

On the basis of research conducted in Opole Province it can be observed that TV maintains its leading position in such thematic areas as: market information, the national agricultural policy and information on climatic threats. Agricultural counselors are also a reliable source of information relating to principles of good farming culture and information on indispensable processes of adaptation to the requirements of the CAP. As far as modernization of agriculture based on knowledge is concerned, the relevance of sales representatives is increasing: it is they who, owing to additional services, provide knowledge on possibilities of entering into contracts, offer information on new varieties of plants and breeds of animals, as well as deliver information on requirements of quality which must be met by agricultural produce.

In comparison with the earlier research, the position of the Internet as a source of knowledge and information has changed qualitatively. This is the most universal source of information used in operational activity. The Internet is the main source of legal knowledge and information indispensable to manage integrated protection of plants. This medium occupies the leading position as regards the other thematic areas, as well.

It is possible to conclude, too, on the basis of the conducted studies, that the AIKS, on being expanded with virtual platforms of cooperation between academic centers, implementation centers and farmers, will have made a significant factor in transformation of traditional and modernized agriculture into smart agriculture in the future.

Agriculture definitely has a chance to be an attractive place of work if it is smart agriculture, that is if it makes use of information-telecommunications technologies in agricultural production and in organization of transaction process to a greater extent. These technologies can change the character of work in agriculture in a dramatic way and contribute to the appearance of new business models. Smart agriculture provides a chance of a better use of the resources that rural areas have to offer and makes the beginning of transformation of the European space in the direction of discovering its local intelligences. Systematic examination of knowledge transfer in agriculture in European regions makes a significant premise of this process. The evaluation of the system of agricultural counseling on the level of European Commission [8] offers considerable support for this type of research.

References

- 1. Bach-Głowińska, J.: Inteligentna przestrzeń. Trzeci wymiar innowacyjności. Oficyna Wolters Kluwer Business, Warszawa (2014)
- 2. Bisaga, A.: Wybrane problemy zrównoważonej intensyfikacji rolnictwa na przykładzie badań w województwie opolskim. Roczniki Naukowe SERIA **XIX**(6), 38–44 (2017)
- 3. Bled Declaration for a Smarter Future of the Rural Areas in EU, Bled, Slovenia (2018)
- 4. Buckwell, A., et al.: Sustainable Intensification of European Agriculture. RISE, Brussels (2014)
- 5. Cork 2.0 Declaration "A Better Life in Rural Areas". Publications Office of the European Union, Luxemburg (2016)
- Czapiewski, K., et al.: The use of ICT in Mazovian agriculture. In: Chmieliński, P., Baer-Nawrocka, A. (eds.) Knowledge as a Factor of Rural Development. Rural Areas and Development, vol. 10, pp. 45–57. Poznan University of Life Sciences, Warsaw (2013)
- Elden, S.: Legal terrain the political materiality of territory. Lond. Rev. Int. Law 5(2), 199– 224 (2017)
- 8. Final Report Summary PRO AKIS. www.proakis.eu. Accessed 28 Oct 2018
- 9. Franks, R.J.: Sustainable intensification: a UK perspective. Food Policy 47, 71-80 (2014)
- Hill, B., Bradley, D., Williams, E.: Evaluation of knowledge transfer; conceptual and practical problems of impact assessment of farming connect in Wales. J. Rural Stud. 49, 41– 49 (2017)
- Janc, K., Czapiewski, K.: Internet jako czynnik poprawy sytuacji społecznej i ekonomicznej obszarów wiejskich. Studia Komitetu Przestrzennego Zagospodarowania Kraju PAN 156, 195–218 (2014)
- Kania, J.: Agricultural knowledge and information systems in European bioeconomy. Econ. Reg. Stud. 8(2), 5–11 (2015)
- 13. Pike, A., Rodriguez-Pose, A., Tomaney, J.: Local and Regional Development, 2nd edn. Routledge, London (2016)
- 14. Probst, G., Raub, S., Romhardt, K.: Zarządzanie wiedzą w organizacji. Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Kraków (2002)
- 15. European Commission: The future of food and farming. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. COM 713 European Commission, Brussels (2017)
- Walter, A., Finger, R., Huber, R., Buchmann, N.: Opinion: smart farming is key to developing sustainable agriculture. PNAS 114(24), 6148–6150 (2017)
- Ziemiańczyk, U., Krakowiak-Bal, A.: Importance of intellectual capital resources in rural development using the fsQCA method as an example. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV(3), 1799–1810 (2017)
- Zavratnik, V., Kos, A., Stojmenova Duh, E.: Smart villages: comprehensive review of initiatives and practices. Sustainability 10, 2559 (2018)



Agricultural Producer Groups as an Example of Commercial Organizations in the Agricultural Sector

Anna Szeląg-Sikora^{1(⊠)}, Zofia Gródek-Szostak², and Danuta Kajrunajtys³

 ¹ Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Computer Science,
 University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116B, 30-149 Krakow, Poland Anna. Szelag-Sikora@ur.krakow.pl
 ² Department of Economics and Organization of Enterprises, Faculty of Management, Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow, Poland
 ³ Department of Management Strategies and Organization Development, Faculty of Economics and International Relations, Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. The paper analyzes the conditions for the functioning of agricultural producer groups, which are a modern example of commercial activity in the agricultural sector. Based on the available static data, the growth dynamics of the number of business entities in question was determined, i.e. approx. 120 newly formed groups on average annually. Production of pigs, grains or oilseeds, and poultry was the dominant production in the grouped agricultural enterprises. The analysis allows to conclude that the form of cooperation of agricultural producers presented in the work undoubtedly favors the improvement of the market competitiveness of agricultural producers, and this is the main objective of any commercial organization. Thus, contemporary formalized forms of cooperation between agricultural producers bear many common features attributed to enterprises from other sectors of the national economy.

Keywords: Cooperation of agricultural producers · Agricultural producer group · Agricultural production

1 Introduction

The task of agricultural producers is to produce enough food to meet the needs of the population. In the current economic reality, the problem is not to produce it, but to find regular customers who will provide adequate payment. It is difficult for an individual Polish producer to prepare large volumes of high quality, reproducible produce for sale at the lowest possible price, while ensuring continuity of supply, product promotion and profitability of production. In addition, the weakness of individual producers is the inability to negotiate terms and the sale price of manufactured products [11, 12]. The producer often becomes a minor client of processing plants. Individual producers may

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 321–327, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_40

strengthen their position by organizing themselves into groups. By joining this form of economic activity, producers gain a stronger position against potential buyers of their products and, above all, a competitive advantage on the. Poland's agrarian structure is characterized by high fragmentation. Almost 70% of agricultural enterprises have less than 5 ha of area [4]. Linking the agricultural enterprise with the market resulted in the need to adapt its production to the demands of competition, and therefore the need to introduce more and more modern technologies. Currently, agricultural enterprises are at different stages of development, both in Poland and worldwide. The higher the level of development, and the closely related the enterprise is with the market, the more often there is cooperation between producers, mainly to improve the economic efficiency of management. One of the examples of these activities is the observed dynamic development of agricultural producer groups, which are a manifestation of the development of entrepreneurship among producers. As a result, emerging producer groups are an example of commercial organizations in the agricultural sector.

The aim of the paper is to address the conditions for the functioning of agricultural producer groups, which are a modern example of commercial organizations in the agricultural sector. Based on available statistical data, the level and directions of development of the agricultural producer groups in question were presented. Based on the literature study and the knowledge gained so far in the course of authors' long-term research on groups of agricultural producers, the benefits for agricultural producers resulting from organizing in and associating with commercial organizations, which are emerging groups of agricultural producers, were indicated.

2 Development of Cooperation Between Producers in the Agricultural Sector

The cooperative movement in Poland has a rich tradition, dating back to the second half of the 19th century. In the socialist era, agricultural cooperatives were among the flagship slogans of state policy towards agriculture, although their form was slightly degenerate. At the end of the 1980s, the share of cooperatives in the purchase of agricultural products was over 60%. Following the change of the economic system to capitalism, the role of the cooperative was significantly weakened (the share of cooperatives in the purchase of produce dropped to several percent). In the 1990s, actions were undertaken to change the cooperative system in Poland and to support other forms of self-organization of producers. An important attempt to encourage agricultural producers to form groups in the free market economy was taken in 2000 by adopting the Act on Agricultural Producer Groups and their Associations [4]. In principle, in each of the subsequent EU and national aid programs that have been important for Polish agriculture, starting from 4 PHARE and SAPARD, to RDP 2004-2006, 2007–2013 to the currently implemented RDP 2014–2020, part of the support was addressed to groups of agricultural producers. At present, individualism, i.e. a strive to ensure independence, still prevails in Poland, but unfortunately it usually takes

place at the expense of an appropriate position on the market. In this situation, more potent buyers and production suppliers often dictate the conditions. This situation was observed, e.g. in the 1980s in the former EU-15 countries, where the weaknesses of family farms, both material and social, were revealed, as a result of technical progress and growing civilization requirements. Similarly to the current situation in Poland, the producers had difficulties selling their products and modernizing the technical base. In the 1970s and 1980s in Germany, an increase in the bargaining position on the recipient side was observed, which was not accompanied by a similar concentration on the side of agricultural producers [2]. This situation has led to attempts to seek new organizational and legal forms that would allow leveraging the effects of technical progress while maintaining the family character of the agricultural enterprise [6, 7]. This eventually led to the development of group activity and the emergence of formalized forms of cooperation between agricultural producers. The actions taken significantly improved, e.g. agrarian structure in these countries [9].

3 Material and Method

The analysis carried out in the study was based on statistical data obtained from reliable sources, i.e. the public databases of the Agency for Restructuring and Modernization of Agriculture and the National Network of Rural Areas. The work uses the descriptive-comparative method; the analysis of conditions includes current guidelines for the functioning of agricultural producer groups in Poland, To determine the level of development, the time period from 2001 to 2014 has been taken into account.

4 Discussion and Results

Agricultural producers organize into groups in accordance with the provisions of the Act of 15 September 2000 on Agricultural Producer Groups and their Associations and amendments of other acts (Journal of Laws No. 88, item 983, as amended). In order for a producer group to be created, the following requirements must be met, consisting of stages such as: A founder's meeting; Registration of the group as an entrepreneur; Registration of the group as a company; Preparation of agricultural producer group action plans; Entry of the producer group in the Marshall's Office register; Financial aid for a group of agricultural producers to establish and support their administrative activities.

The decision on choosing the business form requires analyzing the possibilities that are acceptable in the national law and choosing the one that best suits the nature of the producer group's activities. According to the Polish law, a producer group is free to choose the legal form in which it will operate, which will be the most advantageous. Agricultural producers have a choice of joint activities in the form of: cooperatives, companies, unions and associations (Table 1).

Specification	A cooperative	A LTD	A union	An association
		company		
The nature of the	Economic but	Any	Socio-professional,	Social
organization	also social		but also economic	
Area of operation	No restrictions	No restrictions	Republic of Poland	No restrictions
Members of the	Natural and	Natural and	Natural persons	Natural
organization	legal persons	legal persons		persons
The number of	At least 5	1 and more	At least 10 natural	At least 15
founding members	natural		persons	natural persons
	persons			

Table 1. Available legal forms under which producer groups can function in the Polish legal system.

Source: [11]

For comparison, Table 2 presents the criteria for recognition of producer organizations in selected EU countries.

Member country or individual regions	Minimum number of members	Minimum value of commodity production (ECU million**)
Belgium, Germany, Spain (except the Balearic and	40 or 10 or 5	1.5 or 2.5 or 3
Canary Islands), France, Greece*, Italy, the		
Netherlands, Austria, the United Kingdom (except		
Northern Ireland)		
Denmark, Ireland, Northern Ireland, Greece*,	15 or 5	0.5–1
Balearic Islands and Canary Islands, Portugal		
(except Madeira and the Azores)		
Finland, Sweden, Greece (regions other than those	10 or 5	0.25 or 0.5
listed above)		
Greece (islands), Luxembourg, Madeira and Azores	5	1

 Table 2. Criteria for recognition of producer organizations.

*Separate individual regions of Greece; ** unit of account in the European Monetary System (replaced by the euro in a ratio of 1 ECU = 1 EUR on 1 January 1999) Source: [9]

As other business entities, producer groups are required to register in the business register in the National Court Register. The next step is to report to the Statistical Office and obtaining the National Business Registry Number (REGON) number. After obtaining the entry in the National Court Register, the group becomes a business entity. This does not mean, however, that it is a producer group in a proper sense. In order to obtain this status, the group needs to enter the register kept by the Marshall's Office competent for the headquarters of the group. However, before a group can submit a registration application, it must prepare a Group Action Plan. The group's action plan is an important document defining the directions of the group's activities for at least 5 years. Properly constructed, this document will allow for efficient and effective

achievement of the group's assumed goals and will ultimately contribute to its economic success. An action plan is a document consisting of two parts: descriptive and financial. The descriptive part should contain basic information about the business, such as name or address, as well as a description of its activity (the company's objective, directions of development for the company as a whole and for individual holdings, characteristics of the company's managers, planned scale of production of the member holdings and their sales volume, investment plans, investment action schedule, investment financing structure) and a marketing plan (objectives, market analysis, pricing, product, distribution, promotion and advertising strategy). The second part of the action plan is the financial part in which the amount of capital needed for the group's functioning and sources of financing is indicated. The plan should be a roadmap of the group's activities; its final content will depend on the requirements set by the law for members of the group. The more precise the information it contains, the greater the chances of effective cooperation between the group members, which will ultimately contribute to the success of the venture.

5 Financial Aid for Groups of Agricultural Producers to Establish and Support Their Administrative and Investment Activities

According to art. 35 of the European Council Regulation No. 1698/2005 of 20 September 2005 on support for rural development by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) (OJ L 277/1, 21.10.2005, as amended), support is provided to facilitate the creation and administrative operation of producer groups. However, according to the opinion of the European Commission, this support may also be used for investment purposes, as long as the group pursues the objectives of setting up the groups defined in art. 35 of the European Council Regulation No. 1698/2005. At the same time, the amount that can be allocated for investments depends on the group's decision. The purpose of creating an agricultural producer group is to adapt agricultural production to market conditions and jointly introduce goods to the market. This includes preparation for sale, improvement of management efficiency, production planning with particular emphasis on its quantity and quality, concentration of supply and organization of sales of agricultural products (centralization of sales and deliveries to wholesale customers), as well as protection of the natural environment, and establishing common rules for information on production, with particular reference to the collection and availability of products. A producer group creates new opportunities for farmers and contributes to: - improving product quality through the use of a uniform production technology; - creating a visible brand of goods; - reduction of production costs through joint purchase of production means; - the possibility to select contractors and negotiate prices with them; - eliminating brokers; - the possibility of using a common machine park; - ensuring a homogeneous breeding material; - creating the possibility of exchanging information in terms of production and technology; - providing jobs in rural areas; - establishing common rules regarding production information, with particular reference to harvesting and production availability; - raising production standards; -

rationalization of storage and distribution costs [6, 11, 13, 14]. As on Dec 31, 2014, 1,351 groups of agricultural producers were entered in the registers kept by voivodship marshals, of which 65% operate as limited liability companies, 31% in the form of cooperatives, 3% as unions, and 1% as associations. The number of registered groups is growing; in 2010, 157 groups were registered, in 2011, 227 groups were registered, in 2012-242, and in 2013-486. Currently, most groups of agricultural producers operate in the following voivodships: Wielkopolskie (419 groups), Dolnoślaskie (130 groups) and Kujawsko-Pomorskie (123 groups). The least organized are agricultural producers in the Świętokrzyskie and Małopolskie voivodships, where the number of groups is the lowest, i.e. 15 and 19, respectively. Agricultural producer groups are most often established by the producers of pigs, cereal or oilseeds, and poultry. Pig producers are organized in 312 groups, producers of cereal or oilseeds in 307 groups, poultry producers in 274 groups, and producers of cereal in 100. Producers of milk formed 102 groups, producers of oilseeds - 69, of cattle - 56, and of potatoes - 33. In other industries, organization is low, below 10. The most numerous are groups of tobacco producers (11 120), of pigs (4 948), of milk (4 170), of cereal or oilseeds (2740) and of poultry (1 496). In total, all groups of agricultural producers in Poland associate 27 878 members.

6 Conclusions

The observed development of agricultural producer groups is an example of strengthening of the institutional structure in the primary agricultural production sector. Supporting the cooperation of agricultural producers by encouraging them to create producer groups translates into their activation in terms of creating commercial organizations [1, 7]. The above-mentioned considerations may indicate that, in particular, the purpose of the groups is to adapt the production of the associated agricultural holdings to market requirements, to jointly bring goods on the market, including preparation for sale, centralization of sales and delivery to wholesale customers [3, 10]. The described form of cooperation of producers undoubtedly favors the improvement of market competitiveness, and this is, among other things, the objective of any existing commercial organization. Thus, contemporary formalized forms of cooperation between agricultural producers bear many common features attributed to enterprises from other sectors of the national economy [15]. However, in order for the development of agricultural producer groups to continue, actions should be taken to raise the awareness of individual producers regarding the benefits that come from membership in an agricultural producer group, which may include: 1. Improved production planning and adapting it to the needs of recipients; 2. Reduction of production costs in the agricultural holding through joint purchases of means of production, joint use of equipment, preparation of products for sale and organization of sale; 3. Improved access to information; 4. Greater investment opportunities thanks to the combination of capital.

References

- 1. Chowaniak, M., Klima, K., Niemiec, M.: Impact of slope gradient, tillage system, and plant cover on soil losses of calcium and magnesium. J. Elem. **21**(2), 361–372 (2016)
- Gierl, H., Horter, T.: Erzeugerorganisationen im Urteil des Lebensmittel-Sortimentshandels. Agrarwirtschaft 41(12), 383–387 (1992)
- Grotkiewicz, K., Latawiec, A.E., Kuboń, M., Niemiec, M.: Productivity of work and land: a comparison between three dissimilar countries. In: Balcerzak, A.P., Pietryka, I. (eds.) Contemporary Issues in Economy. Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Applied Economics Contemporary Issues in Economy: Economics, Torun, Poland, 22–23 June 2017, vol. 30, pp. 170–178 (2017)
- 4. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/rynki-rolne.html
- http://ksow.pl/fileadmin/user_upload/ksow.pl/pliki/ANALIZY_ekspertyzy/OrganizatGrRoln ikowPo1990.pdf
- 6. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/grupy-i-organizacje-producentow.html
- Jabłońska, L., Święcka, J.: Rola organizacji producenckich w świetle regulacji prawnych Unii Europejskiej dotyczących sektora świeżych owoców i warzyw. CdiEwR, Poznań, p. 34, (1998)
- Kuźnia, M., Wojciech, J., Łyko, P., Sikora, J.: Analysis of the combustion products of biogas produced from organic municipal waste. J. Power Technol. 95(2), 158–165 (2015)
- Parzonko, A.: Efektywność gospodarstw wyspecjalizowanych w produkcji mleka. Wyd. SGGW 13, 27–31 (2013)
- Stoma, M., Maj, M., Dudziak, A., Ślaska-Grzywna, B., Piekarski, W., Andrejko, D.: Obrót produktami chemicznymi zgodnie z Systemem Badania Bezpieczeństwa i Jakości SQAS. Przemysł Chemiczny 94(11), 1883–1886 (2015)
- Szeląg-Sikora, A.: Technical modernization of agricultural farms aided with European Union funds as a precondition for development of producer groups. Pol. Soc. Agric. Eng., 52–88 (2014)
- Szeląg-Sikora, A., Oleksy-Gębczyk, A.: Rola marketingu w stabilizacji rynkowej podmiotów rolnych zrzeszonych w grupie producenckiej. Zarządzanie i Finanse 4(4), 291–301 (2013)
- Szeląg-Sikora, A., Cupiał, M., Niemiec, M.: Intensity and labour consumption of integrated production in horticultural farms. Agric. Agric. Sci. Procedia 7, 249–254 (2015)
- Szeląg-Sikora, A., Cupiał, M., Niemiec, M.: Productivity of farms in the aspect of various activity forms. Agric. Agric. Sci. Procedia 7, 94–98 (2015)
- 15. Szeląg-Sikora, A., Niemiec, M., Sikora, J., Chowaniak, M.: Possibilities of designating swards of grasses and small-seed legumes from selected organic farms in Poland for feed. In: Lorencowicz, E., Uziak, J., Huyghebaert, B. (eds.) Farm Machinery and Processes Management in Sustainable Agriculture: IX International Scientific Symposium: Symposium proceedings, Lublin, Poland 22–24 November 2017, Department of Machinery Exploitation and Management in Agricultural Engineering Faculty of Production Engineering University of Life Sciences, vol. 65, pp. 365–370 (2017)
- Ziętara, W.: Gospodarstwa grupowe jako forma organizacyjno-prawna aktywności rolników. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, Seria G - Ekonomika Rolnictwa 91(1), 11–23 (2004)



The Measurement of Sustainable Development Level in the Aspect of Selection of Indicators and Measurement Methods

Jacek Salamon⁽⁾

Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, Institute of Agriculture Engineering and Informatics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Kraków, Poland Jacek. Salamon@urk. edu. pl

Abstract. The idea of sustainable development appeared several decades ago and was a response to the growing environmental problems associated with the irrational natural resources management, conducted, in particular, by highly developed countries. Despite many local and international efforts, the list of universal indicators monitoring sustainable development, applicable both to developed and developing areas, has not yet been clearly defined. No specific methods for measuring sustainable development, which would allow for objective determination of the level of sustainability and the direction of its course, have been specified. The paper indicated the possibility of diversifying research results resulting from the adopted method of specification of sustainable development indicators and the applied method of measuring the level of sustainability, which may lead to unreliable results. A set of 71 indicators was employed and the various areas of sustainable development were described synthetically, i.e. the social, economic, environmental and institutional-political domains. The linear ordering of provinces was performed using their taxonomic distance from the reference object. For comparative purposes and determining the direction of development, data from the years 2010 and 2016 were utilized.

Keywords: Sustainable development · Indicators · Methods · Problems

1 Introduction

The notion of sustainable development was originally defined in the UN document 'Our common future' in 1987 as such a development in which the needs of the current generation are satisfied without jeopardising the needs of future generations [5]. The very idea of sustainable development was the response to the growing environmental problems associated with the irrational exploitation of natural resources, a huge burden on the natural environment by pollution and negative effects of industrialization and mechanisation of agricultural production [1].

From the beginning of its development, the notion of sustainable development has been of interest to researchers from numerous areas of science. So far, however, they have been struggling to measure the development in all its spheres, i.e. social, economic and environmental, assuming that sustainable development should include

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 328–336, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_41

parallel activities in these three areas, without diminishing the importance of any of them. It has been noted that rich countries, which have achieved a high level of social and economic development, attach great importance to the protection of the natural environment. Poor countries, in turn, behave differently - the need to protect the natural environment is secondary in relation to economic and social needs [1, 9]. Taking the above into account, it can be concluded that countries with different levels of development are in different places in the process of sustainable development [4]. Therefore, the question should be asked about the assumption of the equal importance of all three domains in all circumstances. In addition, the question of identifying a point considered to be one in which development can be treated as sustainable arises. Until now, such a point or object has not been established, and the opinions of researchers are often radically divergent [2, 6].

According to the International Institute for Sustainable Development [3], there are 173 indicators defining the level of sustainable development. These indicators are used in different countries. In Poland, according to the CSO (GUS) study from the year 2015, 101 indicators were distinguished to monitor sustainable development in four domains and 24 areas [10]. The choice of indicators to the national list was determined by the degree of compliance with the definition and significance of the indicator for sustainable development. Phenomena which were special and particularly important for Poland were also taken into account. It should be underscored that for some indicators, it was not determined whether it was a driver, i.e. it promoted sustainable development or an inhibitor. Treating the indicator as a driver or an inhibitor arises then from the subjective assessment of its importance and different interpretation resulting from it.

It was assumed that the increase in the value of the synthetic index indicates a balanced direction of development. In the analyzed period, both changes towards the balancing of development and in the opposite direction were shown. Methodical inaccuracies related to the measurement of sustainability were pointed out. Different methods of classifying areas due to the sustainability of development, presented in the study, lead to ambiguous research results. The ranking of the researched areas varies depending on whether it was determined by adopting the average value of the synthetic sustainable development index or by using the classification-point method.

2 Aim, Material and Method

The aim of the study is to present differences in the assessment of the degree of sustainable development of Polish provinces, depending on the interpretation of individual indicators adopted for research that monitor the development. The aforementioned interpretation concerned, in particular, the fact whether the indicator was treated as a driver or an inhibitor of sustainable development and the problem of treating the indicator as the one which would monitor a specific domain. To compare the data, the research was based on statistical data from the year 2010 and the year 2016.

First, the values of the synthetic indicator of sustainability level were presented in accordance with the classification of indicators adopted by the Central Statistical Office [10]. Then, after a detailed analysis of the indicators, the grouping was modified. For example, the indicator of the number of cars per 1000 inhabitants, treated in social

domain as a driver, was perceived as an inhibitor in the environmental domain. Similarly, the indicator of water consumption in households per capita per year in the social domain was a driver, while in the environmental domain it was an inhibitor. Table 1 presents a detailed breakdown of changes introduced in the classification of sustainable development indicators.

Indicator according to CSO classification	Indicator according to modified classification
Social domain:	Environmental domain:
1. Number of cars per 1000 inhabitants	1. Number of cars per 1000 inhabitants
(stimulant)	(inhibitor)
Social domain:	Environmental domain:
2. Water consumption in households per	2. Water consumption in households per
capita per year (stimulant)	capita per year (inhibitor)
Social domain:	Environmental domain:
3. Average meat consumption per capita per	3. Average meat consumption per capita per
month (stimulant)	month (inhibitor)
Social domain:	Environmental domain:
4. Crimes identified by the police in	4. Crimes identified by the police in
completed preparatory proceedings per 1000	completed preparatory proceedings per 1000
inhabitants (inhibitor)	inhabitants (stimulant)
Economic domain:	Environmental domain:
1. The length of expressways and motorways	1. The length of expressways and motorways
per 100 km ² (stimulant)	per 100 km2 (inhibitor)
Economic domain:	Environmental domain:
2. The average price of a one-way normal	2. The average price of a one-way normal
ticket for a city bus (stimulant)	ticket for a city bus (inhibitor)
Economic domain:	Environmental domain:
3. Consumption of mineral fertilizers per 1 ha	3. Consumption of mineral fertilizers per 1 ha
of agricultural land (stimulant)	of agricultural land (inhibitor)
Economic domain:	Environmental domain:
4. Presence of large livestock units per 1	4. Presence of large livestock units per 1
hectare of arable lands (stimulant)	hectare of arable lands (inhibitor)
Economic domain:	Environmental domain:
5. Share of large farms in the total number of	5. Share of large farms in the total number of
farms (stimulant)	farms (inhibitor)
Environmental domain:	Economic domain:
1. Share of Natura 2000 areas in total area	1. Share of Natura 2000 areas in total area
(stimulant)	(inhibitor)
Environmental domain:	Economic domain:
2. The share of legally protected areas in the	2. The share of legally protected areas in the
total area (stimulant)	total area (inhibitor)
Environmental domain:	Economic domain:
3. Amount of mixed municipal waste	3. Amount of mixed municipal waste
collected by households per capita per year	collected by households per capita per year
(inhibitor)	(stimulant)

Table 1. Changes introduced in the classification of sustainable development indicators.

The assessment of sustainability level of provinces was carried out employing a synthetic measure, which was the basis for the creation of rankings [7, 8]. The determination of the synthetic measure of development was preceded by the normalization of variables according to the formula:

$$x'_{ij} = \frac{x_{ij} - minx_{ij}}{maxx_{ij} - minx_{ij}} \tag{1}$$

where:

 x'_{ij} - the value of the transformed (normalized j-th diagnostic feature of sustainable development in the i-th object (province),

 x_{ij} - the actual value of the j-th diagnostic feature of sustainable development in the i-th object,

 \min_{xj} - the minimum value of the j-th feature of sustainable development, \max_{xj} - the maximum value of the j-th feature of sustainable development.

This transformation resulted in the values of features being in the range [0; 1]. The examined indicators were treated as drivers or inhibitors of sustainable development, whereas the substitution of inhibitors for drivers was made employing the following formula:

$$x_{ij}^{'S} = \frac{1}{x_{ij}^{'D}}$$
(2)

where:

 $x_{ij}^{'S}$ - sustainable development driver obtained by transforming inhibitors $(x_{ij}^{'D})$ of the development.

The reference object was such an object that was characterized by the highest values of drivers and the lowest values of inhibitors.

The synthetic measure of sustainable development of i-th object (province) was determined using the formula:

$$d_i = 1 - \frac{d_{i0}}{d_0}$$
(3)

where:

$$d_{i0} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^{p} \left(y_{ij} - y_{0j}\right)^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(4)

is the Euclidean distance of the i-th object from the reference object, while d0 is the distance between the pattern and the antipattern. The antipattern is characterized by the lowest values of drivers and the highest values of inhibitors [7].

The analysis of the level of sustainability was carried out for the years 2010 and 2016.

3 Findings

Table 2 presents the calculated values of the synthetic indicator for all domains (social, economic, environmental and institutional-political), taking into account the classification of the Central Statistical Office. It was assumed that the increase in the value of the synthetic indicator denoted a sustainable direction of development. Based on the data presented in Table 2, it can be stated that in the analysed period the changes both towards sustainable development (an increase in the value of the synthetic index) and in the opposite direction (a decrease in the value of the synthetic index) were evident.

Table 2. The values of the synthetic sustainable development indicator (d_i) of provinces according to domains (dimensions) in the years 2010 and 2016 determined on the basis of the classification of indicators consistent with the Central Statistical Office.

Province	Social domain d_{is}		Economic domain d_{ig}			Environmental domain d _{ie}			Institutional-political domain d _{ip}			
	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change
Dolnośląskie	0.36	0.45	0.09	0.36	0.40	0.04	0.26	0.24	-0.03	0.45	0.53	0.08
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	0.38	0.37	-0.00	0.31	0.32	0.01	0.36	0.35	-0.02	0.35	0.34	-0.01
Lubelskie	0.32	0.36	0.03	0.22	0.24	0.02	0.32	0.32	-0.01	0.25	0.27	0.03
Lubuskie	0.38	0.38	0.00	0.29	0.31	0.02	0.41	0.42	0.01	0.40	0.41	0.01
Łódzkie	0.40	0.40	0.00	0.28	0.34	0.06	0.23	0.21	-0.02	0.38	0.46	0.08
Małopolskie	0.49	0.47	-0.02	0.32	0.34	0.02	0.33	0.28	-0.05	0.26	0.37	0.11
Mazowieckie	0.46	0.46	-0.00	0.40	0.43	0.03	0.25	0.26	0.01	0.27	0.27	0.01
Opolskie	0.44	0.42	-0.01	0.32	0.30	-0.02	0.25	0.27	0.01	0.49	0.52	0.03
Podkarpackie	0.24	0.27	0.03	0.24	0.25	0.00	0.47	0.44	-0.03	0.34	0.35	0.01
Podlaskie	0.39	0.40	0.01	0.20	0.23	0.03	0.46	0.43	-0.03	0.29	0.27	-0.02
Pomorskie	0.50	0.51	0.01	0.44	0.45	0.01	0.33	0.34	0.01	0.36	0.39	0.03
Śląskie	0.44	0.47	0.04	0.36	0.34	-0.01	0.24	0.21	-0.03	0.35	0.36	0.00
Świętokrzyskie	0.26	0.29	0.03	0.24	0.16	-0.08	0.27	0.28	0.01	0.46	0.34	-0.12
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	0.32	0.29	-0.03	0.25	0.17	-0.08	0.48	0.42	-0.07	0.46	0.31	-0.15
Wielkopolskie	0.54	0.53	-0.01	0.39	0.39	0.00	0.35	0.30	-0.05	0.42	0.45	0.03
Zachodnio-Pomorskie	0.34	0.39	0.04	0.31	0.31	-0.01	0.31	0.30	-0.01	0.45	0.41	-0.04

Table 3 presents the calculated values of the synthetic indicator of sustainable development, determined applying modified, against the adopted by the Central Statistical Office classification, classification of sustainability indicators. In this case also, development was denoted both in the sustainable direction and in the opposite one. As a result of alternations in the classification of indicators, there were changes, which involved, inter alia, a change in the direction of sustainable development into the opposite or vice versa.

Province	Social domain d_{is}		Economic domain d_{ig}			Environmental domain d_{ie}			Institutional-political domain d_{ip}			
	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change	2010	2016	Change
Dolnośląskie	0.35	0.35	-0.01	0.37	0.41	0.04	0.30	0.29	-0.01	0.45	0.53	0.08
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	0.34	0.30	-0.04	0.28	0.29	0.01	0.33	0.34	0.01	0.35	0.34	-0.01
Lubelskie	0.31	0.31	-0.01	0.22	0.27	0.04	0.41	0.39	-0.02	0.25	0.27	0.03
Lubuskie	0.30	0.22	-0.08	0.26	0.28	0.02	0.38	0.39	0.01	0.40	0.41	0.01
Łódzkie	0.35	0.34	-0.02	0.29	0.35	0.06	0.28	0.26	-0.02	0.38	0.46	0.08
Małopolskie	0.49	0.42	-0.07	0.31	0.38	0.07	0.34	0.32	-0.02	0.26	0.37	0.11
Mazowieckie	0.49	0.43	-0.06	0.48	0.53	0.05	0.21	0.24	0.03	0.27	0.27	0.01
Opolskie	0.36	0.32	-0.04	0.33	0.31	-0.02	0.28	0.31	0.03	0.49	0.52	0.03
Podkarpackie	0.25	0.24	-0.01	0.24	0.25	0.00	0.50	0.44	-0.06	0.34	0.35	0.01
Podlaskie	0.36	0.34	-0.03	0.17	0.22	0.05	0.46	0.44	-0.02	0.29	0.27	-0.02
Pomorskie	0.45	0.38	-0.08	0.42	0.45	0.03	0.31	0.34	0.03	0.36	0.39	0.03
Śląskie	0.39	0.38	-0.01	0.40	0.39	-0.01	0.27	0.24	-0.02	0.35	0.36	0.00
Świętokrzyskie	0.22	0.18	-0.04	0.19	0.12	-0.08	0.31	0.35	0.03	0.46	0.34	-0.12
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	0.31	0.21	-0.10	0.19	0.13	-0.07	0.42	0.42	-0.00	0.46	0.31	-0.15
Wielkopolskie	0.42	0.37	-0.07	0.36	0.39	0.03	0.26	0.24	-0.02	0.42	0.45	0.03
Zachodnio-Pomorskie	0.33	0.27	-0.06	0.30	0.31	0.01	0.34	0.35	0.01	0.45	0.41	-0.04

Table 3. The values of the synthetic indicator of sustainable development (d_i)) of provinces according to the domains (dimensions) in the years 2010 and 2016 determined in line with the modified classification of variables.

Table 4 presents the ranking of provinces due to the level of sustainable development. The ranking was established on the basis of the mean value of the synthetic indicator from individual domains and by applying the classification and point method.

On the basis of the data included in Tables 2, 3 and 4 a correlation analysis was conducted between the variables describing particular domains in the years 2010 and 2016 employing classification of variables determined by the Central Statistical Office and the modified classification. The values of Pearson's linear correlation coefficients were calculated for the data in Tables 2 and 3 while the Spearman rank correlation coefficient was determined for the data in Table 4. The results of the above analyses are presented in Table 5.

Analysing the data in Table 5. it can be concluded that in the case of the social and economic domains. the changes in the Pearson's linear correlation coefficient are minimal. In the case of the environmental domain, however, there was a significant change in the value of the correlation coefficient. The positive value of the linear correlation coefficient in the case of the variable classification adopted by the Central Statistical Office indicated development in a sustainable direction. The modified classification of indicators, in the case of the environmental domain, indicates the opposite direction of development (negative value of the linear correlation coefficient), i.e. lack of sustainability in development of the natural environment. The analysis of Spearman's rank in none of the domains showed significant differences in the classification of provinces.

Province	CSO		Modified		CSO		Modified	
	2010				2016			
	Mean	Points	Mean	Points	Mean	Points	Mean	Points
Dolnośląskie	6	6	3	3	3	3	1	2
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	9	11	13	13	11	11	12	13
Lubelskie	16	16	15	16	15	15	14	14
Lubuskie	5	5	10	10	4	4	10	10
Łódzkie	13	13	12	12	8	8	7	7
Małopolskie	8	7	8	5	6	5	3	3
Mazowieckie	11	8	5	8	7	9	4	8
Opolskie	4	3	4	2	5	6	5	4
Podkarpackie	14	15	11	14	13	12	11	11
Podlaskie	12	12	14	11	12	13	13	12
Pomorskie	2	2	1	1	1	1	2	1
Śląskie	10	10	7	7	10	7	8	6
Świętokrzyskie	15	14	16	15	16	16	16	16
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	3	4	9	9	14	14	15	15
Wielkopolskie	1	1	2	6	2	2	6	5
Zachodniopomorskie	7	9	6	4	9	10	9	9

Table 4. Ranking of provinces and its changes based on the CSO classification and modified classification (the bottom row) according to individual domains in the years 2010 and 2016.

Table 5. Values of linear correlation of Pearson's and R Spearman's coefficient between the values of the synthetic indicator of the sustainability level and the ranking of provinces in the years 2010 and 2016 in particular domains.

Type of variable	Social do	omain	Economic domain		Environr domain	nental	Institutional-political domain	
classification	Pearson	R Spearman	Pearson	R Spearman	Pearson	R Spearman	Pearson	R Spearman
According to CSO	0.936	0.923	0.798	0.882	0.960	0.950	0.648	0.903
Modified	0.924	0.967	0.737	0.806	-0.661	0.871	0.648	0.903

4 Conclusion

Presented research results indicate significant difficulties related to measuring the sustainability of development. These difficulties result from the selection of appropriate variables whose criteria are not unequivocally specified. In addition, arbitrariness, caused by subjective assessments of researchers in qualifying variables to a specific area that monitors a specific domain, is evident. Also, it is not explicitly specified which of the adopted indicators are drivers and which are inhibitors of sustainable development. Maximum, minimal, and in particular optimal values of indicators were not set, which would clearly indicate the fact of sustainability. It should be stated that

the same value of the monitoring indicator in different cases, i.e. in relation to different levels of development (social, economic, environmental, institutional-political) may be a driver or an inhibitor of sustainable development. The determined value of the indicator, depending on the level of socio-economic development, may be optimal, too low or too high.

Particular attention should be paid to the fact that the indicators being a driver of one of the domains are also an inhibitor of another domain. The inclusion of a specific indicator in the monitoring group of a particular domain should be determined, inter alia, by the general level of socio-economic development of a given area.

Different methods of classifying areas due to sustainable development, presented in the study, lead to ambiguous research results. The ranking of the surveyed areas varies depending on whether it was determined using the mean value of the synthetic indicator of sustainable development or using the classification and point method.

The observations presented above denote the necessity of adopting uniform standards referring both to the criteria related to the selection of sustainable development indicators, the unambiguous inclusion of indicators in the group which monitors specific domain, determining the value of optimal indicators which would monitor depending on the level of socio-economic development and the environmental condition of the area. In addition, there is a need to establish uniform methods for measuring sustainability which would clearly and objectively indicate the level of sustainability and the direction of changes.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- Borychowski, M., Staniszewski, J., Zagierski, B.: Problemy pomiaru rozwoju zrównoważonego na przykładzie wybranych wskaźników. Roczniki Ekonomiczne Kujawsko-Pomorskiej szkoły Wyższej w Bydgoszczy 9, 28–43 (2016)
- Hak, T., Moldan, B.: Sustainability indicators. In: Dahl, A.L. (ed.) A Scientific Assessment. Island Press, Washington DC (2007). SCOPE 67
- International Institute for Sustainable Development. Compendium. A Global Directory to Indicator Initiatives. https://www.iisd.org/library/compendium-sustainable-developmentindicator-initiatives. Accessed 24 July 2018
- 4. Matuszczak, A.: Zróżnicowanie rozwoju rolnictwa w regionach Unii Europejskiej w aspekcie jego zrównoważenia. PWN, Warszawa (2013)
- Our Common Future. Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development, United Nations. Oxford University Press, New York (1987)
- Poveda, C.A., Lipsett, M.G.: Using sustainable development indicators (SDIs) for sustainability assessment of surface mining operations in the oil sands projects: applicability, usefulness and cost. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ. 176, 55 (2013)
- Salamon, J.: Comparative analysis of sustainable development of provinces. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas IV(3), 1833–1842 (2017)

- Walesiak, M.: Uogólniona miara odległości w statystycznej analizie wielowymiarowej. Wydawnictwo Akademii Ekonomicznej, Wrocław (2006)
- Wheaton, E., Kulshreshtha, S.: Agriculture and climate change: implications for environmental sustainability indicators. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ. Ecosyst. Sustain. Dev. 175, 99– 110 (2013)
- Wskaźniki zrównoważonego rozwoju Polski 2015. GUS. Urząd Statystyczny Katowice, Katowice (2015). http://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/inne-opracowania/inne-opracowaniazbiorcze/wskazniki-zrownowazonego-rozwoju-polski-2015.5.2.html. Accessed 16 June 2018

Environment Friendly Power Generation



Theoretical and Real Efficiency of Monocrystalline PV Modules in a 2-Year Cycle

Hubert Latała^(⊠), Krzysztof Nęcka, Sławomir Kurpaska, and Anna Karbowniczak

Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Kraków, Poland hubert.latala@urk.edu.pl

Abstract. This paper contains an analysis of operation of photovoltaic power plant in an annual cycle for years 2016 and 2017. Its operation began when the intensity of solar radiation exceeded the value of several dozen W/m^2 and lasted up to several W/m^2 . During the energy conversion in PV power plant, the temperature of photovoltaic modules fluctuated in the range from -25 °C up to 67 °C.

Based on the data collected regression models have been developed that explained changes in the amount of electric energy generated in monocrystalline PV modules, depending on the available solar radiation energy and external temperature.

Keywords: PV plant efficiency · Photovoltaic energy · PV plant lifetime

1 Introduction

In recent years we have seen significant growth of interest in the use of solar radiation energy for generation of electricity, both among entrepreneurs, as well as private persons. In May 2018 the total installed capacity in PV amounted to ca. 300 MW, nearly 40% of which comprised systems licensed by Energy Regulatory Office. In the following years further development within this scope is planned, and according to experts from the Institute for Renewable Energy, the capacity of photovoltaic systems in 2020 should reach the level of 1.2 GW or even 3.2 GW (if the scenario in favour of reduction of costs of statistical transfer is implemented) [1].

Unfortunately, the installed capacity itself is not a good indicator, both for the energy sector, as well as the potential investors. When it comes to practical issues more attention is drawn to the scale of production of electricity in reference to the installed capacity.

Energy yield depends mainly on meteorological conditions in the PV power plant location and its structural parameters [2, 3]. Based on the conducted tests it results that energy yield from installed capacity unit may change in a broad range from 0.1 to 1.7 TWh/GW [4, 5].

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 339–344, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_42

2 Materials and Methods

The paper analysed the efficiency of 4.2 kWp photovoltaic power plant built of monocrystalline modules made with silicon technology. The modules of PV power were directed to the south and mounted at an angle of 32° in relation to the horizontal plane. The analysis was carried out for PV modules based on hourly time intervals for daily energy production. The research was carried out in a two-year cycle. This period covered the entire year 2016 and 2017. The analyses carried out concerned the theoretically available amount of energy possible to obtain in the PV power plant.

3 Results and Discussion

The monocrystalline panels used in the test were characterised by maximum capacity of 300 Wp and conversion efficiency of solar radiation energy at the level of 15.46%. However such values are obtained only for specific module operation parameters (1000 W/m² solar irradiance, 1.5 Air Mass, and cell temperature of 25 °C). In the real conditions photovoltaic panel operates within a very broad range of changes, both in the intensity of solar radiation, as well as the temperature of the cells. Based on the performed analyses it results that the analysed PV power plant commenced its operation when the intensity of solar radiation exceeded the value of several dozen W/m² and operated up to several W/m². Whereas the temperature of PV modules fluctuated in the range from -25 °C to 67 °C.

In order to illustrate the potential of available amount of solar radiation energy in the PV power plant location on the basis of multiannual data, accumulated amount of available energy was determined, but only for time periods, in which conditions for operation were fulfilled. The amount of energy determined on the basis of long-term observations was compared to the real data registered during the tests.

The carried out analyses suggest that within a year ca. 1130 kWh of solar radiation energy is available per each square metre of surface inclined at an angle of 30° with the azimuth in southern direction. Most energy, above 50%, is available in the period of only four months of the year, i.e. from May until August. In the analysed two-year cycle slightly lower value of the annual availability of energy was observed when compared to the multiannual cycle, at the level of 1040 and 1074 kWh/m², accordingly.

On the basis of the information on the availability of amount of solar radiation energy allowing for generation of electricity in the analysed period of time, rated efficiency of energy conversion in PV panels and efficiency of inverters amount of electric energy available for the specific months of the year has been theoretically designated. Then its value was compered to the real production of electric energy.

The conducted simulation reveals that the real amount of electric energy obtained after its conversion into sinusoidal alternating voltage is lower than the theoretically available value by approx. 5-6 kWh/m² in the annual period. Increasing disparities between the expected and the observed level of energy production was visible over the summer months. Such a situation derives to a large extent from the change in efficiency of energy conversion in PV panels, depending on the intensity of solar radiation and operating temperature of PV cells (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Comparison of accumulated theoretical and real energy yield from monocrystalline panels in a two-year period

Based on the catalogue data of panels we may find that power generated by PV panels with the intensity of solar radiation of 300 W/m^2 amounts to only 30% of the nominal value that is obtained with 1000 W/m^2 . The availability of solar radiation energy in the specific ranges is presented in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Histogram of high rate of intensity of solar radiation

In the PV power plant location there are difficult conditions for work, due to the fact that approx. 60-70% of observations that describe the intensity of solar radiation are at the level below 300 W/m², for which it is possible to obtain only 30% of nominal

capacity. The analysed PV modules could operate with capacity close to the nominal one for only few percent of the operating period.

Apart from the intensity of solar radiation, also the operating temperature of the cells influences the energy yield. The chart (Fig. 3) illustrates the dynamics of electricity production as expressed in kWh per unit of installed power in the PV power plant in 2016. The amount of generated energy was influenced mainly by the parameters of the solar radiation energy and the temperature of PV modules.



Fig. 3. Characteristics of electricity production dependent on the daily amount of available solar radiation energy and the temperature of the mono PV modules (2016)

An analogous characteristic was generated for operating conditions of PV power plant in 2017 (Fig. 4). While analysing the parameters presented in Figs. 3 and 4 it may be stated that modules made of monocrystalline silicon in 2017 were subject to lower thermal stress when compared to 2016. However, it had no significant impact on the amount of energy produced, because coefficients in correlation Eqs. 1 and 2 for module temperature obtained values on a similar level.

The correlation equations for energy production were determined on the basis of the monitored operating parameters of the PV system in the course of the experiment. The values of the energy production are independent, taking into account the years 2016 and 2017. The significance of the parameters determining the value energy was set at a significance level of less than 0.05 as a linear estimation using the quasi-Newton method.



Fig. 4. Characteristics of electricity production dependent on the daily amount of available solar radiation energy and the temperature of the mono PV module (2017)

The most powerful factor influencing the energy yield from photovoltaic modules (E_{pv}) comprises the intensity of solar radiation (E_s) . The carried out analyses suggest that on the basis of daily solar radiation energy regression dependencies may be developed in the form of:

$$E_{pv} = 0.132(\pm 0,002) \cdot E_s + 0.036(\pm 0,008) \quad 2016 \tag{1}$$

$$E_{pv} = 0.128(\pm 0,002) \cdot E_s + 0.047(\pm 0,007) \quad 2017 \tag{2}$$

The developed regression models explain the changes in the amount of electric energy generated in monocrystalline PV modules depending on the available solar radiation energy in 92%. Based on such models it may be stated that the increase in the daily availability of solar radiation energy by 1 kWh/m² will result in the increase in yield of electric energy by approx. 0.13 kWh/m². Thus it demonstrates that the annual average efficiency of energy conversion in monocrystalline PV panels is at the level of 13%. Apart from the intensity of solar radiation, also the operating temperature of PV cells influences the energy yield. The catalogue data for the analysed modules (ET-M672300WW) reveal that their temperature of PV cells by1 °C (starting from 25 °C) will result in reduction of the generated power by 0.44%.

Operating temperature of PV cells (t_{pv}) depends on many factors, the most significant ones are considered to be intensity of solar radiation, air temperature (t_z) , wind speed and presence of precipitation. The literature presents many comprehensive models enabling to specify their operating temperature. In this paper simple dependencies have been developed allowing for rough estimate of operating temperature of PV cells, according to the intensity of solar radiation and air temperature.

$$\begin{split} t_{pv2016} &= 1.356(\pm 0.309) + 1.167(\pm 0.110) \cdot E_s + 1.257(\pm 0.026) \cdot t_z \\ \mathrm{R}^2 &= 0.95 \\ t_{pv2017} &= 1.696(\pm 0.225) + 2.034(\pm 0.097) \cdot E_s + 0.946(\pm 0.024) \cdot t_z \\ \mathrm{R}^2 &= 0.96 \end{split}$$

4 Conclusion

- 1. The carried out analyses suggest that within a year ca. 1130 kWh of solar radiation energy is available per each square metre of surface inclined at an angle of 30° with the azimuth in southern direction. Most energy, above 50%, is available in the period of only four months of the year, i.e. from May until August.
- 2. The real amount of electric energy obtained after its conversion into sinusoidal alternating voltage is lower than the theoretically available value by approx. 5– 6 kWh/m² in the annual period. This disparity has been observed over the summer months. Such a situation derives to a large extent from the change in efficiency of energy conversion in PV panels, depending on the intensity of solar radiation and operating temperature of PV cells.
- 3. Based on the developed regression models it may be stated that the increase in the daily availability of solar radiation energy by 1 kWh/m² will result in the increase in yield of electric energy by approx. 0.13 kWh/m². Thus it demonstrates that the annual average efficiency of energy conversion in monocrystalline PV panels is at the level of 13%.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- 1. https://ieo.pl/pl/projekty/raport-rynek-fotowoltaiki-w-polsce-2018
- Mateo, C., Hernandez-Fenollosa, M.A., Montero, A., Seguí-Chilet, S.: Renew. Energy 120, 114–125 (2018)
- Necka, K., Latala, H., Kurpaska, S., Knaga, J., Karbowniczak, A.: Bio Web of Conferences, vol. 10, p. 02023 (2018)
- 4. Mirzaei, M., Mohiabadi, M.Z.: Renew. Energy 119, 400-409 (2018)
- 5. Martins, F.: Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 74, 173-177 (2017)



Steam Explosion Method – Opportunities for Application in Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass for Biogas Conversion

Sławomir Kurpaska^(⊠), Paweł Kiełbasa, Zygmunt Sobol, and Stanisław Kokoszka

Faculty of Production and Power Engineering, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Kraków, Poland rtkurpas@cyf-kr.edu.pl

Abstract. The paper presents the results of experiments on the use of an innovative method involving the disruption of lignocellulosic fibers of the substrate used for the production of biogas. Describes and shows the process conditions for the biogas-based substrate obtained from agricultural production, food processing industry, some municipal wastes. On the basis of the literature review, the devices used to produce second generation biogas were discussed. The process of biogas production in this technology assumes the use of lignocellulosic raw materials, which are agricultural, forest, communal or post-crop production residues. Discusses the essence of the process and the results achieved in the bioconversion biogas or ethanol. Presents figures on potential raw material resources dedicated to this technology. The work also includes schemes of solutions used in this technology.

Keywords: Biogas · Lignocellulosic substrates · Steam explosion

1 Introduction

On the basis of Directive 2009/28/EC adopted 23.04.2009 on the promotion and use of energy from renewable sources, a national plan was adopted in Poland (07.12.2010) aiming to promote energy from renewable sources. The plan included a forecast that by 2020 Poland will achieve a level of 15.5% of its gross final energy consumption from renewable sources [1]. The declared percentage of energy yield from renewable sources in terms of gross final energy consumption is highly variable in different EU countries. Malta and Luxembourg declare 10-11%, while Finland has pledged an amount of 38%, Latvia 42%, and Sweden 49% [1]. In the 2030 perspective, according to the adopted directive of the European Parliament, it is assumed that the average percentage of gross final energy consumption should be around 32%. In 2015, the average gross final energy consumption from renewable sources in the EU as a whole was 26.7%, while in Poland it was 13.1%.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 345–358, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_43

According to the General Statistical Office (GSO in Poland) [1] biogas can be divided into the following types, depending on the way that it is obtained:

- biogas from sewage, produced as a result of anaerobic fermentation of sewage slurry
- other biogases:
 - agricultural biogas obtained in a process of anaerobic fermentation of biomass derived from cultivation of energy crops, residues of plant processing, and animal manure
 - biogas obtained in a process of anaerobic fermentation of waste products derived from slaughterhouses, breweries, and other branches of the food sector.

An analysis of the data on energy obtained from biogas indicates that the highest growth in energy in the studied year occurred in the group "other biogases". This growth amounted to a 240% increase in the year 2016 when compared with the year 2012 [1]. Therefore, it can be concluded that the greatest dynamics of growth in the production of biogas comes from the cultivation of energy crops, residue of plant production and animal manures, waste from slaughterhouses, breweries, and other branches of the food sector. Growth in the production of biogas for the years 2010–2020 was forecast somewhat earlier [2].

An increase in the production of biogas should lead to Poland's fulfilment of its commitments to National Indicative Targets and the postulates of the Climate and Energy package (15% of energy consumption from renewable sources by the year 2020). Additionally, an increase in the production of biogas may favourably impact savings in fossil deposits of gas, improve the sustainability of waste management, and substantially limit methane emissions to the atmosphere. The emission of methane to the atmosphere is more harmful due to its impact on the greenhouse effect than the emission of carbon dioxide [3].

For the production of biogas, many substrates are currently used derived from intentional agricultural production, but the search is also being intensified for substrates derived from post-production residues from agricultural production, the agriculturalfood industry, as well as certain municipal waste products. These substrates differ in terms of dry matter content, including organic substances, as well as in terms of the amount of biogas generated and the speed of decomposition (speed of generation of biogas). A summary of raw materials used as substrates for the production of biogas along with a description of their basic parameters is presented in Table 1 [4].

Substrate	Dry matter [%]	Organic dry matter [%]	Biogas yield [m ³] per 1t of organic	Content of CH_4 in the
			dry matter	biogas [%]
Liquid cattle manure	6.5–10.5		175–520	55-65
Liquid pig manure	1.8-8.0		220-637	58-69
Corn silage	20-40	85–97	450-700	50-55
Grass silage	25-50	70–95	550-620	54–55
Slaughterhouse waste	1	1		
flotation tailings from slaughterhouses	14	90	700	
• fat poor flotation tailings	14.4	81.5	375	69
• rumen contents	12–16	85-88	300-600	
• intestines and stomach	16	82	300	
• fatty tissue	37	84	700	
• blood	9.7–18	95–96	410-680	
chicken slurry	27	67	773	58
chicken litter	10–29	67–77	300-800	
chicken manure	32	63-80	250-450	60
• egg waste	25	92	970–980	
	23	80	175–520	
Cattle manure	22			60
	25	68–76	210-300	
Excess sludge	5	80	63	
Potato pulp	6–18	85–96	300-700	58
Dairy waste				
• whey	46	80–92	500-900	
• acid whey	5.6	88,8	762	54
• fresh whey	5.6	92.2	746	53
Fruit processing waste				
• fruit waste	60	30	400	
 apple pulp 	30	94	330	
 remains from apple processing 	22	97.7	566	53
Others (tea leaves, bakery waste, vegetable remains)	5-20	76–90	400	

Table 1. Characteristics of substrates for methane fermentation [4].

2 Technologies Used in the Production of Biogas

Methane fermentation depends on many factors, among which the most important are the temperature of the process, the pH of the fermented material, the C/N ratio, and conditions during the mixing process [3]. Due to the fact that methane-producing bacteria are more sensitive to changes in temperature and pH than acetic acidproducing bacteria, the fermentation process should be conducted in conditions which are more favourable for the former's growth and activity [6]. The type of substrate being processed to a great degree determines the selection of biogas production technology. In this regard, currently used technological solutions can be divided by taking into account the following criteria: the temperature at which the process is conducted, the dry matter content in the fermentation chamber, the number of stages of the process, the degree of separation of the individual stages of the process, and the method of dosing the substrate. A classification of biogas production technologies in terms of these criteria is shown in Table 2 [5].

Criterion	Type of technology	Characteristic features
Process temperature	Mesophilic	35–37 °C, most often used
	Thermophilic	55–60 °C, more rarely used, often in the case of processing of substrates of heightened risk, such as slaughterhouse waste or animal litter. A process conducted in these conditions is more sensitive to disturbance, but takes place with greater efficiency
Content of dry matter in the fermentation chamber	Wet fermentation	The content of dry matter in the substrate does not exceed 15%, the fermented material is in liquid form
	Dry fermentation	Substrates with a solid consistency, with a high dry matter content
Number of process stages	Single-stage	The installation has a single fermentation chamber
	Multi-stage	The installation has several serially-joined fermentation chambers
Degree of separation of phases of the fermentation process	Single-phase	Hydrolysis of substrate and methane-production phase take place within a single reactor at an even intensity
	Multi-phase	Hydrolysis of substrate and methane-production phase take place in separate reactors
Method of dosing the substrate	Constant	The substrate is dosed constantly at an even pace, making uninterrupted production of biogas possible
	Periodic	The fermentation chamber is filled and then emptied after the process is completed. The production of biogas is higher at the beginning of the process, becoming lower as time progresses

Table 2. Classification of biogas production technologies [5]

3 Alternative Substrates for the Production of 2nd Generation Biofuels

The search for alternative substrates for the production of 2nd generation biofuels has been influenced by studies on the use of lignocellulosic materials which are byproducts of agricultural production, forest management, municipal waste management, or which are intentionally cultivated for this purpose. The production of biofuels from lignocellulose biomass mainly derived from post-production by-products is not a threat to food production. The use of this type of substrate for the production of 2nd generation biofuels represents serious competition for 1st generation biofuels, which are derived from starch- and sugar-bearing plants which are intentionally cultivated for this purpose. The production of 2nd generation biofuels is still much less practiced than traditional methods, mainly due to limitations on technology and the current state of knowledge [6]. Many microorganisms take part in the bioconversion of difficult-toaccess components of lignocellulosic materials in natural conditions. During this process, the biomass is utilised, and the process is aided by elements of the natural environment such as water, solar radiation, changing temperatures, and wind. In natural conditions, these processes last for periods ranging from several months to dozens of years. The length of the process is determined by the resistance of the tissues to external factors, and within this resistance a key role is played by lignin, in close association with the polymers cellulose and hemicellulose. Świątek et al. [6] have shown that the achievement of favourable bioconversion of the lignocellulose substrate into ethanol at a level guaranteeing viability requires pretreatment of the raw material aimed at removal of lignin, interference in the hemicellulose structure, and partial amorphisation of the cellulose. This phase of the process determines the efficiency of subsequent processes. According to [6], lignocellulosic substrates which are potential raw materials for the production of bioethanol can be divided into the following categories: by-products of agricultural production (wheat straw, barley straw, corn stalks, cane sugar pressings, sorghum, rice husks), hard and soft woods, cellulose waste (paper), green plants, and solid municipal waste. Studies are being conducted on the use of these types of lignocellulose biomass as a substrate for the production of biogas. The positive results of these studies involve among other things the use of various types of lignocellulosic raw materials in the production of biogas, an increase in the efficiency of the process and its dynamics, and the facilitation of transport of the biomass to the reactor, as shown in [7-13]. The common area of study of the cited works is the use in these studies of the steam explosion method for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic substrates for bioconversion to biogas.

4 Steam Explosion Method – Efficient Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass for Biogas Conversion

According to [7–13], this method involves the heating of the lignocellulose biomass in a closed system to a temperature which usually ranges from 160 to 220 °C, resulting in an increase in pressure to about 32 bar. After a retention period of about 5 to 60 min,

the pressure is suddenly reduced to normal atmospheric pressure. During this process, there is analogous drop in temperature. This sudden drop in pressure causes the intracellular water to evaporate quickly, causing a phenomenon known as steam explosion or the explosion phase. This steam explosion makes the substrates much better prepared for bioconversion into biogas or ethanol [14].

Kurabi et al. [15], Ruiz et al. [16] Szlachta and Fugol [17] present steam explosion, or in other words thermohydrolysis, as a process of thermal and pressure processing of plant material. When steam is used for the degradation of hemicellulose and the transformation of lignin, thus increasing the hydrolysis potential of the cellulose, two methods can be distinguished. The first of these is the steam explosion method, and the second is steam pretreatment. During steam explosion, the substrate is placed in a large chamber at a temperature of 160–260 °C, under a pressure of 15–30 bar. The lignocellulose material remains in the chamber with the steam for a period ranging from several seconds to several minutes, after which sudden decompression takes place and the pressure drops to the level of atmospheric pressure [15-17]. Steam explosion is conducted in a specialised pressure chamber. The conditions required for this process are temperature and pressure in varying ranges which are strictly dependent on the type of substrate being processed. The steam explosion system was patented as a biomass pretreatment method as early as 1926 by [18], who described it as a pretreatment process for wood. This process involved introducing wood chips into a chamber and heating them to a temperature of 285 °C at a pressure of 3.5 MPa for about 2 min. The pressure was rapidly increased to 7 MPa and maintained for 5 s, after which the chips were expelled through slots to in the chamber to the outside, where they were subject to decompression and exploded in the normal atmospheric pressure, creating a pulp. This method is used in the pretreatment of various types of biomass such as corn stalks, miscanthus, Japanese cedar, willow and birch, and of the post-production by-products of the food industry including citruses, potato pulp, and algae in order to increase the production of bioethanol or methane. The steam explosion method is used for conditioning many types of lignocellulose biomass, and its main advantage is the high yield of sugars with relatively small capital outlays, with a low level of harmfulness to the environment due to the fact that harmful chemicals are not used [20]. Liua et al. [19] used steam explosion pretreatment to destroy the structure of the lignocellulose matrix and facilitate bioconversion. In Fig. 1, a system is presented which consists of a reactor chamber (working capacity 15 dm³), a reception chamber (working capacity 150 dm³), and a steam generator (Fig. 1).

During the initial phase, the straw (dry base matter) is loaded from above into the reactor chamber. High-pressure steam supplied by the generator is then introduced into the reactor until the temperature reaches 200 °C (1.6 MPa). After 5 min of being subjected to the effects of the saturated steam, the corn straw is subjected to decompression during transport to the reception chamber with the use of the ball valve. It has been determined that pretreatment with a steam explosion results in a profound transformation of the lignin and severe degradation of the fibrous structure of the majority of the biomass particles.



Fig. 1. Diagram of a steam explosion pretreatment reactor [19]

Another solution [20] is a system constructed by Industrieanlagen Planungsgesellschaft for pretreatment of soft woods using steam explosion technology (Fig. 2). Steam at a pressure of 32 bar is generated in an 18 kW generator. A secondary steam chamber between the furnace and reactor provides additional storage space for 23 l of steam. The pretreatment reactor is made of stainless steel (type 1.4571) and has a capacity of 5.8 l (DN100, i.e. an internal diameter of 114.3 mm and internal height of 700 mm) and can be loaded with biomass using a pneumatic ball valve on the top. The



Fig. 2. Diagram of the steam explosion system [20]

saturated steam can be injected into the reactor both at the bottom and halfway up the sides of the reactor. The steam injection is controlled by the pressure settings in the reactor. Air which may collect in the chamber should be expelled to achieve a saturation temperature of the steam appropriate for the applied pressure.

The exhaust valve is controlled by the temperature differential measured at the top of the reactor, where air gathers due to its lower density and temperature relevant to the saturated steam. The ball valve at the bottom of the reactor, on the other hand, is powered by a pneumatic motor operating at a pressure of 10 bar to ensure rapid opening and reduction of pressure as required for the explosion of the steam. The impact of steam explosion pretreatment (T = 235 °C, t = 2.5 min, pressure difference 30 bar) on the structure of spruce wood is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Impact of steam explosion on structure of biomass [20]

The authors [20] demonstrated that the pretreatment system increases the enzymatic digestibility of the lignocellulose biomass of soft wood.

According to the report [21], the production of biogas or methane from a solid substrate such as wood, straw, or paper may increase substantially thanks to a variety of pretreatment methods. The authors believe that high temperature steam explosion (<200 °C) for a short period (5–10 min) is the best solution for pretreatment of currently used biogas plant input materials in terms of an improvement in gas yield (Fig. 3). In the case of wood and straw, steam explosion pretreatment delivered methane efficiencies of approximately 0.2 m³ kg⁻¹ of raw material and 0.3 m³ kg⁻¹ of raw material respectively. In contrast, straw chemically treated with 8% NaOH (without steam-explosion) delivered lower methane efficiencies, although lower by only about 0.2 m³ kg⁻¹ of raw material. Additionally, steam explosion pretreatment was only effective when a chemical substance (NaOH or both NaOH and H₂O₂) was added to the substrate during processing. Steam explosion with the addition of 2% NaOH and 2% H₂O₂ yielded about 0.5 m³ kg⁻¹ of raw material, whereas methane yield after steam explosion treatment with the addition of only 2% NaOH was about 0.4 m³ kg⁻¹ of raw material (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Efficiency of methane yield depending on substrate pretreatment method [21]

A method and device for accelerating decomposition of lignocellulose biomass has been developed at the University of Warmia and Mazury in Olsztyn which involves the use of thermochemical processes. The reactor in which the process is carried out has a capacity of 3 dm³. Processing of the biomass takes place at high temperatures and under a saturation pressure appropriate to the temperature of the input material. The pretreatment process begins with submerging the biomass in water, after which 10–20 min of hydrolysis takes place with the addition of acid or lye. Hydrolysis is completed with a rapid reduction in pressure. During this phase, the water explosively changes into steam and then nearly instantly condenses. Rapid state transitions mean that local pressure changes can achieve several hundred bar. The shockwaves resulting from vaporisation and condensation destroy the wood cell walls. The greatest degree of destruction of cellulose and hemicellulose in the cells of the biomass can be achieved by using hydrolysis within a temperature range of 200 to 230 °C, in the presence of sulphuric acid (VI) and with explosive expansion of the steam [22].

The steam explosion method can be used for conditioning many types of lignocellulose biomass, and its great advantage is that it yields large amounts of sugars with relatively low capital outlays and very little harm to the natural environment due to the fact that dangerous chemicals are not used. During steam explosion treatment, part of the hemicellulose becomes hydrolysed into acids which may act as catalysts for the further hydrolysis of the hemicellulose.

For the pretreatment of lignocellulose biomass suitable for use in the production of 2nd generation biofuels, the following processes are most commonly used: physical, physicochemical, chemical, and biological. The advantages and disadvantages of these methods are presented in Table 3.
Pretreatment method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Mechanical grinding	Reduction of the crystalline structures of the cellulose	Energy use exceeds produced energy
Steam explosion	Degradation of hemicellulose, transformation of lignin, high viability	Destruction of some of the xylans, incomplete rupture of the lignin- carbohydrate matrix, creation of inhibitors
AFEX	Increase of bioactive surface, removal of lignin and cellulose, absence of inhibitors	No effect on substrates with high lignin content
Action of carbon dioxide	Increase of bioactive surface, viability, absence of inhibitors	No impact on lignin and hemicellulose
Acid method	Hydrolysis of hemicellulose into xylose and other sugars, change in the lignin structure	High costs, possibility of occurrence of corrosion, formation of inhibitors
Alkali method	Removal of lignin and hemicellulose, increase of bioactive surface	Long processing time
Biological method	Degradation of lignin and hemicellulose, low energy usage	Very slow process of hydrolysis

 Table 3. Advantages and disadvantages of the use of various pretreatment methods for

 Lignocellulosic substrates [23]

Bruni et al. [24] has stated that biofibre and the remains of the biomass separated from the fermented liquid manure, when subjected to steam processing at 180 °C for 15 min (without the addition of acid or pre-soaking) obtained increases in methane efficiency of 29% when compared with biofibre not treated with heat. According to [25], a plant which also sees an increase in methane yield when subjected to heat processing is the rush family. Methane yield from rushes subjected to steam explosion was 24% higher than in the case of rushes not pretreated. The process conditions were as follows: steam pressure 1.72 MPa, time in the pressure chamber 8.14 min, residual moisture 11%. Steam explosion pretreatment is considered to be one of the most effective technologies for the pretreatment of substrates such as wood or agricultural by-products, including lignocellulosic substrates, both at the laboratory scale and in reality. It is estimated that with properly selected parameters and process factors, steam explosion may allow for a high level of biogas production to be achieved; e.g. straw subjected to the steam explosion process allows for up to 600 m³ of biogas to be obtained from 1 tonne of dry straw (with 85% raw material). Unfortunately, during the steam explosion process, inhibitors may be formed, encouraged by the high pressure and temperature, and compounds such as furfural and phenols may be formed from the decomposition of sugars and lignin. This results in a decrease in the biomethane efficiency of substrate subjected to heat processing [26].

The process of steam explosion has been commercialised, and is being successfully used in Masonite factories for the production of wooden doors and windows for homes [27]. The Italian Agency for New Technologies, Energy, and Environment [28] is using an experimental reactor which allows 300 kg h⁻¹ of material to be processed. The Cambi Company [29] is using the thermohydrolysis phenomenon to process waste water residues and biodegradable waste. [30, 31] have also presented information suggesting that the use of pretreatment of lignocellulose biomass involving steam explosion brings favourable results in the preparation of biomass for the production of biofuel pellets in order to increase their fuel value, density, and pelletisation characteristics.

5 Potential Residual Lignocellulose Biomass in Poland Suitable for Use in the Production of 2nd Generation Biofuels

The potential residual lignocellulose biomass in Poland has been calculated based on data from the Main Statistical Office (GSO) [32]. Using statistical data on areas of cultivation of the analysed plants and their harvests as well as formulas expressing the ratio between harvest yield and straw yield [33–35], the amount of straw potentially available for use for energy purposes has been estimated. Moreover, using the previously mentioned source, the total amount of unused meadow grasses and wood waste from by-products of the orchard industry has also been estimated. This estimated potential for lignocellulose biomass in Poland is:

- Straw mass from basic grains with admixtures (2016r.) 25.9 mln tonnes. of this amount, after taking into consideration needs for fodder and animal bedding, a surplus of about 12.4 mln tonnes remains for use
- Corn stalk mass remaining after cultivation for grain, about 5.6 mln tonnes
- Straw mass remaining after cultivation of oilseeds, about 2.0 mln tonnes
- Unused meadow grasses (as hay), about 2.4 mln tonnes
- Waste wood from the cultivation of orchards, about 122,000 m³
- Additionally, a partial change from production of corn for grain to production for silage can be considered (in 2016, the area under cultivation for grain was 595405 ha, while that for silage was 602185 ha).

Therefore, the estimated potential for lignocellulose biomass in Poland derived from field production of plant matter of the types taken into consideration and which may be used for biofuel production is about 22.4 mln tonnes.

6 Conclusion

The percentage of biogas in the structure of the renewable energy sector both in the EU (7.60%) and in Poland (2.88%) is very modest when compared to solid biofuels. An increase in the production of biogas should aid Poland to achieve the adopted targets. Moreover, an increase in the production of biogas may favourably impact savings in

usage of fossil deposits of this type of fuel, improve the sustainability of the economy of post-production waste products, and significantly reduce emissions of methane into the atmosphere. Currently for the production of biogas, many substrate are used which are intentionally cultivated for this purpose, though increasingly frequently substrates are being explored which are the residual products of agricultural and agricultural-food production, as well as certain types of municipal waste. The search for alternative substrates for the production of 2nd generation biogas is shaping the course of studies on the use of lignocellulosic substrates which are residual by-products of agricultural production, forest management, municipal waste, or dedicated cultivation. The production of biofuels from lignocellulose biomass, mainly derived from post-production residuals, is not detrimental to food production. The production of 2nd generation biofuels is still, however, lagging far behind traditional production due to technical limitations and the current state of knowledge. The estimated potential of lignocellulose biomass in Poland derived from field production which can be used in the production of biofuels is large, amounting to about 22.4 mln tonnes. A solution for this conundrum is seen in the use of the steam explosion method for pretreating the lignocellulosic substrate for conversion to biogas. The advantage of this method is the yield of high amounts of sugars with small capital outlays and minimum harm to the natural environment due the fact that the method does not use harmful chemicals. The use of this method in the production of biogas results in an increase in the efficiency of the process, its dynamics, and facilitation of the transport of the biomass to the reactor.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- 1. General Statistical Office (GSO in Poland): Energia ze źródeł odnawialnych w 2016 r. Informacje i opracowania statystyczne. Warszawa (2017)
- Kochańska E Praca zbiorowa pod redakcją naukową. Mikrotechnologie biogazowe jako inwestycyjne narzędzie stymulowania rozwoju lokalnego. Perspektywy aplikacyjne w województwie łódzkim. Centrum Badań i Innowacji Pro – Akademia, Oddział Polskiej Akademii Nauk w Łodzi (2012)
- 3. Oniszk-Popławska, A., Owsik, M., Wiśniewski, G.: Produkcja i wykorzystanie biogazu rolniczego, EC BREC/IBMER, Gdańsk-Warszawa (2003)
- Owczuk, M., Wardzińska, D., Zamojska-Jaroszewicz, A., Matuszewska, A.: Wykorzystanie odpadów biodegradowalnych do produkcji biogazu jako alternatywnego źródła energii odnawialnej. Studia Ecologiae et Bioethicae UKSW 113, 133–144 (2013)
- Kwaśny, J., Banach, M.: Kowalski, Z.: Przegląd technologii produkcji biogazu. Chemia Czasopismo Techniczne Wydawnictwo Politechniki Krakowskiej, 2-Ch 17(109), 83–102 (2012)
- Swiątek, M., Lewandowska, M., Bednarski, W.: Znaczenie doboru metody wstępnej obróbko substratów lignocelulozowych z uwzględnieniem wydajności produkcji bioetanolu. Postępy Nauk Rolniczych 1(2011), 109–119 (2011)

- Fang, H., Deng, J., Zhang, X.: Continuous steam explosion of wheat straw by high pressure mechanical refining system to produce sugars for bioconversion. Bioresources 6(4), 4468– 4480 (2011)
- Bauer, A., Lizasoain, J., Theuretzbacher, F., Agger, J., Rincón, M., Menardo, S., Saylor, M., Enguídanos, R., Nielsen, P., Potthast, A., Zweckmair, T., Gronauer, A., Horn, S.: Steam explosion pretreatment for enhancing biogas production of late harvested Hay. Biores. Technol. 166, 403–410 (2014)
- Bauer, A., Theuretzbacher, F., Rincón, M., Enguidanos, R., Gronauer, A.: Steam explosion pretreatment for enhancing biogas production of Alpine Hay. In: Proceedings International Conference of Agricultural Engineering, Zurich, 06–10 July 2014, pp. 1–4 (2014). www. eurageng.eu
- Theuretzbacher, F., Lizasoain, J., Lefever, Ch., Saylor, M., Enguidanos, R., Weran, N., Gronauer, A., Bauer, A.: Steam explosion pretreatment of wheat straw to improve methane yields: investigation of the degradation kinetics of structural compounds during anaerobic digestion. Biores. Technol. **179**, 299–305 (2015)
- Menardo, S., Bauer, A., Theuretzbacher, F., Piringer, G., Nilsen, P.J., Balsari, P., Pavliska, O., Amon, T.: Biogas production from steam-exploded miscanthus and utilization of biogas energy and CO₂ in greenhouses. Bioenerg. Res. 6, 620–630 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12155-012-9280-5
- Mulat, D.G., Huerta, S.G., Kalyani1, D., Horn, S.J.: Enhancing methane production from lignocellulosic biomass by combined steam-explosion pretreatment and bioaugmentation with cellulolytic bacterium Caldicellulosiruptor bescii. Biotechnol. Biofuels 11(19), 2–15 (2018)
- Odhner, P.B., Horváth, I.S., Kabir, M.M., Schabbauer, A.: Biogas from lignocellulosic biomass. Svenskt Gastekniskt Center. Rapport SGC 247 • 1102–7371 • ISRN SGC-R-247-SE (2012)
- Stelte, W.: Resultat Kontrakt (RK) Report. Steam explosion for biomass pre-treatment. Energy & Climate Centre for Renewable Energy and Transport Section for Biomass, pp. 1– 15 (2013)
- Kurabi, A., Berlin, A., Gilkes, N., Kilburn, D., Bura, R., Robinson, J., et al.: Enzy-matic hydrolysis of steam-exploded and ethanol organosolv-pretreatment Douglas Firby novel and commercial fungal cellulases. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. **121**, 219–230 (2005)
- Ruiz, E., Cara, C., Ballesteros, M., Manzanares, P., Ballesteros, I., Castro, E.: Ethanol production from pretreatment olive tree wood and sunflower stalks by an SFF process. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 129, 631–643 (2006)
- 17. Szlachta, J., Fugol, M.: Analiza możliwości produkcji biogazu na bazie gnojowicy oraz kiszonki z kukurydzy. Inżynieria rolnicza **114**, 275–280 (2009)
- Mason, W.H.: Process and apparatus for disintegration of wood and the like. US Patent: 1578609 (1926). https://patenmages.stoage.gooleapis.com/0a/31/f4/551e24519451f0/ US1578609.pdf
- Liu, Z.H., Qin, L., Pang, F., Jin, M.J., Li, B.Z., Kang, Y., Dale, B.E., Yuana, Y.J.: Effects of biomass particle size on steam explosion pretreatment performance for improving the enzyme digestibility of corn stover. Ind. Crops Prod. 44, 176–184 (2013)
- Pielhop, T., Amgarten, J., Rohr, P.R., Studer, M.H.: Steam explosion pretreatment of softwood: the effect of the explosive decompression on enzymatic digestibility. Biotechnol. Biofuels. 9, 152 (2016). https://biotechnologyforbiofuels.biomedcentral.com/articles/10. 1186/s13068-016-0567-1
- Rapport SGC 247 1102–7371 ISRN SGC-R-247-SE. http://www.sgc.se/ckfinder/userfiles/ files/SGC247.pdf. Accessed 01 June 2018

- Uniwersytet Warmińsko-Mazurski w Olsztynie/ Centrum Badań Energii, online: Odnawialnej http://www.uwm.edu.pl/cbeo/wp-content/uploads/2016/oferty%20PS/oferta%2015. pdf. Accessed 01 June 2018
- Carlsson, M., Lagerkvist, A., Morgan-Sagastume, F.: The effect of substrate pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion systems: a review. Waste Manag. 32, 1634–1650 (2012)
- Bruni, E., Jensen, A.P., Angelidaki, I.: Comparative study of mechanical, hydrothermal chemical and enzymatic treatments of digested bioübers to improve biogas production. Bioresource Technol. 101, 8713–8717 (2010)
- 25. Witaszek, K., Pilarska, A.A., Pilarski, K.: Wybrane metody wstępnej obróbki surowców roślinnych stosowanych do produkcji biogazu. Ekonomia i środowisko **2**(53) (2015)
- Zheng, Y., Zhao, J., Xu, F., Li, Y.: Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enhanced biogas production. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci. 42, 35–53 (2014)
- Menon, V., Rao, M.: Trend in bioconversion of lignocellulose: Biofuels, platform chemicals & biorafinery concept. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci. 38, 522–550 (2012)
- 28. Italian Agency for New Technologies, Energy, and Environment. http://www.enea.it/it
- 29. CAMBI. www.cambi.com. Accessed 09 July 2018
- Adapa, P., Tabil, L., Schoenau, G.: Compression characteristics of non-treated and steam exploded Barley, Canola, Oat and Wheat Straw grinds. Appl. Eng. Agric. 26(4), 617–632 (2010)
- Adapa, P., Tabil, L., Schoenau, G., Opoku, A.: Pelleting characteristics of selected biomass with and without steam explosion pretreatment. Int. J. Agric. Biol. Eng. 3(3), 62–79 (2010)
- 32. Główny Urząd Statystyczny. Departament Rolnictwa. Produkcja upraw rolnych i ogrodniczych w 2016 r. Warszawa (2017)
- Gradziuk, P., Grzybek, A., Kowalczyk, K., Kościk, B.: Biopaliwa. Wieś Jutra Sp. z o.o. Warszawa (2002). ISBN 83-88368-10-9
- Grzybek, A., Gradziuk, P., Kowalczyk, K.: Słoma energetyczne paliwo. Wieś Jutra Sp. z o.o. Warszawa (2001). ISBN 83-88368-19-2
- 35. Denisiuk, W.: Słoma potencjał masy i energii. Inżynieria Rolnicza 2(100), 23–30 (2008)



Electrooxidation of Sesame Oil in Acid Electrolyte

Paweł P. Włodarczyk^(⊠) and Barbara Włodarczyk

Institute of Technical Science, University of Opole, Opole, Poland pawel.wlodarczyk@uni.opole.pl

Abstract. The energy industry is based mainly on coal, crude oil, natural gas or nuclear energy. However, in recent years renewable energy sources have also become increasingly used. One of the devices that uses renewable energy sources is a fuel cell (FC). The fuel cell can be powered by hydrogen, methanol, hydrazine or other substrates. Commercial fuel cells use mainly hydrogen, methanol or hydrazine. Due to the fact that water is the only by-product, hydrogen storage cause, however, that new fuels for FCs are very desirable. Vegetable oil seems to be such substance, application of which as fuel in FCs is possible. But in the first place, it is necessary to determine possibilities of electrooxidation of this fuel. The paper presents the research on sesame oil enulsion on a smooth platinum electrode in acid electrolyte. The maximum stable current density reached in the tests was 5 mA cm⁻².

Keywords: Electrooxidation · Biofuel · Fuel cell · Environmental engineering · Renewable energy source

1 Introduction

In the past decades, alternative devices using renewable energy sources have been developing very fast. A fuel cell (FC) is one of these devices. The fuel cell is a type of a galvanic cell. However, whereas in a regular battery the energy is stored, in the FC the fuel and oxidant have to be supplied externally [1, 2]. In the FC the chemical energy of fuel is converted directly into electrical energy, without intermediate states [2–4]. FCs are characterized by high efficiency, silent operation and zero or low influence on the environment [2, 5].

The commercial fuel cells are powered mainly by hydrogen, methanol or hydrazine [6, 7]. Due to the fact that water is the only by-product, hydrogen is considered to be the best fuel for fuel cells [2, 5, 8]. Thus, FCs are most often powered by hydrogen. However, there is a problem with cheap storage and cheap production of this fuel [9–11]. Recently, more and more new renewable fuels have been researched and applied [12, 13]. One of these fuels can be vegetable oil, e.g. canola oil, which is often used as raw material to biodiesel fuel production [12, 14]. Recycled vegetable oil can be also used as fuel [15, 16]. The previous authors' research has shown a possibility of direct

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 359–366, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_44

electricity production from canola or coconut oil [16–19]. The possibility of electrooxidation of sesame oil is shown in this paper.

Sesame oil is obtained from sesame seeds. This oil is mainly used in salad or cooking, also in cosmetics, soaps, paints and lubricants [20–22]. It can be used as a base substrate for production of biodiesel as well, e.g. by transesterification of sesame seed oil with methanol in the presence of NaOH as catalyst [23–25]. An internal combustion engine (diesel engine) fuelled with sesame biodiesel in terms of fuel efficiency, consumption and power has equal parameters compared to the one fuelled with mineral diesel. Moreover, it was noted that the environmental performance of biodiesel produced from sesame oil was superior to that of standard mineral diesel. Sesame oil can be blended with diesel fuel in different concentrations, e.g. B20%, B10% or B5%. It should be noted, that there is no noticeable change in engine power output even at 100% sesame biodiesel [26]. However, of importance is the question whether it is possible to use sesame oil for the direct production of electricity, bypassing the combustion process, e.g. in a FC. This paper presents the research on sesame oil electrooxidation on smooth platinum electrode in acid electrolyte, which allows for assessing the possibility of using sesame oil as fuel for FCs.

Current density (obtained in FCs) is the most important parameter that characterizes a FC and fuel for FCs [1, 2, 27, 28]. Theoretically, this parameter can be calculated from Butler-Volmer equation, but calculations often are not consistent with test results in real conditions [27, 28]. Therefore, the choice of fuel must be made by experimental methods. For this reason, this paper presents analysis of electrooxidation of sesame oil, which may contribute to design and building of a FC powered by this oil in the future.

2 Materials and Methods

Based on earlier studies a decision was made to add oil to the electrolyte. Due to hydrophobic properties of sesame oil it is difficult to mix it with water, therefore in order to add sesame oil to the electrolyte (aqueous solution of H_2SO_4) it is necessary to use a detergent [29]. As a detergent Syntanol DS-10 was used – it is a mixture of primary oxygen-ethylene-glycol ethers of fatty alcohol of C_{10} – C_{18} fraction [30]. This detergent is characterized mainly by high superficial activity [30, 31]. Moreover, Syntanol DS-10 is an environmental friendly detergent because it is fully degradable by bacteria [32].

First, an emulsion of sesame oil was prepared for measurements. The emulsion was obtained by mixing oil, detergent and water, in 1:1:2 proportions. A mechanical stirrer was for this purpose with speed of mixing set at 1200 rpm [33–35]. Emulsion stabilization time was 3 h.

Measurements were performed by the method of polarizing curves, using a smooth platinum electrode. The surface of working electrode (platinum electrode) was 6.28 cm^2 . Platinum was chosen due to its excellent catalytic properties [27]. Saturated calomel electrode (SCE) was used as a reference electrode [36]. Measurements were carried out in a glass reactor, with acid electrolyte (H₂SO₄). The range of temperatures of measurements was 298–328K. The experimental set-up was equipped with AMEL potentiostat (System 5000), controlled by a computer with CorrWare software.

The scheme (Fig. 1) shows the scheme of the experimental set-up for electrooxidation of sesame oil emulsion (direct electricity production from sesame oil). The Fig. 2 shows the scheme of the reactor (glass vessel) applied for measurements.



Fig. 1. Scheme of the research position: 1 – sesame oil, 2 – water, 3 – detergent, 4 – sesame oil emulsion preparation, 5 – electrolyte preparation, 6 – reactor (glass vessel), 7 – potentiostat, 8 – data analysis.



Fig. 2. Scheme of the reactor (glass vessel) for measurements of sesame oil emulsion electrooxidation: 1 - sesame oil emulsion, 2 - auxiliary electrode, 3 - electrolyte (aqueous solution of H₂SO₄) with sesame oil emulsion, 4 - stirrer bar, 5 - to potentiostat 6 - reference electrode, 7 - Haber-Luggin capillary, 8 - working (Pt) electrode.

First, before electrooxidation of sesame oil emulsion, measurements of electrooxidation of pure Syntanol DS-10 were carried out. Next, electrooxidation measurements of sesame oil emulsion were performed, for various concentrations of the oil (0.0025%, 0.0050%, 0.0100%, 0.0250%, and 0.0500% of working reactor volume) at temperatures ranging from 298–328K. The comparison of results from Syntanol DS-10 electrooxidation and sesame oil emulsion electrooxidation allowed for determining whether the electricity is generated from the electrooxidation of sesame oil or only from the detergent.

3 Results

The Fig. 3 shows the electrooxidation of emulsion at temperature 298K.



Fig. 3. Polarization curves of emulsion electrooxidation - $0.1n H_2SO_4$, 298K – sesame oil concentration: 0.0025%–0.0500%

The Fig. 4 shows the electrooxidation of emulsion at temperature 308K.



Fig. 4. Polarization curves of emulsion electrooxidation - $0.1n\ H_2SO_4,\ 308K$ – sesame oil concentration: 0.0025%-0.0500%

The Fig. 5 shows the electrooxidation of emulsion at temperature 318K.



Fig. 5. Polarization curves of emulsion electrooxidation - 0.1n H_2SO_4 , 318K – sesame oil concentration: 0.0025%–0.0500%

The Fig. 6 shows the electrooxidation of emulsion at temperature 328K.



Fig. 6. Polarization curves of emulsion electrooxidation - 0.1n $\rm H_2SO_4,\ 328K$ – sesame oil concentration: 0.0025%--0.0500%

The potential of a working electrode was established in 20 min and was poorly reproducible. Real stationary potential was in the range of 0.51-1.14 V – this current-free potential depended on the concentration of sesame oil.

4 Conclusion

Despite obtaining low current density, the research data have shown that electrooxidation of sesame oil is the right direction of research. The electrooxidation of sesame oil emulsion occurred for all temperatures (298–328K) and for all tested concentrations of oil. The highest stable current density was obtained at the temperature 318K and it was equal to 5 mA cm⁻². The current density of about 1–3 mA cm⁻² was obtained for all other analysed concentrations. Above the temperature 328K the current density begins to drop. Comparing the current density values above 328K for the Syntanol DS-10 electrooxidation and electrooxidation of sesame oil emulsions, it can be noted that in this temperature range electrooxidation of the detergent occurs in the first place, and only later electrooxidation of sesame oil. The presented results for sesame oil electrooxidation are close to data obtained during electrooxidation measurements of emulsions made of canola oil, waste canola oil or coconut oil [16–18]. Moreover, the data of sesame oil electrooxidation are also similar to electrooxidation of crude oil, diesel fuel or waste engine oil from agricultural machinery [33–35].

The possibility of electrooxidation of sesame oil emulsion (oil concentrations in the range 0.0025-0.0500%) on a smooth platinum electrode in acid electrolyte (0.1n H₂SO₄) in temperatures varying from 298 to 328K was shown in this paper. Thus, it can be stated that the electricity production from sesame oil without the process of combustion is feasible.

References

- 1. O'Hayre, R., Cha, S., Colella, W., Prinz, F.: Fuel Cell Fundamentals, 3rd edn. Wiley, Hoboken (2016)
- Stolten, D.: Hydrogen and Fuel Cells. Fundamentals, Technologies and Applications. Wiley, Weinheim (2010)
- 3. Fuel Cell Handbook, 7th edn. EG & G, U.S. Department of Energy (2004)
- 4. Larminie, J., Dicks, A.: Fuel Cell System Explained. Wiley, Hoboken (2003)
- 5. Hoogers, G.: Fuel Cell Technology Handbook. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2004)
- Serov, S., Kwak, C.: Direct hydrazine fuel cells. Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 98(1-2), 1-9 (2010)
- Kelley, S., Deluga, G., Smyrl, W.: A miniature methanol/air polymer electrolyte fuel cell. Electrochem. Solid-State Lett. 3(9), 407–409 (2000)
- Gawdzik, A., Gajda, S., Włodarczyk, P.P., Sofronkow, A.: Hydrogen highly effective, ecological and clean energy source. Integr. Technol. Energy Saving 2, 28–30 (2001). (in Russian)
- 9. Rifkin, J.: The Hydrogen Economy. Jeremy P. Tarcher/Penguin, New York (2003)
- Ross, D.K.: Hydrogen storage: the major technological barrier to the development of hydrogen fuel cell cars. Vacuum 80(10), 1084–1089 (2006)

- Furukawa, H., Yaghi, O.Y.: Storage of hydrogen, methane, and carbon dioxide in highly porous covalent organic frameworks for clean energy applications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131 (25), 8875–8883 (2009)
- Van Gerpen, J.: Biodiesel processing and production. Fuel Process. Technol. 86(10), 1097– 1107 (2005)
- Sheehan, J., Camobreco, V., Duffield, J., Graboski, M., Shapouri, H.: An overview of biodiesel and petroleum diesel life cycles. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Prepared for U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Fuels Development and U.S. Department of Agriculture's Office of Energy (1998)
- 14. Corsini, A., Marchegiani, A., Rispoli, F., Sciulli, F., Venturini, P.: Vegetable oils as fuels in diesel engine. Engine performance and emissions. Energy Procedia **81**, 942–949 (2015)
- Kawentar, W.A., Budiman, A.: Synthesis of biodiesel from second-used cooking oil. Energy Procedia 32, 190–199 (2013)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B., Kalinichenko, A.: Possibility of direct electricity production from waste canola oil. In: E3S Web of Conferences (EEMS), vol. 19, p. 01019 (2017)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B.: Electrooxidation of coconut oil in alkaline electrolyte. J. Ecol. Eng. 18(5), 173–179 (2017)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B., Kalinichenko, A.: Direct electricity production from coconut oil - the electrooxidation of coconut oil in an acid electrolyte. In: E3S Web of Conferences (INFRAEKO 2018), vol. 45, p. 00103 (2018)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B.: Canola oil electrooxidation in an aqueous solution of KOH - possibility of alkaline fuel cell powering with canola oil. J. Power Technol. 96(6), 459–462 (2016)
- Yen, G.-C.: Influence of seed roasting process on the changes in composition and quality of sesame (Sesame indicum) oil. J. Sci. Food Agric. 50(4), 563–570 (1990)
- Mohamed, H.M.A., Awatif, I.I.: The use of sesame oil unsaponifiable matter as a natural antioxidant. Food Chem. 62(3), 269–276 (1998)
- 22. Yen, G.-C., Shyu, S.-L.: Oxidative stability of sesame oil prepared from sesame seed with different roasting temperatures. Food Chem. **31**(3), 215–224 (1989)
- Saydut, A., Duz, M.Z., Kaya, C., Kafadar, A.B., Hamamci, C.: Transesterified sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) seed oil as a biodiesel fuel. Bioresour. Technol. 99(14), 6656–6660 (2008)
- 24. Dawodu, F.A., Ayodele, O.O., Bolanle-Ojo, T.: Biodiesel production from *Sesamum indicum* L. seed oil: An optimization study. Egypt. J. Pet. **23**(2), 191–199 (2014)
- Shailaja, M., Aruna Kumari, A., Sita Rama Raju, A.V.: Performance evaluation of a diesel engine with sesame oil biodiesel and its blends with diesel. Int. J. Curr. Eng. Technol. Spec. Issue 1 (2013). Proceedings of National Conference on 'Women in Science & Engineering' (NCWSE 2013)
- Ahmad, M., Khan, M.A., Zafar, M., Sultana, S.: Environment-friendly renewable energy from sesame biodiesel. Energy Sources, Part A: Recov. Utilization Environ. Eff. 32(2), 189– 196 (2009)
- 27. Bockris, J.O.M., Reddy, A.K.N.: Modern Electrochemistry. Kulwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York (2000)
- 28. Vielstich, W., Lamm, A., Gasteiger, H. (eds.): Handbook of Fuel Cells: Fundamentals, Technology, Applications. Wiley, Weinheim (2003)
- Paraska, O., Karvan, S.: Mathematical modelling in scientific researches of chemical technology processes. Tech. Trans. Mech. 8(107), 203–210 (2010). Cracow University of Technology Press

- 30. Sakharov, I.I., Rastiannikov, E.G., Verbitskaia, G.M., Tarasova, L.N.: Washability of syntanol DS-10 from kitchen utensils. Vopr. Pitan. 4, 75–77 (1975). (in Russian)
- Survila, A., Mockus, Z., Kanapeckaitė, S., Samulevičienė, M.: Effect of syntanol DS-10 and halides on tin(II) reduction kinetics. Electrochim. Acta 50(14), 2879–2885 (2005)
- Ignatov, O.V., Shalunova, Iu.V, Panchenko, L.V., Turkovskaia, O.V., Ptichkina, N.M.: Degradation of Syntanol DS-10 by bacteria immobilized in polysaccharide gels. Prikl. Biokhim. Mikrobiol. 31(2), 220–223 (1995). (in Russian)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczy, K.B.: Powering fuel cell with crude oil. J. Power Technol. 93 (5), 394–396 (2013)
- Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B.: Electrooxidation of diesel fuel in alkaline electrolyte. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(1), 1071–1080 (2016)
- 35. Włodarczyk, P.P., Włodarczyk, B.: Electricity production from waste engine oil from agricultural machinery. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(2), 1609–1618 (2017)
- 36. Holtzer, M., Staronka, A.: Chemia fizyczna. Wprowadzenie. Wydawnictwo AGH, Kraków (2000)



Alternative Vehicle Fuel Management: Impact on Energy Security Indicators

Antonina Kalinichenko^{1(⊠)}, Valerii Havrysh², and Vitalii Nitsenko³

 ¹ University of Opole, Dmowskiego str., 7-9, 45-365 Opole, Poland akalinichenko@uni.opole.pl
 ² Mykolayiv National Agrarian University,
 9, G. Gongadze str., Mykolayiv 54020, Ukraine
 ³ Odessa I.I. Mechnikov National University, Dvoryanskaya str., 2, Odessa 65026, Ukraine

Abstract. Land transport consumes primarily oil products. Their use effects on climate change. A tendency of crude oil price increasing, uneven allocation, and exhaustibility forces to look for alternatives. Alternative vehicle fuel can to reduce energy dependence and meet ecological requirement. The aim of the study was to reveal the basic principles of the alternative vehicle fuel management and its influence on energy security indicators. The fundamental objectives and principles of alternative fuel management were reviewed. The energy security indicators which are affected by the use of alternative fuels were considered. The primary goal of the alternative vehicle fuel management is profit optimization and strengthens the energy security indicators. The energy security indicators can be improved by the use of indigenous fuels (both renewable and non-renewable) and by increasing the diversification of energy resource supplies.

Keywords: Alternative fuel management · Energy security · Indicator · Energy market · Environment

1 Introduction

Scientific and technical progress in the developed countries has been accompanied by acceleration in the growth rate of energy consumption. In 2016, primary world energy consumption exceeds 13 276 billion tons of oil equivalent. Most of it is crude oil (up to 4418 billion tons or 33.28%) [4]. Transport mainly uses petroleum fuels. Therefore the overall trends in the oil market should be considered.

At the moment the total estimated reserves of hydrocarbon fuels of the planet exceed 12,5 trillion tons, most of which is coal. Crude oil accounts for about 21% [4]. The world energy market is divided unevenly by the production and consumption.

One of the most important tasks is the forecast of extraction of energy resources. The first man who started researching the problem of energy resources scientifically was King Hubbert. He formulated the basic principle of peak theory. It describes depletion of fossil resources [34]:

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 367–374, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_45

- production starts from zero;
- production increases to its maximum level (which is called a peak), which can never be bridged;
- after passing the peak, there comes the fall of production until the resource is exhausted.

Standard Hubbert curve has the form of a bell. For example, in Ukraine a crude oil production curve complies with the Hubbert peak theory (Fig. 1) [24, 28]. The modern tendency can be described as follows. Crude oil holds a dominant position despite there was a decrease in its share. There has been an increase in natural gas' market share. Renewable energy utilization' share has increased [4].





Fig. 1. Crude oil production history in Ukraine (adapted from [19])

Today the dominant global trend is the growth of the cost of fossil energy resources. Therefore, the mid 1990s renewable energy resources in general and biofuels in particular were started to develop. It is caused by two main reasons. The first reason is the environmental protection and reduced greenhouse gas emissions. The second one is to ensure energy independence of energy-importing countries [18].

As a result of the world crude oil reserve reduction, there is a tendency of the crude oil price increase. This makes transport, and hence the economy of each country, dependent on the availability of crude oil. Therefore, energy security for the transport sector is often equated with crude oil security and totally national energy security.

That is why the most important problem for the transport sector is the replacement of petroleum fuels by non-petroleum ones, i.e. alternative fuels. By 2020 the European Union is going to transform about a quarter of the entire European vehicle fleet to alternative fuels: compressed natural gas (CNG), biogas, hydrogen (fuel cells), liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), and biofuels. Each country has its own national features [11].

To produce and utilise alternative vehicle fuels, alternative vehicle fuel management should be applied. The aim of the paper was to reveal the basic principles of the alternative vehicle fuel management and impact of its application on energy security indicators.

2 Materials and Methods

Although the energy security concept is old, its indicators and definition have been studying last decades [1, 20]. The energy security concept has received great attention and has been the subject of many studies within different fields of science [14, 22, 29]. In the 21st century publications on energy security have emerged as being of great importance [33]. Many reasons for this growing interest are the following: increased energy prices [29], the growing dependence on energy [15, 16], the global energy supply crisis [2], climate issues [3, 19], etc.

The first available record of a definition of energy security was made by Willrich [32]. He defined energy security as: 'Assurance of sufficient energy supplies to permit the national economy to function in a politically acceptable manner.' Afterwards many scientists tried to make own definitions by including a certain parameters in the definition [7, 10, 13]. They offered a number of indicators to measure energy security. In our study we used the most widespread indicators [6, 12].

Total Primary Energy Supply Self Sufficiency ratio (*TPESR*) is an important measurement of the strength in energy security. It indicates of how dependant the country on internal sources is. It is calculated as

$$TPESR = \frac{IP}{TPES} \cdot 100\%$$

where IP is the indigenous production; TPES is the total primary energy supply.

Usually, the Reserve/production ratio (*RPR*) is used as an indicator to show the remaining amount of fossil energy resources

$$RPR = \frac{PR}{PP}$$
 years,

where PR is the proven reserves of energy resources; PP is the primary energy production.

For biofuels Reserve-to-Production Ratio is equal to infinity.

Energy intensity (EI) is an important indicator to compare national economies. It is calculated as

$$EI = \frac{TPES}{GDP}$$
 toe/mln EUR,

where *TPES* is the total primary energy supply, toe; *GDP* is the gross domestic product, mln EUR.

National energy dependency for different energy sources is found as

$$ED = \frac{ERI}{GIE},$$

where ERI is the import for different energy resources; GIE is the gross inland energy.

Sectoral indicators give information about share of alternative fuels (resources). For example, shares of alternative fuel in transport is equal to

$$SB = \frac{BC}{PDC} \cdot 100 \%,$$

where BC is the alternative fuels consumption; PDC is the petrol & diesel fuel consumption.

To design optimum diversity strategies, the diversity must to be measured. To reach the above Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) and Shannon-Wiener Index (SWI) may be used. The SWI and HHI can be calculated as [11, 20, 21, 26]

$$SWI = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (p_i \cdot \ln p_i), \ HHI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i^2.$$

where p_i is the share of i^{th} alternative energy resource; *n* is the amount of energy resources.

The optimal value of SWI should exceed 2 [26].

Energy price is a widespread indicator. The price of crude oil has fluctuated but has a gradual rise. It directly affects the formation of vehicle fuel prices and impacts on alternative fuels too [31].

Detailed data collection has been carried out. Literature, statistics and websites were used. The further calculations were made based on information collected.

3 Results

3.1 Alternative Fuel Management: Basic Principles

Both conventional and alternative fuels can be used by transport. Traditional fuels are fuels of oil origin. They include diesel fuel, gasoline, kerosene, etc. Alternative fuels are fuels of non-oil origin. They include biodiesel, bioethanol, biogas, compressed natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas, etc. Their use can improve both environmental and economic indicators of economic activity. Alternative energy sources are divided into non-renewable and renewable ones.

Non-renewable alternative energy sources are natural resources and materials that can be used by humans for energy production. Firstly, they can be classified as fossil fuels and their by-products: coal and brown coal, shale, peat, natural and petroleum gas. They are also wastes of some industries: metallurgy, chemical and thermochemical processing of carbon and hydrocarbons, etc.

Renewable alternative energy sources are the sources of continuously existing or recurrent environmental flows of energy: solar, wind, thermal energy of the Earth, of the seas and oceans, rivers, biomass (plants and animals). To produce renewable fuels, renewable resources (vegetable oil, animal fats, biomass, wood, agricultural and household wastes, etc.) can be used.

To reduce fuel costs and strengthen energy security, the use of non-petroleum fuels are increasing worldwide. Therefore, an effective control system for alternative fuel utilization is needed. We propose the following definition of alternative vehicle fuel management "Alternative vehicle fuel management is the activity aimed at the effective use of alternative fuels to maximize profits (minimization of costs), improve ecological features, and strengthen the competitive positions and energy security indicators".

The subject of Alternative Vehicle Fuel Management is the patterns and trends of production and use of the alternative fuels, including renewable, the principles of production control as an energy ecology-friendly system in the whole system of social reproduction. Alternative fuel management may be considered as a part of energy management, fleet management, and fuel management.

Fleet management is aimed at the efficiency in fleet operations. Many transport companies rely on fleet managers to maximize profitability, and mitigate risks of their operating activity [30]. Fleet management carries out a range of functions, including fuel management. Fuel management systems are used to maintain, control and monitor fuel consumption and its stock, as a means of business. It is designed to effectively measure and manage the use of fuel within the transportation. Since there are traditional and alternative fuels, it is logical that the alternative fuel management can be an integral part of fuel management and vehicle management in general.

The main goal of energy management is to maximize profits through minimizing manufacturing costs, particularly for energy resources. Meanwhile, both environmental and economic parameters of the production should not be deteriorated. An important role is played by the use of alternative fuels, including renewable energy. On this basis, the main tasks of alternative fuel management can be formulated as follows:

- reducing utilization of traditional fuels;
- development of new types of alternative fuels which have advantages over conventional fuels;
- adaptation of vehicles for the use of alternative fuels;
- development of competitive technologies to produce alternative fuels, including renewable fuels;
- search for new and environmentally friendly ways to increase the return on investments in the alternative fuel producing.

The main results, which are planned to achieve by alternative fuel management, can be divided into four groups: economic, environmental, ensuring the competitiveness and strengthening national energy security.

3.2 Impact on Energy Security Indicators

Imports of crude oil and other fossil hydrocarbon energy resources have a direct impact on energy security and the balance of the national economy. So it should be reduced to minimum acceptable levels to ensure energy, economic and political security. Fuel imports from one source must not exceed 30% of the total energy balance. An important role in this is the use of alternative fuels, including renewable ones.

Alternative fuel utilization has been increasing last decades. The world's energy infrastructure has begun to change towards alternative fuels for the last 20 years. There were companies that are engaged in the of alternative fuel management activity [25].

Biofuels plays an important role. The use of biofuels in the transport across the EU has primarily been driven by concerns around climate change issues. But only indigenous biofuels production can allow countries to improve their energy security by reducing their dependence on imported oil. In the USA the share of non-conventional fuels is 8,1% and biofuels – 5,1%. In the EU market penetration is 5,5% for bioethanol and 7,3% for biodiesel [8]. In Brazil market penetration is higher: 45% for bioethanol and 7,9% for biodiesel [5]. It improves sectoral indicators, national energy dependence and Total Primary Energy Supply Self Sufficiency Ratio.

Because of diversification strategy, in the EU countries the HHI value and the SWI value were improved. According to our calculations (on the basis of [9]), from 2000 to 2015 there has been a rise in SWI from 1,141 to 1,169 and in HHI from 0,369 to 0,387.

The most widespread alternative fuel in the world is compressed natural gas. From 1996 to 2018, the number of natural gas vehicles (NGV) has increased from 850 thousand to 25 million [23]. This is a result of its economical attractiveness. It is important to note that imported gaseous fuels are unlikely to improve the energy security indicators except the diversification one.

Thus in Ukraine in 2017 the share of gaseous fuels was around 31% [27]. But Ukraine imported natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, so it improves diversification and cost indicators only. Pakistan is short of crude oil reserves too. In 1980s Pakistan launched CNG programs and today its NGV fleet takes 4th position in the world [23]. Currently its CNG industry annually consumes around 3,4 billion natural gas (nearly 8% of national gas production) [4, 17]. The share of compressed natural gas in transport is 23,1%. The utilization of this fuel improves TPESP and national energy dependency. The SWI for the above countries is: Ukraine – 1,06 and Pakistan – 1,01.

Alternative fuel management can make transport systems less vulnerable to fuel supply and fuel costs fluctuation. It encounters many problems (imperfect standards, immature technologies and unnoticed potential benefits). Despite these constraints, alternative fuel management is growing in the world.

The implementation of the alternative fuel management strategy will improve the energy security indicators of any country (Table 1).

Indicator	Positive impact
Total Primary Energy Supply self sufficiency ratio (<i>TPESR</i>)	An increase of indigenous fuel production
Reserve/production ratio (RPR)	For biofuels Reserve-to-Production Ratio is equal to infinity
Energy intensity	Alternative fuel utilization reduces transportation costs and it results in increase <i>GDP</i>
National energy dependency	A decrease of import
shares of alternative fuel in transport	Increase share of alternative fuels and decrease import
Diversification	The more sources of fuels the higher Shannon-Wiener Index

Table 1. Impact of alternative fuel management strategy on energy security indicators

4 Conclusion

There is a steady tendency of gradual growth in fossil fuel prices worldwide. This stimulates the search for acceptable alternatives. The alternative fuel management has been proved as an effective tool for improving energy security indicators. The motivations for starting its programs are the following: conventional fuel costs, environmental regulations, energy supply diversification, etc. The definition of alternative vehicle fuel management had been proposed.

The key findings from this study are as follows: biofuels are reducing greenhouse gas emissions and to improving energy security; petroleum fuels dominate on the transport and, therefore, energy security is currently equated with "crude oil security"; energy security indicators can be improved by increased use of indigenous fuel supplies and by implementation of the diversification strategy of supplies; alternative fuels could be used to supply the transport sector and contribute to improving the energy security indicators.

References

- Ang, B.W., Choong, W.L., Ng, T.S.: Energy security: definitions, dimensions and indexes. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 42, 1077–1093 (2015)
- Aparicio, G., Pinilla, V., Serrano, R.: Europe and the International Agriculture and Food Trade, Helsinki, pp. 1870–2000 (2006). http://www.helsinki.fi/iehc2006/papers2/Aparicio. pdf. Accessed 21 May 2018
- 3. Bang, G.: Energy security and climate change concerns: triggers for energy policy change in the United States? Energy Policy **38**, 1645–1653 (2010)
- BP Statistical Review of World Energy June 2017, https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/en/ corporate/pdf/energy-economics/statistical-review-2017/bp-statistical-review-of-world-energ y-2017-full-report.pdf. Accessed 21 May 2018
- Brazil Biofuels Annual. USDA. GAIN Report Number: BR17006, pp. 1–29 (2017). https://gain.fas.usda.gov/Recent%20GAIN%20Publications/Biofuels%20Annual_Sao%20Paulo%20ATO_Brazil_9-15-2017.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2018
- Developing an Energy Security Index. In: Study on the Development of an ESI and an Assessment of Energy Security for East Asian Countries, ERIA, Jakarta, pp. 7–47. http://www. eria.org/Chapter%202.%20Developing%20and%20Energy%20Security%20Index.pdf. Accessed 21 May 2018
- Erdal, L., Pektas, A.O., Ozkan, O., Özkan, F.: Security of energy supply in Japan: a key strategy and solutions. Int. J. Glob. Warm. 7, 128–159 (2015)
- EU Biofuels Annual 2017. GAIN Report Number: NL7015. 6/21/2017. https://gain.fas.usda. gov/Recent%20GAIN%20Publications/Biofuels%20Annual_The%20Hague_EU-28_6-19-2017.pdf. Accessed 22 June 2017
- 9. Eurostat. Statistics explained 2017: Use of fuels in transport, EU-28, 1990-2015, ktoe, http:// ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=File:Use_of_fuels_in_transport,_ EU-28,_1990-2015,_ktoe_update.png&oldid=347193. Accessed 28 Mar 2018
- Georgescu, C.: Energy terrorism. Security of energy in Romania and European Union. NATO's role in security of energy endogenous and exogenous influencing factors knowledge horizons. Economics, 7, 172 (2015). https://ideas.repec.org/a/khe/journl/v7y2015i2p172-175.html

- Goncharuk, A.G., Havrysh, V.I., Nitsenko, V.S.: National features for alternative motor fuels market. Int. J. Energy Technol. Policy 14(2/3), 226–249 (2018)
- Jansen, J.C., Arkel, W.G., Boots, M.G.: Designing indicators of long-term energy supply security, ECN-C-04-007 (2004). https://www.ecn.nl/publicaties/PdfFetch.aspx?nr=ECN-C-04-007. Accessed 15 May 2018
- Jewell, J., Cherp, A., Riahi, K.: Energy security under decarbonization scenarios: an assessment framework and evaluation under different technology and policy choices. Energy Policy 65, 743–760 (2014)
- 14. Jun, E., Kim, W., Chang, S.H.: The analysis of security cost for different energy sources. Appl. Energy **86**, 1894–1901 (2009)
- Kalinichenko, A., Havrysh, V., Perebyynis, V.: Evaluation of biogas production and usage potential. Ecol. Chem. Eng. 23(3), 387–400 (2016)
- Kalinichenko, A., Havrysh, V., Perebyynis, V.: Sensitivity analysis in investment project of biogas plant. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 15(4), 969–985 (2017)
- 17. Khan, M.I., Yasmin, T.: Development of natural gas as a vehicular fuel in Pakistan: issues and prospects. J. Nat. Gas Sci. Eng. **17**, 99–109 (2014)
- 18. Kolasa-Wiecek, A.: Stepwise multiple regression method of greenhouse gas emission modeling in the energy sector in Poland. J. Environ. Sci. **30**, 47–54 (2015)
- 19. Kim, J.E.: Energy security and climate change: how oil endowment influences alternative vehicle innovation. Energy Policy **66**, 400–410 (2014)
- Kruyt, B., Vuuren, D.P., Vries, H.J.M., Groenenberg, H.: Indicators for energy security. Energy Policy 37(6), 2166–2181 (2009)
- Lo, L.-H.: Diversity, security, and adaptability in energy systems: a comparative analysis of four countries in Asia. In: World Renewable Energy Congress, Linkoping, Sweden, pp. 2401–2408 (2011)
- Löschel, A., Moslener, U., Rübbelke, D.T.G.: Indicators of energy security in industrialised countries. Energy Policy 38, 1665–1671 (2010)
- 23. NGV Global. Natural Gas Vehicle Knowledge Base. http://www.iangv.org/current-ngvstats/. Accessed 21 May 2018
- Plachkova, S.G., Plachkov, I.V.: Oil and natural gas in Ukraine. http://energetika.in.ua/ru/ books/book-1/part-2/section-8/8-6. Accessed 21 May 2018
- Scott, J.H., Thompson, M.P., Gilbertson-Day, J.W.: Examining alternative fuel management strategies and the relative contribution of National Forest System land to wildfire risk to adjacent homes, California, USA. For. Ecol. Manag. 362, 29–37 (2016)
- 26. Silalertruksa, T., Gheewala, S.H.: Security of feedstocks supply for future bio-ethanol production in Thailand. Energy Policy **38**, 7476–7486 (2010)
- Ukraine: 2017 for the oil products market has become the year of the buyer. Energy of Ukraine. Access mode. https://ukrenergy.dp.ua/2018/01/27/ukraina-2017-dlya-rynkanefteproduktov-stal-godom-pokupatelya.html. Accessed 15 May 2018
- Verbruggen, A., Al Marchohi, M.: Views on peak oil and its relation to climate change policy. Energy Policy 38, 5572–5581 (2010)
- 29. Vivoda, V.: Evaluating energy security in the Asia-Pacific region: a novel methodological approach. Energy Policy **38**, 5258–5263 (2010)
- What is Fleet Management? https://www.spireon.com/what-is-fleet-management/. Accessed 21 May 2018
- 31. Williams, J.L.: WTRG Economics. http://wtrg.com/. Accessed 21 May 2018
- 32. Willrich, M.: International energy issues and options. Ann. Rev. Energy 1, 743–772 (1976)
- 33. Yergin, D.: Ensuring energy security. Foreign Aff. 85, 69 (2006)
- Zuberi, M.J.S., Fahrioglu, M.: Application of Hubbert peak theory to stimulate biogas production. Int. J. Renew. Energy Res. 5(1), 61–69 (2015)



Renewable Energy Sources Are also the Condition of the Evaluation of Land Applicability for Construction Purposes

Mariusz Górak^(⊠)₀

Department of Land Surveying, Faculty of Environmental Engineering and Land Surveying, University of Agriculture in Cracow, 253a Balicka Street, 30-198 Cracow, Poland mariuszgorak@interia.eu

Abstract. Intensive development of new technologies gives the possibility of using alternative, renewable energy sources and is one of the decisive factors that affects the economic development of each country. Successive activities aimed at implementing the principles of environmental protection strengthen Poland's economic position against the background of highly developed European countries. The implementation of investments that maintain the principles of sustainable development have a major impact on socio-economic development in the regional and local dimensions. Striving to achieve the principle of sustainable development both in urban areas and outside these areas is of key importance.

The aim of the work is to demonstrate that a necessary condition that must be considered at the stage of assessing the suitability of land for construction purposes is to check the availability and the possibility of using alternative, renewable sources of energy.

In order to verify the necessity of using alternative sources of energy, tests were carried out illustrating the computational demand for an exemplary building usable area, for non-renewable primary energy necessary for proper functioning.

The research results show that the location of real estate considered in the aspect of microclimatic and geological conditions is an important feature that determines the suitability of the area for construction purposes. This feature also affects the value of the property and should be included in the process of estimating the land designated for construction.

Keywords: Real estate management · Renewable energy sources · Real estate value · Spatial planning

1 Introduction

The intensive development of modern technologies gives the possibility of using alternative, renewable energy sources and is one of the key factors affecting the economic development of each country.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): Infrastructure and Environment, pp. 375–380, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_46 Successively introduced and implemented measures implementing the principles of environmental protection strengthen the economic position of Poland against the background of high-level European countries. The EU assistance funds obtained enable the implementation of highly capital-intensive investments that have a very positive impact on the health of residents and improve the quality of life. Each of the implemented investments, which maintains the principles of sustainable development, has a fundamental impact on the economic development on the local and regional level. The key meaning is striving to achieve the principle of sustainable development both in urbanized areas and outside these areas. EU regulations emphasize that sustainable management of environmental resources is important in real estate management in three areas: environmental protection, environmental pollution and land reclamation. It should be noted that spatial planning is a very important element of real estate management and at the same time is the main tool for environmental protection and shaping [1, 2].

A renewable energy source can be defined as - non-fossil energy source including wind energy, solar radiation energy, aerothermal energy, geothermal energy, hydrothermal energy, hydro energy, wave energy, currents and tides, energy obtained from biomass, biogas, agricultural biogas and bioliquids [10].

The binding legal regulations in the European Union countries, including Poland, set requirements regarding the permissible maximum value of the EP (Primary Energy) indicator, among others, for newly designed production or storage buildings. This indicator determines the annual computational demand of the building for non-renewable primary energy, necessary for heating, ventilation, cooling, domestic hot water preparation and lighting. The maximum value of this indicator is calculated using the formula [2, 5]:

$$EP = EP_{H+W} + \Delta EP_{C} + \Delta EP_{L} \left[\frac{kWh}{m^{2} \cdot year} \right]$$

where:

 EP_{H+W} – partial maximum value of the EP indicator for heating, ventilation and domestic hot water preparation,

 ΔEP_C – partial maximum value of the EP indicator for the cooling needs,

 ΔEP_L – partial maximum value of the EP indicator for lighting.

Tables 1, 2 and 3 present partial maximum values of individual indices for a production and storage building [6].

Table 1. EP_{H+W} for a production and storage building.

EP_{H+W}	
From 01.01.2017 year*	From 01.01.2021 year*
90	70
* Regulation of the Minister of Infra	astructure of April 12,
2002 on technical conditions that she	ould be met by buildings
and their location. Journal of Laws	2015, item 1422, in

Polish, 2015.

Source: own research based on [6]

ΔEP_C	
From 01.01.2017 year*	From 01.01.2021 year*
$\Delta EP_C = 25 \cdot \frac{A_{\rm fC}}{A_{\rm f}}$	
A _f - heated usable area	of the building [m ²],
A _{fC} - cooled usable are	a of the building [m ²],
* Regulation of the Min	ister of Infrastructure of
April 12, 2002 on techn	ical conditions that
should be met by buildi	ngs and their location.
Journal of Laws 2015, i	tem 1422, in Polish,
2015. When the buildin	g has a cooling system,
otherwise $\Delta EP_C = 0$.	
Source: own research ba	sed on [6]

Table 2. Δ EPC for production and storage building.

Table 3. ΔEP_L for production and storage building depending on the t₀.

ΔEP_L depending on the $t_0 \left[\frac{1}{y_0} \right]$	h ear]				
From 01.01.2017 year*	From 01.01.2021 year*				
for $t_0 < 2500$; $\Delta EP_L = 50$	for $t_0 < 2500$; $\Delta EP_L = 25$				
for $t_0 \ge 2500$; $\Delta EP_L = 100$	for $t_0 \ge 2500$; $\Delta EP_L = 50$				
* Regulation of the Minister of Infrastructure of April 12,					
2002 on technical conditions that should be met by					
buildings and their location. Journal of Laws 2015, item					
1422, in Polish, 2015. Including built-in lighting,					
otherwise $\Delta EP_L = 0$					

Source: own research based on [6]

2 Area and Method of Research

In order to confirm the necessity of using alternative energy sources, computational examinations illustrating the demand for the newly installed building usable area were carried out, on non-renewable primary energy necessary for correct and compliant with applicable regulations.

The annual calculation index of the building's demand for non-renewable primary energy determines how much energy from non-renewable energy raw materials can be used in accordance with applicable regulations for heating, ventilation, cooling, hot water preparation and lighting of a given building.

In the case when we directly use raw materials from non-renewable sources for energy production, then the energy consumption is multiplied by the coefficient of non-renewable primary energy (w_i) on the creation and delivery of the energy carrier. This means that the energy obtained from these raw materials requires the use of additional energy needed for extraction and delivery to the building. However, the use of

renewable energy sources such as solar energy, geothermal energy, wind energy causes that an workload factor is equal 0.0, which means that to obtain 1 kWh of energy from this source, 0.0 kWh of non-renewable energy will be used [4].

Table 4 presents the annual computational demand for the newly-developed usable floor space of a production or storage building for non-renewable primary energy necessary for heating, ventilation, cooling, domestic hot water preparation and lighting.

Individual partial maximum values of the	EP			
EP indicator	From 01.01.2017 year	From 01.01.2021 year		
EP _{H+W}	90	70		
$\Delta EP_{C} = 25 \cdot \frac{100}{1000}$	2.5	2.5		
ΔEP_L (for t ₀ \geq 2500)	100	50		
The total annual value of the EP	192.5	122.5		
indicator				
A_f – heated usable area of the building = 1 000 m ² ,				
A_{fC} – cooled usable area of the building = 100 m ² .				

Table 4. EP for an exemplary production and storage building.

Source: own research based on [4]

For design and research purposes, it was assumed that the area designated for the construction of a production or storage building has access to the infrastructure in the form of a system power grid. The system's electro-ergonomic energy, which is the main source of energy, has the most inferior value ($w_i = 3.0$) of the non-renewable primary energy input coefficient [5]. Table 5 presents the calculated values of the EP indicator using some of the proposed alternative renewable energy sources, i.e. solar, wind, thermal, biomass and biogas, and the calculated value of EP in case of using electricity from the system's power grid.

Table 5.	EP	indicator	when	using	alternative	energy	sources.
----------	----	-----------	------	-------	-------------	--------	----------

No.	Way of powering the building	A renewable	Wi	Energy	EP
	with energy	energy source		consumption	
1	Energy production	Solar energy	0.0	60*	0.0
2		Wind energy	0.0	$\left[\frac{kWh}{m^2 vear}\right]$	0.0
3		Geothermal	0.0		0.0
		energy			
4		Biomass	0.2		12.0
5		Biogas	0.5		30.0
6	Electrical grid	Electricity	3.0	1	180.0

* Adopted calculation energy consumption for heating, ventilation, cooling, domestic hot water preparation and lighting.

Source: own research based on [4]

In the analyzed case, the EP index was exceeded by almost 50% from the admissible value, which will apply from January 1, 2021. In view of the above, in the case of the planned research facility, it is necessary to take steps to obtain a building permit, to lower its value through the use of alternative energy carriers from renewable sources. Accessibility to renewable energy sources gives the opportunity to increase the share of renewable energy in the energy demand of the building, while the use of appropriate quality building materials and equipment as a building provides the opportunity to reduce computational energy consumption for heating, ventilation, cooling, hot water preparation and lighting.

3 Conclusion

Computational research carried out shows that the value of the primary energy index is important in the investment process. This indicator is a parameter that determines the compliance of the energy demand of a building with the applicable regulations. This paper shows that an attempt to design a building using electricity as the only source of power supply is an unacceptable solution and if it is impossible to reduce the primary energy index by using renewable energy sources disqualifies the area as an investment area [7, 8].

The necessity to use alternative, renewable energy sources at the stage of building design is also one of the elements assessing the suitability of land for construction purposes in the investment process. On the other hand, the location of the real estate, and thus the microclimatic and geological conditions prevailing on it, are not negligible in the case of assessing the suitability of the area for construction purposes. This feature affects the value of the property and should be taken into account in the process of estimating the land designated for construction.

The state administration bodies should carry out activities aimed at conducting surveys depicting the occurring, most advantageous alternative sources of renewable energy in a given area. This information should be made available at the following levels of spatial planning described below, as this information is important in the local and regional dimension. The current spatial planning system in Poland has been shaped in three stages. The first level is the spatial concept of the country's development, taking into account the principles of sustainable development and the actions necessary to achieve it based on natural, cultural, social and economic conditions. The second level is the voivodship spatial development plan. This plan takes into account the arrangements for spatial development of the country, analyzes and studies as well as developed concepts and programs, as well as landscape audits.

The third level is a municipal spatial development plan. The municipal plan determines the purpose of the commune's areas and the manner of their development and development. In the absence of communal spatial development plans, the function of the area is determined on the basis of a study of the conditions and directions of the spatial development of the commune. The study takes into account the findings of the concept of spatial development of the country and the establishment of a spatial development plan for the voivodeship [3, 9].

References

- 1. Act of March 27th 2003 on spatial planning and spatial management. Journal of Laws 2016, item 778 (2016). (in Polish)
- Directive 2007/2/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March 2007 establishing an Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Community (INSPIRE) (2007). http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2007:108: 0001
- 3. Górak, M.: Infrastructural investments as a factor which determines the location of storage facilities. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas **4**(1), 1457–1467 (2017)
- Górak, M., Siejka, M.: Requirements in the field of thermal energy set for newly designed production and warehouse buildings, as an element of preservation of the principles of sustainable development in real estate management. In: 18th International Multidisciplinary Scientific GeoConference SGEM, Conference Proceedings, vol. 18, pp. 947–954. SGEM (2018). ISBN 978-619-7408-40-9, ISSN 1314-2704
- 5. Regulation of the Minister of Infrastructure of 27 February 2015 on the methodology for determining the energy performance of a building or part of a building and the energy performance certificates. Journal of Laws 2015, item 376 (2015). (in Polish)
- 6. Regulation of the Minister of Infrastructure of April 12, 2002 on technical conditions that should be met by buildings and their location. Journal of Laws 2015, item 1422 (2015). (in Polish)
- Salo, A., Hämäläinen, R.P.: Multicriteria decision analysis in group decision processes. In: Kilgour, D.M., Eden, C. (eds.) Handbook of Group Decision and Negotiation, pp. 269–284. Springer, Dordrecht (2012)
- Siejka, M.: Optimal selection of investment location in land management. Infrastruct. Ecol. Rural Areas 4(2), 1111–1241 (2015)
- Siejka, M.: The role of spatial information systems in decision-making processes regarding investment site selection. Real Estate Manag. Valuation 25(3), 62–72 (2017). https://doi.org/ 10.1515/remav-2017-0023
- 10. The Act of 20 February 2015 on renewable energy sources. Journal of Laws 2017, item 1148 (2017). (in Polish)



Vegetation of Permanent Pastures as a Biomass Source for Energy Purposes

Andrzej Żabiński^{1(⊠)}, Urszula Sadowska¹, Marcin Jewiarz², Krzysztof Gondek³, and Monika Mierzwa-Hersztek³

 ¹ Faculty of Production and Power Engineering,
 Institute of Machinery Management, Ergonomics and Production Processes,
 University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland Andrzej.Zabinski@ur.krakow.pl
 ² Department of Mechanical Engineering and Agrophysics, Faculty of Production and Power Engineering,
 University of Agriculture in Krakow, Balicka 116b, 30-149 Krakow, Poland
 ³ Department of Agricultural and Environmental Chemistry.

Faculty of Agriculture and Economics, University of Agriculture in Krakow, Mickiewicza Avenue 24/28, 30-059 Krakow, Poland

Abstract. The study aimed at determining applicability of permanent pasture (meadow) vegetation for energy purposes. The possibility of using mowed, airdried and collected biomass as solid fuel was considered. Botanical composition of the sward and the yield size were determined on the studied area. For individual species found in the sward, analysis of chemical composition, ash content, volatile matter, solid carbon, higher heating value and calorific value were determined. Sward of the studied pasture was dominated by: True fox sedge *Carex vulpina* L and tufted hairgrass *Deschampsia caespitosa* L. Hay yield was 66.3 dt ha⁻¹. Mean higher heating value of the collected plant material was 16.54 MJ kg⁻¹, calorific value was 15.26 MJ kg⁻¹. Ash constituted 6.54%. Vegetation of the studied meadow was characterized by elevated potassium, sodium and calcium content relative to energy crop biomass.

Keywords: Meadow biomass · Energy purposes · Direct combustion

1 Introduction

In recent years, a rather considerable restriction or abandoning of exploitation of significant portion of pastures has been observed in Poland. On average, this state concerns 20% of their area [1]. This results in an ongoing degradation and loss of productive and environmental potential of these areas. Use of vegetation of these areas for energy purposes may be one of the methods for limiting this phenomenon. According to the Institute for Land Reclamation and Grassland Farmig expertise performed for the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, depending on the level of production intensification, from 2.3 to approx. 3.4 M tons of biomass originating from pastures can be annually used for energy purposes, of which 40% from unused meadows. Biomass as fuel material or substrate for biogas production can be further

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 381–389, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0_47

obtained from pastures subject to agro-environmental program, introducing obligation to perform harvest of at least one swath per year.

The presented study aimed at determining usability of biomass from permanent meadow as solid fuel, through determination of botanical composition of the sward, analysis of chemical composition of selected plant species and determination of their higher heating value and calorific value.

2 Materials and Methods

The study covered an area of a natural meadow, located at the bank of the Rudawa river near Balice (50°05'13"N 19°47'32"E), located within the Zabierzów commune. Part of this pasture constitutes a zone of indirect protection around potable water intake from the Rudawa river. The study was carried out in the first ten days of July. Botanical composition of the sward was determined using botanical and weight method acc. to Stebler and Schrötera (1887), as modified by Filipek [7]. Based on the obtained values, percentage share of individual species in the yield weight was determined from the examined pasture. During botanical analyses, vegetation samples to determine higher heating value and calorific value and chemical composition were also obtained. Higher heating value and calorific value were determined using KL-12Mn calorimeter, following the PN-ISO 1928:2002 standard [22]. In order to determine the general content of ash components, the plant material was incinerated in chamber furnace at temperature of 450 ± 10 °C for 12 h, and the residues were diluted in (1:2) (v/v) nitric acid. Total sulfur content was determined following mineralization of sample in concentrated nitric acid and binding of sulfate sulfur Mg(NO₃)₂. Quantitative determination of components in the obtained solutions was performed using inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES, Perkin Elmer Optima 7300 DV) [23]. Nitrogen and carbon content was determined in a Carbon Nitrogen Sulfur analyzer (Vario MAX Cube by Elementar) [5].

3 Results and Discussion

Botanical composition of sward and percentage contribution of individual recorded species is presented in Table 1. The conducted botanical and weight analysis demonstrates that the studied meadow is dominated by true fox sedge and tufted hairgrass. These two species were dominant in the sward and their total share in the yield weight exceeded 30%, thus determining the floristic type. The lowest share in the sward characterized the creeping buttercup. Botanical composition of the studied pasture is characteristic of riparian meadows, formed on soils with higher moisture content, with average fertility and slight acidity [12]. Considering usability of plant assemblages of permanent pastures for energy purposes, their yielding in determined habitat conditions is significant [25]. The analyzed plant assemblage has developed on a locality characterized by higher soil moisture. This is demonstrated by its location, apart from the vegetation. Mean yield of air dry plant mass from the analyzed meadow from one swath that can be harvested was 66.3 dt ha⁻¹. Thus, it is slightly higher than

mean hay yields from Polish meadows, which, according to Polish Central Statistical Office (GUS), remained at the level of 44.5 dt ha^{-1} in the period 2006–2010 [8]. However, the usability of plant biomass for energy purposes, through conversion into heat by means of direct combustion, is not determined solely by the yield size, but also its technical parameters such as higher heating value and calorific value. Mean higher heating value of the studied material remained at the level of 16.54 MJ kg⁻¹. This parameter did not exhibit statistically significant differentiation between plant species determined for sward (Table 2). Slightly higher higher heating values, ranging from 17.1 to 19.5 MJ kg⁻¹ were obtained in the study of Murawski et al. [19], who studied sward of extensively used meadows. Similar values of the discussed parameter, from 17.08 to 19.17 MJ kg⁻¹ are furthermore provided in the study of Harkot et al. [9] who analyzed possibilities of utilizing meadow sward for energy purposes. Values of higher heating value for meadow vegetation obtained in the presented study as well as obtained in other studies do not differ significantly from those concerning biomass of plants generally considered energy crops, such as giant miscanthus (Miscanthus \times giganteus), Virginia mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and basket willow (Salix viminalis L.). In the case of giant miscanthus (Miscanthus \times giganteus) the higher heating value according to various sources ranges from 16.55 to 19.80 MJ kg⁻¹ [2], for Virginia mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) it ranges from 16.5 to 19.5 MJ kg⁻¹ [20], while for willow biomass (*Salix viminalis* L.), depending on the cultivated clone, age of shoots, agrotechnical factors, ranges from 18.3 to 18.7 MJ kg^{-1} [6].

Species	Mean of air dry	Mean of air dry	The average share of the
	weight from the	mass	species in the weight of the
	surface of	yield (dt ha ⁻¹)	yield (%)
	$1000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ (g)}$		
Deschampsia caespitosa L.	10.60	10.60	16.0
Carex echinata Murray	7.63	7.63	11.5
Carex vulpina L.	13.10	13.10	19.8
Carex pilosa Scop.	3.73	3.73	5.6
Ranunculus repens L.	2.22	2.22	3.4
Festuca rubra L.	5.83	5.83	8.8
Holcus lanatus L.	5.40	5.40	8.1
Centaurea jacea L.	9.00	9.00	13.6
Molinia caerulea (L.)	5.95	5.95	9.0
Moench			
Agrostis gigantea Roth	2.80	2.80	4.2

Table 1. Mean values of air dry weight of individual species selected in the sward with their percentage share in the yield.

Source: own work

Calorific value constitutes the key parameter for the assessment of biomass utilized for energy purposes. It mainly depends on the moisture content and chemical composition of the fuel. In the case of biomass it is normally lower than for fossil fuels and it ranges from 5 to 8 MJ kg⁻¹ for biomass with 50–60% moisture content to 15–17 MJ kg⁻¹ for pre-dried material (moisture 15–20%) and approx. 20 MJ kg⁻¹ for completely dry [21]. Calorific value for the studied plant material in dry state did not exhibit statistically significant variation and was on average 15.26 MJ kg⁻¹. Higher values of the parameter (from 17.08 to 19.11 MJ kg⁻¹) also concerning meadow vegetation were obtained by Harkot et al. [9]. Compared to the biomass of popular energy crops, calorific value of plants from the analyzed meadow is slightly lower. According to literature data, the value of the parameter for dry willow wood (Salix viminalis L.) is on average 18.50 MJ kg⁻¹ [13, 18], for giant miscanthus shoots (Miscanthus × giganteus) it ranges from 16.63 to 16.79 MJ kg⁻¹ [15] and in the case of Virginia mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby), from 16.6 to 16.80 MJ kg⁻¹ [15].

Amount of remaining ash constitutes another significant parameter for solid fuel assessment, apart from higher heating value and calorific value. The fuel quality reduces with the increase of its contribution. High ash content in fuel is undesirable, as it results in issues with combustion automation [4] and difficulties associated with management of residues after combustion. In the studied material, ash constituted 6.54% of the share on average and no differences in its content between individual species was found. According to the study of Čubars and Poišana [4] ash content in dried meadow grasses is approximately 7%, however certain differences associated with botanical composition of the sward may occur. Vassilev et al. [27] provide that herbaceous and agricultural mass contain 8% of ash o average, and in the case of rye straw this value amounts to 4.7% [26]. Biomass of energy crops has the following share of ash components: willow wood from 1.8 to 2.2% depending on the shoot age [10], above-ground mass of giant miscanthus (Miscanthus × giganteus) approx. 1.2% [15] Viriginia mallow shoots (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) from 2.8 to 5.2% [14].

Share of bound (solid) carbon in the analyzed material was 15.74% on average.

Content of volatile matter means the loss of fuel weight occurring during its thermal destruction in anoxic conditions. The degree of coalification is determined based on the content of volatile matter, determining the value in use of an organic substance. The higher content of volatile matter in the fuel, the easier the ignition and the faster is the combustion. Natural solid fuels with the lowest degree of coalification - biofuels - the content of volatile matter is high and ranges from 60 to 80% [17]. The share of volatile matter in the studied meadow biomass, following the literature reports was also high and it amounted to 77.7% on average, without the trend to differentiate between individual species (Table 2). Biomass of such plants as the Virginia mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and giant miscanthus (Miscanthus \times giganteus) is characterized by even higher share of volatile matter, according to Krički et al. [15] amounting to 84.9 and 88.8%, respectively. For willow wood, this value remains at the level of 79.9% [18].

Chemical composition of biomass as solid fuel determines the value of its two most important technical parameters, that is higher heating value and calorific value. The influence of the content of certain elements in the fuel on the type and properties of combustion products formed is of no lower significance. These shall be considered in two aspects: in terms of durability of the devices, on which the combustion process is performed and the environmental burden.

Carbon is the main biomass component, and the energy accumulated in it is released during the combustion process. This element determines the calorific value of biomass. The studied material on average contained 428 g kgd.w.⁻¹ of carbon (Table 3). Differences in its content between individual species were statistically insignificant. Slightly higher content of the component (460–480 g kgd.w.⁻¹) was determined by Harkot et al. in the hay from once-cut meadow [9]. However, the content of carbon in the analyzed material should be considered as rather high, as according to Jagustyn et al. [11], its content in 'agro' biomass may range from 272–591 g kgd.w.⁻¹. Biomass of energy crops: willow (Salix viminalis L.), mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and miscanthus (Miscanthus × giganteus) on average contains this component at the level of 504.5; 491.4 and 496.4 g kgd.w⁻¹, respectively [16].

Species	Ash dry A _d (%)	Volatile parts dry V _d (%)	Bound carbon dry C _{fd} (%)	Higher heating value dry HHV (MJ kg ⁻¹)	Lower heating value dry LHV (MJ kg ⁻¹)
Deschampsia caespitosa L.	6.91	76.50	16.58	16.64	15.36
Carex echinata Murray	6.85	76.86	16.30	17.09	15.81
Carex vulpina L.	5.29	80.28	14.43	17.03	15.73
Carex pilosa Scop.	5.30	78.19	16.50	16.19	14.89
Ranunculus repens L.	6.85	75.92	17.22	16.53	15.25
Festuca rubra L.	10.19	70.85	18.96	16.52	15.29
Holcus lanatus L.	8.38	74.99	16.63	16.66	15.40
Centaurea jacea L.	6.30	79.39	14.31	16.85	15.57
Molinia caerulea (L.)	4.14	83.34	12.51	15.32	14.01
Moench					
Agrostis gigantea Roth	5.19	80.87	13.94	16.58	15.28

Table 2. Mean ash, volatile matter, bound carbon for individual species distinguished in the sward and their higher and lower heating value in dry state.

Source: own work

From ecological viewpoint, nitrogen and sulfur contribute to the increase of greenhouse gas emissions and are taken into consideration every time fuels are characterized. Moreover, sulfur has strong corrosive action. Sulfur content was on average 1.57 g kgd.w.⁻¹ (Table 3) and it can be considered to be rather low, as according to Jagustyn et al. [11], content of this element in 'agro' biomass may range from 0.3 to 6.7 g kgd.w.⁻¹. In terms of sulfur content, differences between species were insignificant. In the study carried out by Harkot et al. [9] the content of sulfur in meadow biomass ranged from 1.4 to 2.7 g kgd.w.⁻¹. On the other hand, mean sulfur content in the biomass of energy crops (willow (Salix viminalis L.), mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and miscanthus (Miscanthus × giganteus)) is slightly lower, according to Król et al. [16] it amounts to 0.3; 1.2 and 0.9 g kgd.w.⁻¹

The content of nitrogen in the collected plants did not exhibit significant differentiation as well. On average, it was present at the level of $10.4 \text{ g kgd.w.}^{-1}$ (Table 3).

In the biomass of agricultural origin, the N content may range from 0.8 to 14 g kgd. w.⁻¹ [17], while in the plants of willow (Salix viminalis L.), mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and miscanthus (Miscanthus × giganteus) it ranges from 0.8 to 8.8 g kgd.w.⁻¹ [16].

Species	Ν	С	S
•	g kgd.m. ⁻¹		
Deschampsia caespitosa L.	10.8 ± 0.02	430 ± 0.03	1.12 ± 0.04
Carex echinata Murray	9.84 ± 0.03	427 ± 0.02	1.10 ± 0.02
Carex vulpina L.	11.4 ± 0.02	442 ± 0.02	1.45 ± 0.02
Carex pilosa Scop.	11.0 ± 0.01	434 ± 0.02	2.03 ± 0.05
Ranunculus repens L.	10.7 ± 0.01	433 ± 0.01	2.95 ± 0.02
Festuca rubra L.	13.7 ± 0.01	407 ± 0.05	2.14 ± 0.08
Holcus lanatus L.	9.65 ± 0.09	415 ± 0.02	1.59 ± 0.18
Centaurea jacea L.	10.0 ± 0.07	425 ± 0.05	1.11 ± 0.01
Molinia caerulea (L.) Moench	8.13 ± 0.02	437 ± 0.03	0.97 ± 0.01
Agrostis gigantea Roth	8.95 ± 0.03	434 ± 0.01	1.22 ± 0.08

Table 3. Carbon, nitrogen, sulfur content in plant material.

 \pm standard deviation, n = 2

Source: own work

The properties of mineral substance during combustion are largely influenced by the presence of alkaline metals such as Na, K, Ca and S. Sodium and potassium evaporate in high temperatures, and then by reacting with other combustion products form low melt compounds accumulating on the operating areas of furnaces, other elements associated with the phenomenon, such as sulfur, accelerate high-temperature corrosion [11].

The analyzed biomass of individual species did not exhibit differentiation in terms of sodium, potassium and calcium content. The mean content of these elements was 0.28; 11.80 and 7.92 g kgd.w.⁻¹, respectively (Table 4). Potassium stands out particularly well here due to its high content. However, it is not a special case, as numerous authors have reported high share of this element, especially in agricultural biomass. Potassium content determined by Stępień and Pawluczuk [24] in meadow vegetation ranged from 0.3–9.3 g kgd.w.⁻¹. Wesołowski et al. [28] who analyzed chemical composition of plant assemblages of shoreline of a water body provide the potassium content at the level of 25.4 g kgd.w.⁻¹. Moilanen [18] provides K content of barley straw at the level of over 12 g kgd.w.⁻¹.

The calcium, potassium and sodium content in the analyzed plant species was slightly higher than the values provided by Borkowska and Lipiński [3] for biomass of long-term energy crops (willow (Salix viminalis L.), mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) and miscanthus (Miscanthus \times giganteus)) in which the mean content of these elements is 5.01; 3.37 and 0.10 g kgd.w.⁻¹, respectively.

Species	Na	K	Ca
	g kgd.w. ⁻¹		
Deschampsia caespitosa L.	0.114 ± 0.04	12.8 ± 0.10	6.25 ± 0.13
Carex echinata Murray	0.066 ± 0.005	11.0 ± 0.07	6.84 ± 0.09
Carex vulpina L.	0.071 ± 0.000	12.8 ± 0.00	5.14 ± 0.05
Carex pilosa Scop.	0.058 ± 0.005	12.3 ± 0.29	6.34 ± 0.28
Ranunculus repens L.	0.083 ± 0.001	13.6 ± 0.07	8.32 ± 0.03
Festuca rubra L.	1.917 ± 0.014	16.1 ± 0.08	20.4 ± 0.11
Holcus lanatus L.	0.118 ± 0.003	15.3 ± 0.17	4.99 ± 0.12
Centaurea jacea L.	0.076 ± 0.001	10.3 ± 0.10	5.14 ± 0.04
Molinia caerulea (L.) Moench	0.085 ± 0.001	8.45 ± 0.14	2.63 ± 0.06
Agrostis gigantea Roth	0.208 ± 0.005	5.32 ± 0.08	13.1 ± 0.14

Table 4. Macronutrient content in plant material.

 \pm standard deviation, n = 2

Source: own work

4 Conclusions

- 1. In terms of botanical composition, the studied pasture belongs to riparian meadows type true fox sedge and tufted hairgrass.
- 2. Air dry yield of plant mass from the studied meadow remains at the level of 66.3 dt ha^{-1} and it is slightly higher than mean yielding level for meadows in Poland.
- 3. Mean higher heating value for the studied material was 16.54 MJ kg⁻¹, and calorific value was on average 15.26 MJ kg⁻¹.
- 4. Higher heating value of the analyzed vegetation was similar to the value of the parameter obtained for energy crops: giant miscanthus (*Miscanthus* × giganteus) and Virginia mallow (*Sida hermaphrodita* (L.) Rusby).
- 5. The content of volatile matter in the studied biomass was 77.7%, thus it was lower relative to energy crops such as basket willow, Virginia mallow and giant miscanthus.
- 6. Biomass of the studied meadow was characterized by higher sodium, potassium and calcium content relative to energy crops ((willow (*Salix viminalis* L.), mallow (*Sida hermaphrodita* (L.) Rusby) and miscanthus (*Miscanthus* × giganteus)).
- 7. A significant contribution of areas covered with permanent grassy and herbaceous vegetation emphasizes the need for further this type research.

Acknowledgements. This research was financed by Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland.

References

- Alberski, J., Olszewska, M., Bałuch-Małecka, A., Kurzeja, M.: Wartość energetyczna biomasy z użytkowanych ekstensywnie łąk warkalsko-trojańskich. Łąkarstwo w Polsce 18, 7–16 (2015)
- Bilandžija, N., Jurišić, V., Voća, N., Leto, J., Matin, A., Grubor, M., Krička, T.: Energy valorization of miscanthus x giganteus biomass: a case study in Croatia. J. Process. Energy Agric. 21, 32–36 (2017)
- 3. Borkowska, H., Lipiński, W.: Zawartość wybranych pierwiastków w biomasie kilku gatunków roślin energetycznych. Acta Agrophysica **10**, 287–292 (2007)
- Čubars, E., Poiša, L.: Analysis of ash content in composite, biomass fuels. Environ. Technol. Resour. III, 31–36 (2017)
- Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH.: Operating instructions vario MAX cube, pp. 407 (2013)
- Fijałkowska, D., Styszko, L., Boguski, A.: Wpływ lat uprawy, kombinacji nawożenia i klonów na ciepło spalania i wartość opałową biomasy wierzby pozyskanej w okresie zimowym i po krótkotrwałym jej sezonowaniu. Fragm. Agron. 31(3), 41–49 (2014)
- Filipek, J.: Zagadnienia wielkości próbek przeznaczonych do analizy botaniczno-wagowej w doświadczeniach łąkarskich. II i III. PNR, 4 i 5 (1970)
- 8. Główny Urząd Statystyczny. Rocznik Statystyczny Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej (2017)
- Harkot, W., Warda, M., Sawicki, J., Lipińska, H., Wyłupek, T., Czarnecki, Z., Kulik, M.: Możliwości wykorzystania runi łąkowej do celów energetycznych. Łąkarstwo w Polsce 10, 59–67 (2007)
- Hytönen, J., Nurmi, J.: Heating value and ash content of intensively managed stands. Wood Res. 60(1), 71–82 (2015)
- 11. Jagustyn, B., Bątorek-Giesa, N., Wilk, B.: Ocena właściwości biomasy wykorzystywanej do celów energetycznych. Chemik **65**(6), 557–563 (2011)
- 12. Klapp, E.: Łąki i pastwiska. Wyd. III, PWRiL, Warszawa (1962)
- Klašnja, B., Orlović, S., Zoran-Galić, Z.: Comparison of different wood species as raw materials for bioenergy. South-East Eur. For. 4(2), 81–88 (2013)
- Kowalczyk-Juśko, A.: Properties of ash in the combustion of selected energy crops. Ecological Chem. Eng. 18(7), 973–982 (2011)
- Krička, T., Matin, A., Bilandžija, N., Jurišić, V., Antonović, A., Voća, N., Grubor, M.: Biomass valorisation of Arundo donax L., Miscanthus × giganteus and Sida hermaphrodita for biofuel production. Int. Agrophys. **31**, 575–581 (2017)
- 16. Król, D., Łach, L., Poskrobko, S.: O niektórych problemach związanych z wykorzystaniem biomasy nieleśnej w energetyce. Energetyka 1, 53 (2010)
- Lalak, J., Martyniak, D., Kasprzycka, A., Żurek, G., Moroń, W., Chmielewska, M., Wiącek, D., Tys, J.: Comparison of selected parameters of biomass and coal. Int. Agrophys. 30, 475–482 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1515/intag-2016-0021
- Moilanen, A.: Thermogravimetric characterizations of biomass and waste for gasification processes. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, pp. 20–21 (2006)
- Murawski, M., Grzelak, M., Waliszewska, B., Knioła, A., Czekała, W.: Wartość energetyczna i plonowanie łąk ekstensywnie użytkowanych. Fragm. Agron. 32(2), 71–78 (2015)
- Nahm, M., Morhart, C.: Virginia mallow (Sida hermaphrodita (L.) Rusby) as perennial multipurpose crop: biomass yields, energetic valorization, utilization potentials, and management perspectives. GCB Bioenergy (2018). https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12501

- 21. Niedziółka, I., Zuchniarz, A.: Analiza energetyczna wybranych rodzajów biomasy pochodzenia roślinnego. Motrol 8A, 232–237 (2006)
- 22. PN-ISO1928:2002. Paliwa stałe. Oznaczanie ciepła spalania metodą spalania w bombie kalorymetrycznej i obliczanie wartości opałowej
- Oleszczuk, N., Castro, J.T., da Silva, M.M., Korn, M.D., Welz, B., Vale, M.G.: Method development for the determination of manganese, cobalt and copper in green coffee comparing direct solid sampling electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry and inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. Talanta 73(5), 862–869 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2007.05.005
- Stępień, A., Pawluczuk, J.: Wpływ różnych warunków siedliskowych na zawartość makro-i mikroelementów w roślinności łąkowej gleb organicznych. Woda-Środowisko-Obszary Wiejskie 4(36), 197–208 (2011)
- Taube, F., Hermann, A., Potsch, E.M.: What are the consequences of producing energy crops in the European Union for grassland renovation and new forage production systems? Grassland Sci. Europe 12, 463–471 (2007)
- 26. Van Loo, S., Koppejan, J.: The Handbook of Biomass Combustion and Cofiring, p. 442. Earthscan, London (2008)
- Vassilev, S., Vassileva, Ch., Yun-Cai, S., Wen-Ying, L., Feng, J.: Ash contents and ashforming elements of biomass and their significance for solid biofuel combustion. Fuel 208, 377–409 (2017)
- Wesołowski, P., Trzaskoś, M., Brysiewicz, A.: Skład botaniczny i zawartość wybranych pierwiastków chemicznych w roślinności szuwarowej strefy przybrzeżnej jeziora Starzyc. Woda-Środowisko-Obszary Wiejskie 1(33), 331–345 (2011)
Author Index

B

Baryła, Anna, 66 Bisaga, Anna, 313 Brysiewicz, Adam, 144, 154 Bugajski, Piotr, 3 Burg, Patrik, 293 Bus, Agnieszka, 66

С

Chmura, Kazimierz, 234 Chowaniak, Maciej, 243 Czerniejewski, Przemysław, 144, 154

D

Dobosz, Krzysztof, 234 Dudek, Stanisław, 46 Dybeł, Piotr, 9

F

Famielec, Stanisław, 30, 114, 121 Feltynowski, Marcin, 263, 301 Figas, Anna, 53, 100, 217, 225, 234, 252 Filipek-Mazur, Barbara, 243 Findura, Pavol, 75

G

Gawdzik, Jarosław, 136 Gliniak, Maciej, 94, 121 Gondek, Krzysztof, 381 Górak, Mariusz, 375 Gródek-Szostak, Zofia, 307, 321 Grybauskiene, Vilda, 234

H

Havrysh, Valerii, 367 Hewelke, Edyta, 66 Hlisnikovský, Lukáš, 87 Holík, Ladislav, 87

J

Jagosz, Barbara, 53, 217, 234 Jakubowski, Tomasz, 94, 129 Jarosińska, Elżbieta, 193 Jaskowska-Lemańska, Justyna, 9 Jawecki, Bartosz, 184 Jewiarz, Marcin, 381 Jurasz, Jakub, 59

K

Kajrunajtys, Danuta, 307, 321 Kalinichenko, Antonina, 367 Karbowniczak, Anna, 339 Karczmarczyk, Agnieszka, 66 Kasowska, Natalia, 154 Kasperska-Wołowicz, Wiesława, 234 Kiełbasa, Paweł, 345 Knaga, Jarosław, 30 Kobierski, Mirosław, 100, 225, 252 Koda, Eugeniusz, 15 Kokoszka, Stanisław, 345 Komorowska, Monika, 243 Kowalski, Wiesław, 203 Kozłowski, Rafał, 161 Krakowiak-Bal, Anna, 293 Kuboń, Maciej, 75 Kunzová, Eva, 87

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Krakowiak-Bal and M. Vaverkova (Eds.): *Infrastructure and Environment*, pp. 391–392, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16542-0 Kurek, Karolina, 3 Kurpaska, Sławomir, 339, 345 Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska, Renata, 46 Kwaśniewski, Dariusz, 75

L

Latała, Hubert, 339 Latosińska, Jolanta, 136 Lis, Anna, 94 Lorenc, Marek W., 184 Luc, Małgorzata, 307 Łukasiewicz, Maria, 23

M

Malaga-Toboła, Urszula, 75 Malczewska, Karolina, 121 Malczewski, Kamil, 121 Malinowski, Mateusz, 23, 121 Menšík, Ladislav, 87 Mierzwa-Hersztek, Monika, 381 Miszkowska, Anna, 15 Muszyńska, Joanna, 136

N

Nawalany, Grzegorz, 37, 203 Nęcka, Krzysztof, 339 Niemiec, Marcin, 243, 307 Nitsenko, Vitalii, 367

0

Osiński, Piotr, 15

Р

Pakuła, Jarosław, 100 Paśmionka, Iwona, 121 Piasecki, Adam, 59 Pieczonka, Jacek, 281 Płatkowska-Prokopczyk, Laura, 272 Popardowski, Ernest, 94 Ptach, Wiesław, 53, 217, 234 Purgat, Marcela, 175

R

Religa, Arkadiusz, 23 Rolbiecki, Roman, 53, 217, 234 Rolbiecki, Stanisław, 53, 217, 234 Rosłon-Szeryńska, Edyta, 175 Rutkowski, Kazimierz, 30 Rzeńca, Agnieszka, 263

S

Sadowska, Urszula, 381 Sagan, Joanna, 9 Salamon, Jacek, 328 Sawilska, Anna Katarzyna, 169, 252 Senvigit, Ulas, 217 Sharabrin, Volodymyr, 121 Sieczka, Anna, 15 Sikora, Jakub, 243 Siwik-Ziomek, Anetta, 100, 225 Śliz, Paulina, 3 Sobol, Zygmunt, 345 Sokołowski, Paweł, 37 Stachowski, Piotr, 53, 234 Stejskal, Bohdan, 108 Szelag-Sikora, Anna, 307, 321 Szul, Tomasz, 23 Szwed, Mirosław, 161

Т

Tabak, Monika, 243 Tokarczyk-Dorociak, Katarzyna, 184 Tomaszewska-Sowa, Magdalena, 100, 225, 252 Treder, Waldemar, 217 Trzyniec, Karolina, 94

W

Wałach, Daniel, 9 Wei, Xiangdong, 184 Witkowski, Wojciech T., 59 Włodarczyk, Barbara, 359 Włodarczyk, Paweł P., 359 Wolny-Koładka, Katarzyna, 121 Wołosiewicz-Głąb, Marta, 94 Wołtosz, Paweł, 23 Wróbel, Michał, 66

Z

Żabiński, Andrzej, 381 Żarski, Jacek, 46 Zatoń, Kinga, 154